
 CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
Tuesday, June 4, 2013 

7:00 P.M. 
701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

City Council Chambers 

 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR SESSION  
 
ROLL CALL – Carlton, Cline, Keith, Ohtaki, Mueller  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation recognizing the Loma Prieta Sierra Club (Attachment) 
 
A2. Presentation recognizing the Boys and Girls Club Youths of the Year (Attachment) 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1 (Limited to 30 minutes) 

Under “Public Comment #1”, the public may address the Council on any subject not listed 
on the agenda and items listed under the Consent Calendar.  Each speaker may address 
the Council once under Public Comment for a limit of three minutes.  Please clearly state 
your name and address or political jurisdiction in which you live.  The Council cannot act 
on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Council cannot respond to non-
agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 

 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
D1.  Adopt a resolution appropriating $2.7 million from the General Fund and $370,000 from 

the Comprehensive Planning Fund to be transferred to the General Capitol Improvement 
Projects Fund (Staff report #13-086) 

 
D2. Waive the reading and adopt ordinances for the establishment of the R-4-S (High Density 

Residential, Special) Zoning District, creation of an Affordable Housing Overlay Zone, 
Codification of the State Density Bonus Law, modifications to the R-3 (Apartment) Zoning 
District, Rezoning of properties located along the 1200 and 1300 blocks of Willow Road, 
600, 700 and 800 blocks of Hamilton Avenue and 3600 block of Haven Avenue, and the 
Elimination of the C-4 (General Commercial – applicable to El Camino Real), M-1 (Light 
Industrial), and P-D Zoning Districts for which no properties are zoned  

 (Staff report #13-087) 
 
D3. Accept minutes for the Council meetings of March 26, April 2, 9, 16, 23, 30, May 7, 20 and 

21, 2013 (Attachment) 
  

PAGE 1

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight



June 4, 2013 
Agenda Page 2 

  

 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
E1. Review of the City Manager’s proposed 2013-14 Budget and Capital Improvement 

Program for the City of Menlo Park; and consideration of the revised Long-Term Financial 
Forecast (Staff report #13-092) 

 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Adopt a twenty seven percent community wide greenhouse gas emissions reduction target  

(Staff report #13-089) 
 
F2. Consider and introduce an ordinance to amend Chapter 16.79 (Secondary Dwelling Units) 

of Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code (Staff report #13-090) 
 
F3. Authorize the City Manager to execute a three-year renewable lease agreement with the 

Tougas Family Q-Tip Trust for the property located at 871A and 871B Hamilton Avenue in 
Menlo Park (Staff report #13-091) 

 
F4. Review Council meeting minutes style (Staff report #13-088) 
 
F5. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item: None 
  
F. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT – None  

 
G. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION – None 
  
H. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS – None 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2 (Limited to 30 minutes) 

Under “Public Comment #2”, the public if unable to address the Council on non-agenda 
items during Public Comment #1, may do so at this time.  Each person is limited to three 
minutes.  Please clearly state your name and address or jurisdiction in which you live. 

 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2(a) or Section 54956.  Members of the public can view electronic 
agendas and staff reports by accessing the City website at http://www.menlopark.org  and can receive e-mail notification of agenda and staff 
report postings by subscribing to the “Home Delivery” service on the City’s homepage.  Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by 
contacting the City Clerk at (650) 330-6620.  Copies of the entire packet are available at the library for viewing and copying.  (Posted: 
05/30/2013)   
 

At every Regular Meeting of the City Council, in addition to the Public Comment period where the public shall have the right to address the 
City Council on the Consent Calendar and any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the public have the right to 
directly address the City Council on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the Mayor, either before or during the Council’s 
consideration of the item.   
At every Special Meeting of the City Council, members of the public have the right to directly address the City Council on any item listed on 
the agenda at a time designated by the Mayor, either before or during consideration of the item.  
 

Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the City Council by any person in connection with an agenda item is a public record (subject to 
any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available for inspection at the Office of the City Clerk, Menlo Park City Hall, 701 Laurel 
Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 during regular business hours.  Members of the public may send communications to members of the City 
Council via the City Council’s e-mail address at city.council@menlopark.org.  These communications are public records and can be viewed 
by any one by clicking on the following link: http://ccin.menlopark.org   
 

City Council meetings are televised live on Government Access Television Cable TV Channel 26.  Meetings are re-broadcast on Channel 26 
on Thursdays and Saturdays at 11:00 a.m.  A DVD of each meeting is available for check out at the Menlo Park Library.  Live and archived 
video stream of Council meetings can be accessed at http://menlopark.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=2
 

   

Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or participating in City Council meetings, may call the City Clerk’s 
Office at (650) 330-6620. 

PAGE 2

http://www.menlopark.org/�
mailto:Ucity.council@menlopark.orgU�
http://ccin.menlopark.org/�
http://menlopark.granicus.com/ViewPublisher.php?view_id=2�
tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight

tcliljedahl
Highlight



PAGE 3

AGENDA ITEM A-1



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 4



=

c
l
,

PAGE 5

AGENDA ITEM A-2



J3.

‘
J
ilt,

tcf1/fl

PAGE 6



PAGE 7



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 8



 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES  DEPARTMENT 
  

 
 Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 

 Staff Report #: 13-086 
 

 Agenda Item #: D-1 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: Adopt a Resolution Appropriating $2.7 million 

from the General Fund and $370,000 from the 
Comprehensive Planning Fund to be transferred 
to the General Capital Improvement Projects Fund 

 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution (Attachment A) appropriating 
$2.7 million in the General Fund and $370,000 in the Comprehensive Planning Fund to 
be transferred to the General Capital Improvement Projects Fund for the Technology 
Master Plan and Comprehensive Planning projects (General Plan Update and Housing 
Element). 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
During fiscal year 2011-12, the Comprehensive Planning Fund was created to fund 
planning projects including the Housing Element.  Since 2011-12, City Council has 
appropriated over $1.3 million for the Housing Element project.  On March, 26, 2013, 
the Council approved the 2013 City Council Goals which included the completion of the 
Housing Element project, initiating the first phases of the General Plan Update, and to 
develop a Technology Master Plan to assist in the identification of priorities and 
strategies for implementation of new technology.  During the April 2, 2013 meeting, 
Council provided direction to staff to allocate, from one-time revenues, $3 million dollars 
to the Technology Master Plan and $2 million for General Plan Update.   
 
At the same meeting, staff also identified several one-time revenues to be used to fund 
the new projects.  The dissolution of the former redevelopment agency’s low to 
moderate income housing funds generated $585,000 in one time moneys, $1.3 million 
from the dissolution of the former redevelopment agency’s other funds, $770,000 from 
the sale of 50 Terminal Avenue, $1.1 million from Facebook East and $1.23 million from 
the Stanford expansion.  With the exception of the $1.3 million from the former 
redevelopment agency, all of the previously listed revenues have been received by the 
City.  The proceeds from the dissolution of the former redevelopment agency’s other 
funds will be received by June 30, 2013. 
 
 

PAGE 9



ANALYSIS 
 
The purpose of this action is to seek authorization of using $5 million of one-time 
monies received in Fiscal Year 12-13 to fund two capital projects currently scheduled for 
Fiscal Year 13-14.  One time payments totaling $2.33 million are already recognized in 
the Capital Projects Fund, thus requiring an additional transfer of $2.68 million to 
achieve the full $5 million of funding. 
   
In addition, a transfer of $370,000 will occur at year end (or whatever amount remains 
obligated) in the Comprehensive Planning Fund as it is closed.  With the closure of the 
Comprehensive Planning fund the remaining balance in the Housing Element project, 
approximately $370,000, will be moved to the General Fund - CIP.   
 
As shown in the current Capital Improvement Plan, a project of $3,111,000 is proposed 
for 2013-14 to fund a Technology Master Plan followed by a series of comprehensive 
technology improvements (as recommended in the Master Plan).  In addition, a project 
of $2,000,000 will be funded for the General Plan Update. 
 
 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
The recommended increase in appropriations have been included in the 2012-13 
General Fund year-end estimates. The increase will be a reduction in the fund balance 
for the General Fund but they are being funded by unbudgeted one-time revenues that 
are not being used for operations.  It will provide additional funding in the General 
Capital Improvement Project Fund for use of the aforementioned approved projects 
without reducing funding available for ongoing infrastructure capital improvement 
projects.  The $2.7 million transfer is included in the 2012-13 General Fund estimates 
and is a part of the $696,000 estimated General Fund 2012-13 surplus as presented in 
the 2013-14 Proposed Budget.  
 
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
This recommendation is consistent with the budget development principles set forth at 
the April 2, 2013 City Council Meeting 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
Environmental review is not required. 
 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 

PAGE 10



 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Resolution 
 

Report prepared by: 
Geoffrey Buchheim 
Financial Services Manager 
 
 
 

PAGE 11



  RESOLUTION NO.  
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK APPROPRIATING $2,700,000 OF ONE-TIME REVENUES FROM 
THE GENERAL FUND AND THE REMAINING BALANCE FROM THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING FUND TO GENERAL FUND CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT FUND TO FUND THE TECHNOLOGY 
MASTER PLAN, GENERAL PLAN UPDATE AND HOUSING ELEMENT 
PROJECTS.  

 
WHEREAS, during fiscal year 2011-12, the Comprehensive Planning Fund was created to 
fund planning projects including the Housing Element.  Since 2011-12, City Council has 
appropriated over $1.3 million for the Housing Element project; and 

 
WHEREAS, on March, 26, 2013, the Council approved the 2013 City Council Goals which 
included the completion of the Housing Element project, initiating the first phases of the 
General Plan Update, and development and implementation of a Technology Master Plan; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, during the April 2, 2013 meeting, Council provided direction to staff to allocate, 
from one-time revenues, $3 million dollars to the Technology Master Plan and $2 million for 
comprehensive planning projects, specifically the General Plan Update (M-2 project); and 

 
WHEREAS, one-time revenues in the General Fund amount to $2.7 million and will need to 
be transferred to the General Capital Improvement to help fund the $5 million capital 
improvement projects for technology and comprehensive planning; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff has decided to discontinue the use of the Comprehensive Planning Fund 
at the end of 2012-13, requiring the transfer of the remaining balance to the Housing 
Element project in the General Capital Improvement Projects Fund; and  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Menlo Park that 
the City Council does hereby authorize an appropriation of $2,700,000 from the General 
Fund balance and the remaining fund balance of the Comprehensive Planning Fund  to 
transfer to the General Capital Improvement Projects Fund. 

 
I, Pamela I. Aguilar, Acting City Clerk of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the 
above and foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by 
said Council on the fourth day of June 2013, by the following vote: 

 
AYES:    
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal 

of said City on this fourth day of June 2013. 
 
________________________________ 
Pamela I. Aguilar, Acting City Clerk 
 

PAGE 12



 

  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 

Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 

Staff Report #: 13-087 
 

Agenda Item #: D2 
 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR: Waive the Reading and Adopt Ordinances for the 

Establishment of the R-4-S (High Density Residential, 

Special) Zoning District, Creation of an Affordable 

Housing Overlay Zone, Codification of the State Density 

Bonus Law, Modifications to the R-3 (Apartment) Zoning 

District, Rezoning of Properties Located along the 1200 

and 1300 Blocks of Willow Road, 600, 700 and 800 

blocks of Hamilton Avenue and 3600 block of Haven 

Avenue, and the Elimination of the C-4 (General 

Commercial – Applicable to El Camino Real), M-1 (Light 

Industrial), and P-D Zoning Districts for which no 

Properties are Zoned 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council complete actions related to the adoption of the 
Housing Element by waiving the full reading of, and adopting the following eight 
ordinances: 
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code to Incorporate the R-4-S (High Density Residential, Special) 
District (Attachment A); 
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.98 (Affordable 
Housing Overlay) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 
(Attachment B); 

 
 An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.97 

(State Density Bonus Law) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 
(Attachment C); 
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.20, R-3 
(Apartment) and Chapter 16.72 (Off-Street Parking) of the Menlo Park Municipal 
Code (Attachment D); 
 

PAGE 13



Staff Report #13-087 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 1221-
1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road to R-4-S (AHO) (High Density Residential, 
Special, Affordable Housing Overlay) (Attachment E); 
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 631, 
711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 831-851 Hamilton Avenue to R-4-S 
(High Density Residential) (Attachment F);  
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 
3605-3665 Haven Avenue to R-4-S (AHO) (High Density Residential, 
Special, Affordable Housing Overlay) (Attachment G); and 
 

 An Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code to Eliminate Zoning Districts (C-4 General Commercial – 
Applicable to El Camino Real, M-1 Light Industrial District, and P-D District) for 
which No Properties are Zoned (Attachment H). 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
On May 21, 2013, the City Council conducted a public hearing to consider and take 
action on the Housing Element and its associated components. After receiving public 
comments and deliberating on the items, the Council voted 4-0 (with Council Member 
Cline absent) to take the following actions related to the Housing Element: 
 

1. Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Adopting the 
Environmental Assessment for the Housing Element Update, General Plan 
Consistency Update and Associated Zoning Ordinance Amendments, Making 
Findings, and Adopting the Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Program; 
 

2. Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Adopting the 
Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Housing Element Update, 
General Plan Consistency Update and Associated Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments; 

 
3. Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Amending 

the General Plan to Replace the Housing Element in its Entirety; 
 

4. Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Amending 
the General Plan to Update the Open Space and Conservation, Noise and 
Safety Elements, Modify the Land Use Designations of Medium Density 
Residential, High Density Residential and Limited Industry, to Delete the 
Land Use Designation of El Camino Real Professional/Retail Commercial, to 
Modify the Residential, Commercial and Industrial Use Intensity Tables, and 
to Change the Land Use Designation for Property Located at 1221-1275 and 
1317-1385 Willow Road, 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821, and 
831-851 Hamilton Avenue, and 3605-3665 Haven Avenue; 

PAGE 14



Staff Report #13-087 

 
5. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the 

Menlo Park Municipal Code to Incorporate the R-4-S (High Density 
Residential, Special) District; 
 

6. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.98 
(Affordable Housing Overlay) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal 
Code (Attachment G); 

 
7. Introduce an Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park Adding 

Chapter 16.97 (State Density Bonus Law) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code; 
 

8. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.20, R-3 
(Apartment) and Chapter 16.72 (Off-Street Parking) of the Menlo Park Municipal 
Code; 
 

9. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located 
at 1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road; 
 

10. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located 
at 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 831-851 Hamilton Avenue; 
 

11. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties 
Located at 3605-3665 Haven Avenue; 
 

12. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the 
Menlo Park Municipal Code to Eliminate Zoning Districts (C-4 General 
Commercial – Applicable to El Camino Real, M-1 Light Industrial District, and P-
D District) for which No Properties are Zoned; and 
 

13. Continue Deliberation on an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending 
Chapter 16.79, Secondary Dwelling Units of the Menlo Park Municipal Code. 
 

The resolutions (items #1 through # 4) became effective immediately. Staff will be 
submitting the adopted Housing Element to the State Housing and Community 
Development Department for review and certification. The ordinances relating to items 
#5 through #12 were introduced and require a second reading for adoption.  
 
The City Council requested modifications to item #5 (R-4-S Zoning District) related to 
the development regulations and design standards for the new district, including the 
following: 1) addition of language regarding substandard parcels, 2) increasing the limit 
of stucco on the exterior of a building to 80 percent, and 3) minor revisions for clarity to 
item 6(a) regarding building entries and 4) minor revisions for clarity to item 9(a)(1) 
regarding bicycle parking locations. The following are the edits shown in strikeout 
(delete) and underline (new) format. 

PAGE 15



Staff Report #13-087 

 
Design Standard 6(a) – Building Entries  
 

When a residential building is adjacent to a public street or other public space, 
the building shall provide entries, access points or features oriented to the street 
that are visible from the public right-of-way or public space and provide visual 
cues to denote access into the building. Building entries shall be oriented 
towards a public street or other public space when adjacent to a public street or 
other public space. For larger residential buildings with shared entries, the main 
entry shall be through prominent entry lobbies or central courtyards facing the 
street.  From the street, these entries provide additional orientation, visual 
interest, visual security, and sense of invitation. 

 
Design Standard 9(a)(1) – Bicycle Parking 
 

Each long term bicycle parking space shall consist of a locker or locked 
enclosure, such as a secure room or controlled access area, providing protection 
for each bicycle from theft, vandalism and weather.  A private locked storage unit 
may be considered as a private garage if a that can accommodate a bicycle 
satisfies this requirement. can fit in it. Within a common residential building 
garage, bicycle parking should shall be located within 40 feet of common entry 
access points into the building.    

 
The changes have been included in the final ordinance included as Attachment A. All of 
the ordinances that were introduced on May 21, 2013 are before the City Council for 
the second reading and approval.  
 
As referenced in item #13, the Council continued its deliberation on modifications to the 
Secondary Dwelling Unit Ordinance. This item will be discussed separately as a 
Regular Business item at the June 4, 2013 City Council meeting.  
 

ANALYSIS 
 
Staff has prepared the final version of the ordinances approving the creation of the R-4-
S (High Density Residential, Special) zoning district, including design standards and 
guidelines, the creation of the Affordable Housing Overlay Zone, codification of the 
State Density Bonus Law, modifications to the R-3 (Apartment) zoning district, the 
rezoning of property located at the 1200 and 1300 blocks of Willow Road, 600, 700 and 
800 blocks of Hamilton Avenue and the 3600 block of Haven Avenue, and the 
elimination of the C-4 (General Commercial - Applicable to El Camino Real), M-1 (Light 
Industrial) and P-D districts for which no properties are zoned  (Attachments A through 
H, respectively). If the Council takes action to adopt the ordinances, they will become 
effective 30 days later, or on July 5, 2013. 

PAGE 16



Staff Report #13-087 

 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
There is no direct impact on City resources associated with adoption of these 
ordinances. The overall project’s impact on City resources was discussed in the May 
21, 2013 staff report. 
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
The recommended action is consistent with the City Council’s actions and approvals at 
its meeting of May 21, 2013 and would serve to implement programs of the adopted 
Housing Element. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
On May 21, 2013, the City Council considered and adopted the Environmental 
Assessment prepared for the Housing Element and its related components, and 
adopted findings approving a Statement of Overriding Considerations and the Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. In addition to the agenda posting, an email 
update was sent to subscribers of the project page for the proposal, which is available 
at the following address: http://www.menlopark.org/athome. The project page allows 
interested parties to subscribe to email updates, and provides up-to-date information 
about the project, as well as links to previous staff reports and other related documents. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code to Incorporate the R-4-S (High Density Residential, Special) 
District 

B. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.98 (Affordable Housing 
Overlay) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 

C. Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.97 
(State Density Bonus Law) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 

D. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.20, R-3 (Apartment) 
and Chapter 16.72 (Off-Street Parking) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 

E. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 1221-1275 
and 1317-1385 Willow Road 

F. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 631, 711-
721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 831-851 Hamilton Avenue 

G. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 
3605-3615, 3633-3639, and 3645-3665 Haven Avenue  

PAGE 17

http://www.menlopark.org/athome


Staff Report #13-087 

H. Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code to Eliminate Zoning Districts (C-4 General Commercial – 
Applicable to El Camino Real, M-1 Light Industrial District, and P-D 
District) for which No Properties are Zoned 

 
 
Report prepared by: 
Deanna Chow 
Senior Planner 
 
Justin Murphy 
Development Services Manager 
 
 

PAGE 18



ATTACHMENT A 
 

   

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK AMENDING CHAPTER 16.68 [BUILDINGS] AND CHAPTER 
16.72 [OFF-STREET PARKING] AND ADDING CHAPTER 16.23 [R-4-S 
HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, SPECIAL] TO TITLE 16 [ZONING] OF 
THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE  
 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 

 
A. The City desires to add Chapter 16.23 (High Density Residential, Special) and 

amend Chapters 16.04 [Definition], 16,68 [Buildings], and 16.72 [Off-street Parking] 
of Title 16 [Zoning] to create consistency and opportunities for higher density 
housing in locations with development that is meant to blend with and enhance 
existing neighborhoods through application of the development regulations and 
design standards to help create attractive, hospitable and functionally useful multi-
family housing.  
 

B. The Planning Commission held duly noticed public hearings on April 22, 2013 and 
April 29, 2013 to review and consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.04, 
16.68 and 16.72, and the addition of Chapter 16.23 to Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code, whereat all interested persons had the opportunity to appear and 
comment. 

 
C. The City Council held duly noticed public hearings on April 22, 2013 and April 29, 

2013 to review and consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.04, 16.68 
and 16.72, and the addition of Chapter 16.23 to Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal 
Code, whereat all interested persons had the opportunity to appear and comment. 

 
D. After due consideration of the proposed amendments and addition to Title 16, public 

comments,  the recommendation of the Planning Commission, and the staff report, 
the  City Council finds that the proposed amendments and addition to Title 16 
support the Housing Element and are appropriate.  

SECTION 2.  Chapter 16.04 [Definitions] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
  

PAGE 19



Ordinance No.  

 

SECTION 3.  Chapter 16.23 [High Density Residential, Special] is hereby added to 
Chapter 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to read as follows:  

Chapter 16.23 

R-4-S High Density Residential, Special 

Sections: 
16.23.010 Purpose 
16.23.020 Permitted uses   
16.23.030 Conditional uses 
16.26.040 Nonconforming uses 
16.23.050 Development regulations 
16.23.055 Substandard parcel 
16.23.060 Mitigation monitoring 
16.23.070 Development standards and guidelines 
 

16.23.010 Purpose.  
The purpose of the R-4-S is to create opportunities for higher density housing in suitable 
locations deemed appropriate in Menlo Park.  Development is intended to blend and 
enhance existing neighborhoods with application of site development regulations and 
design standards to minimize impacts to adjacent uses and provide a quality living 
environment for its residents. Permitted densities in the R-4-S district range from a 
minimum of 20 dwelling units per acre up to 30 dwelling units per acre.  
 
16.23.020 Permitted uses.    
The only permitted use in the R-4-S zoning district is multiple dwellings. 
 
16.23.030 Conditional uses.   
Conditional uses allowed in the R-4-S district, subject to obtaining a use permit are as 
follows: 
 
(1)  Public utilities in accordance with Chapter 16.76;  
(2)  Private schools and churches in accordance with Chapter 16.78;  
(3)  Child day care centers in accordance with Chapter 16.78;  
(4)  Home occupations in accordance with Section 16.04.340;  
(5)  Foster homes;  
(6)  Boardinghouses;  
(7)  Convalescent homes;  
(8)  Senior day care facilities. 
(9) Ancillary neighborhood serving commercial uses up to five (5) percent of the site 

area or 10,000 square feet, whichever is less, that is part of a mixed-use 

PAGE 20



Ordinance No.  

 

development and the number of dwelling units for the site is in accordance with the 
anticipated number of units identified in the Housing Element.   

 
16.22.040 Nonconforming uses. 
No legal use of any parcel existing as of the effective date of adoption of an ordinance 
rezoning the parcel to R-4-S shall be required to obtain a use permit to continue 
operating such existing use on the parcel, which use became non-conforming solely as 
a result of such rezoning. 
 
16.23.050 Development regulations.   
Development regulations are as follows in the R-4-S district: 

 

 
** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 

  

PAGE 21



Ordinance No.  

 

 Regulation1 Notes 

Minimum Lot Area 20,000 sf  

Minimum Lot Width 100 ft. 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.430 for definition. 

Minimum Lot Depth 100 ft. 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.420 for definition. 

Density  

minimum 20 du/ac Densities may be increased with 
application of the State Density 

Bonus Law or Affordable Housing 
Overlay, if applicable 

maximum 30 du/ac 

Minimum Yards 

Front 
 

10 ft. 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.720 for definition. 

Interior Side 
10 ft., except may be reduced to 5 ft. abutting a private 

access easement See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.740 for definition. 
Corner Side 10 ft. 

Rear 10 ft. 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.730 for definition. 

Maximum 
Floor Area Ratio 

 

Increase on an even gradient from 60% for 20 du/ac to 
90% for 30 du/ac 

See Zoning Ordinance Section 
16.04.315 and 16.04.325 for 

definitions. 

Maximum Building Coverage 40% 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.120 for definition 

Minimum Open Space 
(Landscaping) 

25% 
See Zoning Ordinance Section 

16.04.500 for definition. 

Height 
Maximum 

building height 
40 ft. 

See Zoning Ordinance Section 
16.04.330 for definition of height of 

structure. 
 

Building Profile 

Starting at a height of 25 feet, a 45-degree building 

profile shall be set at the minimum setback line 

contiguous with a public right-of-way or single-family 

zoned property. 

 

Parking 

Vehicular 

2 spaces for units w/ 2 or more bedrooms; 1.5 spaces 
for 1 bedroom unit; 1 space per studio.  Spaces cannot 

be located in required front yard setbacks or in 
tandem. 

 
Electric Vehicle 

A minimum of 3 percent of the required number of 

parking spaces shall provide dedicated electric 

vehicle/plug-in hybrid electric charging stations and a 

minimum of 2 percent of the required number of 

parking spaces shall be pre-wired for such equipment. 

Bicycle 

Long term – 1 space per unit where a private garage 

(per unit) is not provided 

Short term (visitor) – 1 space per every 10 units 

1
A development regulation, except for floor area ratio and density, may be modified subject to a use permit established in Section 

16.82. 

PAGE 22



Ordinance No.  

 

16.23.055  Substandard parcel. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Title to the contrary, any parcel whose lot area is less 
than 20,000 square feet as of the effective date of adoption of an ordinance rezoning 
the parcel to R-4-S or R-4-S(AHO) shall not be required to obtain a use permit to 
develop the parcel in accordance with the zoning.  However, all other development 
regulations of the R-4-S or R-4-S(AHO) zoning, other than minimum lot size, shall apply 
to the parcel.  This section shall not apply where action is taken to reduce the minimum 
lot size of the parcel to less than 20,000 square feet after the effective date of the 
ordinance rezoning the parcel.   
 

16.23.060 Mitigation monitoring.  
All development within the R-4-S zoning district shall comply, at a minimum, with the 
Mitigation Monitoring and Report Program (MMRP) established through Resolution No. 
6149 associated with the Housing Element Update, General Plan Consistency Update, 
and Zoning Ordinance Amendments Environmental Assessment prepared for the 
Housing Element adopted on twenty-first day of May, 2013.  
 
16.23.070 Design standards and guidelines.   
Construction of a new building, additions to an existing building, and exterior alterations 
of an existing building occurring within the R-4-S district shall adhere to the 
Development Standards and Guidelines.  

The R-4-S zoning district establishes a combination of development standards and 
design guidelines to guide the development of higher density housing in a 
comprehensive and cohesive manner in appropriate locations.  Standards are objective 
and measurable rules required for new development.  Guidelines suggest means for 
enhancing building design, attractiveness and neighborhood fit, as well as residential 
comfort and usefulness.   

Design standards are open to modification subject to 
Architectural Control established in Section 16.68.020. 

(1) Building Setbacks and Projections within 
Setbacks  

(a) Standards 

1. Front, side and rear setback areas shall 
be developed with a variety of 
landscaping.  

a. A minimum average of one (1) 15 gallon 
container grown tree per 20 linear feet for 
the length of the property frontage along 
a public right-of-way is required.   

b. Existing trees located in the public right-
of-way along the property frontage shall 
count towards the minimum tree 
requirement for that property frontage.  

Figure 1 

PAGE 23



Ordinance No.  

 

c. For other setback areas not along a public right-of-way, a minimum 
average of one (1) 15 gallon container grown tree per 40 linear feet for 
the length of the property line is required.   

2.  Building projections, such as balconies and bay windows, at or above the 
second floor shall not project beyond a maximum of 5 feet into the setback area.  

3. Where a property is contiguous to a single-family zoned property, no projections 
into the setback are permitted for balconies or decks at or above the second 
floor. 

4. The total area of all horizontal and vertical building projections shall not exceed 
35% of the building façade area, and no one projection shall exceed 15% of the 
façade area on which the projections are located. Where such projections 
enclose interior living space, 85 percent of the vertical surface of the projection 
shall be windows or glazed. (See Figure 1) 

(2) Facade Modulation and Treatment 

(a) Standards  

1. Building façades facing public rights-of-way or public open spaces shall not 
exceed 50 feet in length without a minor building façade modulation. At a 
minimum of every 35 feet of façade length, the minor vertical façade 
modulation shall be a minimum 2 feet deep by 5 feet wide recess or a minimum 
2 foot setback of the building plane from the primary building façade.   

2. Building façades facing public rights-of-way or public open spaces shall not 
exceed 100 feet in length without a major building facade modulation. At a 
minimum of every 75 feet of façade length, a major vertical façade modulation 
shall be a minimum of 6 feet deep by 20 feet wide recess or a minimum 6 foot 
setback of building plane from primary building façade for the full height of the 
building.  

3. In addition, the major building façade modulation shall be accompanied with a 4 
foot minimum height modulation and a major change in fenestration pattern, 
material and/or color.  

(b) Guidelines 

1. Minor façade modulation may be accompanied with a change in fenestration 
pattern, and/or material, and/or color, and/or height. 

2. Blank walls at ground floor are discouraged and should be minimized. When 
unavoidable, continuous lengths of blank wall at the street should use other 
appropriate measures such as landscaping, additional architectural 
enhancement, or artistic intervention such as murals. 

3. Entries should be prominent and visually distinctive from the rest of the façade 
with creative use of scale, materials, glazing, projecting or recessed forms, 
architectural details, color, and/or awnings. 

PAGE 24



Ordinance No.  

 

4. The use of articulation, setbacks and varying materials are encouraged to 
minimize bulk and massing and provide visual interest. 

5. Architectural details and elements such as reveals, score-lines, trim, and/or other 
architectural elements and features should be scaled appropriately based on 
viewing distance (i.e. finer grain details from pedestrian view points and large 
scale details from more distant view points). 

6. Where a building intersects a street, consider providing a break in the building to 
provide view corridors.  

(3) Building Profile 

(a) Standards  

1. The façade of a building shall be limited to one major step back. (See Figure 2) 
2. Horizontal building and architectural projections, like balconies, bay windows, 

dormer windows beyond the 45-degree building profile shall comply with the 
standards for Building Setbacks & Projection within Setbacks section and shall 
be architecturally integrated into the design of the building. (See Figure 3) 

3. Vertical building projections like parapets and balcony railings shall not extend 
more than 4 feet beyond the 45-degree building profile and shall be 
architecturally integrated into the design of the building.  

4. Rooftop elements that may need to extend beyond the 45-degree building profile 
due to their function, such as stair and elevator towers, shall be architecturally 
integrated into the design of the building.  

 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
  

PAGE 25



Ordinance No.  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(4) Height  

(a) Standards 

1. Vertical building projections such as parapets and balcony railings may extend 
up to 4 feet beyond the maximum building height, and shall be architecturally 
integrated into the design of the building.  

2. Rooftop elements that may need to exceed the maximum building height due to 
their function, such as stair and elevator towers, shall not exceed 14 feet beyond 
the maximum building height. Such rooftop elements shall be architecturally 
integrated into the design of the building.  

3. Towers, cupolas, spires, chimneys, and other architectural features not 
exceeding 10 percent of the roof area may exceed the maximum building height 
limit by a maximum of 10 feet.  Such rooftop elements shall be architecturally 
integrated into the design of the building.  

(5) External Materials 

(a) Standards 

1. Buildings shall be designed and incorporate materials that discourage graffiti. 
Windows, doors, and small architectural features are exempt from this 
requirement.  

2. All external stucco shall be completed in textures that are smooth, sanded, or 
fine-scraped.  Heavy-figuring or rough cast stucco are not permitted. 

3. Stucco on the external façade shall be limited to no more than 80% of the entire 
area of an elevation, inclusive of all windows and doors. 

4. All external windows where in solid walls shall be inset by a minimum of 2 inches 
from the face of the external finishes. 

Figure 2 Figure 3 

PAGE 26



Ordinance No.  

 

5. When simulated divided light windows are included in a development, the 
windows shall include mullions on the exterior of the glazing and contain internal 
dividers (spacer bars) between the window panes.  

(b) Guidelines 

1. Materials should be selected to reinforce architectural character, building 
articulation and add visual interest. 

2. Changes in material and/or color should be used to articulate building elements 
such as building entries; base, body and parapet caps; or bays and arcades. 

3. Changes in material and/or colors should occur at appropriate façade locations to 
appear integral with the building massing. 

4. High quality materials that are distinctive from the main external wall finish of the 
building, such as decorative concrete, masonry or tile, should be used at 
important locations to articulate the building facade, providing visual interest as 
well as durable performance. 

(6) Building Entries  

(a) Standards 

1. When a residential building is adjacent to a public street or other public space, 
the building shall provide entries, access points or features oriented to the street 
that are visible from the public right-of-way or public space and provide visual 
cues to denote access into the building. For larger residential buildings with 
shared entries, the main entry shall be through prominent entry lobbies or central 
courtyards facing the street.   

(b) Guidelines 

1. Building entries are allowed to be recessed from the primary façade. 
2. Entries should be prominent and visually distinctive from the rest of the façade 

through creative use of materials, scale, glazing, projecting or recessed forms, 
architectural details, color and/or canopies. 

3. Multiple entries at street level are encouraged where appropriate. 
4. Ground floor residential units are encouraged to have their entry from the street. 
5. Stoops and entry steps from the street are encouraged when compliant with 

applicable accessibility codes.  Stoops associated with landscaping create 
visually attractive, inviting and usable transitions from private spaces to the 
street. 

 

 

 

PAGE 27



Ordinance No.  

 

(7) Open Space  

(a) Standards 

1. Residential developments shall have a minimum of 100 square feet of open 
space per unit created as common open space or a minimum of 80 square feet 
of open space per unit created as private open space, where private open space 
shall have a minimum dimension of 6 feet by 6 feet. In case of a mix of private 
and common open space, such common open space shall be provided at a ratio 
equal to 1.25 square feet for each one square foot of private open space that is 
not provided.  

2. Depending on the number of dwelling units, common open space shall be 
provided to meet the following criteria: 

i. 10-50 units: Minimum of one space, 20 feet minimum dimension (400 sf total, 
minimum). 

ii. 51-100 units: Minimum of one space, 30 feet minimum dimension (900 sf 
total, minimum). 

iii. 101 or more units: Minimum of one space, 40 feet minimum dimension (1,600 
sf total, minimum) 

 
(b) Guidelines 

1. Private and/or common open spaces are encouraged in all developments as part 
of building modulation and articulation to enhance building façade.  

2. Private open space should be designed as an extension of the indoor living area, 
providing an area that is usable and has some degree of privacy.   

3. Landscaping in setback areas should define and enhance pedestrian and open 
space areas.  It should provide visual interest to streets and sidewalks, 
particularly where building façades are long.  

4. Landscaping of open spaces should be attractive, durable and drought-resistant.  
5. Common open space should be accessible and located convenient to residents.  
6. Open space should be sited and designed to be appropriate for the size of the 

development and accommodate different activities, groups and both active and 
passive uses.  

 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 
 
 

 

PAGE 28



Ordinance No.  

 

(8) Parking 

(a) Standards – None 

(b) Guidelines 

1. The location, number and width of parking should be limited to minimize breaks 
in building design, sidewalk curb cuts and potential conflicts with streetscape 
elements.  

2. Surface parking should be visually attractive, address security and safety 
patterns, and provide landscaping and canopy trees for shade.  

3. To minimize or eliminate their visibility and impact from the street and other 
significant public spaces, parking garages should be underground, wrapped by 
other uses and/or screened from view through architectural and/or landscape 
treatment.  

4. Whether free-standing or incorporated into overall building design, garage 
facades should be designed with a modulated system of vertical openings and 
pilasters, with design attention to an overall building façade that fits comfortably 
and compatibility into the pattern, articulation, scale and massing of surrounding 
building character.  

5. Introduce safe pedestrian pathways, connecting the parking lot to building entries 
and public sidewalks, using elements such as marked crossings, clear signage 
and supplementary lighting.  

6. To reduce water consumption and heat island effect, incorporate shade, use 
indigenous plant materials and use permeable materials, where appropriate. 

7. A mix of tree types should be incorporated into the planting palette, where at 
least 50 percent of the trees have a mature height of at least 30 feet.  

8. Trees should be appropriately spaced and installed to allow for growth and 
prevent root damage to parking lot surfaces.  

9. Parking lot lighting should not conflict with the location or growth of the trees.   
10. Parking lot light standards no greater than 16 feet in height are strongly 

encouraged.  
 

(9) Bicycle Parking 
 

(a) Standards 
 
1. Each long term bicycle parking space shall consist of a locker or locked 

enclosure, such as a secure room or controlled access area, providing protection 
for each bicycle from theft, vandalism and weather.  A private locked storage unit 
that can accommodate a bicycle satisfies this requirement. Within a common 
residential building garage, bicycle parking shall be located within 40 feet of 
common access points into the building.    

PAGE 29



Ordinance No.  

 

2. Short-term bicycle parking shall consist of a bicycle rack or racks at street level 
and is meant to accommodate visitors.  

3. Bicycle parking facilities shall not impede pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 

(b) Guidelines 
 
1. Visitor bicycle racks should be positioned in areas with active visual surveillance 

and night lighting, and protected from damage from nearby vehicles.  
2. Bicycle racks for short term parking should be located in convenient locations to 

each building’s main entries.  
3. The location and design of required bicycle parking shall be of a quality, 

character and color that harmonize with adjoining land uses.  Required bicycle 
parking shall be incorporated whenever possible into building design or street 
furniture.  

4. Racks should be located with at least 30 inches of clearance in all directions from 
any obstruction, including but not limited to other racks, walls and landscaping.  

(10) Shade and Shadow 

(a) Standards 

1. Development shall be designed so that shadow impacts on adjacent shadow-
sensitive uses (e.g. residential, recreational, churches, schools, outdoor 
restaurants, historic buildings, and pedestrian areas) are minimized to the best 
extent possible.  Shadow-sensitive uses shall not be shaded by project-related 
structure for more than three hours between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. 
Pacific Standard Time (between late October and early April), or for more than 
four hours between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Pacific Daylight Time 
(between early April and late October).  

 (11) Lighting 

(a) Standards 

1. Exterior lighting fixtures shall use fixtures with low cut-off angles, appropriately 
positioned, to minimize glare into dwelling units and light pollution into the night 
sky.  

2. Lighting in parking garages shall be screened and controlled so as not to disturb 
surrounding properties, but shall ensure adequate public security.  

(b) Guidelines 

1. Energy-efficient and color-balanced outdoor lighting, at the lowest lighting levels 
possible, are encouraged to provide for safe pedestrian and auto circulation.  

2. Installation of high-efficiency lighting systems with advanced lighting control, 
including motion sensors tied to dimmable lighting controls or lighting controlled 
by timers set to turn off at the earliest practicable hour, are recommended.  

PAGE 30



Ordinance No.  

 

 
16.23.060 Compliance review procedure.   
Each development proposed under the R-4-S zoning requires review for compliance 
with Sections 16.23.040 and 16.23.050 prior to submittal of a building permit for any 
new structure containing residential dwelling units. 
 
(1)  Application.  Requests for compliance review shall be made in writing by the owner 

of the property, lessee, purchaser in escrow, or optionee with the consent of the 
owners, on a form prescribed by the City.  The application shall be accompanied by 
a fee, set by the City Council, and plans showing the details of the proposal per 
submittal guidelines established by the Community Development Director. 

 
(2)  Noticing.  Upon receipt of an application, a notice shall be mailed to all property 

owners and building occupants within 300 feet of the exterior boundary of the 
property involved, using for this purpose the last known name and address of such 
owners as shown upon the current assessment roll maintained by the City.  The 
notice shall include a description of the proposal, methods for providing comments, 
and date and time of a public meeting. 

 
(3)  Public meeting.  Prior to making a determination of compliance, the Planning 

Commission shall conduct a study session.  The review by the Planning 
Commission shall be advisory and non-binding and shall be limited to the 
architectural design of the proposal relative to the Design Standards and Design 
Guidelines. 

 
(4)  Compliance determination.  The Community Development Director or his or her 

designee shall make a determination of compliance in writing after reviewing the 
project plans and considering any comments received.  The determination of the 
Community Development Director is final and not subject to appeal. 

 
SECTION 4.  Section 16.68.020 [Architectural Control] of Chapter 16.68 [Buildings] of 
Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

 
16.68.020  Architectural control.   
When an application is made for a building permit for the construction, alteration or 
remodeling of any building other than a single family dwelling, duplex and accessory 
building, or for any structure, dwelling or duplex on land designated as a historic 
landmark site, it shall be accompanied by architectural drawings showing elevations of 
the proposed building or structure, proposed landscaping or other treatment of the 
grounds around such building or structure, and proposed design of, and access to, 
required parking facilities.  Such drawings shall be considered by the planning 
commission, architectural committee, or community development director which shall 
approve said application if the following findings are made:  
 
(1) That the general appearance of the structures is in keeping with character of the 

neighborhood;  
(1) That the development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly growth 

of the city;  

PAGE 31



Ordinance No.  

 

(3) That the development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in 
the neighborhood;  

(4) That the development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable city 
ordinances and has made adequate provisions for access to such parking;  

(5) That the development is consistent with any applicable Specific Plan. 
 
The community development director shall be limited to approving minor modifications 
to buildings located in the M-2 General Industrial District.  For purposes of this Section, 
a minor modification is considered one in which there is no increase in gross floor area. 
 
Each request to alter a site or area and each application for a building permit to do work 
on a historic landmark site shall include plans and specifications showing the proposed 
landscaping or planting changes, exterior appearance, color and texture of materials, 
and architectural design and detail; drawings or photographs showing the property or 
site in the context of its surroundings may also be required.  The application shall be 
considered by the planning commission or architectural committee which shall approve 
said application if the following findings are made:  
 
(1) That the proposed work is appropriate to and consistent with the purposes of 

Chapter 16.54, historic landmark site district;  
(2) That the proposed work will preserve, enhance or restore, and shall not damage or 

destroy (a) the exterior architectural features of the landmark, and (b) the major 
interior architectural features of a publicly owned landmark.  

 
No building permit shall be issued in any case herein above mentioned until such 
findings have been made by the planning commission. All buildings, structures, 
alterations and other improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved drawings. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, this section shall not apply to building permits for the 
construction of multiple dwelling units in the R-4-S zoning district and no architectural 
control findings shall be required for any such permit, unless an applicant seeks to 
modify one or more of the design standards set forth in Section 16.23.050. 

 
SECTION 5.  Section 16.68.030 [Accessory Buildings and/or Structures] of Chapter 
16.68 [Buildings] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 
16.68.030  Accessory buildings and/or structures. 
(a) Accessory buildings and/or structures may be constructed with, or subsequent to 

the construction of the main building.  Where an accessory building and/or 
structure is attached to the main building, it shall be made structurally a part of the 
main building, and shall comply in all respects with the requirements of this chapter 
which are applicable to the main building; provided, however, that garage or 
carport entrances on a dwelling or dwellings, fronting on any lot line shall be 
located not less than twenty feet from such line.  Unless so attached, an accessory 
building and/or structure in an R district other than R-4-S shall be located on the 
rear one-half of the lot and at least ten feet from any dwelling building existing or 
under construction on the same lot, or any adjacent lot.  In the R-4-S district, an 

PAGE 32



Ordinance No.  

 

accessory building may encroach into the front half of the lot, but the accessory 
building shall maintain a minimum setback for 50 feet from the front property line 
unless a use permit is obtained therefor from the planning commission.  Such 
accessory building shall not be located within five feet of any alley; or within thirty-
six inches of any property line.  In the case of a corner lot, an accessory building 
may not project beyond the setback required on the adjacent lot.  Overall height of 
an accessory building and/or structure shall not exceed fourteen feet; wall height 
shall not exceed nine feet. 

 
SECTION 6.  Chapter 16.72 [Off-street Parking] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
16.72.020  R district uses.   
R district parking uses are as follows:  
 
(1) Dwellings: Two spaces per unit, not in any required front or side yard, at least one 

of which shall be in a garage or carport, unless otherwise specified;  
(2) Retirement living units: Adequate parking for the character of the occupancy but 

not less than one garage space per three units; 
(3) Boardinghouses: One space per two occupants, not in any required front or side 

yard.  At least half of the required spaces shall be in a garage or carport;  
(4) Rest home, convalescent home: One space per four beds, not in any required front 

or side yard;  
(5) Churches: One space per five seats, not in any required front or side yard;  
(6) Offices: One space per two hundred square feet of gross floor area, not in any 

required yard abutting a street. 
(7) R-4 District.  Units with two or more bedrooms require two off-street parking 

spaces per unit; one bedroom units require one and one-half off-street parking 
spaces per unit; studio units require one off-street parking space per unit; required 
off-street parking spaces cannot be located in any required front or side yard 
setback; each unit shall have at least one covered off-street parking space; one 
guest off-street parking space for every three units shall be provided on the site. 

 
SECTION 7.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 

PAGE 33



Ordinance No.  

 

If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 8. If any part of this Ordinance is held to be invalid or inapplicable to any 
situation by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this Ordinance or the applicability of this Ordinance to other 
situations. 
 
SECTION 9.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 

 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 34



Ordinance No.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June, 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT:   
 
ABSTAIN:   
        
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 

PAGE 35



ATTACHMENT B 

ORDINANCE NO. 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK 
ADDING CHAPTER 16.98 [AFFORDABLE HOUSING OVERLAY] TO 
TITLE 16 [ZONING] OF THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE 

 
The City Council of the City Menlo Park does hereby ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 
 
A. The Affordable Housing Overlay encourages development of affordable housing by 

providing incentives to developers who agree to provide low, very-low and extremely 
low income housing that addresses the affordable housing need in the City of Menlo 
Park. 

 
B. The Housing Element included implementing program H4.C to adopt standards and 

incentives for an affordable housing overlay zone within 60 days of the adoption of 
the Housing Element. 

 
SECTION 2. Chapter 16.98 [Affordable Housing Overlay] is hereby added to Title 16 
[Zoning] of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to read as follows: 
 
Section 16.98.010 Purpose and Goal 
Section 16.95.015 Applicability 
Section 16.98.020 Affordable Housing Requirement 
Section 16.98.030 Density Bonus 
Section 16.98.040   Incentives 
Section 16.98.050   Fee Waivers 
Section 16.98.060   Continued Affordability 
Section 16.98.070  Design 
 
Section 16.98.010  Purpose and Goal.  
The purpose of the Affordable Housing Overlay (“AHO”) zone established by this 
Chapter is to encourage the development of affordable housing for low, very-low and 
extremely-low income households. The AHO serves to implement the Housing Element 
goal of providing new housing that addresses affordable housing needs in the City of 
Menlo Park by establishing development regulations for designated housing opportunity 
sites.  The AHO is also intended to address those housing projects which provide a 
greater percentage of low and very-low income units than identified in Government 
Code Section 65915. 
 
Section 16.95.015 Applicability. 
This Chapter shall apply to the Menlo Park El Camino Real and Downtown Specific 
Plan area and those properties zoned R-4-S(AHO) (High Density Residential, Special - 
Affordable Housing Overlay). 

PAGE 36



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

Section 16.98.020 Affordable Housing Requirement. 
A. For smaller projects that propose more than five, but less than 100 residential 

dwelling units, to qualify for the AHO and the density bonus and incentives provided 
pursuant to this Chapter, a residential development project shall provide a minimum 
of 21 percent low income units or 12 percent very-low income units.  If a smaller 
project proposes to provide both low and very-low income units, the minimum 
percentage of units to qualify for the AHO shall be more than the additive amount 
necessary to achieve a 35 percent density bonus as described in Government Code 
Section 65915.  For example, a project that proposes to provide 10 percent low (20 
percent density bonus) and five percent very-low (20 percent density bonus) would 
qualify for the AHO because the total additive density bonus under Government 
Code Section 65915 would be a 40 percent density bonus. 

 
B.  For larger projects that propose 100 or more residential dwelling units, to qualify for 

the AHO and the density bonus and incentives provided pursuant to this Chapter, a 
residential development project shall provide a minimum of 21 percent low income 
units or 12 percent very-low income units.  If a larger project proposes to provide 
both low and very-low income units, the minimum percentage of units to qualify for 
the AHO shall be the additive amount necessary to achieve more than a 35 percent 
density bonus.  For purposes of this section 16.98.020.B, to determine the additive 
percent density bonus required to qualify for the AHO, the density bonus 
percentages shall be as described in Government Code Section 65915 and as 
described in Table 1 below.  For example, a project that proposes to provide 10 
percent low (20 percent density bonus pursuant to Government Code Section 
65915) and four percent very-low income (17.5 percent density bonus pursuant to 
Table 1) would qualify for the AHO because the total additive density bonus 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65915 and Table 1 would be a 37.5 percent 
density bonus.          

 
       Table 1 

Low Income (%) Density Bonus (%) 
5 12.5 
6 14 
7 15.5 
8 17 
9 18.5 
  
Very-Low Income (%) Density Bonus (%) 
2 12.5 
3 15 
4 17.5 
  

 
C. The percentage of low or very-low income units shall be calculated as a percentage 

of the maximum base unit density of the property, not including any public benefit 
density.  The low or very-low income percentage required to qualify for the AHO 

PAGE 37



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

shall not include the below market rate units required to be provided by for-sale 
residential development projects and commercial development projects pursuant to 
the City’s Below Market Rate Housing Program, Chapter 16.96.   

 
D. Those projects located in the Menlo Park El Camino Real and Downtown Specific 

Plan area that qualify for the AHO shall be eligible for the density bonus and 
incentives identified in this Chapter.  The density bonus applies only to the 
residential component of a project in the Menlo Park El Camino Real and Downtown 
Specific Plan area and does not act to entitle a project to more office, retail or other 
non-residential density.     

 
E.  To qualify for the AHO, a project must accommodate a full range of income levels. At 

least 25 percent of the affordable units in a project must be very-low and/or 
extremely-low income units or at least 15 percent of the affordable units in a project 
must be extremely-low income. 

  
Section 16.98.030 Density Bonus. 
A.  Low Income.  A project that provides 21 percent low income units shall be entitled to 

a 36.5 percent density bonus.  For each additional percentage of low income units 
above 21 percent or above the percentage of low income units provided to qualify for 
the AHO where a mix of low and very-low income units is provided, the project shall 
be entitled to an additional 1.5 percent density bonus, up to the maximum density 
bonus identified in subsection C. 

 
B.  Very Low Income.  A project that provides 12 percent very-low income units shall be 

entitled to a 37.5 percent density bonus.  For each additional percentage very-low 
income units above 12 percent or above the percentage of very-low income units 
provided to qualify for the AHO where a mix of low and very-low income units is 
provided, the project shall be entitled to an additional 2.5 percent density bonus, up 
to the maximum density bonus identified in subsection C. 

 
C.  The maximum density bonus available pursuant to this Chapter, whether achieved 

by provision of low, very-low or a mix of low and very-low income units, is 60 
percent.  The density bonus percentages used to calculate the total additive density 
bonus for a project that proposes a mix of low and very-low income units shall 
calculated pursuant to section 16.98.020 and this section 16.98.030.  The density 
bonus provided pursuant to the AHO is not additive with and shall not be combined 
with the density bonus provided pursuant to State Density Bonus Law, Government 
Code Section 65915. 

 
D.  For purposes of this Chapter, any decimal fraction of less than 0.5 shall be rounded 

down to the nearest whole number and any decimal fraction of 0.5 or more shall be 
rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

 

PAGE 38



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

Section 16.98.040   Incentives. 
A.  Floor Area Ratio.  A project shall be permitted to increase the floor area ratio by an 

amount that corresponds to the increase in allowable density identified in section 
16.98.030 above and an additional five percent or other increase reasonably 
sufficient to make development of low and very-low income multiple-bedroom units 
and family housing feasible.   

 
B.  Stories/Height.  A project that is entitled to up to a 45 percent density bonus under 

this AHO shall be entitled to a maximum height of four stories, but not more than 48 
feet.  A project that is entitled to a density bonus above 45 percent under this AHO 
and in which at least 50 percent of the affordable units are very-low and extremely-
low income or at least 25 percent of the affordable units are extremely-low income, 
shall be entitled to a maximum of five stories, but not more than 60 feet.   

 
C.  Parking.  Unless modified herein, the parking requirements in the underlying zoning 

designation of the property shall apply. The parking requirements in the AHO shall 
be modified for each affordable unit as follows: 

1. Number of spaces: 
a. A studio requires 0.8 parking spaces. 
b. A one-bedroom requires one parking space. 
c. A two-bedroom or larger unit requires 1.5 parking spaces. 
d. For projects located in the Station Area or Station Area Sphere of 

Influence each affordable unit shall be granted a reduction of 0.2 
parking spaces from the minimum that would otherwise be required. 

2. In the Menlo Park El Camino Real and Downtown Specific Plan area, projects 
qualifying for the AHO shall not be required to provide either the number of 
spaces per C.1., above, or as specified in the Menlo Park El Camino Real 
and Downtown Specific Plan, whichever is less. 

3.  A senior citizen housing project as defined in Sections 51.3 and 51.12 of the 
Civil Code shall be required to provide no more than 0.8 parking spaces per 
dwelling unit. 

4.  The spaces required for the affordable units need not be covered or located in 
a garage or carport. 

5.  If two spaces are being provided for any one affordable dwelling unit, the 
spaces may be in tandem.  

6.  Long-term bicycle parking shall be required at no more than 0.5 spaces per 
unit.   

7. Any requirement for electric vehicle parking or plug in hybrid recharging 
stations shall be reduced by 50 percent or may be met by providing an 
equivalent number of car sharing spaces.  

 
D. Contiguous parcels that touch or contiguous parcels in the same zone that are in 

close proximity may calculate density, floor area ratio, building coverage, paving, 
landscaping and required parking across the parcels, provided that there is a 
recorded agreement among the owner(s) of the parcels to transfer development 

PAGE 39



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

rights between the parcels such that the maximum overall density of the combined 
parcels is not exceeded.   

 
E. Coverage.  In addition to the amount necessary to physically accommodate the 

increased density provided for by this Chapter, any applicable maximum building 
coverage and/or allowable paving requirement shall be increased by five percent 
and the minimum open space/landscaping requirement reduced by 10 percent from 
the underlying zoning designation. 

 
F. Setbacks.  In addition to the amount necessary to physically accommodate the 

increased density provided for by this Chapter, required setbacks shall be reduced 
to five feet, except when the parcel subject to the AHO abuts a parcel zoned single-
family residential, in which case the setbacks identified in underlying zoning shall 
control.   

 
G. Open Space.  In addition to the amount necessary to physically accommodate the 

increased density provided for by this Chapter, any common and/or private open 
space may be reduced by up to 50 percent from the underlying zoning.   

 
H.  Maximum Façade Height. Where an increase in the overall height is permitted to be 

above 40 feet, the building profile shall be set at a height of 32 feet and the 
maximum number of major step backs shall be one.  

 
I. The incentives provided pursuant to the AHO are not additive with and shall not be 

combined with the incentives provided pursuant to State Density Bonus Law, 
Government Code Section 65915.  

 
J. Specific Plan Exemptions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, certain requirements in the 

Menlo Park El Camino Real Downtown Specific Plan area shall not be modified 
pursuant to this Section 16.98.040: 

 
1. The maximum FAR shall be limited to the public benefit levels. 
2. The front and side setbacks facing a public right-of-way. 
3. Building façade height. 
4. Massing and modulation standards including, major portions of a building 

facing a street should be parallel to the street, building breaks, building 
façade modulation and building profile, and upper story façade length.  

 
Section 16.98.050   Fee Waivers. 
A. Processing Fees.  Those projects that provide at least 50 percent of the units in the 

base project for low income households or 20 percent for very-low income 
households shall be entitled to a fee waiver for all the processing fees associated 
with the various applications for development.  

 

PAGE 40



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

B. Other Fees.  Projects qualifying for the AHO shall be entitled to a reduction in all 
other fees in an amount that corresponds to the increase in allowable density 
identified in section 16.98.030 above.  Any project requesting a reduction or waiver 
of the traffic impact fee, park dedication fee, building construction street impact fee, 
Menlo Park El Camino Real Downtown Specific Plan preparation fee, or other fee(s) 
in excess of that percentage reduction shall apply for the requested reduction or 
waiver, which shall be subject to a discretionary review and approval process.  The 
City Council shall be the final decision maker regarding any such request.   

 
Section 16.98.060   Continued Affordability. 
Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall execute an agreement with the 
City, to be executed by the City Manager without review by the Housing Commission, 
Planning Commission or City Council, in a form acceptable to the City Attorney ensuring 
the continued affordability of the affordable dwelling units for a period of not less than 55 
years. 
 
Section 16.98.070  Design. 
Development utilizing the AHO shall be subject to compliance review relative to adopted 
objective design standards and such compliance shall be determined by the Community 
Development Director or his/her designee.  Development in the Menlo Park El Camino 
Real Downtown Specific Plan area shall be subject to the architectural control process 
identified in the Menlo Park El Camino Real Downtown Specific Plan.  No other 
discretionary action shall be required, unless the applicant requests a variance from the 
requirements of the AHO or requests architectural control for modification of the 
objective design standards.  Low and very-low income units must be constructed 
concurrently with market-rate units and shall be integrated into the project and be 
comparable in construction quality and exterior design to any market rate units.  The low 
and very-low income units may be smaller in size and have different interior finishes and 
features than market rate units so long as the features are durable, of good quality and 
consistent with contemporary standards for new housing as determined by the 
Community Development Director in his/her sole and absolute discretion.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the number of bedrooms in the low and very-low income 
units shall at minimum be consistent with the mix of market rate units.  For example if 
the market rate units consist of 50 percent one-bedroom, 25 percent two-bedroom and 
25 percent three-bedroom units, the low and very-low income units must match this 
breakdown.  Applicants may elect to include a higher percentage of units with more 
bedrooms.   
 
SECTION 3. If any section of this ordinance, or part hereof, is held by a court of 
competent jurisdiction in a final judicial action to be void, voidable or enforceable, such 
section, or part hereof, shall be deemed severable from the remaining sections of this 
ordinance and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining sections hereof. 
 
SECTION 4. This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 

PAGE 41



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 5.  This ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its passage and adoption.  
Within 15 days of its adoption this ordinance shall be posted in three public places 
within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the ordinance 
prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used to publish 
official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 

PAGE 42



Ordinance No. 

 

 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June, 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT:   
 
ABSTAIN:   
        
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 

PAGE 43



ATTACHMENT C 

ORDINANCE NO. 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK 
ADDING CHAPTER 16.97 [STATE DENSITY BONUS LAW] TO TITLE 
16 [ZONING] OF THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE 

 
The City Council of the City Menlo Park does hereby ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 
 
A. California Government Code Section 65915 (“State Density Bonus Law”) requires all 

cities to adopt an ordinance that specifies how compliance with State Density Bonus 
Law will be implemented.   

 
B. The Housing Element included implementing program H4.D to adopt standards to 

implement State Density Bonus Law within 60 days of the adoption of the Housing 
Element. 

 
SECTION 2. Chapter 16.97 [State Density Bonus Law] is hereby added to Title 16 
[Zoning] of the Menlo Park Municipal Code to read as follows: 
 
Section 16.97.010 Purpose 
Section 16.97.020 Definitions 
Section 16.97.030 Applicability 
Section 16.97.040   Application Requirements 
Section 16.97.050   Density Bonus 
Section 16.97.060   Incentives 
Section 16.97.070  Discretionary Approval Authority Retained 

Section 16.97.080  Waivers 

Section 16.97.085 Specific Plan Exemptions 

Section 16.97.090  Affordable Housing Agreement 
Section 16.97.100  Design and Quality 
 
Section 16.97.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to adopt an ordinance that specifies how compliance with 
Government Code Section 65915 (“State Density Bonus Law”) will be implemented in 

an effort to encourage the production of low income housing units in developments 
proposed within the City.   
 
Section 16.97.020 Definitions. 

Unless otherwise specified in this Chapter, the definitions found in State Density Bonus 
Law shall apply to the terms contained herein.   
 
 

PAGE 44



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

Section 16.97.030 Applicability. 

This Chapter shall apply to all zoning districts, including mixed use zoning districts, 
where residential developments of five or more dwelling units are proposed and where 
the applicant seeks and agrees to provide low, very-low, senior or moderate income 
housing units in the threshold amounts specified in State Density Bonus Law such that 
the resulting density is beyond that which is permitted by the applicable zoning.  This 
Chapter and State Density Bonus Law shall apply only to the residential component of a 
mixed use project and shall not operate to increase the allowable density of the non-
residential component of any proposed project.     
 
Section 16.97.040   Application Requirements. 

A.  Any applicant requesting a density bonus, incentive(s) and/or waiver(s) pursuant to 
State Density Bonus Law shall provide the City with a written proposal.  The 
proposal shall be submitted prior to or concurrently with the filing the planning 
application for the housing development and shall be processed in conjunction with 
the underlying application.  

 
B.  The proposal for a density bonus, incentive(s) and/or waiver(s) pursuant to State 

Density Bonus Law shall include the following information: 
 

1. Requested density bonus. The specific requested density bonus proposal 
shall evidence that the project meets the thresholds for State Density Bonus 
Law.  The proposal shall also include calculations showing the maximum 
base density, the number/percentage of affordable units and identification of 
the income level at which such units will be restricted, additional market rate 
units resulting from the density bonus allowable under State Density Bonus 
Law and the resulting unit per acre density. The density bonus units shall not 
be included in determining the percentage of base units that qualify a project 
for a density bonus pursuant to State Density Bonus Law. 
 

2. Requested incentive(s).  The request for particular incentive(s) shall include a 
pro forma or other report evidencing that the requested incentive(s) results in 
identifiable, financially sufficient and actual cost reductions that are necessary 
to make the housing units economically feasible.  The report shall be 
sufficiently detailed to allow the City to verify its conclusions.  If the City 
requires the services of specialized financial consultants to review and 
corroborate the analysis, the applicant will be liable for all costs incurred in 
reviewing the documentation. 
 

3. Requested Waiver(s).  The written proposal shall include an explanation of 
the waiver(s) of development standards requested and why they are 

PAGE 45



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

necessary to make the construction of the project physically possible.  Any 
requested waiver(s) shall not exceed the limitations provided by Section 
16.97.080 and to the extent such limitations are exceeded will be considered 
as a request for an incentive.   
 

4. Fee.  Payment of the fee in an amount set by resolution of the City Council to 
reimburse the City for staff time spent reviewing and processing the State 
Density Bonus Law application submitted pursuant to this Chapter.   

 
Section 16.97.050   Density Bonus. 

A. A density bonus for a housing development means a density increase over the 
otherwise maximum allowable residential density under the applicable zoning and 
land use designation on the date the application is deemed complete.  The amount 
of the allowable density bonus shall be calculated as provided in State Density 
Bonus Law.  The applicant may select from only one of the income categories 
identified in State Density Bonus Law and may not combine density bonuses from 
different income categories to achieve a larger density bonus.   

 
B. In the sole discretion of the City Council, the City Council may approve a density 

bonus and/or incentive(s) in accordance with State Density Bonus Law for a project 
that does not maximize the underlying base zoning density.  Additionally, nothing 
herein prevents the City from granting a greater density bonus and additional 
incentives or waivers than that provided for herein, or from providing a lesser 
density bonus and fewer incentives and waivers than that provided for herein, when 
the housing development does not meet the minimum thresholds. 

 
C. The density bonus provided pursuant to State Density Bonus Law is not additive 

with and shall not be combined with the density bonus provided pursuant to 
Chapter 16.98 [Affordable Housing Overlay].  

 
Section 16.97.060   Incentives 

A. The number of incentives granted shall be based upon the number the applicant is 
entitled to pursuant to State Density Bonus Law.    

 
B. An incentive includes a reduction in site development standards or a modification of 

zoning code requirements or architectural requirements that result in identifiable, 
financially sufficient and actual cost reductions.  An incentive may be the approval 
of mixed use zoning (e.g. commercial) in conjunction with a housing project if the 
mixed use will reduce the cost of the housing development and is compatible with 
the housing project.  An incentive may, but need not be, the provision of a direct 
financial incentive, such as the waiver of fees.   

PAGE 46



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

 
C. The City has specifically approved the following incentive for properties not located 

within the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan boundary: 
 

1. If the applicant proposes to put 50 percent of the required parking in a parking 
structure, then the applicant shall be eligible for a 10 percent increase in the 
base density for purposes of the calculations of maximum base density and 
percentage of affordable units required to apply State Density Bonus Law.   

 
D. A requested incentive may be denied only for those reasons provided in State 

Density Bonus Law.  Denial of an incentive is a separate and distinct act from a 
decision to deny or approve the entirety of the project. 

 
Section 16.97.070  Discretionary Approval Authority Retained. 

The granting of a density bonus or incentive(s) shall not be interpreted in and of itself to 
require a general plan amendment, zoning change or other discretionary approval.  If an 
incentive would otherwise trigger one of these approvals, when it is granted as an 
incentive, no general plan amendment, zoning change or other discretionary approval is 
required.  However, if the base project without the incentive requires a general plan 
amendment, zoning change or other discretionary approval, the City retains discretion 
to make or not make the required findings for approval of the base project.   
 
Section 16.97.080  Waivers. 

A waiver is a modification to a development standard such that construction at the 
increased density would be physically possible.  Modifications to floor area ratio in an 
amount equivalent to the percentage density bonus utilized shall be allowable as a 
waiver.  Requests for an increase floor area ratio above that equivalent percentage shall 
be considered a request for an incentive.  Other development standards, include, but 
are not limited to, a height limitation, a setback requirement, an onsite open space 
requirement, or a parking ratio that applies to a residential development.  An applicant 
may request a waiver of any development standard to make the project physically 
possible to construct at the increased density.  To be entitled to the requested waiver, 
the applicant must show that without the waiver, the project would be physically 
impossible to construct.  There is no limit on the number of waivers. 
 
Section 16.97.085  Specific Plan Exemptions. 
The following requirements in the Menlo Park El Camino Real Downtown Specific Plan 
area shall not be modified as either an incentive or waiver pursuant to this Chapter: 
 
A. The maximum FAR shall be limited to the public benefit levels. 
B. The front and side setbacks facing a public right-of-way. 

PAGE 47



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

C. Building façade height. 
D. Massing and modulation standards including, major portions of a building facing a 

street should be parallel to the street, building breaks, building façade modulation 
and building profile, and upper story façade length.  

 

Section 16.97.090  Affordable Housing Agreement. 

Prior to project approval, the applicant shall enter into an Affordable Housing Agreement 
with the City, to be executed by the City Manager without review by the Housing 
Commission, Planning Commission or City Council if the underlying application does 
not require review and/or approval by those bodies, to the satisfaction of the City 
Attorney guaranteeing the affordability of the rental or ownership units for a minimum of 
30 years and identifying the type, size and location of each affordable unit.  Such 
Affordable Housing Agreement shall be recorded in the San Mateo County Recorder’s 

Office. 
 
Section 16.97.100  Design and Quality. 
A. Affordable units must be constructed concurrently with market-rate units and shall 

be integrated into the project.  Affordable units shall be of equal design and quality 
as the market rate units.  Exteriors, including architecture and elevations, and floor 
plans of the affordable units shall be similar to the market rate units.  Interior 
finishes and amenities may differ from those provided in the market rate units, but 
neither the workmanship nor the products may be of substandard or inferior quality 
as determined by the building official.  The number of bedrooms in the affordable 
units shall be consistent with the mix of market rate units.   

 
B. Parking standards shall be modified as allowable under State Density Bonus Law 

and anything beyond those standards shall be considered a request for an 
incentive.  

 
SECTION 3. If any section of this ordinance, or part hereof, is held by a court of 
competent jurisdiction in a final judicial action to be void, voidable or enforceable, such 
section, or part hereof, shall be deemed severable from the remaining sections of this 
ordinance and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining sections hereof. 
 
SECTION 4. This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 

PAGE 48



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 5.  This ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its passage and adoption.  
Within 15 days of its adoption this ordinance shall be posted in three public places 
within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the ordinance 
prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used to publish 
official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 

PAGE 49



   Ordinance No. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June, 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT:   
 
ABSTAIN:   
        
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
  

PAGE 50



ATTACHMENT D 

         

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK AMENDING CHAPTER 16.20, R-3 [APARTMENT DISTRICT] 
AND CHAPTER 16.72 [OFF-STREET PARKING] OF TITLE 16 
[ZONING] OF THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE  
 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows:  

 
A. The City desires to amend Chapter 16.20 [Apartment] and 16.72 [Off-street 

Parking] to create opportunities for higher density housing in infill locations around 
the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan area where proximity to services and 
transit is available.   

 
B. The Planning Commission held duly noticed public hearings on April 22, 2013 and 

April 29, 2013 to review and consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.20 
and 16.72 of Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code, whereat all interested 
persons had the opportunity to appear and comment. 

 
C. The City Council held duly noticed public hearings on May 21, 2013 to review and 

consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.20 and 16.72 of Title 16 of the 
Menlo Park Municipal Code, whereat all interested persons had the opportunity to 
appear and comment. 

 
D. After due consideration of the proposed amendments to Title 16, public comments, 

the Planning Commission recommendation, and the staff report, the  City Council 
finds that the proposed amendments to Title 16 support the Housing Element and 
are appropriate.  

 
SECTION 2.  Chapter 16.20 [Apartment] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

Chapter 16.20 
 

R-3 APARTMENT DISTRICT 
 
Sections:  
   16.20.010   Permitted uses 
   16.20.020   Conditional uses 
   16.20.030   Development regulations 
   16.20.040  Mitigation monitoring 
 
  

PAGE 51



   Ordinance No. 
 

 

16.20.010  Permitted uses.   
The following uses are permitted in the R-3 (Apartment) district: 
 
(1) Single-family dwellings; 
(2) Duplexes; 
(3)     Three or more units on lots 10,000 square feet or more; 
(4) Accessory buildings. 
 
16.20.020  Conditional Uses.   
Conditional uses allowed in the R-3 district, subject to obtaining a use permit or, in the 
case of home occupations, a home occupation permit, are as follows: 
 
(1) Three or more dwelling units on lots less than 10,000 square feet; 
(2) Public utilities in accordance with Chapter 16.76; 
(3) Private schools and churches in accordance with Chapter 16.78; 
(4) Child day care centers in accordance with Chapter 16.78; 
(5) Home occupations in accordance with Section 16.04.340; 
(6) Foster homes; 
(7) Boardinghouses; 
(8) Convalescent homes; 
(9) Senior day care facilities. 
 
16.20.030  Development regulations.  
Development regulations are as follows in the R-3 district: 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
  

PAGE 52



   Ordinance No. 
 

 

Table 1 

 

 

All R-3 zoned Properties Except for 
Lots 10,000 sq. ft. or More in the 

Area Around the El Camino 
Real/Downtown Specific Plan Area 

Lot Area of 
10,000 sq. ft. or More for Property 

Around the El Camino Real/Downtown 
Specific Plan Area

1 

Minimum Lot Area 7,000 sq. ft.  10,000 sq. ft. 

Minimum Lot Dimensions 

70 ft. wide by 100 ft. deep (lots < 
10,000 sq. ft. in area) 
80 ft. wide by 100 ft. deep (lots ≥ 
10,000 sf. ft. in area) 

80 ft.  wide by 100 ft. deep 

Land Area Required Per Dwelling Unit See Table 2 below 
Minimum  3,333 sq. ft.  

Maximum 1,452 sq. ft. 

Minimum Yards 

Front 15% of lot width; min. 20 ft.  20 ft. 

Interior Side 10 ft. 10 ft. 

Corner Side 15 ft. 15 ft. 

Rear 15% of lot width; min. 15 ft.  15 ft. 

Distance between main 
buildings on same lot 

1/2 sum of the height of the buildings, 
20 ft. min. 

N/A 

Distance between main 
buildings located on one 

property and adjacent 
property 

20 ft.  N/A 

Maximum 
Floor Area Ratio 

45% 
Floor area ratio shall decrease on an 
even gradient from 75% for 30 du/ac to 
35%  for 13.1 du/ac 

Maximum Building Coverage 30% 40% 

Maximum Driveways and Open Parking Areas 
(Paving)

2 20% 35% 

Minimum Open Space (Landscaping)
 

50% 25% 

Height 35 ft. 

13.1 du/ac 35 ft.  

20 du/ac or 
greater 

40 ft.  

Building Profile None 

Starting at a height of 28 feet, a 45-
degree building profile shall be set at the 
minimum setback line contiguous with a 
public right-of-way or single-family 
zoned property or public park.   

Parking  
2 spaces per unit, one of which must 
be covered, and not located in a 
required front or side yard 

2 or more bedrooms per 
unit 

2 spaces 

Up to 1 bedroom per 
unit 

1.5 spaces 

Each unit must have at least one 
covered space. Parking spaces cannot be 
located in the required front yard 

1
For the purposes of Chapter 16.20.030, the area around the Downtown/El Camino Real is defined in three distinct areas as follows, 

and is only applicable to properties zoned R-3 that are 10,000 sq. Ft. Or more. 
Area 1: Area bounded by University Avenue, Valparaiso Avenue, El Camino Real and Oak Grove Avenue. 
Area 2: Area bounded by Arbor Road, Santa Cruz Avenue, El Camino Real and Middle Avenue. 
Area 3: Area generally bounded by San Antonio Street and Alma Street, Encinal Avenue, Marcussen Drive and Ravenswood Avenue. 
2
 Permeable pavers may count as 50 percent towards the paving requirement, except for on lots 10,000 sq. ft. or more located 

around the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan Area. 

PAGE 53



   Ordinance No. 
 

 

 
 

                              Table 2 
 

TOTAL 
LOT AREA 

LAND AREA REQUIRED 
PER DWELLING UNIT 

7,000 - 19,999 sq. ft 3,333 sq. ft. 
20,000 - 29,999 sq. ft. 3,100 sq. ft. 
30,000 - 39,999 sq. ft. 2,900 sq. ft. 
40,000 - 59,999 sq. ft. 2,700 sq. ft. 
60,000 - 69,999 sq. ft. 2,600 sq. ft. 
70,000 - 79,999 sq. ft. 2,500 sq. ft.  
80,000 - 89,999 sq. ft. 2,400 sq. ft. 
90,000  sq. ft. or more 2,350 sq. ft. 

 
 
(1) Notwithstanding the provisions of Table 1 herein, any given lot in excess of five 

thousand square feet in area shall be permitted a minimum of two units; 
(2) Any development containing twenty or more units, or encompassing one acre or 

more, may be expected to include a quantity of moderate and/or low cost units, 
ranging from five percent to twenty percent of the total units, depending on the 
specific development; 

(3) In the case of conditional uses, additional regulations may be required by the 
planning commission.  

 
16.20.040  Mitigation Monitoring.  
All development on lots 10,000 square feet or more and located within the identified 
areas around the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan area shall comply, at a 
minimum, with the Mitigation Monitoring and Report Program (MMRP) established 
through Resolution No. 6149 associated with the Housing Element Update, General 
Plan Consistency Update, and Zoning Ordinance Amendments Environmental 
Assessment prepared for the Housing Element adopted on May 21, 2013.  
 
SECTION 3.  Chapter 16.72 [Off-Street Parking] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 
16.72.020  R district uses.  R district parking uses are as follows:  
 
(1) Dwellings: Two spaces per unit, not in any required front or side yard, at least one 

of which shall be in a garage or carport, unless otherwise specified. 
 

SECTION 4.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 

PAGE 54



   Ordinance No. 
 

 

action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 5. If any part of this Ordinance is held to be invalid or inapplicable to any 
situation by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this Ordinance or the applicability of this Ordinance to other 
situations. 
 
SECTION 6.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 

PAGE 55



   Ordinance No. 
 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park on the fourth day of June, 2013, by 
the following vote: 
 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 

PAGE 56



ATTACHMENT E 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK REZONING PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1221-1275 AND 1317-
1385 WILLOW ROAD 

 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 
 
A. The rezoning of properties located at 1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road would 

provide the opportunity to develop higher density housing to accommodate the 
housing need in the City of Menlo Park. 

 
B. The rezoning of properties located at 1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road is 

consistent with the intent of the Housing Element to use available land resources as 
efficiently as possible while addressing local housing needs.  

 
SECTION 2.  The zoning map of the City of Menlo Park is hereby amended such that 
certain real properties with the addresses of 1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road 
(Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 062-103-610 and 055-383-560) are rezoned from R-3 
(Apartment District) to R-4-S (AHO) (High Density Residential, Special - Affordable 
Housing Overlay) as more particularly described and shown in Exhibit “A.” This rezoning 
is consistent with the General Plan land use designation of High Density Residential for 
the property. 

 
SECTION 3.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-

PAGE 57



Ordinance No. 
 

up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 

 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 

PAGE 58



Ordinance No. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PAGE 59



IVY

SE
VIE

R

MA
DE

RA

WI
LL

OW

CA
RL

TO
N

HO
LLY

BU
RN

E

WI
ND

ER
ME

RE

O'BRIEN

ALBERNI

CHILCO

NEWBRIDGE

HAMILTON
HE

ND
ER

SO
N

KE
LL

Y

SA
RA

TO
GA

¯ 0 250 500125
FeetCITY OF MENLO PARK

1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1
1
1
1

REZONING: R-3 (Apartment)  to R-4-S (AHO) (High Density Residential, 
Special, Affordable Housing Overlay)
ADDRESSES: 1221-1275 & 1317-1385 Willow Road
APNs: 062-103-610 & 055-383-560

Legend
City Limits
Subject Sites
Parcels

PAGE 60



ATTACHMENT F 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK REZONING PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 631, 711-721, 735-763, 
767, 771, 777-821 AND 831-851 HAMILTON AVENUE 

 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 
 
A. The rezoning of properties located at 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 

831-851 Hamilton Avenue would provide the opportunity to develop higher density 
housing to accommodate the housing need in the City of Menlo Park. 

 
B. The rezoning of properties located at 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 

831-851 Hamilton Avenue is consistent with the intent of the Housing Element to use 
available land resources as efficiently as possible while addressing local housing 
needs.  

 
SECTION 2.  The zoning map of the City of Menlo Park is hereby amended such that 
certain real properties with the addresses of  631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 
and 831-851 Hamilton Avenue (Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 055-374-120, 055-396-070, 
055-396-040, 055-396-060, 055-397-010, 055-397-020, 055-397-030, 055-397-040, 
055-397-050, 055-398-240, 055-398-010, 055-398-260, 055-398-030, 055-398-040, 
055-398-050, 055-398-060, 055-398-070, 055-398-080, 055-398-090, 055-398-100 and 
055-398-110) are rezoned from M-1 (Light Industrial District) to R-4-S (High Density 
Residential, Special) as more particularly described and shown in Exhibit “A.” This 
rezoning is consistent with the General Plan land use designation of High Density 
Residential for the property. 

 
SECTION 3.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 

PAGE 61



Ordinance No. 
 

the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 

 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 62



Ordinance No. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 63



HAMILTON

BAYFRONT EXPRESSWAY (SR 84)

CHILCO

SE
VIE

R

MA
DE

RA

CA
RL

TO
N

WI
LL

OWMODOC

ALMANOR

HO
LLY

BU
RN

E

WI
ND

ER
ME

RE

TERMINAL

SANDLEWOOD

HE
ND

ER
SO

N

SAGE

HAZEL

ROSEMARY

GINGER

¯ 0 250 500125
FeetCITY OF MENLO PARK

REZONING: M-1 (Light Industrial) to R-4-S (High Density Residential)
ADDRESSES: 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821, & 
           831-851 Hamilton Avenue
APNs: 055-374-120, 055-396-070, 055-396-030, 055-396-060, 
           055-397-010, 055-397-020, 055-397-030, 055-397-040, 
           055-397-050, 055-398-240, 055-398-010, 055-398-260, 
           055-398-030, 055-398-040, 055-398-050, 055-398-060, 
           055-398-070, 055-398-080, 055-398-090, 055-398-100, 
           055-398-110

Dumbarton Rail Corridor

Legend
Subject Site
Parcels

PAGE 64



ATTACHMENT G 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK REZONING PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 3605-3665 HAVEN 
AVENUE 

 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 
 
A. The rezoning of properties located at 3605-3665 Haven Avenue would provide the 

opportunity to develop higher density housing to accommodate the housing need in 
the City of Menlo Park. 

 
B. The rezoning of properties located at 3605-3665 Haven Avenue is consistent with 

the intent of the Housing Element to use available land resources as efficiently as 
possible while addressing local housing needs.  

  
SECTION 2.  The zoning map of the City of Menlo Park is hereby amended such that 
certain real properties with the addresses of  3605-3665 Haven Avenue (Assessor’s 
Parcel Numbers 055-170-260, 055-170-200, 055-170-190, 055-170-270, 055-170-180, 
055-170-320, 055-170-330, 055-170-210, 055-170-220, 055-170-080, 055-170-070 and 
055-170-060) are rezoned from M-2 (General Industrial District) to R-4-S (AHO) (High 
Density Residential, Special - Affordable Housing Overlay) as more particularly 
described and shown in Exhibit “A.” This rezoning is consistent with the General Plan 
land use designation of High Density Residential for the property. 

 
SECTION 3.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 

PAGE 65



 Ordinance No. 

compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 

 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 66



 Ordinance No. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of said Council on the fourth day of June 2013, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 
 
 
 

PAGE 67



HAVEN CT

HAVEN AVE

ALLEY

ROLISON

HOOVER

US HIGHWAY 101

HA
VE

N

¯ 0 250 500125
FeetCITY OF MENLO PARK

REZONING: M-2 (General Industrial) to R-4-S (AHO) (High Density
Residential, Special, Affordable Housing Overlay)
ADDRESSES:  3605-3665 Haven Avenue
APNs: 055-170-260, 055-170-200, 055-170-190, 055-170-270, 
           055-170-180, 055-170-320, 055-170-330, 055-170-210, 
           055-170-220, 055-170-080, 055-170-070, 055-170-060

Legend
City Limits
Subject Area
Parcels

PAGE 68



ATTACHMENT H 
 

           

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK AMENDING 
CHAPTER 16.43 [C-4 GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
(APPLICALBE TO EL CAMINO REAL)], CHAPTER 16.44 [M-1 LIGHT 
INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT] AND CHAPTER 16.57 [P-D DISTRICT] OF 
TITLE 16 [ZONING] THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE  
 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows: 

 
A. The City desires to delete Chapter 16.43 [C-4 General Commercial (applicable To 

El Camino Real), Chapter 16.44 [M-1 Light Industrial], and Chapter 16.57 [P-D] of 
Title 16 [Zoning] to eliminate zoning districts for which no properties are zoned.   

 
B. The Planning Commission held duly noticed public hearings on April 22, 2013 and 

April 29, 2013 to review and consider the proposed deletions, whereat all interested 
persons had the opportunity to appear and comment. 

 
C. The City Council held duly noticed public hearings on May 21, 2013 to review and 

consider the proposed deletions, whereat all interested persons had the opportunity 
to appear and comment. 

 
D. After due consideration of the proposed deletions, public comments,  the 

recommendation of the Planning Commission, and the staff report, the  City Council 
finds that the proposed deletions are appropriate.  

SECTION 2.  Chapter 16.43 [C-4 General Commercial (applicable To El Camino Real), 
Chapter 16.44 [M-1 Light Industrial], and Chapter 16.57 [P-D] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the 
Menlo Park Municipal Code are hereby deleted in their entirety. 

 
SECTION 3.  Title 16, Zoning, of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
delete any and all Sections and references related to the deleted zoning districts 
identified in Section 2 above. 

 
SECTION 4.  Title 16, Zoning, of the Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
delete any and all references to the phrase “other than El Camino Real” associated with 
Chapter 16.42 C-4 General Commercial District. 
 
SECTION 5.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 

PAGE 69



Ordinance No. 
 

 

CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 
the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 6. If any part of this Ordinance is held to be invalid or inapplicable to any 
situation by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this Ordinance or the applicability of this Ordinance to other 
situations. 
 
SECTION 7.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 

PAGE 70



Ordinance No. 
 

 

ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the twenty-first day of May, 2013. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park on the fourth day of June, 2013, by 
the following vote: 
 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                 Mayor  
 

PAGE 71



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 72



 CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, March 26, 2013 at 6:00 p.m. 

701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
City Council Chambers 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Study Session to order at 6:03 p.m. with all members present. 
 
SS1. Provide general direction on the 5-year Capital Improvement Plan; including capital and 

other projects to be included in the City Manager’s proposed 2013-14 budget  
(Staff report #2013-042) 

Staff presentation by Charles Taylor, Director of Public Works (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Henry Riggs addressed streamlining processes, El Camino Real, residential zoning, and a 

potential parking structure. 
• Fran Dehn, Chamber of Commerce, discussed that there are goals that are not reflected in 

the 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  She asked that Santa Cruz be looked at like a 
project. 

• Elizabeth Houck asked if the irregation wells are included in the CIP and at what 
location(s). 

 
Council Members provided feedback to staff regarding the CIP. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Regular Session to order at 7:13 p.m. with all members present. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
There were no announcements made. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation declaring March Red Cross Month (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Matt Martel representing the Red Cross. 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
There were no appointments or reports made. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1 
NOTE:  Vice Mayor Mueller is recused from discussion on the Stanford Property and left the 
Council meeting during public comments on that topic. 
• Elizabeth Houck spoke regarding the underground AT&T Data Center across from her 

home which emits over 65 decibels 365 days a year and requested the council consider 
moving the high power lines that feed the data center to an alternative location.  She 
would like to see traffic calming on Middle Avenue. 

• Gita Dev, Sierra Club, requested that the Downtown Specific Plan be added to a future 
agenda for the one year review. 

• Susan Connelly requested the Downtown Specific Plan concerning the Stanford owned 
property be added to a future meeting. 

PAGE 73

AGENDA ITEM D-3

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/21/file_attachments/197995/SS1%2B-%2B5%2BYear%2BCIP__197995.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/09/file_attachments/202789/2012-13%2BCIP%2BPresentation%2B__202789.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/197998/A1%2B-%2BRed%2BCross%2BMonth%2B2013%2BProclamation__197998.pdf


• Matt Henry asked the Council to include his proposal for a feasibility study regarding a 
Library in Belle Haven in the 5-year Capital Improvement Plan. 

• Cherie Zaslowsky requested that the City Council modify the General Plan and the 
Specific Plan. 

 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Keith) to approve consent calendar items D1, D3, and D7 
passes unanimously. 
 
D1. Adopt Resolution No. 6127 approving the final map for the artisan subdivision located at 

389 El Camino Real; accepting dedication of a storm drain easement, a pedestrian access 
easement and an emergency vehicle access easement; approving the abandonment of 
Alto Lane and the existing storm drain easements; authorizing the City Clerk to sign the 
final map; and authorizing the City Manager to sign the subdivision improvement 
agreement (Staff report #13-045) 

 
D3. Authorize an increase to the construction agreement with G. Bortolotto & Co. Inc. for 

additional work associated with the 2012 Street Resurfacing of Federal Aid Routes Project 
[Federal Aid Project No. 04-5273 (021)],  in the amount of $45,000 and authorize a total 
budget of $617,169.39 for construction, contingencies, material testing, inspection and 
construction administration (Staff report #13-044) 

 
D7. Agenda item request for the City of Menlo Park to join the South Bay Waste Management 

Authority (SBWMA) Blue Ribbon Task Force (Attachment) 
 
D2. Adopt a resolution to approve an amendment to the water supply agreement with the City 

and County of San Francisco (Staff report #13-040) 
Item pulled by Council Member Keith for comments 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Carlton) to approve Resolution No. 6128 to approve an 
amendment to the water supply agreement with the City and County of San Francisco. 
 
D4. Approve two League of California Cities bylaws amendments (Staff report #13-039) 
Item pulled by Council Member Catherine Carlton 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Cline) to approve bylaw amendment one and not to 
approve bylaw amendment two.  The motion was withdrawn by Council Member Carlton. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Mueller) to approve both bylaw amendments passes 
unanimously. 
 
D5. Accept minutes for the Council meetings of March 5 and March 12, 2013 (Attachment) 
Item pulled by Council Member Keith for an amendment 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Keith) to approve the minutes with the amendment to 
March 5 passes unanimously. 
 
D6. Adopt the 2013 City Council goals (Staff report #13-047) 
Item pulled by Council Member Keith for questions 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to approve the City Council goals passes 
unanimously. 

PAGE 74

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198008/D1%2B-%2B389%2BECR__198008.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/21/file_attachments/197997/D3%2B-%2BStreet%2BResurfacing__197997.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198002/D7%2B-%2BKK%2BRequest%2Bre%2BSBWMA__198002.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/21/file_attachments/197996/D2%2B-%2BWater%2BSupply__197996.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198000/D4%2B-%2BLCC%2BBylaws__198000.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198009/D5%2B-%2BMinutes__198009.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198001/D6%2B-%2BGoals__198001.pdf


 
D8. Approve a resolution disbanding certain Commissions and approve modifications to City 

Council Policy CC-01-0004: Commissions/Committees Policy and Procedures and Roles 
and Responsibilities and receive an update in recruitment (Staff report #13-038) 

Item pulled by Mayor Ohtaki for discussion and public input. 
 
Public Comment 
• Bianca Walser requested that staff recommendations regarding a commission be taken to 

the commission for input prior to being taken to Council.  
• Penelope Huang read her comments which supported leaving the Transportation 

Commission in the Chambers for their meetings. (Comments) 
• Elizabeth Houck stated that she would like a mediation body be established and would like 

to see all Commission meetings be held in the Council Chambers.  
• Charlie Bourne read a document to the Council supporting the work of the Transportation 

Commisson. (Handout) 
 
The Council requested that this item come back as a regular business item at a future date. 
 
NOTE: Item F2 was taken out of order at this time 
F2. Consider a request for architectural control, license agreement and encroachment permit, 

and heritage tree removal permits for a proposed limited-service, business-oriented hotel 
at 555 Glenwood Avenue (Staff report #13-043) 

Staff presentation by Thomas Rogers, Assistant Planner (PowerPoint) 
 
Reed Moulds, Sand Hill Property Company (applicant) made a presentation explaining the 
project. (Handout) 
 
NOTE: Council Member Carlton left the meeting at 9:05 p.m. 
 
Public Comments 
• Nicki Manske, San Mateo County Ombudsmen, has been working with the residents 

currently at 555 Glenwood and provided an update regarding the residents.   
• Patti Fry stated this is a good project and questioned the use of off-street parking on public 

right-of-way. 
• Elizabeth Houck spoke regarding the parking issues and the financial analysis for the 

project. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Mueller) taking the following actions passes 4-0-1 (Absent: 
Carlton): 
 

1. Made findings with regard to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) that the 
proposal is within the scope of the project covered by the El Camino Real/Downtown 
Specific Plan Program EIR, which was certified on June 5, 2012 as outlined in the staff 
report. 
 

2. Adopted the findings in the staff report, as per Section 16.68.020 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, pertaining to architectural control approval. 
 

3. Approved the architectural control request subject to the standard conditions of approval 
as outlined in the staff report. 
 

PAGE 75

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198003/D8%2B-%2BCommissions__198003.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/09/file_attachments/202778/D8%2B-%2BHuang%2B-%2BCommission%2Brelocation__202778.pdf
http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/F2-555_Glenwood_Ave.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/09/file_attachments/202791/glenwood-ave_0555_cc_20130326_presentation__202791.pdf


4. Approved the architectural control request subject to the project-specific, construction-
related conditions of approval as outlined in the staff report. 
 

5. Approved the architectural control request subject to the project-specific, ongoing 
conditions of approval in the staff report with a modification to condition 5b.  Modified 
condition 5b shall read: 
 

Condition 5b: The applicant shall make a good-faith effort to explore the 
potential of a joint parking arrangement, on commercially reasonable terms, with 
the owners of the adjacent development site known as 1300 El Camino Real, or 
any other appropriate sites. 

 
6. Approved the license agreement and encroachment permit. 

 
7. Adopted Resolution No. 6129 a resolution approving heritage tree removal permits for 

the permits for the property located at 555 Glen. 
 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
E1. Consider a request for rezoning, conditional development permit, lot line adjustment, 

heritage tree removal permits, below market rate housing agreement, development 
agreement and environmental review for the Facebook West Campus located at the 
intersection of Bayfront Expressway and Willow Road (Staff report #13-041) 

NOTE: Assistant City Manager Starla Jerome Robinson announced that she has a conflict due 
to her husband’s employment and is therefore recused from the item and left the meeting at 
9:51 p.m. and returned at 10:39 p.m. 
 
Staff presentation by Rachel Grossman, Associate Planner (PowerPoint) 
 
Tucker Bounds, Greg Webb and Chris Guilard, representing the applicant, gave a presentation 
(PowerPoint) 
  
Mayor Ohtaki opened the Public Hearing. 
 
There were no public comments on this item. 
 
Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to close the Public Hearing passes 4-0-1 (Absent: Carlton) 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Keith) taking the following actions passes 4-0-1 (Absent: 
Carlton): 
 

• Approved Resolution No. 6130 adopting findings required by the California 
Environmental Quality Act, Statement of Overriding Considerations, and adopting a 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program for the property located at 312 and 313 
Constitution Drive;  

 
• Approved Resolution No. 6131 approving a Conditional Development Permit for the 

property located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive;  
 

• Approved Resolution No. 6132 approving the Below Market Rate Housing Agreement 
between the City of Menlo Park and Giant Properties, LLC;  

 

PAGE 76

http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/E1-Facebook.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/09/file_attachments/202779/Facebook_West%2BCampus_PC_3_26_13__202779.pdf


• Approved Resolution No. 6133 approving the lot line adjustment for Giant Properties; 
 

• Approved Resolution No. 6134 approving heritage tree removal permits for the property 
located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive; 
 

• Introduced an Ordinance rezoning properties located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive; 
and  

 
• Introduced an Ordinance approving the Development Agreement with Giant Properties, 

LLC for the properties located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive.  
 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Accept the 2012-13 mid-year financial summary and adopt a resolution approving the 

recommended amendments to the 2012-13 operating and capital budgets  
 (Staff report #13-046) 
Staff presentation by Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Mueller/Cline) to approve Resolution No. 6135 adopting the 
2012-13 budget revisions to effect mid-year budget adjustments passes 4-0-1 (Absent: Carlton) 
 
F3. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item  
There were no legislative items discussed. 
 
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 
H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS  
There were no informational items. 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
Council Members reported in compliance with AB1234 requirements. 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2  
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:05 p.m. 
 

 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  
 
 

PAGE 77

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_104/2013/03/21/file_attachments/198005/F1%2B-%2BMid-Year%2BBudget__198005.pdf


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 78



 CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, April 2, 2013 at 5:30 p.m. 

701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
City Council Chambers 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Study Session to order at 5:35 p.m. with Council Member Carlton 
absent. 
 
SS1. Council review and possible direction regarding the proposed SRI, International Campus 

Modernization Project and the associated draft public outreach and development 
agreement negotiation process (Staff report #13-050) 

Staff presentation by Rachel Grossman, Associate Planner (PowerPoint) (Handout) 
Presentation by Tom Furst, Senior VP & CFO of SRI, International (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Janet Elliot asked that the cumulative noise of the campus be taken into consideration. 
• Phillip Bahr appreciates many aspects of the project and encourages continued public 

transportation, avoid making an access point across from Pine Street and consider hiring 
locally for design and construction. 

• Britt Von Thaden is in general agreement with the project and his main concern is dealing 
with traffic in and out of the site.   

 
NOTE: Agenda Item A2 taken out of order at this time 
 
A2.  Proclamation: Honoring Marcel Vinokur (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Marcel Vinokur. 
 
SS2. Provide direction on the Climate Action Plan Update and Status Report, new measuring 

methodology for transportation greenhouse gas emissions, and a community greenhouse 
reduction target, and provide direction on funding in order to achieve target  

   (Staff report #13-051) 
Staff presentation by Rebecca Fotu, Environmental Programs Manager (PowerPoint) 
Environmental Quality Commission presentation by Chair Mitch Slomiak (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Gail Slocum urged the Council to move forward with aggressive targets.  
• Carol McClelland, GRCC, fully supportive of the EQC recommendations. 
• Bob Cohen asked the Council to examine the hard data.  He believes there are errors in 

the information.  (Handout) 
• Patti Fry is fully supportive of the EQCs aggressive recommendations.   
• Scott Marshall urged the Council to also address the building codes to align with reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions. 
• Adina Levin spoke about what other cities are doing regarding lowering green house gas 

emmissions. 
• Kristin Kuntz-Durisetti spoke to the benefits in reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 
• Cherie Zaslowsky urged the Council to do their due diligence before taking action.  

PAGE 79

http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/SS1-SRI.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203421/SS1%2B-%2BSRI%2BCampus%2BModernization%2BProject_Staff%2BPresentation__203421.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/02/file_attachments/200872/SS1%2B-%2BSRI%2BAdditional%2BCorrespondence__200872.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/02/file_attachments/200887/SS1%2B-%2BSRI%2BApplicant%2BPP__200887.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199826/A2%2B-%2BMarcel%2BVinokur__199826.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199837/SS2%2B-%2BClimate%2BAction%2BPlan__199837.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203423/SS2%2B-%2BClimate%2BAction%2BPlan__203423.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203424/SS2%2B-%2BEQC_CAPTargetReportSummary_FINAL_010913%2Brev%2B022713%2B%25282%2529__203424.pdf


• Alex Cannara stated the recommendations are insufficient to address the problems that 
exist. 

 
ACTION: The Council provided their feedback and took no formal action on the item. 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Regular Session to order at 8:38 p.m. with Council Member Carlton 
absent. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
There were no announcements made. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation: National Library Week, April 14-20, 2013 (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Michelle Figueras from the Library Commission, 
Anna Chow, President of the Library Foundation and Monica Carman.  
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
There were no appointments or reports. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1  
• Mickie Winnler, being a proxy for from Henry Riggs, read a letter speaking on behalf of 

Lee Duboc regarding having study sessions regarding unions and moving towards 
becoming a Charter City. 

• Jym clendenin, Sister City Project Group, gave a report regarding forming a Sister City 
relationship with the Village of Menlough, Ireland.  (Handout) 
 

D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
D1. Waive the reading and adopt ordinances approving the Rezoning and the Development 

Agreement for the Facebook West Campus located at the intersection of Bayfront 
Expressway and Willow Road (Staff report #13-054) 

Ordinance No. 990: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park 
rezoning properties located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive 
 
Ordinance No. 991: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park 
approving the Development Agreement with Giant Properties, LLC for the property 
located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive  

ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to approve Ordinances 990 and 991 passes 4-0-1 
(Absent: Carlton). 
 
D2. Authorize the City Manager to execute master agreements for professional services with 

multiple consulting firms for engineering, surveying, inspection, testing and other 
administration services (Staff report #13-052) 

This item pulled by Council Member Mueller for questions. 
 

PAGE 80

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199835/A1%2B-%2BNLW%2B2013__199835.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/03/file_attachments/201119/040213%2B-%2BPublic%2BComment%2B-%2BJym%2BClendenin__201119.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199849/D1%2B-%2BFB__199849.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199850/D2%2B-%2BMaster%2BAgreements__199850.pdf


ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Mueller) to authorize the City Manager to execute master 
agreements for professional services with multiple consulting firms for engineering, surveying, 
inspection, testing and other administration services passes 4-0-1 (Absent: Carlton). 
 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
E1. Adopt a resolution amending the City’s Master Fee Schedule to incorporate proposed 

changes in fees to become effective immediately or July 1, 2013 or as required by statute 
for the following departments: Community Services, Library, Police and Public Works 
(Staff report #13-048) 

Staff presentation by John McGirr, Revenue and Claims Manager 
 
The Public Hearing was opened at 9:01 p.m. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to close the Public Hearing passes 4-0-1 (Absent: 
Carlton) at 9:01 p.m. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to approve Resolution No. 6136 amending the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule to incorporate proposed changes in fees to become effective 
immediately or July 1, 2013 or as required by statute for the following departments: Community 
Services, Library, Police and Public Works passes 4-0-1 (Absent: Carlton). 
 
ACTION: The City Council directed staff to incorporate mediation in the process for appeals and 
bring back the appeal fees with the cost built in.  
 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Memorandum from Council Members Keith and Cline requesting Council place review of 

500 El Camino Real/Stanford Project on the April 16, 2013 City Council meeting agenda 
 (Attachment) 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller announced he is recused on the item due to the proximity of 
previously owned property and left the Council Chambers at 9:08 p.m. 
 
Presentation by Council Members Keith and Cline 
 
Public Comment 
• Vince Bressler stated that there was a mistake made with this parcel and requested the 

staff report to be clear and to state a provision that can be voted on to remove the South 
East portion of El Camino Real out of the Specific Plan and revert it to the previous zoning. 

• Steve Elliott, representing Stanford, stated that due to comments they have heard, they 
are making changes to the plan and are willing to discuss them at the April 16 Council 
meeting. 

• Adina Levin supported removing this parcel out of the El Camino/Downtown Specific Plan 
but not opening the entire Plan.  

• Perla Ni urged the Council to put the Stndford Plan on the agenda for April 16 for the 
Council to consider removing the parcel out of the Plan and a moratorium on medical 
offices. 

• Stefan Petry supports having the parcel taken out of the Plan and returned to the prior 
zoning.  

PAGE 81

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_104/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199852/E1%2B-%2BMaster%2BFee%2BSchedule__199852.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199847/F1%2B-%2BStanford%2BProperty__199847.pdf


• Cherie Zaslowsky presented a PowerPoint showing the reasons this item should be 
placed on the April 16 agenda.  (PowerPoint) 
 

ACTION:  Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to place a review of 500 El Camino Real/Stanford 
Project on the April 16, 2013 City Council meeting agenda for discussion passes 3-0-2 (Mueller 
recused; Carlton absent. 
 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller returned to the meeting at 9:41 p.m. 
F2. Discuss and provide direction on City operating and budget principles for the 2013-14 

budget process (Staff report #13-053) 
Staff presentation by Alex McIntyre, City Manager 
 
ACTION:  Motion and second (Cline/Mueller) to approve the City Operating Principles adding a 
twelfth principle “Eye towards long-term stability of the fiscal plan”, the Budget Development 
Principles, use of one time revenues and temporarily setting aside $300,000 for the police 
substation passes 4-0-1 (Absent: Carlton). 
 
F3. Present information regarding employee compensation and receipt of public comment 

relating to upcoming contract negotiations with all units (Staff report #13-049) 
There were no public comments on the item. 
 
F4. Adopt a resolution appropriating $500,000 from the Bedwell-Bayfront Park Landfill Fund, 

waiving the public bidding requirement, and authorizing the City Manager to award and 
execute contracts for the Gas Flare at Bedwell Bayfront Park Landfill and authorizing a 
total budget of $500,000 (Staff report #13-055) 

Staff presentation by Fernando Bravo, Engineering Services Manager (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Allan Bedwell, Friends of Bedwell Bayfront Park, support the staff recommendation and 

stated that the Friends appreciate staff reaching out to them on this item.  He encouraged 
that the City look towards finding a way to generate revenue from the site. 

 
ACTION:  Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to approve Resolution No. 6137 appropriating 
$500,000 from the Bedwell-Bayfront Park Landfill Fund, waiving the public bidding requirement, 
and authorizing the City Manager to award and execute contracts for the Gas Flare at Bedwell 
Bayfront Park Landfill and authorizing a total budget of $500,000 passes 4-0-1 (Absent: 
Carlton). 
 
F5. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item  
There were no legislative items discussed. 
 
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 
H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS  
There were no informational items. 
 

PAGE 82

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203425/F1%2B-%2BZaslowsky%2BPP__203425.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199836/F2%2B-%2BBudget%2BPrinciples__199836.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199848/F3%2B-%2BLabor%2BNegotiations__199848.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199851/F4%2B-%2BBedwell%2BBayfront__199851.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203446/F4%2BGas%2BFlare%2Bpresentation__203446.pdf


J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
Mayor Ohtaki stated he is interested in getting more information on a Sister City relationship and 
will be obtaining more information.   
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2  
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:42 p.m. 
 

 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  
 
 
 

PAGE 83



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 84



 JOINT MEETING OF THE  
CITY COUNCIL AND PLANNING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 
 

Tuesday, April 9, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 
701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

City Council Chambers 
 
  
Mayor Ohtaki called the Joint Session of the City Council and Planning Commission to order at 
7:03 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL 
City Council – Council Members Carlton, Keith, Ohtaki and Mueller presents and Council 
Member Cline absent. 
 
Planning Commission – Commissioners Bressler, Eiref, Ferrick, Kadvany, O’Malley, Onken 
and Riggs present. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 

• David Alfano spoke regarding the property on El Camino Real under discussion for 
substantial development. (comments) 

 
A. HOUSING ELEMENT  (Attachment) 

 
Introduction by Justin Murphy, Development Services Manager 

 
• Jeffery Baird, Baird + Driskell Community Planning presented the Housing Element and 

Open Space/Conservation, Noise and Safety Elements 
• Ron Golem Bay Area Economics presented the Fiscal Impact Analysis  
• Steve Noack, The Planning Center presented the Environmental Assessment 
• Chris Kinzel, TJKM Transportation Consultants presented the Traffic Study 
• Chip Taylor, Director of Public Works presented the Capital Improvement Plan 
• Justin Murphy presented the Land Use Element and Zoning Changes 
 

The Council and Commission asked clarifying questions of the presenters. 
 
Public Comment 

• Sheryl Bims asked if there is a list of the type of housing in each area in town.  Belle 
Haven has an over concentration of low, very low and extremely low housing.  She is 
concerned that there is a deliberate movement that all the low rate housing is being 
placed in Belle Haven.  The low rate housing needs to be shared throughout Menlo 
Park.  She would like to see all sections in Menlo Park thrive. 

• Vicky Robledo spoke to the imbalance in the distribution of housing.  She is concerned 
that there is not an Environmental Impact Report being completed.  She is concerned 
with the schools in Belle Haven neighborhood and their conditions.  

• Maria Ibarra has concerns with the level of education in the Ravenswood School District.  
She is concerned with increased traffic. 

PAGE 85

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/04/04/file_attachments/201586/A%2B-%2BHousing%2BElement%2BJoint%2BSession__201586.pdf


• Rose Bickerstaff stated the first three speakers have presented most of her comments.  
She would like to see a fair city and the housing be balanced throughout Menlo Park and 
not just Belle Haven Community.  There is no other community in the city that is 
saturated with this type of housing.  The education to the Belle Haven Community is at 
the bottom.   

• Jan Lindenhall, Mid Pen Housing, spoke regarding the overlay zoning for the property 
located in the 1200 block of Willow Road.  This would allow their agency the capability to 
supply additional resources.  They would like to work with the Belle Haven Community 
regarding what is done with the property they own. 

• Lily Gray, Mid Pen Housing, has been inspired by the outreach in the Belle Haven 
Visioning process.  Mid Pen Housing owns and manages three properties in the Belle 
Haven Community and the new zoning would allow them to upgrade the property. 

• Matt Henry stated that the locations chosen were not a surprise.  He believes that some 
of the housing on the list were on the list were on for political reasons.  The decision 
makers are not going to make a decision that will impact where they reside and so it 
therefore goes into the Belle Haven Community.  The City should limit the stories in the 
Belle Haven Community to three stories as it does not need to become a vertical slum.  
The high sites should be at the rear of the sites.  The new sites should be inundated with 
trees, little parks and landscaping as visuals count as how it is received. 

• Darci Palmer, Core Affordable Housing, stated the VA invited them to develop 60 
apartments at the VA site. 

• Adina Levin stated she is glad to see the City move forward with the Housing Element.  
She is concerned with some of the developments coming into the Downtown Specific 
Plan.  She is also concerned with the Haven site as the interchange is dangerous.  This 
will put a cost and health burden to the area.  There is poor access to service, transit 
and she is concerned with its isolation.    

 
J. Murphy discussed the process for the housing sites rezoning for high density and explained 
what is required by the State for the property to be considered eligible within the planning 
period. 
 
NOTE:  Commissioner Eiref left the meeting at 10:27 p.m. 
NOTE:  Commissioner Kadvany left the meeting at 10:31 p.m. 
 
The Commissioners and Council Members asked for clarifying questions and provided 
individual comments.  There was no formal action taken. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:52 p.m. 
 

 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  
and the Planning Commission meeting of 
 
 

PAGE 86



            CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL AND REGULAR DRAFT MEETING  

MINUTES 
  

Tuesday, April 16, 2013 at 5:30 p.m. 
701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

City Council Chambers 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Closed Session to order at 5:34 p.m. with all Council Members present. 
 
CL1. Closed Session pursuant to Government Code section 54957.6 to conference with labor 

negotiators regarding labor negotiations with the Police Officers Association (POA) and 
Police Management Association (PMA)   

 
Attendees: Alex McIntyre, City Manager, Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager, 
Bill McClure, City Attorney, Gina Donnelly, Human Resources Director, Robert Jonsen, 
Police Chief, Dave Bertini, Commander  

 
Public Comment 
• Mickie Winkler read from a handout that she provided to the Council which included 

suggestions on reducing employee costs (Handout) 
 
The Council went into Closed Session at 5:42 p.m. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Regular Session to order at 7:13 p.m. with all members present. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS  
Mayor Ohtaki announced that the meeting would be closed in Memory of Beverly “BJ” Perkins, 
Secretary in the City Manager’s Office from 1994-2007. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki stated that thoughts and prayers go out to the victims of the bombing at the 
Boston Marathon yesterday. 
 
REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 
There was no reportable action from Closed Session. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation declaring April 19th as “Menlowe Ballet Day” (Attachment) 
Mayor Oktaki presented the proclamation to Lisa Shiveley, Executive Director, Menlowe Ballet. 
 
A2. Presentation of Environmental Quality Awards 
Mitch Slomiak, Environmental Quality Commission Chair, presented the following Environmental 
Quality Awards: 
 
For Climate Action: 
• Facebook, accepted by Lauren Swezey 

PAGE 87

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203513/A1%2B-%2BMenlowe%2BBallet%2BProclamation__203513.pdf


• Menlo Business Park, accepted by Ron. 
•  

 
For Environmental Education: 
• Backyard Composting, accepted by Carolyn Dorsch 

 
For Resource Conservation: 
• Pacific Bioscience, accepted by Deborah Martin and Paul Intrieri 

 
For Sustainable Building: 
• Hillview Middle School, accepted by School Board Member Ahmad Sheikholeslami and 

Giesel 
 

A3. Presentation regarding San Francisquito Creek Community Outreach Plan Program EIR 
for projects upstream of Highway 101 and Pope/Chaucer Bridge Project by Len Materman, 
SFCJPA Executive Director 

Len Materman, SFCJPA Executive Director, provided information on the San Francisquito 
Creek Community Outreach Plan Program EIR for projects upstream of Highway 101 and 
Pope/Chaucer Bridge Project. (PowerPoint) 
 
A4. Bay Area Water Supply and Conservation Agency (BAWSCA) update by Representative 

Kelly Fergusson 
Kelly Fergusson provided a report on the activities of BAWSCA. 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
 
B1. Consider applicants for appointment to fill three vacancies on the Parks and Recreation 

Commission; and one vacancy on the Transportation Commission (Staff report #13-061) 
Staff presentation by Margaret Roberts, City Clerk 
 
Public Comments 
• James Morgan spoke in support of Adina Levin for the Transportation Commission. 
• Henry Riggs spoke in support of Philip Mazzara for the Transportation Commission. 
• Nell Triplett spoke in support of Adina Levin for the Transportation Commission. 
• Gita Dev spoke in support of Adina Levin for the Transportation Commission. 
• Andrew Boone spoke in support of Adina Levin for the Transportation Commission. 

 
ACTION: By acclamation the following appointments were made for the Parks and Recreation 
Commission: 
• Noria Zasslow – Term ending April 30, 2014 
• Marianne Palefsky – Term ending April 30, 2015 
• Kristin Cox – Term ending April 30, 2016  

 
ACTION: Rich Cline nominated Adina Levin and Catherine Carlton nominated Philip Mazzara 
and with a unanimous vote Adina Levin was appointed to fill the unexpired term through April 
30, 2014. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1 
• Elizabeth Houck read a letter into record regarding the General Plan.  (Letter) 

PAGE 88

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203494/B1%2B-%2BCommission%2BAppointments__203494.pdf


• Matt Henry stated that he made two points at the last Council meeting that were taken …. 
Belle Haven should be loaded with trees because of the Facebook West Campus.  The 
only place that should have three stories is at the Haven site.  Belle Haven is a one story 
community and trying to jam in more houses would not work. 

• Michael Francois spoke regarding chemicals in the water and provided a handout to the 
Council.  (Handout) 

• Patti Fry requested that the Specific Plan be placed on a Council agenda with a date 
specific for review. 

• Susan Connely requested that the Specific Plan be placed on a Council agenda with a 
date specific for review and requested a moratorium on all office space throughout Menlo 
Park. 

• Osnat Lowenthal requested that the Specific Plan be placed on a future agenda for review. 
 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to approve the Consent Calendar Items D1, D3 and 
D5 passes unanimously . 
 
D1. Adopt Resolution No. 6138 accepting dedication of a public access easement and 

authorizing the City Manager to sign the certificate of acceptance for the 1035 O’Brien 
Drive Frontage Improvements Project (Staff report #13-058) 

 
D3. Approve the response to the San Mateo Grand Jury Report “Can We Talk?  Law 

Enforcement and Our Multilingual County” (Staff report #13-063) 
 
D5. Authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Municipal Revenue Advisors, 

Inc., to perform sales and use tax services in connection with the Development Agreement 
for the Facebook West Campus Project and approval of Resolution No. 6139 authorizing 
the examination of sales and use tax records by Municipal Revenue Advisors, Inc.  
(Staff report #13-064) 
 

D2. Adopt amended Resolution of Intention to abandon a portion of Louise Street  
 (Staff report #13-057) 
Item pulled by Council Member Keith for discussion 
 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller announced he is recused due to the proximity of his property and 
left the Council Chambers at 8:44 p.m. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to approve Resolution No. 6140 an Amended 
Resolution of Intention to abandon a portion of Louise street passes 4-0-1 (Recused: Mueller) 
 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller returned to the meeting at 8:46 p.m. 
 
D4. Receive the San Francisquito Creek Joint Powers Authority projects update and approve 

the Project Community Outreach Plan (Staff report #13-062) 
Item pulled by Council Member Carlton for discussion 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Cline) to receive the update and approve the Project 
Community Outreach Plan passes unanimously. 
 
D6. Accept minutes from the Council meetings of March 26 and April 2, 2013 (Attachment) 

PAGE 89

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203496/D1%2B-%2B1035%2BO%2527Brien%2BDrive__203496.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_107/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203517/D3%2B-%2BGrand%2BJury__203517.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203514/D5%2B-%2BFacebook%2BTax__203514.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203497/D2%2B-%2BLouise%2BStreet__203497.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203519/D4%2B-%2BSFCJPA%2BOutreach%2BPlan__203519.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203495/D6%2B-%2BMinutes__203495.pdf


Item pulled by Council Member Carlton for discussion 
 
Council Member Carlton would like any amendments to the minutes to be documented in the 
minutes.  Vice Mayor Mueller added that he would like additional comments in the minutes 
regarding the Council discussion on the Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
ACTION: By consensus the Council held over the minutes to the next Council meeting. 
 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
E1. Conduct a Public Hearing and consider a resolution approving a Conditional Development 

Permit amendment for the property located at 401 Pierce Road (Staff report #13-059) 
Staff presentation by Thomas Rogers, Senior Planner 
 
Mayor Ohtaki opened the Public Hearing at 8:56 p.m. 
 
There were no comments made during the Public Hearing. 
 
Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to close the Public Hearing at 8:57 p.m. passes unanimously.  
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) taking the following actions passes unanimously: 
 
Adopt the finding that the project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, 
“Existing Facilities”) of the current CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 6141 approving the Conditional Development Permit amendment for the 
addition of 747 square feet of gross floor area to an existing private recreation facility and to 
increase the maximum FAR to 45 percent, subject to the requirements of the Conditional 
Development Permit and removing paragraphs 5.1(recordation) and 7.1 (Indemnity by Owner).  
 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Consideration of a Mixed-Use Development Proposal at 500 El Camino Real, including 

options for the project review process (Staff report #13-066) 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller announced he is recused due to the proximity of his property and 
left the Council Chambers at 8:59 p.m. 
 
Staff presentation by Thomas Rogers, Senior Planner 
Applicant presentation by Steve Elliott showing the proposed project at 500 El Camino Real 
(PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Barbara Hunter  

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Ohtaki) to appoint a Council Subcommittee of Council 
Members Keith and Carlton for project refinement, facilitate compromise with the applicant and 
the residents and a timeline for review of the specific plan. 
 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller returned to the meeting at 1:25 a.m. 
 

PAGE 90

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203520/E1%2B-%2B401%2BPierce__203520.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203531/F1%2B-%2B500%2BECR__203531.pdf


F2. Adopt a resolution taking the following actions: 1. Appropriating an additional $715,000 to 
the Santa Cruz Avenue Irrigation Replacement Project from the General Fund CIP fund 
balance; 2. Authorizing the City Manager to award a contract to the lowest responsible 
bidder for the Santa Cruz Avenue Irrigation Replacement Project authorizing a total budget 
of $1,060,000 for construction, contingencies, material testing, and construction 
administration; and 3. Awarding contracts up to $250,000 for the purchase and installation 
of the downtown benches and solid waste and recycling bins (Staff report #13-065) 

Staff presentation by Ruben Nino, Assistant Public Works Director 
 
Public Comment 
• Fran Dehn, Chamber of Commerce, stated that the Chamber supports staff 

recommendation.  They also encourage an additional investment for additional 
improvements including relocating the newspaper racks. 

 
ACTION: Motion and second Mueller/Carlton adopting Resolution No. 6142 and taking the 
following actions passes unanimously: 
 

1. Appropriating an additional $515,000 to the Santa Cruz Avenue Irrigation 
Replacement Project from the General Fund CIP fund balance;  
 

2. Authorizing the City Manager to award a contract to the lowest responsible 
bidder for the Santa Cruz Avenue Irrigation Replacement Project authorizing 
a total budget of $860,000 for construction, contingencies, material testing, 
and construction administration; and 

 
3. Awarding contracts up to $250,000 for the purchase and installation of the 

downtown benches and solid waste and recycling bins. 
 
F3. Consider appointing a Councilmember to serve on the Blue Ribbon Task Force as 

proposed by the City of Redwood City regarding South Bay Waste Management Authority 
(SBWMA) board governance (Staff report #13-060) 

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to appoint Vice Mayor Mueller to serve on the Blue 
Ribbon Task Force as proposed by the City of Redwood City regarding South Bay Waste 
Management Authority (SBWMA) board governance passes unanimously. 
 
F4. Consider appointment of a director to the Boards of the Bay Area Water Supply & 

Conservation Agency and the Bay Area Regional Water Supply Financing Authority 
 (Attachment) 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to appoint Council Member Keith as the director to 
the Boards of the Bay Area Water Supply & Conservation Agency and the Bay Area Regional 
Water Supply Financing Authority passes unanimously. 
 
F5. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item  
There were no legislative items discussed. 
 
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 

PAGE 91

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203532/F2%2B-%2BSanta%2BCruz%2BIrrigation__203532.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203547/F3%2B-%2BSBWMA%2BBlue%2BRibbon%2BTF__203547.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/11/file_attachments/203548/F4%2B-%2BBAWSCA%2BBoard__203548.pdf


H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS  
There were no informational items. 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
There were no reports given. 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2  
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 1:45 a.m. in memory of Beverly “BJ” Perkins, Secretary in the 
City Manager’s Office from 1994-2007. 
 
 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of 

PAGE 92



 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 
Tuesday, April 23, 2013 

7:05 p.m. 
701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

City Council Chambers 
 
7:05 P.M. SPECIAL SESSION 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. with all members present. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mueller made opening remarks stating that tonight’s meeting is about 
transparency, accountability and problem-solving, and asked participants to maintain a collegial 
and collaborative tone. 
 
SS. STUDY SESSION 
 
SS1. Receive Public Comment on labor contracts (Staff report #13-049) 
 (POA MOU) (PMA MOU) (SEIU MOU) (AFSCME MOU) 
 
Public Comment: 

• Roy Thiele-Sardina thanked Council for holding this session prior to the negotiation 
process. He expressed concern regarding the unsustainability of the City’s pension fund, 
the need to reduce the number of full-time employees (FTE), such as the child care center 
staff, to reduce salaries and reduce the pension formula. 

• Edward Moritz spoke regarding the police retirement formula and the current “step” 
system 

• Henry Riggs stated that Menlo Park is a desirable place to work and that raising salary 
and benefits is not necessary to attract new employees.  He asked Council to establish a 
moratorium on new hires. He addressed reducing staffing levels and salaries, 
reconsidering the step system, reducing paid time-off, negotiating healthcare, active 
recruitment from the private sector, withdrawing from CalPERS, including citizens on the 
negotiating team and to consider the benefits becoming a charter city. (handout) 

• Mickie Winkler urged Council to take a fiscally analytical approach, to reconsider the 
current seniority system and to continue involving constituents in the process 

• Chuck Bernstein encouraged Council to defer making any decisions for one year and 
spoke regarding the need for a long-term financial model and independent analysis by an 
outside contractor who would report directly to the Council, no increases in salary or 
benefits, utilizing citizens to form a task force, and the impact of development and low 
income housing (handout) 

• Joy Kosobayashi stated that salaries should be reduced and cautioned the Council 
against a “keep up with the Jones’” mentality 

• William Brown asked Council to move from a defined benefit system to a defined 
contribution program.  He stated that as incremental revenues are achieved, these should 
go toward repayment of unfunded liabilities before implementing new services. 

• Hank Lawrence urged Council to consider subcontracting work similar to the defense 
industry, to cut staff size and move from a defined benefit system to a 401K 

• Honor Huntington thanked Council for holding tonight’s session and encouraged Council 
to utilize the Finance and Audit Committee to assist with financial modeling, consider 
becoming a Charter City, and to review State requirements and what the City can do 
regarding employment benefits 

PAGE 93

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/03/28/file_attachments/199848/F3%2B-%2BLabor%2BNegotiations__199848.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/18/file_attachments/205370/2012%2B-%2BPOA%2BMOU__205370.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/18/file_attachments/205373/2012%2B-%2BPSA%2BMOU__205373.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/18/file_attachments/205349/2012%2B-%2BSEIU%2BMOU__205349.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/18/file_attachments/205369/2011%2B-%2BAFSCME%2B-%2BMOU__205369.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/26/file_attachments/207321/Public%2BComment%2B-%2BHenry%2BRiggs__207321.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/26/file_attachments/207330/Public%2BComment%2B-%2BChuck%2BBernstein__207330.pdf


• Peter Carpenter commended Council for holding tonight’s session as it serves as a good 
example of transparency and participation, and asked how much would it cost to buy out 
of CalPERS 

• Rene Morales stated that City staff delivers exceptional customer service, but under 
current conditions that level is dropping. He stated it will be difficult to attract qualified 
candidates with the new benefit formula and that contracting out can become costly. 

• Jennifer Pollock spoke regarding the Specific Plan 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mueller stated that staff has been directed to look into an unfunded pension 
liability fund. 
 
In response to Mayor Ohtaki, City Attorney McClure clarified the difference between workers’ 
compensation claims and disability retirement and the State’s requirements to qualify for benefits. 
The City’s workers compensation claims are handled by an outside administrator and staff meets 
quarterly to review claims. He gave a brief overview of both processes. 
 
In response to Councilmember Cline, Assistant City Manager Jerome-Robinson described the 3-
tiered pension formulas for sworn and non-sworn staff. 
 
  Police   Non-Sworn  Date Implemented 
Tier 1  3% @ 50  2.7% @ 55  June 2006 
Tier 2  3% @ 55  2% @ 60  November 2011 
Tier 3  2.7% @ 57  2% @ 62  January 2013 
 
In response to Mayor Ohtaki, Assistant City Manager Jerome-Robinson addressed concerns 
regarding new CalPERS actuarials, the “smoothing” period and the potential for increased rates. 
 
In response to Councilmember Keith, City Attorney McClure described two types of binding 
arbitration.  The first type of arbitration occurs when a City and a bargaining unit reach an 
impasse regarding contract terms.  The second type, which is included in Menlo Park’s labor 
MOUs, can be implemented when an employee that has been disciplined wants to appeal the 
City’s decision regarding the discipline.  He gave a brief overview of this type of arbitration. 
 
City Manager McIntyre discussed Menlo Park salaries compared to those of 13 neighboring cities.  
Menlo Park ranks within the top 10 percent.  The Police Department ranks number two. 
 
Council stated the pay-off of the CalPERS safety fund in 2011 was appropriated from the General 
Fund and has not been repaid but that the City has reaped the financial benefits of taking that 
action. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mueller stated that some clean-up language may be needed in the Police duty 
handbook regarding grievances and dismissal in order to be consistent with what is in the MOU, 
and to review community policing and the quality of work the City receives in return for what it 
pays for. 
 
In response to Councilmember Cline regarding financial models, City Manager McIntyre stated 
that the best model is a 3-5 year forecast. 
 
Councilmember Carlton thanked the public for attending tonight’s session and stated that there 
are talented members of the community who could assist with research regarding financial 
modeling and becoming a Charter City. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mueller made closing remarks, thanking the public and staff for participating. 
 
 

PAGE 94



 
Council adjourned to Closed Session in the 1st floor Council Conference Room, Administration 
Building, at 8:33 p.m. 
 
CL. CLOSED SESSION 
 
CL1. Closed Session pursuant to Government Code section 54957.6 to conference with labor 

negotiators regarding labor negotiations with the Police Officers Association (POA) and 
Police Management Association (PMA)  

 
 Attendees: Alex McIntyre, City Manager, Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager, 

Bill McClure, City Attorney, Gina Donnelly, Human Resources Director, Robert Jonsen, 
Police Chief, Dave Bertini, Commander 

 
C. ADJOURNED at 11:07 p.m. 
 
 
Pamela Aguilar 
Deputy City Clerk 
 
These minutes were accepted at the meeting of  

PAGE 95



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 96



 CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, April 30, 2013 at 5:30 p.m. 

701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
City Council Chambers 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Session to order at 5:41 p.m. with all members present. 
 
1. Interview applicant for one vacancy on the Planning Commission 
The Council interviewed Katherine Strehl for the Planning Commission vacancy. 
 
There were no members of the public present to make public comments.  The Council went into 
Closed Session at 5:53 p.m.   
 
CL1. Discussion with legal counsel pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(a) regarding 

existing litigation – 2 cases:  
(1) Town of Atherton, et al. v. California High Speed Rail Authority 

 Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2008-80000022 
(Atherton 1) 

 
 (2)  Town of Atherton, et al. v. California High Speed Rail Authority 
 Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2010-80000679 

(Atherton 2) 
NOTE:  Vice Mayor Mueller announced that he has a conflict of interest regarding the item due 
to the proximity of previously owned property and left the meeting at 5:53 p.m. and returned at 
6:50 p.m. 
 
CL2. Closed Session pursuant to Government Code section 54957.6 to conference with labor 

negotiators regarding labor negotiations with the Police Officers Association (POA) and 
Police Management Association (PMA)  

 Attendees: Alex McIntyre, City Manager, Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager, 
Bill McClure, City Attorney, Gina Donnelly, Human Resources Director, Robert Jonsen, 
Police Chief, Dave Bertini, Commander  

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Regular Session to order at 7:15 p.m. with all members present. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 
ACTION: The City Council decided not to pursue an appeal regarding Closed Session Item CL1 
4-0-1 (Mueller recused). 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
There were no announcements. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation regarding West Nile Virus and Mosquito and Vector Control Awareness 
Week April 21-27, 2013 (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Valentina Cogoni. 
 

PAGE 97

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206978/A1%2B-%2BWNV%2BProclamation__206978.pdf


A2. Presentation regarding Police Services by Steve Belcher (Attachment) 
Steve Belcher gave a presentation on the organizational review of the Police Department. 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
 
B1. Bicycle Commission quarterly report on status of their 2-year Work Plan 
Commission presentation by Chair Gregory Klingsporn 
 
B2. Library Commission quarterly report on status of their 2-year Work Plan 
Commission presentation by Vice Chair Michelle Figueras (Picture)  
 
B3. Consider appointment to fill one vacancy on the Planning Commission  
 (Staff report #13-068) 
 
ACTION: By acclamation, the City Council appointed Katherine Strehl to the Planning 
Commission with a term ending April 30, 2017. 
 
STUDY SESSION 
 
SS1. Discussion of frontage improvement requirements for discretionary permits  

(Staff report #13-071) 
Staff presentation by Roger Storz, Senior Civil Engineer and Chip Taylor, Director of Public 
Works (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Michelle Stribling gave a presentation regarding the lack of a need for sidewalks in the 

Allied Arts neighborhood. (PowerPoint) 
• Thomas Conrad stated he is opposed to frontage improvements due to the number of 

trees that would need to be removed in the Allied Arts neighborhood. 
• J.F. Duhig spoke against sidewalks in the Allied Arts neighborhood. 
• Barbara Tyler spoke regarding a survey of impact of enforced sidewalks in the 100 block 

of Yale Road. (Survey) 
• Debra Littleton-Gerow stated that she does not want nor is there a need for sidewalks in 

the Allied Arts neighborhood. 
• Charles Irby stated they value the semi-rural atmosphere of their neighborhood. 
• Kathy Parker stated she is opposed to sidewalks in the Allied Arts neighborhood. 
 
ACTION: The Council provided individual input with agreement that sidewalks on low volume 
local roadways should not be required and took no formal action on the item. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1  
There were no comments made from the public. 
 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Cline) to approve the Consent Calendar passes 
unanimously. 
 
D1. Adopt Resolution No. 6143 appropriating an additional $20,000 from the General Fund 

CIP fund balance, awarding a construction contract for the Belle Haven Child 
Development Center Playground Improvement Project to Ross Construction in the amount 
of $80,561.28, and authorizing a total budget of $95,000 for construction, contingencies, 
inspection, and project management (Staff report #13-070) 

 

PAGE 98

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206979/A2%2B-%2BPD%2BOrganizational%2BReview__206979.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/05/06/file_attachments/209168/B2%2B-%2BE%2BReading%2Bfor%2BEveryone__209168.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206994/B3%2B-%2BPC%2BAppointment__206994.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206980/SS1%2B-%2BFrontage%2BImprovements__206980.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/30/file_attachments/208058/SS1%2B-%2BFrontage%2BImprovement%2BPresentation__208058.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/04/30/file_attachments/208059/SS1%2B-%2BStribling%2BPP__208059.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/05/06/file_attachments/209232/SS1%2B-%2BTyler%252C%2BBarbara%2B-%2BHandout__209232.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206996/D1%2B-%2BBelle%2BHaven%2Bplayground%2Bequipment__206996.pdf


D2. Approve a third amendment to the Purchase and Sale Agreement with Greenheart Land 
Company extending the escrow timeline for the sale of property owned by the former 
Menlo Park Redevelopment Agency located at 777-821 Hamilton Avenue due to delays in 
obtaining State Department of Finance approval for the sale (Staff report #13-072) 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
There were no Public Hearings scheduled. 
 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item 
There were no legislative items discussed. 
  
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 
H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 
I1. Quarterly financial review of General Fund operations as of March 31, 2013  
 (Staff report #13-067) 
Staff answered questions from the Council. 
 
I2. Review of the City’s investment portfolio as of March 31, 2013 (Staff report #13-069) 
The Council received the report. 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
Council Members reported in compliance with AB1234 requirements. 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2 
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The City Council adjourned the Regular Session at 10:29 p.m. to return to Closed Session on 
item CL2. 
 
REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 
There was no reportable action for Closed Session Item CL2. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:55 p.m. 
 

 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  
 

PAGE 99

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206995/D2%2B-%2BHamilton%2BAve%2B-%2B3rd%2B%2Bamendment__206995.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_104/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206997/I1%2B-%2BGeneral%2BFund%2Breview__206997.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_104/2013/04/25/file_attachments/206998/I2%2B-%2BInvestment%2BPortfolio__206998.pdf


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 100



 CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, May 7, 2013 at 7:00 P.M. 

Senior Center at Belle Haven, 110 Terminal Avenue,  
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the meeting to order at 7:07 p.m. with all members present 
 
Mayor Ohtaki led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
Chip Taylor, Director of Public Works introduced the new Transportation Manager, Jesse 
Quirion. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A1. Proclamation declaring Bike to Work Day May 9, 2013 (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Greg Klingsporn, Bicycle Commission Chair. 
 
Public Comment 
Andrew Boone provided information from the census regarding biking to work. 
 
A2. Proclamation declaring Public Works Week May 19-25, 2013 (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Chip Taylor, Director of Public Works. 
 
A3. Proclamation declaring Municipal Clerk’s Week May 5-11, 2013 (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Pam Aguilar, Deputy City Clerk. 
 
A4. Proclamation recognizing National Mental Health Awareness Month (Attachment) 
Mayor Ohtaki presented the proclamation to Lisa Pamphilon founder of Turning Point and chair 
of the Mental Health Awareness and Roberta Roth Outreach Specialist from the library and co-
chair of the Mental Health Awareness Project. 
 
A5. Update on Belle Haven Neighborhood Vision process (Staff report #13-082) 
Staff presentation by Derek Schweigart, Assistant Community Services Director 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
 
B1. Consider applicants for appointment to fill four vacancies on the Bicycle Commission and 

One Vacancy on the Transportation Commission (Staff report #13-079) 
Staff presentation by Margaret Roberts, City Clerk 
 
ACTION: Kirsten Keith nominated the following: 
 
Bicycle Commission: 
Drew Combs – term expiring April 30, 2016 
William Kirsch and Cindy Welton – term expiring April 30, 2017 

PAGE 101

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208687/A1%2B-%2BBTWD%2BProclamation%2B-%2BMay%2B9%2B2013__208687.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208678/A2%2B-%2BPublic%2BWorks%2BWeek%2BProclamation__208678.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208688/A3%2B-%2BMunicipal%2BClerks%2BWeek__208688.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208689/A4%2B-%2BMental%2BHealth%2BProclamation%2B-%2BMay%2B2013__208689.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_105/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208694/A5%2B-%2BBelle%2BHaven%2BVision__208694.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208691/B1%2B-%2BCommission%2BAppointments%2Bweb__208691.pdf


The Council voted unanimously for the nominations to the Bicycle Commission. 
 
Transportation Commission:  
Catherine Carlton nominated Philip Mazzara and Kirsten Keith nominated Michael Meyer.   
 
Philip Mazzara was appointed with affirming votes from Council Members Cline, Mueller, Ohtaki 
and Carlton.  
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1  
• Carolina Lopez spoke in support of a police station in Belle Haven neighborhood. 
• Rose Bickerstaff spoke regarding the Housing Element and the balance needed. 
• Vicky Robledo requested fair distribution of affordable housing to be included in the 

Housing Element. 
• Nina Wolk spoke against high density housing in the Belle Haven neighborhood. 
• Sheryl Bims read a letter to the Council and staff regarding the Draft Housing element.  

(Letter) 
• Audley Lyon stated that the worst kind of discrimination is included in the current Draft 

Housing Element and the increase in traffic. 
• Carolyn Clarke stated that she can get to Redwood City faster than she can get to 

downtown Menlo Park and spoke in support of the new Police substation. 
• Johnnie Walton, Mt. Olive AOH Church of God, asked the Council to verify that the 

statement that Belle Haven property owners want the housing in their neighborhoods. 
• Rachel Bickerstaff spoke regarding locations for new housing locations in the current Draft 

Housing Element.  The housing needs to be distributed throughout Menlo Park. 
• Johnnie Cruz spoke against the additional high density housing coming into the 

neighborhood when there are not basic necessities or services currently available in the 
Belle haven neighborhood. 

• Jacqueline Cebrian agreed with all of the speakers regarding the high density housing and 
it is unfair as they shoulder the burden of people.   

 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
ACTION: Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to approve the consent calendar as presented 
passes unanimously. 
 
D1. Award a contract for street sweeping services to Contract Sweeping Services, Inc.  in the 

amount of $638,512.70 and authorize the City Manager to extend the contract for up to an 
additional 4 years (Staff report #13-073) 

 
D2. Award a contract for the Sidewalk Trip Hazard Removal Project to Precision Emprise, Inc. 

in the amount of $80,000, and authorize a total budget of $100,000 for construction, 
contingencies, material testing, inspection and construction administration  

 (Staff report #13-078) 
 
D3. Authorize the Public Works Director to accept the work performed by Golden Bay 

Construction, Inc., for the Safe Routes to Hillview Middle School Project  
 (Staff report #13-076) 
 
D4. Authorize the Public Works Director to accept the work performed by Amland Corporation, 

for the Middlefield Road at Linfield Drive Lighted Crosswalk Improvement Project 
 (Staff report #13-077) 

PAGE 102

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208698/D1%2B-%2BStreet%2BSweeping__208698.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208699/D2%2B-%2BSidewalk%2BTrip%2BHazard__208699.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208700/D3%2B-%2BSafe%2BRoute%2Bto%2BHillview__208700.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208701/D4%2B-%2BLighted%2BCrosswalk__208701.pdf


E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
E1. Conduct a Public Hearing and consider a request for Use Permit, Architectural Control, 

Tentative Map, Heritage Tree Removals and Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing in-lieu 
fee agreement for 6 detached dwelling units on two adjacent parcels at 1273 and 1281 
Laurel Street (Staff report #13-074) 

Staff presentation by Kyle Perata, Assistant Planner (PowerPoint) 
 
Architect: Tony J. Sarboraria, Architect and Forrest Mazart, owner provided the Council with a 
handout and spoke briefly about the project. (Handout) 
 
Mayor Ohtaki opened the Public Hearing at 9:21 p.m. 
 
Public Comment 
• Richard Jones requested that one tree (number 9) not be removed. 
 
Motion and second (Cline/Keith) to close the Public Hearing at 9:24 p.m. passes unanimously.  
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Cline) to approve all recommendations in the Amended 
Attachment A, as outlined below and to add a condition to require a construction plan be 
submitted prior to the issuance of the building permit passes unanimously. 
 
1273 Laurel Street 
 
1. Adopt a finding that the redevelopment of the site is categorically exempt under Class 32 

(Section 15332, "In-Fill Development Projects") of the current State CEQA Guidelines.   
 

2. Make findings, as per Section 16.82.030 of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to the granting 
of use permits, that the proposed use will not be detrimental to the health, safety, morals, 
comfort and general welfare of the persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such 
proposed use, and will not be detrimental to property and improvements in the 
neighborhood or the general welfare of the City. 
 

3. Adopt the following findings, as per Section 16.68.020 of the Zoning Ordinance, pertaining 
to architectural control approval: 

 
a. The general appearance of the structure is in keeping with the character of the 

neighborhood. 
 
b. The development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly growth of the 

City. 
 
c. The development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in the 

neighborhood. 
 
d. The development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable City 

Ordinances and has made adequate provisions for access to such parking. 
 
e. The property is not within any Specific Plan area, and as such no finding regarding 

consistency is required to be made. 
 

PAGE 103

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208697/E1%2B-%2B1273%2B%2526%2B1281%2BLaurel%2BStreet__208697.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/05/07/file_attachments/209610/1273%2B%2B1281%2BLaurel%2BSt__209610.pdf


4. Adopt findings that the proposed major subdivision is technically correct and in compliance 
with all applicable State regulations, City General Plan, Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, 
and the State Subdivision Map Act.  
 

5. Adopt Resolution No. 6144 approving the five heritage tree removal permits. 
 

6. Adopt Resolution No. 6145 approving the Below Market Rate Housing In-Lieu Fee 
Agreement, recommended by the Housing Commission on January 16, 2013, and 
recommended by the Planning Commission on April 8, 2013. (Attachment C).  
 

7. Approve the project subject to the following conditions: 
 
a. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans 

prepared by AJS Architecture and Planning, consisting of 29 plan sheets, dated 
received April 17, 2013, inclusive of the recommendations by the Planning 
Commission on April 8, 2013, except as modified by the conditions contained herein, 
subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.  

 
b. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all Sanitary District, 

Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly 
applicable to the project. 

 
c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all requirements of 

the Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are 
directly applicable to the project. 

 
d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility 

installations or upgrades for review and approval of the Planning, Engineering and 
Building Divisions. Landscaping shall properly screen all utility equipment that is 
installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed underground. The plan shall 
show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, 
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes. 

 
e. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 

shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged 
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted 
for the review and approval of the Engineering Division.  

 
f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 

shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering 
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to issuance of a 
grading, demolition or building permit. 

 
g. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to 

the Heritage Tree Ordinance.  
 
h. Concurrent with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 

shall submit proposed landscape and irrigation documentation as required by Chapter 
12.44 (Water-Efficient Landscaping) of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code. If 
required, the applicant shall submit all parts of the landscape project application as 
listed in section 12.44.040 of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code. This plan shall be 

PAGE 104



subject to review and approval by the Planning and Engineering Divisions. The 
landscaping shall be installed and inspected prior to final inspection of the building. 

 
i. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the existing structures shall be demolished after 

obtaining a demolition permit. 
 
j. Concurrent with the application for a Final Map, the applicant shall submit covenants, 

conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs) for the approval of the City Engineer and the City 
Attorney. The Final Map and the CC&Rs shall be recorded concurrently.   

 
k. Concurrent with the application submittal for the Final Map, the applicant shall submit a 

Grading and Drainage Plan, including an Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, for 
review and approval of the City Engineer. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be 
prepared based on the City's Grading and Drainage Plan Guidelines and Checklist and 
the Project Applicant Checklist for the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Permit Requirements. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved 
prior to issuance of a grading and/or building permit. 

 
l. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the applicant shall install new improvements as 

shown on the project plans per City standards along the entire property frontage 
subject to the review and approval of the Engineering Division. The applicant shall 
obtain an encroachment permit, from the Engineering Division, prior to commencing 
any work within the right-of-way. If determined appropriate and subject to the approval 
of the Engineering Division, the applicant may provide a bond for the completion of the 
work subsequent to the recordation of the Final Map. 

 
m. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the applicant shall pay any applicable recreation 

fees (in lieu of dedication) per the direction of the City Engineer in compliance with 
Section 15.16.020 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  The estimated recreation in-lieu fee 
is $128,000 (based on $32,000 per net new unit). 

 
n. Concurrent with the application for a grading and/or building permit, the applicant shall 

submit an updated Hydrology Report for review and approval by the Public Works 
Department. The Hydrology Report shall confirm that the project does not result in 
increased storm water runoff as measured by the peak flow rate for a 10-year storm 
and shall also confirm that the on-site depressed garages will not be subject to 
flooding during a 10-year storm. If the Hydrology Report shows an increase of runoff 
(over the existing conditions runoff), then the applicant shall implement modifications 
to the project to ensure that neither impact occurs subject to review and approval of 
the Planning and Engineering Divisions. 

 
o. Concurrent with the application for a grading and/or building permit, the applicant shall 

submit a plan for any new utility installations or upgrades for review and approval of 
the Planning, Engineering and Building Divisions. Landscaping shall properly screen 
all utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed 
underground. The plan shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention 
devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes. 

 
p. Prior to grading and/or building permit issuance, the applicant shall provide 

documentation of the recordation of the Final Map at the County Recorder's Office for 

PAGE 105



review and approval of the Engineering Division and the Planning Division. Application 
for a grading and/or building permit may be made prior to recordation. 

 
1281 Laurel Street 
 
1. Adopt a finding that the redevelopment of the site is categorically exempt under Class 32 

(Section 15332, "In-Fill Development Projects") of the current State CEQA Guidelines.   
 
2. Make findings, as per Section 16.82.030 of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to the granting 

of use permits, that the proposed use will not be detrimental to the health, safety, morals, 
comfort and general welfare of the persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such 
proposed use, and will not be detrimental to property and improvements in the 
neighborhood or the general welfare of the City. 

 
3. Adopt the following findings, as per Section 16.68.020 of the Zoning Ordinance, pertaining 

to architectural control approval: 
 

a. The general appearance of the structure is in keeping with the character of the 
neighborhood. 

 
b. The development will not be detrimental to the harmonious and orderly growth of the 

City. 
 
c. The development will not impair the desirability of investment or occupation in the 

neighborhood. 
 
d. The development provides adequate parking as required in all applicable City 

Ordinances and has made adequate provisions for access to such parking. 
 
e. The property is not within any Specific Plan area, and as such no finding regarding 

consistency is required to be made. 
 

4. Adopt findings that the proposed major subdivision is technically correct and in compliance 
with all applicable State regulations, City General Plan, Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, 
and the State Subdivision Map Act.  

 
5. Adopt Resolution No. 6144 approving the five heritage tree removal permits (Attachment 

B). 
 
6. Adopt Resolution No. 6145 approving the Below Market Rate Housing In-Lieu Fee 

Agreement, recommended by the Housing Commission on January 16, 2013, and 
recommended by the Planning Commission on April 8, 2013. (Attachment C).  

 
7. Approve the project subject to the following conditions: 
 

a. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans 
prepared by AJS Architecture and Planning, consisting of 29 plan sheets, dated 
received April 17, 2013, inclusive of the recommendations by the Planning 
Commission on April 8, 2013, except as modified by the conditions contained herein, 
subject to review and approval of the Planning Division.  

 

PAGE 106



b. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all Sanitary District, 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly 
applicable to the project. 

 
c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all requirements of 

the Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are 
directly applicable to the project. 

 
d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility 

installations or upgrades for review and approval of the Planning, Engineering and 
Building Divisions. Landscaping shall properly screen all utility equipment that is 
installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed underground. The plan shall 
show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, 
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes. 

 
e. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 

shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged 
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted 
for the review and approval of the Engineering Division.  

 
f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 

shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering 
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to issuance of a 
grading, demolition or building permit. 

 
g. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to 

the Heritage Tree Ordinance.  
 
h. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit proposed landscape and 

irrigation documentation as required by Chapter 12.44 (Water-Efficient Landscaping) 
of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code. If required, the applicant shall submit all 
parts of the landscape project application as listed in section 12.44.040 of the City of 
Menlo Park Municipal Code. This plan shall be subject to review and approval by the 
Planning and Engineering Divisions. The landscaping shall be installed and inspected 
prior to final inspection of the building. 

 
i. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the existing structures shall be demolished after 

obtaining a demolition permit. 
 
j. Concurrent with the application for a Final Map, the applicant shall submit covenants, 

conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs) for the approval of the City Engineer and the City 
Attorney. The Final Map and the CC&Rs shall be recorded concurrently.   

 
k. Concurrent with the application submittal for the Final Map, the applicant shall submit a 

Grading and Drainage Plan, including an Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan, for 
review and approval of the City Engineer. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be 
prepared based on the City's Grading and Drainage Plan Guidelines and Checklist and 
the Project Applicant Checklist for the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Permit Requirements. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved 
prior to issuance of a grading and/or building permit. 

 

PAGE 107



l. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the applicant shall install new improvements as 
shown on the project plans per City standards along the entire property frontage 
subject to the review and approval of the Engineering Division. The applicant shall 
obtain an encroachment permit, from the Engineering Division, prior to commencing 
any work within the right-of-way. If determined appropriate and subject to the approval 
of the Engineering Division, the applicant may provide a bond for the completion of the 
work subsequent to the recordation of the Final Map. 

 
m. Prior to recordation of the Final Map, the applicant shall pay any applicable recreation 

fees (in lieu of dedication) per the direction of the City Engineer in compliance with 
Section 15.16.020 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  The estimated recreation in-lieu fee 
is $128,000 (based on $32,000 per net new unit). 

 
n. Concurrent with the application for a grading and/or building permit, the applicant shall 

submit an updated Hydrology Report for review and approval by the Public Works 
Department. The Hydrology Report shall confirm that the project does not result in 
increased storm water runoff as measured by the peak flow rate for a 10-year storm 
and shall also confirm that the on-site depressed garages will not be subject to 
flooding during a 10-year storm. If the Hydrology Report shows an increase of runoff 
(over the existing conditions runoff), then the applicant shall implement modifications 
to the project to ensure that neither impact occurs subject to review and approval of 
the Planning and Engineering Divisions. 

 
o. Concurrent with the application for a grading and/or building permit, the applicant shall 

submit a plan for any new utility installations or upgrades for review and approval of 
the Planning, Engineering and Building Divisions. Landscaping shall properly screen 
all utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that cannot be placed 
underground. The plan shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention 
devices, transformers, junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes. 

 
p. Prior to grading and/or building permit issuance, the applicant shall provide 

documentation of the recordation of the Final Map at the County Recorder's Office for 
review and approval of the Engineering Division and the Planning Division. Application 
for a grading and/or building permit may be made prior to recordation. 

 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Provide direction on the State Route 101/Willow Road Interchange Project alternative 

(Staff report #13-075) 
Presentation by Fernando Bravo, Engineering Services Manager and Mohammad Suleiman, 
Caltrans Project Manager (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Adina Levin thanked staff and Caltrans for listening to the community and protecting the 

pedestrians and cyclists and urged Council to approve the item. 
• Andrew Boone asked that the Council look carefully look at the details when the design 

phase comes forward. 
• Jim Bigelow, Menlo Park Chamber of Commerce, spoke in supports of the project moving 

forward and suggested the Council not delay the project.  

PAGE 108

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208702/F1%2B-%2BSR%2B101%2BWillow%2BInterchange__208702.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/05/07/file_attachments/209600/13%2B0507%2Bcc%2BCity%2Bof%2BMP%2BCouncil%2B101-Willow%2Bpp%2BFinal__209600.pdf


• Matt Henry stated there will continue to be a bottleneck at Bay Road and stated that there 
needs to be a separate pedestrian/bicycle bridge. 

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Carlton) to approve staff recommendation of 1B Modified 
passes unanimously. 
 
F2. Consider a resolution authorizing preliminary conditional commitment of $2.5 million from 

the Below Market Rate Fund for the CORE Affordable Housing Project at the Veteran’s 
Administration facility in Menlo Park (Staff report #13-081) 

Staff presentation by Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager 
 
Darci Palmer made a presentation on behalf of CORE Affordable Housing. (PowerPoint) 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Mueller/Carlton) to approve Resolution No. 6146 authorizing 
preliminary conditional commitment of $2.5 million from the Below Market Rate Fund for the 
CORE Affordable Housing Project at the Veteran’s Administration facility in Menlo Park passes 
unanimously. 
 
F3. Council discussion and possible recommendation on various seats for determination at the 

next City Selection Committee meeting scheduled for May 17, 2013 (Staff report #13-080) 
There were no additional letters received.   
 
ACTION: By acclamation the Council supports Richard Garbarino for the LAFCo seat. 
 
F4. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item 
There were no legislative items discussed. 
 
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 
H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
There were no informational items. 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
There were no Councilmember reports. 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2 
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:04 p.m. 
 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  

PAGE 109

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_105/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208696/F2%2B-%2BCORE%2BHousing__208696.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_283/2013/05/07/file_attachments/209611/MP%2BCouncil%2BCORE%2BHOUSING%2BPresentation%2BMay%2B2013__209611.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_102/2013/05/02/file_attachments/208693/F3%2B-%2BCity%2BSelection%2BCommittee__208693.pdf


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 110



 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 20, 2013 

5:30 p.m. 
701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Council Conference Room, Administration Building 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Special Meeting to order at 5:35 p.m. with all members present. 
 
Note: Vice Mayor Mueller is recused from item CL1 and CL2 and left the meeting at 5:37 p.m.. 
 
CL1. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding anticipated litigation (2 cases):  
 Government Code Section 54956.9 (a) (d)(4) 
 
CL2. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding existing litigation (4 cases):  
 Government Code Section 54956.9 (a)(d)(2),(4) 
  

(1) Town of Atherton, et al. v. California High Speed Rail Authority 
         Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2008-80000022 

 (Atherton 1) 
  

(2) Town of Atherton, et al. v. California High Speed Rail Authority 
         Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2010-80000679 

 (Atherton 2) 
  

(3) Tos et al. v. California High Speed Rail Authority et al. 
Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2011-00113919 

  
(4) California High Speed Rail Authority et al. v. All interested Persons 
Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, Case No. 34-2013-00140689 

 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller returned to the meeting at 6:00 p.m. 
 
CL3. Closed Session pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 to conference with Labor 

Negotiators regarding labor negotiations with the Police Officers Association (POA) and 
Police Management Association (PMA)  

 
 Attendees: Alex McIntyre, City Manager, Starla Jerome-Robinson, Assistant City Manager, 

Gina Donnelly, Human Resources Director, Robert Jonsen, Police Chief, Dave Bertini, 
Commander 

 
ACTION:  There was no reportable action on any items discussed during closed session. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:05 p.m. 
 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  

PAGE 111



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 112



   CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, May 21, 2013 at 6:00 p.m. 

701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
City Council Chambers 

 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Special Session to order at 6:10 p.m. with Council Member Cline 
absent.  
 
SS1. Review of the City Manager’s proposed 2013-14 Budget and Capital Improvement 

Program for the City of Menlo Park (Staff report) 
Staff presentation by Alex McIntyre, City Manager (PowerPoint) 
 
Public Comment 
• Adina Levin spoke regarding various projects in the budget. 
 
Mayor Ohtaki called the Regular Session to order at 7:13 p.m. with Council Member Cline 
absent.  
 
Mayor Ohtaki led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
Mayor Ohtaki announced that there was no reportable action taken on the closed session from 
May 20, 2013 meeting. 
 
A. PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
Mayor Ohtaki presented City Clerk Margaret Roberts with a proclamation and roses. 
(Proclamation) 
 
B. COMMISSION/COMMITTEE VACANCIES, APPOINTMENTS AND REPORTS 
The City Clerk’s office is accepting applications for the Environmental Quality Commission. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT #1  
• Elizabeth Houck spoke regarding water issues and gray water. 
• Charlie Bourne stated his reasons for resigning from the Transportation Commission.   
• Steve Schmidt spoke regarding the subcommittee on the Stanford project. 
• Cherie Lazlawsky spoke regarding the budget, salaries, and the priorities that should be 

focused on.  (Letter) 
• Adina Levin spoke regarding Consent Calendar Item D-2 and the City’s response to the 

Grand Jury report. 
 
NOTE: Vice Mayor Mueller left the Council Chambers at 7:29 p.m. and returned at 7:33 p.m. 
during the comments made regarding the Stanford property.  Mayor Ohtaki announced that Vice 
Mayor Mueller is recused due to the proximity of previously owned property. 
 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
D1. Adopt a resolution giving preliminary approval of the Engineer’s Report for the Menlo Park 

Landscaping District for Fiscal Year 2013-14 which proposes no increases to the tree or 
sidewalk portions of the assessment; adopt a resolution of Intent to Order the Levy and 

PAGE 113

http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/SS1-Budget.pdf


Collection of assessments at the current rates for the Menlo Park Landscaping District for 
Fiscal Year 2013-14; and set the date for the Public Hearing for June 11, 2013  

 (Staff report #13-085) 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Ohtaki) to approve the following resolutions passes 
unanimously (Cline absent): 
 

Resolution No. 6147:  A Resolution of Intention of the City Council of the City of 
Menlo Park to order the continuation and collection of assessments for the City of 
Menlo Park Landscaping District for fiscal year 2013-14 pursuant to the 
Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972  
 
Resolution No. 6148: A Resolution of preliminary approval of the Engineer’s 
Report for the assessments for the City of Menlo Park Landscaping District for 
fiscal year 2013-14   

 
D2. Approve the response to the San Mateo Grand Jury Report “Water Recycling – An 

Important component of Wise Water Management” (Staff report #13-083) 
Item pulled by Mayor Ohtaki for discussion 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Carlton) to approve the response to the San Mateo Grand 
Jury Report “Water Recycling – An Important component of Wise Water Management” passes 
unanimously (Cline absent). 
 
E. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
E1. Consider the Planning Commission recommendation to approve the Housing Element of 

the General Plan and associated General Plan a mendments, Zoning Ordinance 
amendments, rezonings and environmental review (Staff report #13-084) 

Staff presentation by Justin Murphy, Development Services Manager (PowerPoint) 
(Additional handout) 
 
Mayor Ohtaki opened the Public Hearing at 8:26 p.m. 
 
Public Comment 
• Philip Bahr spoke regarding second dwellings. 
• Bishop Teman Bostic, Mt. Olive AOH Church of God, requested the Council move the 

sewage pump, evenly distribute housing throughout the city and to not rezone the Mt. Olive 
AOH Church of God property. 

• Opha Wray, Mt. Olive AOH Church of God, stated she agrees with everything Bishop Bostic 
stated. 

• Vicky Rubledo spoke regarding distribution of housing and the devaluation of property 
values. 

• Steve Bitler spoke regarding secondary dwelling units, Haven Avenue and the El Camino 
corridor. 

• Dianna Reddy urged the Council to approve the Housing Element tonight. 
• Steve Pierce, Greenheart Land Co., spoke to the design standards, and market rate 

housing. 
• Wallace Murfit, Butler Realty, spoke regarding traffic and credit against the Traffic Impact 

Fee. 
• Vince Bressler spoke regarding the overlay. 
• Tom Jackson spoke regarding secondary dwellings for seniors, ADA and height 

requirements in flood zones. 

PAGE 114

http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/16/file_attachments/211706/D1%2B-%2BLandscape%2BAssessment__211706.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_101/2013/05/16/file_attachments/211724/D2%2B-%2BGrand%2BJury__211724.pdf
http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/E1-HousingElement.pdf
http://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/topic_files/CAMENLO/CAMENLO_97/2013/05/23/file_attachments/213048/052113%2B-%2BE1%2B-%2BHousing%2BElement%2Bdocs%2B-%2Bafter%2Bpacket__213048.pdf


• Johnnie Walton spoke regarding distribution of housing and it should be considered that 
property owners that do not live where they own property. 

• Rhovy Lyn Antonio, California Apartment Association, Tri-County Division, spoke in support 
of the Housing Element. 

• Mark Lockenmeyer spoke regarding concerns of the industrial business in the Haven area. 
 
Motion and second (Keith/Carlton) to close the Public Hearing at 9:02 p.m. passes unanimously   
(Cline absent).  
 
The Council took a recess from 9:02 and reconvened at 9:16 p.m. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Ohtaki) to modify the language regarding bicycle parking 
and to add Section 16.23.055 Substandard parcel to Attachment F of the staff report passes 
unanimously (Cline absent). 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Carlton/Keith) to modify the language regarding stucco to be 80% 
instead of 50% passes unanimously (Cline absent). 
  
ACTION: Motion and second (Keith/Carlton) to take the following actions, including the 
revisions regarding Mitigation Measures TR-1g and TR-2w (Resolution No. 6147 Exhibit A) 
passes unanimously (Cline absent): 
 
Environmental Review  
 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 6148 of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Adopting the 
Environmental Assessment for the Housing Element Update, General Plan Consistency 
Update and Associated Zoning Ordinance Amendments, Making Findings, and Adopting 
the Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Program (Attachment A). 
 

2. Adopt Resolution No. 6149 of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Adopting the 
Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Housing Element Update, General Plan 
Consistency Update and Associated Zoning Ordinance Amendments (Attachment B). 

 
General Plan Amendments  
 

3. Adopt Resolution No. 6150 of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Amending the 
General Plan to Replace the Housing Element in its Entirety (Attachment C). 
 

4. Adopt Resolution No. 6151 of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park, Amending the 
General Plan to Update the Open Space and Conservation, Noise and Safety Elements, 
Modify the Land Use Designations of Medium Density Residential, High Density 
Residential and Limited Industry, to Delete the Land Use Designation of El Camino Real 
Professional/Retail Commercial, to Modify the Residential, Commercial and Industrial 
Use Intensity Tables, and to Change the Land Use Designation for Property Located at 
1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road, 631, 711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821, and 
831-851 Hamilton Avenue, and 3605-3615, 3633-3639, and 3645-3665 Haven Avenue 
(Attachment E). 

 
Zoning Ordinance Amendments and Rezonings 

 
5. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 

Municipal Code to Incorporate the R-4-S (High Density Residential, Special) District 
(Attachment F), which implements Housing Element Programs H4.I and H4.O. 
 

PAGE 115



6. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 16.98 (Affordable 
Housing Overlay) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code (Attachment G), 
which implements Housing Element Program H4.C. 
 

7. Introduce an Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park Adding Chapter 
16.97 (State Density Bonus Law) to Title 16 (Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 
(Attachment H), which implements the Housing Element Program H4.D. 
 

8. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.20, R-3 
(Apartment) and Chapter 16.72 (Off-Street Parking) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 
(Attachment I), which implements Housing Element Program H4.A. 
 

10. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 
1221-1275 and 1317-1385 Willow Road (Attachment K). 

 
11. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 631, 

711-721, 735-763, 767, 771, 777-821 and 831-851 Hamilton Avenue (Attachment L). 
 
12. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Rezoning Properties Located at 

3605-3615, 3633-3639, and 3645-3665 Haven Avenue (Attachment M or N). 
 
13. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Title 16 of the Menlo Park 

Municipal Code to Eliminate Zoning Districts (C-4 General Commercial – Applicable to El 
Camino Real, M-1 Light Industrial District, and P-D District) for which No Properties are 
Zoned (Attachment O). 
 

ACTION: The Council requested that the below item return on the June 4, Council meeting for 
discussion. 
 

9. Introduce an Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.79, Secondary 
Dwelling Units of the Menlo Park Municipal Code (Attachment J), which implements the 
Housing Element Program H4.E. 

 
F. REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
F1. Consider state and federal legislative items, including decisions to support or oppose any 

such legislation, and items listed under Written Communication or Information Item 
There were no legislative items discussed. 
 
G. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  
There was no City Manager report given. 
 
H. WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  
There were no written communications. 
 
I. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
There were no informational items. 
 
J. COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 
There were no Councilmember reports. 
 
K. PUBLIC COMMENT #2 
There were no public comments made. 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 
PAGE 116



 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:43 a.m. 
 

Margaret S. Roberts, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
 
Minutes accepted at the Council meeting of  
 

PAGE 117



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 118



 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
 

Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 
Staff Report #: 13-092  

 
Agenda Item #: E-1 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING:   Review of the City Manager’s Proposed 2013-14 
Budget and Capital Improvement Program for the 
City of Menlo Park; and Consideration of the 
Revised Long-Term Financial Forecast 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council hold a public hearing, and review and provide 
direction on the City Manager’s proposed 2013-14 Budget and Capital Improvement 
Program and revised Long-Term Financial Forecast for the City of Menlo Park. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The last five years have been a difficult time financially for the City of Menlo Park.  
Previous financial actions have been concentrated on long term strategies for fiscal 
stabilization.  Financially, there are indicators that the City is turning a corner, including 
the recently voter-approved 2% Transient Occupancy Tax increase to 12% and the 
recently negotiated contribution from Facebook.  Still, despite the improving outlook, the 
Fiscal Year 2013-14 Proposed Budget remains “status quo” to ensure the economy has 
truly stabilized.   
The Proposed Budget is balanced and focuses on long-term fiscal strength and 
alignment with the Council-adopted goals, City Operating Principles and Budget 
Development Principles.  Of significance, the proposed budget and Capital 
Improvement Plan include two new important investment initiatives:   

• Funding for implementation of technological upgrades following a Technology 
Master Plan study, and  

• Funding for the State-required General Plan Update.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The Fiscal Year 2013-14 City Manager’s Proposed Budget was presented during the 
May 21st City Council Study Session. Since then, staff continues to refine the 
projections and now, the proposed Total Budget (all funds) for 2013-14 is $75,873,607; 
this is approximately $400,000 more than what was originally projected at the Study 
Session.  Staff reviewed other funds more closely since the Study Session and 

PAGE 119



identified a couple of line items in the Water Fund which had been excluded.  A link to 
the May 21st Study Session report follows: 
http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/SS1-Budget.pdf 
 
This does not change the proposed General Fund 2013-14 outlook.   
 

General Fund 
Revenues  $42,549,847 
Expenditures   42,347,339   
Surplus   $    202,508  

 
As proposed, the General Fund budget is balanced and was developed without drawing 
down fund balance reserves.   
 
This report focuses on the general direction received from the Council at the May 21st 
Study Session, in three key areas: 

• An update of the impact of future CalPERS increases as it relates to the 10-Year 
Forecast;  

• The possibility of additional financial requirements on the General Fund due to 
the reduced availability of funding from other Funds; and  

• An update on the proposed Police Substation. 
CalPERS 
Staff has updated the assumptions and projections incorporated in the City’s 10-Year 
financial forecast for the General Fund. This long term forecast provides an illustration 
of the City’s ability to meet obligations beyond the current budget cycle, providing 
important context to the annual budget process. The revised long-term forecast 
(Attachment A) reflects the maintenance of existing programs at the current level of 
service, but now incorporates best long term estimates for possible increases in future 
employee pension costs using the “Asset Volatility Rate” factor proposed by CalPERS.  
However, the updated 10-Year Forecast does not reflect any known, but not initiated, 
new major revenues sources that might be available in the future (e.g., Bohannon’s 
Gateway project).  
 
The revised 10-year forecast for the General Fund shows a significant increase in 
employee benefit expenditures for that period.  However, with increases in revenues, 
the General Fund will be able to absorb the increased cost but will significantly reduce 
any projected surpluses.  This will limit the General Fund’s ability to absorb other 
unanticipated costs increases over the years. 
 
Other Funds 
 
There are several funds that staff is carefully monitoring, which may ultimately become 
reliant on the General Fund or other sources of funding, which City Council should be 
aware of: 

PAGE 120

http://www.menlopark.org/council/staffreport/SS1-Budget.pdf


  
Storm Water Quality Management Fund – This fund’s balance has declined 
steadily from a balance of $965,000 in 2001-02 to an estimated fund balance of 
less than $270,000 as of June 30, 2013.  The Municipal Regional Permit (MRP), 
developed in 2008-09, mandated numerous new requirements for storm water 
management programs in the Bay Area.  Revenues of the fund are derived from 
special assessment taxes of approximately $300,000 annually. The fund balance 
will be further reduced in the 2013-14 fiscal year, and future budgetary support of 
storm water programs will either have to be limited to the annual tax revenues, or 
borne by the General Fund until a new funding source is pursued.  As a means of 
alleviating some of the pressure off of this fund, in 2012, the Council approved 
shifting a portion of the cost of participation in the San Francisquito Creek Joint 
Powers Authority (SFCJPA) from the Storm Water Fund to the General Fund. 
San Mateo County is exploring a countywide assessment that, if approved, may 
provide some financial relief to this fund.    
 
Bedwell-Bayfront Park Fund – The 160-acre park, located at Marsh Road and 
Highway 84, was used as a solid waste landfill from 1957 to 1984.  In 1968, the 
City took ownership and responsibility for the landfill and its eventual post-closure 
maintenance.  Bayfront Park was built over the landfill in phases, starting in 1982 
and completed in 1995.  At that time, fees collected up to the point of the landfill 
closure created a “sinking fund” that has been used to fund current Bedwell-
Bayfront Park maintenance costs. 
 
The fund balance of the Bedwell-Bayfront Park Maintenance Fund is estimated to 
be approximately $650,000 at June 30, 2013.  Interest on the remaining fund 
balance is the only revenue source for this fund.  Revenues have declined as 
investment yields have decreased, causing the fund’s cash balance to drop more 
rapidly than anticipated.  The eventual depletion of the fund balance, at a rate of 
$75,000 a year, continues to be a concern.  Ultimately, the roads that access the 
area and pathways that traverse the Park will require major repairs.   Any capital 
expenses to the Park Maintenance Fund will only accelerate the decline of that 
fund’s reserve.  Once the Park’s “sinking fund” has been expended, other funding 
sources, most likely the General Fund, will need to be identified for the Park’s 
continued operations.  
 
Peninsula Partnership Grant Fund – This fund was created to account for the 
local grants used to improve the quality of life for children and their families in the 
Belle Haven neighborhood through the Community School effort.  For the Fiscal 
Year 2012-13, approximately 50 percent of the total costs of the program were 
anticipated, leaving this fund with an estimated deficit of approximately $70,000 
at year end.  Staff continues to seek grant funding to close the gap on this 
outstanding balance.  Although the position assigned to this fund is fully funded 
for next year, with the resignation of the incumbent, the staff is exploring shifting 
the service model from employer to “funder”.  This change is still in transition, 
with further details and timelines to follow. 

PAGE 121



 
Traffic Congestion Management Fund – The revenues for this fund are no 
longer being separated by the State and are being included in the Highway Users 
Tax (Gas Tax).  Since the permitted uses of these monies are very similar to the 
uses of the Highway Users Tax, it no longer seemed necessary to provide 
separate accounting of these revenues.  This fund is being used on the Street 
Resurfacing Project and will be eliminated by the end of the 2012-13 fiscal year. 

 
Public Library Fund – The State is no longer funding this program so spending 
has been sparse and used only for special items.  The fund balance is estimated 
to be a little over $73,000 at the end of fiscal year 2013-14.  This fund will be 
phased out over future years. 

 
Police Substation 
 
Under a separate agenda item, the Council will be asked to consider entering into a 
lease agreement to relocate the existing Police substation to Willow Road and Hamilton 
Avenue.  Facebook has generously partnered with the City to supplement any lease 
increases above that which is already reflected in this budget as well as bear the full 
cost for tenant improvements.   
 
There are yet-to-be estimated cost impacts to the proposed operating budget for the 
new site (e.g., utilities, maintenance, etc.) that will be calculated once the Council has 
identified and agreed to specific uses for the new site.  These can be reflected in a 
future budget amendment.    
 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
The budget for the 2013-14 fiscal year is balanced and provides for projected revenues 
which exceed anticipated expenditures in the General Fund by approximately $202,000.  
Although the City is improving financially through a growing economy, the proposed 
budget does not contain any significant service restorations or new programs.  The 
General Fund transfer out to the City’s CIP Fund for infrastructure improvement has 
been increased for inflation, and the Utility Users Tax rates are assumed to remain at 
the current reduced level of one percent for all utilities.  
 
Estimated increases or decreases to other fund balances are shown on pages 165 
through 170 of the proposed Budget Report Every effort has been made to identify all of 
the necessary and approved costs to be incurred in the fiscal period.  The long-term 
forecast has been updated to assist decision makers in financial strategies for the long 
term. 
 
The proposed 5-year CIP is also attached (Attachment B). 

PAGE 122



 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
Presentation of the City Manager’s proposed budget is consistent with the City’s  
budgeting process and represents no changes in City policy. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
Environmental review is not required. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Revised 10-Year General Fund Forecast  
B. Proposed CIP 

 
Report prepared by: 
Alex D. McIntyre 
City Manager 
 

PAGE 123



City of Menlo Park 
General Fund 10-Year Projection  (1)

Adjusted 
Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Revenue Categories 2013 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Property Taxes $13,853,000 (2)    $13,955,000 (2)    $14,732,075 $15,321,358 $15,934,212 $16,571,581 $17,234,444 $17,923,822 $18,640,775 $19,386,406 $20,161,862 $20,968,336
Sales Tax 6,280,000            (3)    6,331,400    (3)    6,527,060     (3)    6,382,288     (3)   6,564,121     6,845,063        7,121,141        7,408,376        7,707,219        8,018,142        8,341,634       8,678,203      
Transient Occupancy Tax 3,326,000            (4)    3,743,000    3,892,720     4,048,429     4,210,366     4,378,781        4,553,932        4,736,089        4,925,533        5,122,554        5,327,456       5,540,554      
Utility Users' Tax     1,165,499            (5)    1,184,620    1,231,045     1,279,327     1,329,540     1,381,761        1,436,072        1,492,555        1,551,297        1,612,389        1,675,924       1,742,001      
Franchise Fees    1,873,500            1,812,300    1,884,792     1,960,184     2,038,591     2,120,135        2,204,940        2,293,138        2,384,863        2,480,258        2,579,468       2,682,647      
Licenses and Permit   (6) 4,326,465            4,459,465    4,497,847     4,645,751     4,799,559     5,059,171        5,225,452        5,398,374        5,578,201        5,765,211        6,059,250       6,261,625      
Intergovernmental Revenue 838,130               741,704       771,372        802,227        834,316        867,689           902,396           938,492           976,032           1,015,073        1,055,676       1,097,903      
Fines & Forfeitures 991,400               1,319,980    1,372,779     1,427,690     1,484,798     1,544,190        1,605,957        1,670,196        1,737,004        1,806,484        1,878,743       1,953,893      
Interest & Rent Income 752,018               (7)    777,712       (7)    810,420        (7)    844,437        879,815        916,607           954,872           994,667           1,036,053        1,079,095        1,123,859       1,170,414      
Charges for Services                7,080,246            7,795,222    (8)    8,028,029     (8)    8,325,302     8,645,181     8,977,790        9,323,637        9,683,252        10,057,184      10,446,007      10,850,316     11,284,328    
Donations 31,050                 31,050         32,292          33,584          34,927          36,324             37,777             39,288             40,860             42,494             44,194            45,962           
Other Financing Sources 389,074               398,396       414,330        430,903        448,139        466,065           484,707           504,096           524,259           545,230           567,039          589,720         
Total Revenues 40,906,382$        ########## 44,194,761$ 45,501,480$ 47,203,565$ 49,165,156$    51,085,327$    53,082,342$    55,159,280$    57,319,343$    59,665,421$   62,015,586$  

Expenditure Categories
Salaries and Wages     (9) $20,400,319 $21,080,312  $21,712,721 $22,581,230 $23,484,479 $24,423,859 $25,400,813 $26,416,845 $27,473,519 $28,572,460 $29,715,358 $30,903,973
Benefits           (10) 7,886,634             8,260,286     8,631,999      9,063,599     9,489,588     9,935,599        10,402,572      10,891,493      11,327,152      11,780,238      12,251,448     12,741,506    
Operating Expense 3,070,986            3,174,428    3,301,405     3,433,461     3,570,800     3,713,632        3,862,177        4,016,664        4,177,331        4,344,424        4,518,201       4,698,929      
Utilities 1,176,516            1,197,111    1,244,995     1,294,795     1,346,587     1,400,451        1,456,469        1,514,727        1,575,316        1,638,329        1,703,862       1,772,017      
Services 3,917,937            4,392,366    (11)  4,062,939     (11)  4,127,946     4,293,063     4,464,786        4,643,377        4,829,112        5,022,277        5,223,168        5,432,095       5,649,379      
Fixed Assets and Capital Outlay 419,271               372,611       387,515        403,016        419,137        435,902           453,338           471,472           490,331           509,944           530,342          551,555         
Travel 59,480                 72,705         75,613          78,638          81,783          85,055             88,457             91,995             95,675             99,502             103,482          107,621         
Repairs and Maintenance 908,588               882,419       917,716        954,424        992,601        1,032,305        1,073,598        1,116,542        1,161,203        1,207,651        1,255,957       1,306,196      
Special Projects Expenditures 369,455               360,500       374,920        389,917        405,513        421,734           438,603           456,148           474,393           493,369           513,104          533,628         
Capital and Transfers Out 2,464,328            2,554,600    2,656,784     2,763,055     2,873,578     2,988,521        3,108,062        3,232,384        3,361,679        3,496,146        3,635,992       3,781,432      
Total Expenditures $40,673,514 $42,347,338 $43,366,608 $45,090,082 $46,957,130 $48,901,842 $50,927,465 $53,037,382 $55,158,877 $57,365,232 $59,659,841 $62,046,235
Total Impact to Fund Balance $232,868 202,511$     $828,153 $411,398 $246,435 $263,314 $157,862 $44,961 $403 ($45,889) $5,579 ($30,649)

Notes to 10-year Forecast:

(2)   Property Tax increases 5.6% in 2013-14 and 4.5% by 2014-15; Facebook tenant improvements complete by 2014-15; Excess ERAF decrease 50% onward.
(3)   Sales Tax to grow 1.5% in 2013-14;  includes two years of In-Lieu Sales Use tax 2013-14 and 2014-15; State of California Triple Flip ends in 2017.
(4)   TOT rate increase January 2013 from 10% to 12%; 2013-14 full year at 12% tax rate. Does not include any new hotels/motels.
(5)   Assumes 1% UUT tax rate on all utilities;  2.5% increase in 2013-14.  Assumes no change on UUT tax cap-payers.
(6)   Licenses and Permits include annual payments from Facebook: $800,000 thru 2017; $900,000 thru 2022; $1 Million beginning 2023.
(7)   Portfolio earnings recover slowly; 2013-14 0%; years after earnings to grow 4% onward.
(8)  Charges for Services - Planning Fees decrease as projects are completed.
(9)  Salaries & Wages includes 4% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA).
(10)  CalPERS rate increases assumed through 2015; includes CalPERS asset volatility ratio through 2020.
(11)  Services decrease in 2014-15 and 2015-16 due to less demand for contract services in Community Development as projects are completed.

2016 2017
Forecast Forecast

(1)   Revenues and expenditures are generally anticipated to grow by inflation of 4% unless otherwise indicated. 

Attachment A

Proposed
Budget

2014
Forecast

2015

PAGE 124



 

 

CITY OF MENLO PARK 

 

FIVE-YEAR 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

 

FY 2013-18 

 

 
 

PAGE 125



Table of Contents                          Page  

 
Introduction           2 
        
Procedures for Developing Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan    2 
   
Project Development and Selection Process       3 
    
Proposed Projects          4 
       
Project Funding Sources         5 
        
General Plan Consistency         5 
        
Environmental Review         5 
        
Appendix A-Capital Improvement Plan Project Summaries      7 
 A.1  Projects by Category        8 
 A.2  Projects by Funding Source       12 
 A.3  Projects by Responsible Department      19  
 
Appendix B-Overview Schedule of Previously Funded Projects    23 
  
Appendix C-Non-Funded projects        26 
 C.1  Non-Funded Projects from Previously Approved Plans     27 
 C.2  Other Non-Funded Project Requests       35 
 
Appendix D-Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 44 
 
Appendix E-Proposed Projects for FY 2013/14       54

PAGE 126



 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for the City of Menlo Park is the community’s plan for 
short and long-range development, maintenance, improvement and acquisition of infrastructure 
assets to benefit the City’s residents, businesses, property owners and visitors. It provides a linkage 
between the City’s General Plan, various master planning documents and budget, and provides a 
means for planning, scheduling and implementing capital and comprehensive planning projects over 
the next 5 years (through FY 2017/18).  
 
This is the fourth year of the new CIP, which provides a long-term approach for prioritizing and 
selecting new projects in the City.  Although the plan document is updated annually, it allows the 
reader to review projects planned over the full 5-year timeframe, and provides an overview of works 
in progress. The CIP is intended to incorporate the City’s investments in infrastructure development 
and maintenance (i.e. capital improvements) with other significant capital expenditures that add to or 
strategically invest in the City’s inventory of assets. Studies and capital expenditures of less than 
$25,000 are not included in the CIP.   
 
Procedures for Developing Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan 
 
The procedures for developing the five-year CIP aim to enhance the City’s forecasting, project 
evaluation and community engagement processes by creating a resource “toolbox” to be used 
throughout the decision-making process. It is not intended to limit the City’s ability to adjust its 
programs, services and planned projects as unexpected needs, opportunities or impacts arise.  With 
this in mind, the Council, City Manager, CIP Committee and other participants will need to observe 
these procedures and draw upon a variety of resources in order to effectively update and administer 
the plan. 
 
Procedures for Submitting and Amending Projects 
 
Department managers initiate requests for new projects or purchases, and modifications to or 
reprioritization of existing projects. Initiating requests are accomplished by sending completed 
request form(s) and supporting information to the City Manager within the timeframes established by 
the Finance Department for annual budget preparation.  
 
Request forms include estimated costs, benefits, risks associated with not completing the 
project/purchase, funding source(s), availability of funds, estimated timeframe for completing the 
project/purchase, and any anticipated impacts to previously approved projects.  
 
Evaluation and Preliminary Ranking by Committee 
 
The CIP Committee performs the initial evaluation and ranking of proposed projects. Committee 
members consist of the City Manager or his/her designee; the Directors of Community Development, 
Community Services, Finance and Public Works; the Maintenance and Engineering Division Managers 
and any other staff, as designated by the City Manager. The Committee meets as needed, but not less 
than once each calendar year.  
 

PAGE 127



 

 

The Committee furnishes copies of its preliminary project rankings to all Department Managers prior 
to review by City Commissions and approval by the City Council. 
 

Community Input 
 
Annual updating of the City’s 5-year CIP is an integral part of the budget process.  Early development 
of the CIP provides time for adequate review by the City’s various commissions prior to Council 
consideration and incorporation into the annual budget.  The draft CIP is posted to the City’s website 
to encourage public input during this review process.  The public also has opportunities to comment 
on the plan through the review processes of the various commissions and during the public hearing 
held prior to the adoption of the plan by the City Council.   
 

Prioritization Criteria 
 
Projects are prioritized in accordance with evaluation criteria which include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
 Public Health and Safety/Risk Exposure 
 Protection of Infrastructure 
 Economic Development  
 Impacts on Operating Budgets 
 External Requirements 
 Population Served 
 Community/Commission Support 
 Relationship to Adopted Plans 
 Cost/Benefit 
 Availability of Financing 
 Capacity to Deliver/Impacts to Other Projects 
    
Projects that are not ranked high enough to be prioritized for this 5-year plan are recorded in an 
ongoing index of non-funded projects attached to the CIP. Indexing extends back a minimum of 4 
years from the current fiscal year. 
 
Funding Plans for Five-Year CIP 
 
Once each year, the Council adopts an updated 5-year CIP that includes all prioritized short and long-
term projects. Each year, the proposed CIP is published for public review prior to a Public Hearing 
where the City Council will receive public comments and discuss the plan. Following the Public 
Hearing the City Council will modify and/or adopt the CIP. 

 
Project Development and Selection Process 
 
The projects proposed in this 5-Year CIP were derived from a variety of sources, including but not 
limited to, recommendations from the City’s Infrastructure Management Study (2007), the Sidewalk 
Master Plan (2009), the Climate Action Plan (2009), and the 2009-2014 Redevelopment 

PAGE 128



 

 

Implementation Plan (2009).  Projects were analyzed and ranked by Department Heads and staff 
during the development of the draft plan.  
 
Although not typically included as capital improvements, studies estimated to cost over $25,000 are 
included in the CIP.  Capital expenditures amounting to less than $25,000 are not included in the CIP. 
Budget information relating to studies and capital expenditures of less than $25,000 are included in 
the City Manager’s Recommended Budget, utilizing appropriate operating funds.  
 
This 5-Year CIP includes 26 new projects recommended for implementation commencing in FY 
2013/14 and 52 additional projects recommended for funding in future fiscal years. Other proposed 
projects that are not currently recommended are incorporated into the index of non-funded projects 
in Appendix C. The index also includes projects for which grant funding is being sought but has not yet 
been awarded.   
 

Proposed Projects 
 

Several of the proposed projects in this CIP address ongoing infrastructure or facility maintenance 
needs and are programmed on an annual, bi-annual or periodic basis. Examples include street 
resurfacing and the sidewalk repair program.  
 

New capital projects and projects involving maintenance of current infrastructure proposed for FY 
2013/14 are listed in Appendix A and described in detail in Appendix E. Projects approved in prior 
fiscal years that have not yet been completed are listed in Appendix B. 
 

Table 1 lists total funding levels for project categories proposed for FY 2013/14 with corresponding 
percentages of the total funding.  Figure 1 graphically presents the percentages of total funding for 
each category. 
 

Table 1 - Proposed Project Funding Levels for FY 2013/14 by Category 
 

Project Category 
FY 2013/14 

Funding 

Percent of Total 
CIP            

FY 2013/14 

Streets & Sidewalks 5,770,000 32.78 % 

City Buildings 620,000 3.52% 

Traffic & Transportation 450,000 2.56% 

Environment 385,000 2.19% 

Water System 4,100,000 23.29% 

Parks & Recreation 120,000 0.68% 

Comprehensive Planning Projects & Studies 2,000,000 11.36% 

Stormwater 110,000 0.62% 

Other/Miscellaneous 4,047,000 22.99% 

TOTALS $17,602,000 100.00% 
 

 
 

PAGE 129



 

 

Figure 1 – FY 2013/14 Proposed Projects by Category 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Project Funding Sources 
 

The proposed FY 2013-18 CIP coordinates physical improvements with financial planning, allowing 
maximum benefits from available funding sources. The Plan relies on funding from various sources, 
largely retained in the Capital and Special Revenue funds, with uses that are usually restricted for 
specific purposes. Although an annual transfer from the General Fund to the City’s General CIP Fund 
(currently $2.5 million) is part of the City’s operating budget, this funding is intended solely for 
maintaining existing infrastructure in its current condition. The restricted funding sources shown in 
Table 2 on the following page comprise the City’s major project funding sources. 
 
General Plan Consistency 
 
The FY 2013/14 projects listed in this Five-Year CIP were presented to the Planning Commission during 
a Public Hearing on May 6, 2013 prior to forwarding the plan to the City Council.  The Planning 
Commission must review the CIP in order to adopt a finding that it is consistent with the City’s General 
Plan.  
 
Environmental Review 
 
The development of this 5-year plan is not a project, as defined in the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA), and an environmental review is not required for its adoption. Individual projects 
listed herein may be subject to CEQA. Environmental reviews will be conducted at the appropriate 
times during implementation of those projects. 

PAGE 130



 

 

 
Table 2 – Funding Sources 

Table 2 – Project Funding Sources 
Funding Sources Fund No. Uses Primary Source Of Funds 

Bedwell/Bayfront Park 
Maintenance/Operations 

809 Park maintenance Interest earned on sinking fund.  

Construction Impact Fee 843 Street resurfacing Fee charged for property 
development based on construction 
value 

Downtown Parking Permit 758 Parking lot maintenance and 
improvements 

Annual and daily fees from permits 
issued to merchants for employee 
and customer parking 

General CIP Fund 851 Capital Projects Funding for on-going maintenance of 
current infrastructure is provided 
annually by the General Fund 

Highway Users Tax 835 Street resurfacing, sidewalks  State Gasoline Taxes 

Library Bond Fund (1990)  853 Library capital 
improvements 

Bond issuance proceeds and interest 
earned 

Bedwell/Bayfront Park Landfill  754 Landfill post-closure 
maintenance and repairs  

Surcharge on solid waste collection 
fees paid by customers 

Measure A 834 Street resurfacing, bicycle 
lanes, Safe Routes to Schools 

½ cent Countywide sales tax 
 

Measure T Bond 845 Recreation facilities, park 
improvements 

2006 and 2009 bond proceeds and 
accumulated interest 

Recreation In-lieu Fee 801 Recreation facilities, park 
and streetscape 
improvements  

Fee charged for residential property 
development based on number of 
units and market value of land 

Public Library Fund 452 Library projects and 
programs. 

State grants 

Sidewalk Assessment 839 Sidewalk repairs Annual property tax assessment, per 
parcel 

Solid Waste Service Fund 753 Solid Waste Management 
and Recycling Programs and 
Projects 

Solid waste rates charged to 
residential and commercial accounts 

Storm Drainage Connection Fees 713 Storm drainage capacity 
improvements 

Fee charged for property 
development per lot, per unit, or per 
square foot of impervious area 

Storm Water Management Fund 
(NPDES) 

841 Storm water pollution 
prevention activities 

Annual property tax assessment 
based on square footage of 
impervious area 

Transportation Impact Fee 
(replaces Traffic Impact Fee) 

710 Intersection improvements, 
sidewalks, traffic signals, 
traffic calming, bicycle 
circulation, transit systems  

Fee charged for property 
development at per unit or per 
square foot rates  

Water Fund – Capital 855 Water distribution and 
storage  

Surcharge per unit of water sold 

PAGE 131



 
Appendix A-Capital Improvement Plan Summaries 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTE: The 3 tables presented on the following pages provide the same listing of proposed projects 
sorted (1) by category, (2) by funding source and (3) by responsible department.

PAGE 132



A.1 Projects by Category

Category 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Streets & Sidewalks

Civic Center Sidewalk Replacement and 

Irrigation System Upgrades
-                      -                   -                      400,000 -                      400,000

Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000

Sidewalk Repair Program 400,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 1,600,000

Street Resurfacing 5,270,000 230,000 5,270,000 250,000 5,270,000 16,290,000

Streetlight Painting -                      75,000 -                      -                    -                      75,000

TOTAL $5,770,000 $705,000 $5,670,000 $1,050,000 $5,670,000 $18,865,000

City Buildings

Administration Building Carpet 

Replacement
-                      -                   200,000 -                    -                      200,000

Arrillaga Recreation Center Light 

Replacement
-                      -                   32,000 -                    -                      32,000

Automated Library Return Area 

Renovation
120,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      120,000

Belle Haven Child Development Ctr. 

Carpet Replacement
0 50,000             -                      -                    -                      50,000

Belle Haven Youth Center Improvements -                      -                   -                      -                    150,000 150,000

City Buildings (Minor) 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 325,000 1,525,000

Fire Plans and Equipment Replacement at 

Council Chambers, Onetta Harris 

Community Cntr and Library 

-                      -                   -                      -                    60,000 60,000

Library Furniture Replacement -                      -                   -                      -                    450,000              450,000                

Main Library Interior Wall Fabric 

Replacement
-                      -                   150,000              -                    -                      150,000

Menlo Children's Center Carpet 

Replacement  
-                      60,000             -                      -                    -                      60,000

Retractable Lights Installation at 

Gymnasium and Gymnastics Cntrs
200,000              -                   -                      -                    300,000 500,000

TOTAL $620,000 $410,000 $682,000 $300,000 $1,285,000 $3,297,000

PAGE 133



A.1 Projects by Category

Category 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Traffic & Transportation

Alma/Ravenswood Pedestrian/Bike Study -                      60,000             -                      -                    -                      60,000

Caltrain Bike/Ped Undercrossing Design -                      -                   -                      -                    500,000              500,000                

El Camino Real/Ravenswood NB Right 

Turn Lane Design and Construction
200,000              1,150,000        -                      -                    -                      1,350,000

El Camino Real Lane Reconfiguration 

Alternatives Study
200,000              -                   -                      -                    -                      200,000

Florence/Marsh and Bay/Marsh Signal 

Modification
-                      -                   345,000              -                    -                      345,000

High Speed Rail Coordination 50,000                50,000             50,000                50,000               50,000                250,000                

Laurel Street/Ravenswood Signal 

Modification
-                      -                   195,000 -                    -                      195,000

Middlefield Road at Ravenswood Avenue 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                      -                   50,000 -                    -                      50,000

Middlefield Road at Willow Road 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                      -                   -                          50,000 -                      50,000

Sand Hill Road Improvements 

(Addison/Wesley to I280)
-                      -                   -                      TBD -                      0

Sand Hill Road Signal Interconnect -                      1,495,000 -                      -                    -                      1,495,000

Sand Hill Road Signal Modification Project -                      -                   -                      250,000 -                      250,000

Willow Road/VA Hospital/Durham Street 

Signal Modification
-                      395,000           -                      -                    -                      395,000

TOTAL $450,000 $3,150,000 $640,000 $350,000 $550,000 $5,140,000

Environment

Alternative Transportation Social 

Marketing Program
-                      60,000 -                      -                    -                      60,000

Bike Sharing Program Cost Benefit Study -                      -                   -                      60,000 -                      60,000

City Car Sharing Program Study -                      -                   -                      -                    50,000 50,000

Community Zero Waste Policy Draft -                      -                   50,000 -                    -                      50,000

Installation of Electric Plug In Recharging 

Stations Cost Benefit Analysis and Plan 
-                   30,000 -                    -                      30,000

Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy 

Program for Residential and Commercial 

Sector Master Plan

60,000                -                   -                      -                      60,000                  

Heritage Tree Ordinance Program 

Evaluation
-                      50,000 -                      -                    -                      50,000

Facility Energy Retrofits 325,000              325,000           -                      -                    -                      650,000                

Requirement for Pharmacy to Take back 

Pharmaceuticals Draft Ordinance
-                      25,000 -                      -                    -                      25,000

TOTAL $385,000 $460,000 $80,000 $60,000 $50,000 $1,035,000
PAGE 134



A.1 Projects by Category

Category 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Water System

Automated Meter Reading -                      50,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 2,450,000

Emergency Water Supply Project 2,800,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      2,800,000

Sharon Heights Pump Station 

Replacement
1,300,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      1,300,000

Urban Water Management Plan -                      70,000 -                      -                    -                      70,000

Water Main Replacements -                      -                   300,000 2,200,000 -                      2,500,000

Water Rate Study -                      50,000             -                      -                    -                      50,000                  

TOTAL $4,100,000 $120,000 $350,000 $3,400,000 $1,200,000 $9,170,000

Parks & Recreation

Bedwell Bayfront Park Restroom                               

Repair
-                      -                   95,000 -                    -                      95,000

Burgess Pool Deck Repairs -                      135,000 -                      -                    -                      135,000

Jack Lyle Park Restrooms - Construction -                      40,000 200,000 -                    -                      240,000

Jack Lyle Park Sports Field Sod 

Replacement
-                      80,000 -                      -                    -                      80,000

La Entrada Baseball Field Renovation -                      -                   -                      170,000 -                      170,000

Park Improvements (Minor) 120,000 130,000 130,000 130,000 130,000 640,000

Park Pathways Repairs -                      -                   -                      200,000 -                      200,000

Willow Oaks Dog Park Renovation 0 50,000 250,000 -                    -                      300,000

TOTAL $120,000 $435,000 $675,000 $500,000 $130,000 $1,860,000

Comprehensive Planning Projects & Studies

General Plan Update (M-2 Plan) 2,000,000 TBD TBD TBD TBD 2,000,000

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Ordinances and Policies
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

TOTAL $2,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,000,000

Stormwater

Chrysler Pump Station Improvements -                      350,000 -                      -                    -                      350,000

Corporation Yard Storage Cover -                      -                   -                      300,000 -                      300,000

Middlefield Road Storm Drainage 

Improvements
-                      -                   350,000 -                    -                      350,000

Storm Drain Improvements 110,000 110,000 115,000 115,000 120,000 570,000

Trash Capture Device Installation -                      -                   60,000 -                    -                      60,000

TOTAL $110,000 $460,000 $525,000 $415,000 $120,000 $1,630,000

PAGE 135



A.1 Projects by Category

Category 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Other/Miscellaneous

Baby Pool Analysis/Preliminary Design -                      -                   -                      -                    100,000 100,000

Bedwell Bayfront Park Gas Collection 

System Repair
-                      100,000 -                      -                    -                      100,000

Bedwell Bayfront Park Leachate 

Collection System Replacement
100,000 900,000 -                      -                    -                      1,000,000

City Website Upgrade 75,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      75,000

Downtown Parking Utility Underground 100,000 4,550,000 -                      -                    -                      4,650,000

Downtown Streetscape Improvement 

Project (Specific Plan)
-                      80,000             115,000              165,000             110,000              470,000                

El Camino Real Median and Side Trees 

Irrigation System Upgrade
-                      -                   85,000 -                    -                      85,000

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Ordinances and Policies
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Improved Infrastructure for the Delivery of 

Electronic Library Services-Study
37,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      37,000

Library Landscaping 50,000 300,000 -                      -                    -                      350,000

Library RFID Conversion 29,000 -                   -                      -                    -                      29,000

Measure T Funds Evaluation/Project 

Ranking
-                      -                   125,000 -                    -                      125,000

Overnight Parking App -                      -                   -                      70,000 -                      70,000

Parking Plaza 7 Renovations -                      -                   -                      -                    200,000              200,000                

Portable Concert Stage Trailer -                      52,500 -                      -                    -                      52,500

Pope/Chaucer Bridge Replacement 100,000 0 0 0 0 100,000

Radio Replacement 395,000 26,000 100,000 0 -                      521,000

Sand Hill Road Pathway Repair 50,000 250,000 -                      -                    -                      300,000

Technology Master Plan and 

Implementation
3,111,000 TBD TBD TBD TBD 3,111,000

TOTAL $4,047,000 $6,258,500 $425,000 $235,000 $410,000 $11,375,500

 FISCAL YEAR TOTALS $17,602,000 $11,998,500 $9,047,000 $6,310,000 $9,415,000 $54,372,500

PAGE 136



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

General Fund - CIP

Available Balance
1 10,886,000 3,978,000 3,916,500 2,516,500 2,974,500

Revenues 2,400,000 5,300,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
16,000 18,000 20,000 22,000 24,000

Recommended Projects

Administration Building Carpet 

Replacement
-                   -                   200,000 -                   -                   200,000

Arrillaga Recreation Center Light 

Replacement
-                   -                   32,000 -                   -                   32,000

Automated Library Return Area 

Renovation
60,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   60,000

Belle Haven Child Development Center 

Carpet Replacement
0 50,000 -                   -                   -                   50,000

Belle Haven Youth Center Improvements -                   -                   -                   -                   150,000 150,000

Burgess Pool Deck Repairs -                   135,000 -                   -                   -                   135,000

Chrysler Pump Station Improvements 350,000           -                   -                   -                   350,000

City Buildings (Minor) 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 325,000 1,525,000

City Website Upgrade 75,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   75,000

Civic Center Sidewalk Replacement and 

Irrigation Upgrades
-                   -                   -                   400,000 -                   400,000

Corporation Yard Storage Cover -                   -                   -                   300,000 -                   300,000

Downtown Parking Utility Underground
2 100,000 2,750,000 -                   -                   -                   2,850,000

Downtown Streetscape Improvement 

Project (Specific Plan)
-                   80,000             115,000           165,000 110,000           470,000

El Camino Real Median and Side Trees 

Irrigation System Upgrade
-                   -                   85,000 -                   -                   85,000

Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy 

Program for Residential and Commercial 

Sector Master Plan

60,000             -                   -                   -                   -                   60,000

Facility Energy Retrofits
3 325,000           325,000           650,000

Fire Plans and Equipment Replacement at 

Council Chambers, Onetta Harris 

Community Cntr and Library

-                   -                   -                   -                   60,000 60,000

General Plan Update (M-2 Plan) 2,000,000        TBD TBD TBD TBD 2,000,000

Heritage Tree Ordinance Program 

Evaluation
-                   50,000             -                   -                   -                   50,000

High Speed Rail Coordination 50,000             50,000             50,000             50,000             50,000             250,000

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Infrastructure Improvements
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

PAGE 137



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

General Fund - CIP - Continued

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Ordinance and Policies
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Improved Infrastructure for the Delivery of 

Electronic Library Services-Study
37,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   37,000

Installation of Electric Plug In Recharging 

Stations Cost Benefit Analysis and Plan 
-                   -                   30,000 -                   -                   30,000

La Entrada Baseball Field Renovation -                   -                   -                   170,000 -                   170,000

Jack Lyle Park Sports Field Sod 

Replacement
-                   80,000 -                   -                   -                   80,000

Library Furniture Replacement 450,000 450,000

Library Landscaping 50,000 300,000 -                   -                   -                   350,000

Library RFID Conversion 29,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   29,000

Main Library Interior Wall Fabric 

Replacement
-                   150,000 -                   -                   150,000

Menlo Children's Center Carpet 

Replacement
60,000 -                   -                   -                   60,000

Middlefield Road Storm Drainage 

Improvements
-                   -                   143,000 -                   -                   143,000

Overnight Parking App -                   -                   -                   70,000 -                   70,000

Park Improvements (Minor) 120,000 130,000 130,000 130,000 130,000 640,000

Park Pathways Repairs -                   -                   -                   200,000 -                   200,000

Portable Concert Stage Trailer -                   52,500 -                   -                   -                   52,500

Pope/Chaucer Bridge Replacement 100,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   100,000

Radio Replacement 395,000 26,000 100,000 0 -                   521,000

Retractable Lights Installation at 

Gymnasium and Gymnastics Cntrs
200,000           -                   -                   -                   300,000 500,000

Sand Hill Road Pathway Repair 50,000 250,000 -                   -                   -                   300,000

Sidewalk Repair Program 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 600,000

Storm Drain Improvements 110,000 110,000 115,000 115,000 120,000 570,000

Street Resurfacing 2,000,000 -                   2,000,000 -                   2,000,000 6,000,000

Streetlight Painting -                   75,000 -                   -                   -                   75,000

Technology Master Plan and 

Implementation
3,111,000 TBD TBD TBD TBD 3,111,000

Trash Capture Device Installation -                   -                   60,000 -                   -                   60,000

Willow Oaks Dog Park Renovation -                   50,000 250,000 -                   -                   300,000

Total 9,292,000 5,343,500 3,880,000 2,020,000 3,815,000 24,350,500

Ending Fund Balance 3,978,000 3,916,500 2,516,500 2,974,500 1,635,500

2 
City to be reimbursed from PG&E with Rule 20A revenues shown in FY 2014-15.

3
 City will receive a rebate of $100,000 from PG&E FY 2014-15

1
 The available fund balance for FY 13-14 includes $1.1m received from Facebook, 1.23m from Stanford received in FY 2012-13, and one time revenues (5m) for 

Comprehensive Planning and Technology Projects.

PAGE 138



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Bedwell Bayfront Park Landfill

Available Balance 3,524,000 3,964,000 3,544,000 4,164,000 4,814,000

Revenues 850,000 900,000 950,000 1,000,000 1,050,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
310,000 320,000 330,000 350,000 370,000

Recommended Projects

Bedwell Bayfront Park Gas Collection 

System Repair
-                   100,000 -                   -                   -                   100,000

Bedwell Bayfront Park Leachate 

Collection System Replacement
100,000 900,000 -                   -                   -                   1,000,000

Total 100,000 1,000,000 -                   -                   -                   1,100,000

Ending Fund Balance 3,964,000 3,544,000 4,164,000 4,814,000 5,494,000

Bedwell Bayfront Park Maintenance

Available Balance 699,000 592,000 480,000 267,000 143,000

Revenues 5,000 4,000 2,000 -                   -                   

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
112,000 116,000 120,000 124,000 128,000

Recommended Projects

Bedwell Bayfront Park Restroom Repair -                   -                   95,000 -                   -                   95,000

Total -                   -                   95,000 -                   -                   95,000

Ending Fund Balance 592,000 480,000 267,000 143,000 15,000

Construction Impact Fees

Available Balance 1,545,000 1,490,000 2,435,000 2,380,000 3,325,000

Revenues 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
55,000 55,000 55,000 55,000 55,000

Recommended Projects

Street Resurfacing 1,000,000 -                   1,000,000 -                   1,000,000 3,000,000

Total 1,000,000 -                   1,000,000 -                   1,000,000 3,000,000

Ending Fund Balance 1,490,000 2,435,000 2,380,000 3,325,000 3,270,000

Downtown Parking Permits

Available Balance 1,996,000 2,258,000 2,526,000 2,800,000 3,080,000

Revenues 390,000 2,200,000 410,000 420,000 430,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
128,000 132,000 136,000 140,000 144,000

Recommended Projects

Downtown Parking Utility Underground
1 -                   1,800,000 -                   -                   -                   1,800,000

Parking Plaza 7 Renovations -                   -                   -                   -                   200,000 200,000

Total -                   1,800,000 -                   -                   200,000           2,000,000

Ending Fund Balance 2,258,000 2,526,000 2,800,000 3,080,000 3,166,000
1
 City to be reimbursed from PG&E with Rule 20A funds revenue shown in FY 2014-15.

PAGE 139



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Highway Users Tax

Available Balance 1,929,000 834,000 1,534,000 494,000 1,234,000

Revenues 905,000 930,000 960,000 990,000 1,020,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Recommended Projects

Street Resurfacing 2,000,000 230,000 2,000,000 250,000 2,000,000 6,480,000

Total 2,000,000 230,000 2,000,000 250,000 2,000,000 6,480,000

Ending Fund Balance 834,000 1,534,000 494,000 1,234,000 254,000

Measure A

Available Balance 635,000 335,000 395,000 (80,000) -                   

Revenues 990,000 1,020,000 1,050,000 1,080,000 1,110,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
720,000 740,000 760,000 790,000 810,000

Recommended Projects

Alma/Ravenswood Pedestrian /Bike Study 60,000             -                   -                   -                   60,000

Alternative Transportation Social 

Marketing Program
-                   60,000 -                   -                   -                   60,000

Bike Sharing Program Cost Benefit Study -                   -                   -                   60,000 -                   60,000

City Car Sharing Program Study -                   -                   -                   -                   50,000 50,000

El Camino Real Lane Reconfiguration 

Alternatives Study 
200,000           -                   -                   -                   200,000

Florence/Marsh and Bay/Marsh Signal 

Modification
-                   -                   345,000           -                   -                   345,000

Middlefield Road at Ravenswood Avenue 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                   -                   50,000 -                   -                   50,000

Middlefield Road at Willow Road 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                   -                   -                       50,000             -                   50,000

Sand Hill Road Improvements (Addison-

Wesley to I280)
-                   -                   -                   TBD -                   TBD

Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000

Street Resurfacing 270,000 -                   270,000 -                   270,000 810,000

Total 570,000 220,000 765,000 210,000 420,000 2,185,000

Ending Fund Balance 335,000 395,000 (80,000) -                   (120,000)

Measure T

Available Balance 157,000 159,000 161,000 8,036,000 8,056,000

Revenues 2,000 2,000 8,000,000 20,000 21,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

PAGE 140



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Measure T - Continued

Recommended Projects

Baby Pool Analysis/Preliminary Design -                   -                   -                   -                   100,000 100,000

Measure T Funds Evaluation/Project 

Ranking
-                   -                   125,000 -                   -                   125,000

Total -                   -                   125,000 -                   100,000 225,000

Ending Fund Balance 159,000 161,000 8,036,000 8,056,000 7,977,000

Rec-in-Lieu Fund

Available Balance 393,000 543,000 653,000 603,000 753,000

Revenues 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Recommended Projects

Jack Lyle Park Restrooms - Construction -                   40,000 200,000 -                   -                   240,000

Total -                   40,000 200,000 -                   -                   240,000

Ending Fund Balance 543,000 653,000 603,000 753,000 903,000

Sidewalk Assessment

Available Balance 263,000 149,000 139,000 134,000 134,000

Revenues 185,000 190,000 195,000 200,000 205,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
19,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Recommended Projects

Sidewalk Repair Program 280,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 1,000,000

Total 280,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 1,000,000

Ending Fund Balance 149,000 139,000 134,000 134,000 139,000

Solid Waste Service Fund

Available Balance 609,000 629,000 622,000 593,000 615,000

Revenues 381,000 390,000 404,000 416,000 429,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
361,000 372,000 383,000 394,000 406,000

Recommended Projects

Requirement for Pharmacy to Take back 

Pharmaceuticals Ordinance Draft
-                   25,000 -                   -                   -                   25,000

Community Zero Waste Policy Draft -                   -                   50,000 -                   -                   50,000

Total 0 25,000 50,000 0 0 75,000

Ending Fund Balance 629,000 622,000 593,000 615,000 638,000

PAGE 141



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Storm Drainage Fund

Available Balance 193,000 200,000 207,000 7,000 14,000

Revenues 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Recommended Projects

Middlefield Road Storm Drainage 

Improvements
-                   -                   207,000 -                   -                   207,000

Total -                   -                   207,000 -                   -                   207,000

Ending Fund Balance 200,000 207,000 7,000 14,000 21,000

Transportation Impact Fees

Available Balance
1 1,484,090 1,999,090 714,090 484,090 199,090

Revenues 
2 850,000 1,890,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000

Recommended Projects

Caltrain Bike/Ped Undercrossing Design -                   -                   -                   -                   500,000           500,000

El Camino Real/Ravenswood NB Right 

Turn Lane Design and Construction
200,000           1,150,000 -                   -                   -                   1,350,000

Laurel Street/Ravenswood Signal 

Modification
-                   -                   195,000 -                   -                   195,000

Sand Hill Road Signal Interconnect
3 -                   1,495,000 -                   -                   -                   1,495,000

Sand Hill Road Signal Modification Project -                   -                   -                   250,000 -                   250,000

Willow Road/VA Hospital/Durham Street 

Signal Modification
4 -                   395,000.00      -                   -                   -                   395,000

Total 200,000 3,040,000 195,000 250,000 500,000           4,185,000

Ending Fund Balance 1,999,090 714,090 484,090 199,090 (335,910)
1 
The available fund balance in FY 2013-14 includes the $1.2m from Stanford received in FY 2011-12.

2
The projected revenue of $800,000  in FY 2013-14 is a C/CAG grant for the Willow Rd improvements project funded FY 2012-13.

3
This project is expected to be  funded by the San Mateo County Transportation Authority, included in revenues in FY 2014-15.

4
The City will be reimbursed $345,000 from the VA Hospital, included revenues in FY 2014-15

Library Bond Fund

Available Balance 60,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   

Revenues -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Recommended Projects

Automated Library Return Area 

Renovation
60,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   60,000

Total 60,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   60,000

Ending Fund Balance -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

PAGE 142



A.2 Projects by Funding Source

Funding Source 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 TOTAL

Water Fund - Capital

Available Balance 4,400,000 1,064,000 1,706,000 2,116,000 (526,000)

Revenues 800,000 800,000 800,000 800,000 800,000

Operating Expenditures and 

Commitments
36,000 38,000 40,000 42,000 44,000

Recommended Projects

Automated Meter Reading -                   -                   50,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 2,450,000

Emergency Water Supply Project 2,800,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   2,800,000

Sharon Heights Pump Station 

Replacement
1,300,000 -                   -                   -                   -                   1,300,000

Urban Water Management Plan -                   70,000 -                   -                   -                   70,000

Water Main Replacements -                   -                   300,000 2,200,000 -                   2,500,000

Water Rate Study -                   50,000             -                   -                   -                   50,000

Total 4,100,000 120,000 350,000 3,400,000 1,200,000 9,170,000

Ending Fund Balance 1,064,000 1,706,000 2,116,000 (526,000) (970,000)

FISCAL YEAR TOTALS 17,602,000 11,998,500 9,047,000 6,310,000 9,415,000 54,372,500

PAGE 143



A.3 Projects by Responsible Department

Responsible Department  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  2017-18  TOTAL 

Alternative Transportation Social 

Marketing Program
-                    60,000              -                    -                    -                    60,000              

Automated Library Return Area 

Renovation
120,000            -                    -                    -                    -                    120,000            

Automated Meter Reading -                    -                    50,000              1,200,000         1,200,000         2,450,000         

Baby Pool Analysis/Preliminary Design -                    -                    -                    -                    100,000            100,000            

Burgess Pool Deck Repairs -                    135,000            -                    -                    -                    135,000            

Bedwell Bayfront Park Gas Collection 

System Repair
-                    100,000            -                    -                    -                    100,000            

Bedwell Bayfront Park Leachate Collection 

System Replacement
100,000            900,000            -                    -                    -                    1,000,000         

Bike Sharing Program Cost Benefit Study -                    -                    -                    60,000              -                    60,000              

Chrysler Pump Station                      

Improvements
-                    350,000            -                    -                    -                    350,000            

City Car Sharing Program Study -                    -                    -                    -                    50,000              50,000              

Civic Center Sidewalk Replacement and 

Irrigation System Upgrades
-                    -                    -                    400,000            -                    400,000            

Community Zero Waste Policy Draft -                    -                    50,000              -                    -                    50,000              

Corporation Yard Storage Cover -                    -                    -                    300,000            -                    300,000            

Installation of Electric Plug In Recharging 

Stations Cost Benefit Analysis and Plan 
-                    30,000              -                    -                    30,000              

Downtown Parking Utility Underground 100,000            4,550,000         -                    -                    -                    4,650,000         

Emergency Water Supply Project 2,800,000         -                    -                    -                    -                    2,800,000         

Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy 

Program for Residential and Commercial 

Sector Master Plan

60,000              -                    -                    -                    60,000              

Facility Energy Retrofit 325,000            325,000            -                    -                    -                    650,000            

Heritage Tree Ordinance Program 

Evaluation
-                    50,000              -                    -                    -                    50,000              

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Infrastructure Improvements
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Jack Lyle Park Restrooms - Construction -                    40,000              200,000            -                    -                    240,000            

Middlefield Road Storm Drainage 

Improvements
-                    -                    350,000            -                    -                    350,000            

Parking Plaza 7 Renovations -                    -                    -                    -                    200,000            200,000            

Pope/Chaucer Bridge Replacement 100,000            -                    -                    -                    -                    100,000            

Requirement for Pharmacy to Take back 

Pharmaceuticals Ordinance Draft
-                    25,000              -                    -                    -                    25,000              

Sand Hill Road Pathway Repair 50,000              250,000            -                    -                    -                    300,000            

Sharon Heights Pump Station 

Replacement
1,300,000 -                    -                    -                    -                    1,300,000

Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation 100,000            100,000            100,000            100,000            100,000            500,000            

Sidewalk Repair Program 400,000            300,000            300,000            300,000            300,000            1,600,000         

Storm Drain Improvements 110,000            110,000            115,000            115,000            120,000            570,000            

Street Resurfacing 5,270,000         230,000            5,270,000         250,000            5,270,000         16,290,000       

Public Works - Engineering/Environmental

PAGE 144



A.3 Projects by Responsible Department

Responsible Department  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  2017-18  TOTAL 

Public Works - Engineering/Environmental

Streetlight Painting -                    75,000              -                    -                    -                    75,000              

Trash Capture Device Installation -                    -                    60,000              -                    -                    60,000              

Urban Water Management Plan -                    70,000              -                    -                    -                    70,000              

Water Main Replacements -                    -                    300,000            2,200,000         -                    2,500,000         

 Water Rate Study  -                    50,000              -                    -                    -                    50,000              

Willow Oaks Dog Park Renovation -                    50,000              250,000            -                    -                    300,000            

TOTAL 10,835,000       7,770,000         7,075,000         4,925,000         7,340,000         37,945,000       

Administration Building Carpet 

Replacement
-                    -                    200,000            -                    -                    200,000            

Arrillaga Recreation Center Light 

Replacement
-                    -                    32,000              -                    -                    32,000              

Bedwell Bayfront Park Restroom Repair -                    -                    95,000              -                    -                    95,000              

Belle Haven Child Development Center 

Carpet Replacement 
-                    50,000              -                    -                    -                    50,000              

Belle Haven Youth Center Improvements -                    -                    -                    -                    150,000            150,000            

City Buildings (Minor) 300,000            300,000            300,000            300,000            325,000            1,525,000         

Downtown Streetscape Improvement 

Project (Specific Plan)
80,000              115,000            165,000            110,000            470,000            

El Camino Real Median and Side Trees 

Irrigation System Upgrade
-                    -                    85,000              -                    -                    85,000              

Fire Plans and Equipment Replacement at 

Council Chambers, Onetta Harris 

Community Cntr and Library 

-                    -                    -                    -                    60,000              60,000              

Jack Lyle Park Sports Field Sod 

Replacement
-                    80,000              -                    -                    -                    80,000              

La Entrada Baseball Field Renovation -                    -                    -                    170,000            -                    170,000            

Library Landscaping 50,000              300,000            -                    -                    -                    350,000            

Library Furniture Replacement -                    -                    -                    -                    450,000            450,000            

Main Library Interior Wall Fabric 

Replacement
-                    -                    150,000            -                    -                    150,000            

Park Pathways Repairs -                    -                    -                    200,000            -                    200,000            

Menlo Children's Center Carpet 

Replacement  
-                    60,000              -                    -                    -                    60,000              

Park Improvements (Minor) 120,000            130,000            130,000            130,000            130,000            640,000            

Retractable Lights Installation at 

Gymnasium and Gymnastics Cntrs
200,000            -                    -                    -                    300,000            500,000            

TOTAL 670,000            1,000,000         1,107,000         965,000            1,525,000         5,267,000         

Public Works - Maintenance

Public Works - Engineering/Environmental Continued

PAGE 145



A.3 Projects by Responsible Department

Responsible Department  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  2017-18  TOTAL 

Public Works - Engineering/EnvironmentalPublic Works - Transportation

Alma/Ravenswood Pedestrian/Bike Study -                    60,000              -                    -                    -                    60,000              

Caltrain Pedestrian/Bike Undercrossing- 

Design
-                    -                    -                    -                    500,000            500,000            

El Camino Real/Ravenswood NB Right 

Turn Lane
200,000            1,150,000         -                    -                    -                    1,350,000         

El Camino Real Lane Reconfiguration 

Alternatives Study
200,000            -                    -                    -                    -                    200,000            

Florence/Marsh and Bay/Marsh Signal 

Modification
-                    -                    345,000            -                    -                    345,000            

High Speed Rail Coordination 50,000              50,000              50,000              50,000              50,000              250,000            

Laurel Street/Ravenswood Signal 

Modification
-                    -                    195,000            -                    -                    195,000            

Middlefield Road at Ravenswood Avenue 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                    -                    50,000              -                    -                    50,000              

Middlefield Road at Willow Road 

Intersection Reconfiguration Study
-                    -                    -                    50,000              -                    50,000              

Sand Hill Road Improvements (Addison-

Wesley to I280)
-                    -                    -                    TBD -                    TBD

Sand Hill Road Signal Interconnect -                    1,495,000         -                    -                    -                    1,495,000         

Sand Hill Road Signal Modification Project -                    -                    -                    250,000            -                    250,000            

Willow Road/VA Hospital/Durham Street 

Signal Modification
-                    395,000            -                    -                    -                    395,000            

TOTAL 450,000            3,150,000         640,000            350,000            550,000            5,140,000         

General Plan Update (M-2 Plan) 2,000,000         TBD TBD TBD TBD 2,000,000         

Housing Element Implementation 

Programs-Ordinances and Policies
TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

TOTAL 2,000,000         -                    -                    -                    -                    2,000,000         

Measure T Funds Evaluation/Project 

Ranking
-                    -                    125,000            -                    -                    125,000            

Portable Concert Stage Trailer -                    52,500              -                    -                    -                    52,500              

TOTAL -                    52,500              125,000            -                    -                    177,500            

Community Development (Planning) Development

Community Services

PAGE 146



A.3 Projects by Responsible Department

Responsible Department  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  2017-18  TOTAL 

Public Works - Engineering/Environmental

Overnight Parking App -                    -                    -                    70,000              -                    70,000              

Radio Replacement 395,000            26,000              100,000            -                    -                    521,000            

TOTAL 395,000            26,000              100,000            70,000              -                    591,000            

Improved Infrastructure for the Delivery of 

Electronic Library Services-Study
37,000              -                    -                    -                    -                    37,000              

Library RFID Conversion 29,000              -                    -                    -                    -                    29,000              

TOTAL 66,000              -                    -                    -                    -                    66,000              

City Website Upgrade 75,000              -                    -                    -                    -                    75,000              

Technology Master Plan and 

Implementation
3,111,000         TBD TBD TBD TBD 3,111,000         

TOTAL 3,186,000         -                    -                    -                    -                    3,186,000         

FISCAL YEAR TOTAL 17,602,000       11,998,500       9,047,000         6,310,000         9,415,000         54,372,500       

Management Information Systems Development

Police Department

Library Development

PAGE 147



 

 

 
Appendix B – Overview Schedule of Previously Funded 

Projects 
 
 

PAGE 148



Public Works Department

Project Composite

Administration Services

City Facilities Telephone System Upgrades 

TBD

Community Development

Housing Element

Modify Single Family Residential Zoning Standards and Review Process On-Hold

Community Services

Burgess Pool Pump Ladder

Library

Automated Library Materials Return

Police

Radio Infrastructure Replacement

Engineering

Police/City Service Cntr - Belle Haven On-Hold

Emergency Water Supply

Beechwood School/Property Subdivision and Sale

Storm Drain Fee Study On-Hold

Sharon Heights Pump Station Design and Construction 

Middlefield Road Storm Drain

Utility Undergrounding Study of City Parking Plazas

On-Hold

TBD

Unfunded

On-Hold

On-Hold

Water Main Replacement Design and Construction Project 2012-13

Water System Master Plan On-Hold

TBD

LED Streetlight Retrofits 2012-13 

Legend FY 2012/13 Design Phase

FY 2011/12 

FY 2010/11 

FY 2009/10 

FY 2008/09 

FY 2007/08 

FY 2006/07

Council Chambers Audio/Video

Willow Business Area and M-2 Zoning District Area Work Program

Project Name 2012 2013

Jan Feb MarFeb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Dec

Preliminary Design of Restroom Facilities at Jack Lyle Memorial Park and Willows Oaks Park

Santa Cruz Avenue Sidewalks Improvements Design and Construction

Aug Sep Oct Nov Oct NovJun Jul Aug SepApr MayDec Jan

Atherton Channel Flood Abatement

Highway 84 Carbon Offset Project

Bedwell Bayfront Park Gas Collection System improvements study and Conceptual Design

Street Resurfacing 2011-12

Parking Plaza 7 Renovation Design and Construction

Energy Audit of City Administration Building

Sustainable/Green Building Standards 

Street Resurfacing of Federal Aid Routes 2011-12

Street Resurfacing Design 2012-13

Bay Levee Design Project

Storm Drain Improvements 2012-13

Chrysler Pump Station Improvements

Sidewalk Repair Program 2012-13

PAGE 149



Public Works Department

Project Composite

Transportation

On-Hold

Safe Routes to Hillview School Project Implementation

Santa Cruz Avenue Sidewalk Preliminary Design Phase

Residential Shuttle Service to the Menlo Park Caltrain Station Study On-Hold

Safe Routes to Encinal School Plan Implementation On-Hold

On going

Maintenance

Reservoirs #1 and #2 Mixers

Legend FY 2012/13 Design Phase

FY 2011/12 

FY 2010/11 

FY 2009/10 

FY 2008/09 

FY 2007/08 

FY 2006/07

Project Name 2012 2013

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Study of Sand Hill Road (btw Addison-Wesley and I-280 including Bicycling)

Middle Avenue Bike Lane Feasibility Study

Safe Route to Valparaiso Avenue Plan

High Speed Rail Coordination

Linfield/Middlefield Crosswalk

Sand Hill Road/Branner Signal Mast Arm Construction

Willow Road Signal Interconnect

Oak Grove/Merrill Intersection Lighted Crosswalk

Safe Routes to Oak Knoll School Design

Alpine Road Bike Improvement Project

Willow Road Improvements at Newbridge and Bayfront Expressway

Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation

Reservoir Re-roofing

Hillview School Fields Renovation

Belle Haven Pool Boiler/Pumps Upgrades

Downtown Irrigation Replacement

Administration Building Emergency Generator

Water Conservations Upgrade for City Facilities

El Camino Tree Planting

Belle Haven Child Development Center Outdoor Play Space Remodel

Park Improvements (Minor) 2012-13

City Buildings (Minor) 2012-13

Police Parking Lot Security

Council Chambers Mics/Voting Equipment

PAGE 150



 
Appendix C – Non-Funded Projects 

PAGE 151



 

 

 
 

 
C.1 Non-Funded Projects from Previously Approved Plans 

 
City-wide Storm Drainage Study (2003)  
Recommended Improvements  
 
Projects that do not require new outfalls to San Francisquito Creek or Atherton Channel  

Location Descriptions Estimated 
Cost (2003) 

Magnolia Drive/Stanford Court Flooding occurs in the vicinity of Stanford Court as a result of 
undersized lines downstream on Magnolia Drive.  Upsizing 530 feet of 
line from 12-inch diameter to 24-inch diameter will improve drainage 
through an upstream system that has been improved 

$123,000 

Spruce Avenue Flooding occurs at Spruce Avenue.  Storm system does not have an inlet 
at Spruce Avenue with the railroad acting as a barrier to surface flows.  
Improve requires 250 feet of 24-inch storm drain, and an inlet at Spruce 
Avenue 

80,000 

Middlefield Road A parallel storm drain is proposed along Middlefield Road.  The storm 
drain would connect to a recently constructed 48-inch diameter outfall 
into San Francisquito Creek.  The parallel storm drain is needed to 
relieve flooding that requires road closures of Middlefield Road, 
Ravenswood Avenue, and Oak Grove Avenue 

4,633,000 

Euclid Avenue A significant drainage area flows to Euclid Avenue with no collection 
system.  It is likely that the flooding could disrupt traffic during a major 
storm event 

288,000 

Middle Avenue Middle Avenue is susceptible to flooding due to undersized facilities to 
the Creek and upstream flooding that overflows into the drainage area.  
1,620 feet of 24-inch diameter line is proposed.  Allows the removal of 
bubble-up storm drain catch basins.  Provides backbone for draining 
Hobart Street, Cotton Street and Hermosa Way 

373,000 

Oak Grove Avenue The proposed line relieves flows received along Oak Grove Avenue and 
discharges to the proposed Middlefield Avenue parallel storm drain  

1,699,000 

Frontage 101, Menalto Ave to 
Laurel Ave and Santa Monica 
Avenue 

Proposes 830 feet of 24-inch diameter line to provide backbone for 
storm drain to Menalto Avenue; and 2,510 feet of 15-inch storm drain 
to reduce flows at intersections along Menalto Avenue 

945,000 

Harvard & Cornell Harvard & Cornell – Proposes addition of valley gutter to eliminate 
localized ponding 

10,000 

Bay Laurel Drive Outfall  Connecting drainage system  26,000 

Olive Street Outfall Connecting drainage system  536,000 

Arbor Road Outfall Connecting drainage system  1,524,000 

El Camino Real Outfall Connecting drainage system  1,976,000 

Alma Street Outfall Connecting drainage system  208,000 

Middlefield Road Outfall Connecting drainage system  1,270,000 

Highway 101 Outfalls Connecting drainage system  1,400,000 

Euclid Avenue Outfall Connecting drainage system  275,000 

PAGE 152



 

 

 
Projects that require new outfalls and increase peak flows to San Francisquito Creek or Atherton 
Channel Recommended Improvement 
 

Project Descriptions Estimated 
Cost (2003) 

Middle Avenue 

Replace and upsize the storm drain line on Arbor Road from the 
outfall to about 500 feet upstream at a cost of about $850,000.  
Replace and upsize the storm drain line on Arbor Road to Middle 
Avenue for a cost of about $980,000 and extending the system to 
Middle Avenue and San Mateo Drive.  

2,310,000 

Overland Flow 
Overflows from the System G system are to System I.  There can be 
a “domino effect,” with these overflows continuing to El Camino 
Real.  

900,000 

Overland Flow 

Overflows from the System I system are to El Camino Real.  
Currently, a portion of Middle Avenue does not have a storm drain.  
A storm drain would be provided to collect flows to improve 
collection into the Priority 1 storm drain line.  Lines on Valparaiso 
Avenue, Santa Cruz Avenue and Arbor Drive are proposed to collect 
flows and convey flows to the Priority 1 system, thereby reducing 
the potential for overtopping to the El Camino Real system.   

4,458,000 

Ponding throughout the City 
Improvements to correct nuisance ponding issues and are required 
throughout the City.  The improvements are numerous and are 
required.  

10,211,000 

Alto Lane/El Camino Real 

All overflows from upstream systems will be toward El Camino Real.  
It is likely that ponding first occurs on Alto Lane and excess flows 
are released to a 30-inch storm drain line to the Alma System prior 
to road closure for typical storm events.  A major storm even could 
result in the closure of El Camino Real.  

5,800,000 

San Francisquito Creek Joint 
Powers Authority 
Improvements 

 
TBD 

Atherton Channel 
Improvement  

TBD 

 

PAGE 153



 

 

 
El Camino Real /Downtown Specific Plan (2012) 
Recommended Improvements 
 
Improve Pedestrian/Bicycle Amenities and Overall Street Character – Downtown and Station Area  
Location Improvement Cost 
Santa Cruz Avenue (University Drive to El 
Camino Real) 

Permanent streetscape improvements, on-street parking 
modifications, widened sidewalks, curb and gutter, furnishings, 
trees and landscape; central plaza 

TBD 

Santa Cruz Avenue (El Camino Real to train 
station) 

Streetscape improvements; new sidewalks and connections 
across railroad tracks and to Menlo Center Plaza, trees, curb 
and gutter, furnishings; civic plaza with new surface, furnishings 

TBD 

El Camino Real  Streetscape improvements; sidewalk widening, street 
crossings; sidewalk trees, furnishings, landscape, pedestrian 
and bicycle linkage across railroad tracks at Middle Avenue 

TBD 

Chestnut Street South Permanent street conversion to paseo and marketplace; 
streetscape enhancement 

TBD 

Chestnut Street North (Santa Cruz Avenue to 
Oak Grove Avenue) 

Permanent pocket park; enhance pathways and crosswalk 
connections to proposed parking garages; widened and 
enhance sidewalk – west side leading to pocket park 

TBD 

Crane Street North (Santa Cruz Avenue to 
alley) 

Permanent pocket park; enhance pathways and crosswalk 
connections to proposed parking garages; widened and 
enhance sidewalk – east side leading to pocket park 

TBD 

Rear of Santa Cruz Avenue Buildings (south 
side from University Drive to Doyle Street) 

Pedestrian linkage; new sidewalk, furnishings, landscaping, 
modified parking 

TBD 

Oak Grove (Laurel Street to University Drive) Street restriping to add bike lane and remove parking lane 
(north side) 

TBD 

Alma Street (Oak Grove Avenue to 
Ravenswood Avenue) 

Streetscape improvements; wider sidewalks and connection to 
train station, trees, curb and gutter, furnishings – east side; 
modified parking and travel lanes small plaza at Civic Center 

TBD 

Future Class II/Minimum Class III University Drive north of Santa Cruz Avenue to Valparaiso 
Avenue and south of Menlo Avenue to Middle Avenue 

TBD 

Bicycle Route Crane street between Valparaiso Avenue and Menlo Avenue TBD 

Bicycle Route Garwood Way from Encinal Avenue to Oak grove Avenue TBD 

Bicycle Route Alma Street between Oak Grove Avenue and Ravenswood 
Avenue 

TBD 

Improve and “Leverage” Existing Downtown Public Parking Plazas 
Parking Plazas 1, 2 and 3 Two Parking Garage TBD 

Parking Plazas 2 and 3 Pocket Park, new surface, amenities, furnishings, landscape TBD 

Parking Plazas 5 Flex space improvements; new surface, amenities, furnishings, 
landscape 

TBD 

Parking Plazas 6 Flex space improvements; new surface, amenities, furnishings, 
landscape 

TBD 

Parking Plaza 5 & 6 Enhance surface treatments TBD 

Improve Pedestrian/Bicycle Amenities and Overall Street Character – El Camino Real – and East/West 
Connectivity 
Railroad tracks at train station Bike/pedestrian crossing at railroad tracks connecting Santa 

Cruz Avenue with Alma Street, depending on the final 
configuration for high speed rail; amenities, landscape 

TBD 

El Camino Real (north of Oak Grove Avenue 
and south of Menlo Avenue/Ravenswood 
Avenue) 

Widened sidewalks; street trees; median improvements; 
furnishings 

TBD 

PAGE 154



 

 

 
Railroad tracks at Middle Avenue (Stanford 
property) 

Bike/pedestrian at railroad tracks connecting El Camino Real 
with Alma Street, depending on the final configuration for high 
speed rail; amenities, landscape 

TBD 

El Camino Real/Stanford Property (at 
Middle Avenue) 

Publicly accessible open space; amenities, landscape 
 

TBD 

Bicycle Lanes El Camino Real north of Encinal Avenue TBD 

Future Class II/Minimum Class III El Camino Real south of Encinal Avenue to Palo Alto border TBD 

Future Class II/Minimum Class III Menlo Avenue between University Drive and El Camino Real 
with additional striping modifications near the EL Camino Real 
and Menlo Avenue intersection 
 

TBD 

Future Class II/Minimum Class III Westbound  Ravenswood Avenue between the railroad tracks 
and El Camino Real  

TBD 

Future Class II/Minimum Class III Middle Avenue between University Drive and El Camino Real 
with additional striping modifications at the El Camino Real and 
Middle Avenue intersection  

TBD 

Improve Parking and Signage 

Sharrows – Signage Sharrows, street configuration and safety to supplement 
pavement markings on Class III facilities. Sharrows are painted 
street markings that indicate where bicyclist should ride to avoid 
the “door zone” next to parked vehicles 

TBD 

Bicycle Parking New major bicycle parking facilities in the proposed parking 
garages 

TBD 

Bicycle Racks New bicycle racks in the plan area in new pocket parks, on the 
Chestnut Paseo, and along Santa Cruz Avenue 

TBD 

Wayfinding Signage Bicycle way-finding signage in any future downtown signage 
plan 

TBD 

 

PAGE 155



 

 

 

Transportation Impact Fee Study (2009) 
Recommended Improvements 
 
 

Bicycle Improvement Projects 

Roadway From To Estimated Cost  
Bay Road Berkeley Avenue Willow Road $39,900 

Middlefield Willow Road Palo Alto City Limits 7,000 

Sand Hill Road eastbound Westside of I-280 
interchange 

Eastside of I-280 
interchange 

32,900 

Independence Connector Constitution Drive Marsh Road 120,000 

Willow Road Connector Hamilton  Bayfront Expy. 204,000 

Marsh Road Bay Road Bayfront Expy. 51,100 

Willow Road Durham Street Newbridge 37,100 

El Camino Real Encinal Palo Alto City Limits 12,700 

Bayfront Expy. Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Undercrossing 

Eastside Bayfront Expy. 
At Willow 

Westside Bayfront 
Expy. At Willow 

911,629 

Caltrain Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Undercrossing 

Eastside Caltrain tracks 
south of Ravenswood 

Westside Caltrain 
tracks south of 
Ravenswood 

3,646,518 

Sidewalk Installation Projects 

Roadway Limits Estimated Cost  
Willow Road Bayfront Expressway to Hamilton Avenue $128,250 

Hamilton Avenue/Court Willow Road to end 280,500 

O’Brien Drive Willow Road to University Avenue 2,629,500 

Bay Road Willow Road to Van Buren Avenue 157,500 

El Camino Real Valparaiso Avenue to 500 feet north 75,000 

Santa Cruz Avenue Johnson to Avy Avenue 1,290,000 

Santa Cruz Avenue Avy Avenue to City Limits 630,000 

Intersection Improvements  

Intersection Estimated Cost  
University Drive & Santa Cruz Avenue $600,000 

Laurel Street & Ravenswood Avenue 2,500,000 

Middlefield Road & Ravenswood Avenue 1,520,000 

Middlefield Road & Willow Road 1,700,000 

Bohannon/Florence & Marsh Road 820,000 

El Camino Real & Valparaiso/Glenwood 610,000 

El Camino Real & Ravenswood Avenue 6,000,000 

El Camino Real & Middle Avenue 1,820,000 

Newbridge Street & Willow Road 2,100,000 

Bayfront Expressway & Willow Road 470,000 

Bayfront Expressway & University Avenue 2,500,000 

Bayfront Expressway & Chrysler Drive 630,000 

Bayfront Expressway & Marsh Road 690,000 
 

PAGE 156



 

 

 

Water System Evaluation Report (2006) 
Recommended Improvements 
 
Description Estimated Cost 

Reservoir and pump Station in Zone 1,4 or 5 TBD 

Reservoir and pump Station in Zone 2 TBD 

New pipeline supplying water from Zone 3 to lower elevation zones TBD 

New pipeline & pump station supplying water from lower elevation zones to Zone 3 TBD 

New booster pump at Avy Ave in Zone 3 (CWC interconnect) TBD 

New parallel pipe from El Camino Real (B4) connections to Ivy Drive (B2, B3) 
connection to improve fire flow/pressure 

TBD 

New meter & pump station along Sharon Park Drive TBD 

Different inlet/outlet structures and pipelines at Sand Hill Reservoirs TBD 

Combination of items 3 or 4 and new reservoir at Sand Hill Road TBD 
 

PAGE 157



 

 

 

   Comprehensive Bicycle Development Plan (2005) 
   Recommended Bikeway System Improvements 
 

Name Start End Estimated 
Cost (2005) 

SHORT-TERM PROJECTS  

Class II Bike Lanes    

O’Brien Drive Willow University 24,900 

Class III Bike Routes    

Altschul Avenue Avy Sharon Road 800 

Avy Avenue Orange Monte Rosa 2,100 

Coleman Avenue Willow Ringwood 3,300 

Hamilton Avenue Market Willow Road 4,250 

Market Place Highway 101 Bike/Ped Bridge Hamilton 500 

Monte Rosa Drive Avy Sand Hill Road 2,750 

Oak Grove Avenue Middlefield University 9,000 

Ringwood Avenue Bay Highway 101 Bike/Ped Bridge 1,250 

San Mateo Drive San Francisquito Creek Wallea 1,400 

San Mateo Drive Wallea Valparaiso 1,650 

Santa Monica Avenue Seminary Coleman 750 

Seminary Drive Santa Monica Middlefield 3,100 

Sharon Road Altschul Sharon Park Drive 2,000 

Sharon Park Drive Sharon Road Sand Hill Road 600 

Wallea Drive San Mateo Drive San Mateo Drive 2,050 

Woodland Avenue Middlefield Euclid 6,350 

Other Bicycle Projects 
Wayfinding Signage Program N/A N/A 10,000 

Short-Term Project Costs   91,000 

MID-TERM PROJECTS  

Class II Bike Lanes    

El Camino Watkins Encinal 9,600 

Middlefield Willow Palo Alto city limit 3,000 

Class III Bike Routes    

Arbor College Bay Laurel 550 

Bay Laurel Drive Arbor San Mateo 800 

Berkeley Avenue Coleman Bay 2,150 

College Avenue University Arbor 1,000 

Constitution Drive Chilco Independence 3,350 

Encinal Avenue Garwood EL Camino Real 1,700 

Menlo Avenue University El Camino Real 3,500 

Merrill Street Ravenswood Oak Grove 950 

Middle Avenue Olive El Camino Real 10,800 

Oak Avenue Olive  Sand Hill  3,250 

Oakdell Drive Santa Cruz Olive 3,100 

Olive Street Oak Oakdell 800 

Ravenswood Avenue El Camino Real Noel 1,800 

Santa Cruz Avenue Orange Avenue Sand Hill  4,300 

University Drive Valparaiso College 4,000 

Mid-Term Project Costs   85,850 

PAGE 158



 

 

LONG-TERM PROJECTS  

Class I Bike Lanes    

Independence Connector Constitution Drive Marsh Road 55,000 

Willow Road Connector Hamilton Bayfront Expresswy 93,500 

Class II Bike Lanes    

Marsh Road Bay Road Bayfront Expressway 21,900 

Willow Road Durham Newbridge 15,900 

Class III Bike Routes    

El Camino Real Encinal Palo Alto city limit 12,700 

Other Bicycle Projects    

Bayfront Expressway 
Bicycle/Pedestrian Undercrossing 

East side Bayfront Expressway at 
Willow 

West side Bayfront 
Expressway at Willow 

750,000 

Caltrain Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Undercrossing 

East side Caltrain tracks south of 
Ravenswood 

West side of Caltrain tracks 
south of Ravenswood 

3,000,000 

Long-Term Project Costs   3,949,000 

 

TOTAL SYSTEM COST   4,125,850 

PAGE 159



 

 

C.2 Other Non-Funded Project Requests 
 

Streets & Sidewalks 
 
Marsh Road Section Median Islands Landscaping 
The project will upgrade the landscaping and irrigation system in the median island on Marsh Road 
between Bohannon Drive and Scott Drive.  Marsh Road is a major entrance to the City and the existing 
landscaping needs to be rejuvenated to fit in with the new landscaping along the commercial 
properties adjacent to the median islands. 
Estimated Cost: $35,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Streetscape – Haven Avenue 
This project will involve conceptual design, engineering and construction of street resurfacing work, 
and will potentially involve landscaping, lighting or other improvements along Haven Avenue. 
Estimated Cost: $ 550,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Streetscape – O’Brien Drive 
This project will involve construction of street resurfacing work, and will potentially involve 
landscaping, lighting or other improvements along O’Brien Drive.  A public outreach process will be 
conducted to identify needed improvements.  Although this project was funded with RDA funds 
($25,000) in FY 2010-11, ($100,000) in FY 2011-12 and additional funding ($400,000) was planned for 
FY 2013-14, work in this project did not start prior to the dissolution of the RDA.  
Estimated Cost: $ 525,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Streetscape – Overall RDA Resurfacing and Improvements 
This project will involve conceptual design, engineering and construction of street resurfacing work, 
and will potentially involve landscaping, lighting or other improvements along various streets 
throughout the Redevelopment Area. 
Estimated Cost: $ 2,000,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Streetscape – Pierce Road 
This project will involve conceptual design, engineering and construction of street resurfacing work, 
and will potentially involve landscaping, lighting or other improvements along Pierce Road. 
Estimated Cost: $ 500,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Streetscape – Willow Road 
This project will involve conceptual design, engineering and construction of street resurfacing work, 
and will potentially involve landscaping, lighting or other improvements along Willow Road. 
Estimated Cost: $ 330,000  
Source: Staff 

PAGE 160



 

 

City Buildings 
 
Belle Haven Pool House Building Remodel 
This project will consist of remodeling the men’s and women’s shower, bathroom and check-in area.  
The work will also include replacing plumbing fixtures and remodeling the front façade of the Pool 
House and relandscaping the front. 
Estimated Cost: $ 400,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Traffic & Transportation 
 

Bay Road Bike Lane Improvements 
This project would study the feasibility and implementation of moving the existing bike lane away 
from the trees on the Atherton side of Bay Road between Ringwood Avenue and Marsh Road. Staff 
has determined that the roadway width is too narrow to make the requested improvements for this 
project. 
Estimated Cost: TBD 
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

Bay Trail Extension 
This project would provide the connection between existing portions of the Bay Trail located near the 
salt ponds and the Don Edwards San Francisco Bay National Wildlife Refuge and existing trails in East 
Palo Alto. Grant funding would be needed to match City or other funds. Improvements would include 
work to provide a crossing over San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) lands and railroad 
right of way. 
Estimated Cost: $1-2 million  
Source: City Council 
 

Bike Safety Event 
This project would use the Street Smartz public education safety campaign program along with Safe 
Moves safety education classes to coordinate a bicycle and walking-to-school safety event.  This 
project would work in conjunction with the Safe Routes to School programs for Encinal, Laurel, and 
Oak Knoll Elementary Schools. 
Estimated Cost: $18,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

Downtown Parking Structures – A Feasibility Study 
This project will conduct a cost, site, and circulation feasibility study of installing one or more parking 
structures on City parking plazas 1, 2, or 3. 
Estimated Cost: $75,000 
Source: Transportation Commission 
 

PAGE 161



 

 

Dumbarton Transit Station 
Funding will be used to add amenities to the planned transit station.  The City Council has indicated a 
preference for the transit station location on the Southwest corner of Willow Road and Hamilton 
Avenue. Funding is contingent on the expansion of transit systems serving the area and may consist of 
a new rail station or bus terminal. 
Estimated Cost: $1,000,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Highway 84/Willow Bike/Ped Underpass Connections 
This project would involve using the existing, but closed, tunnel beneath Highway 84 at Willow Road 
for a bicycle/pedestrian undercrossing as described in the Menlo Park Comprehensive Bicycle Master 
Plan. 
Estimated Cost: $ 900,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Installation of Pedestrian Audible Signal on El Camino Real at Santa Cruz Avenue 
This project will install a pedestrian audible signal on El Camino Real at Santa Cruz Avenue. (Caltrans 
will be upgrading signals along El Camino Real over the next year; this project could be considered at a 
later date as part of that project.) 
Estimated Cost: $20,000  
Source: Transportation Commission 
 

Newbridge Street/Willow Road Traffic Circulation Improvements 
This project will evaluate the intersection of Newbridge Street and Willow Road for proposed 
improvements for better traffic circulation at the intersection. 
Estimated Cost: $ 100,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Shuttle Expansion Study 
This study is to identify how the City shuttle services may be expanded to meet the needs and desires 
of the residents and businesses of Menlo Park. This study would not include specific school bus 
routes. 
Estimated Cost: $125,000  
Source: Transportation Commission 
 
Study of Ordinance to Require Bike Parking in City Events 
This project would investigate the potential to create an ordinance requiring bicycle parking facilities 
at all outdoor city events (such as block parties, art/wine festivals, 4th of July events, music in the park 
series, etc.). The city policy would provide bike parking facilities and publicize this option to 
participants.  Outside groups using city or public facilities for public events (e.g. Chamber of 
Commerce) would also be required to provide these same services. The city ordinance shall have 
some means of recognizing or rewarding (by city certificate or resolution) those events which provide 
exceptional bicycle parking service. 
Estimated Cost: $15,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

PAGE 162



 

 

Study of Possible Improvements to Menlo Park’s Free Shuttle Service 
This is a project to review the shuttle service and what incremental improvements and expansion of 
scope might be possible and appropriate.  
Estimated Cost: $50,000  
Source: Transportation Commission  
 

Study – Shuttle Bus Expansion for Student-School-Busing Use 
This is a study to evaluate and analyze the use of City shuttle buses to pick up and drop off students at 
their schools, thereby reducing vehicular traffic throughout the City and at school sites in particular. 
This could be subject to other regulations because of school bus requirements that may not allow City 
shuttle buses to be used for that purpose. 
Estimated Cost: $95,000  
Source: Transportation Commission 
 

Transportation Demand Management Ordinance Study 
This study would analyze the cost/benefit of implementing a Transportation Demand Management 
Ordinance that applies to all new development. This will be included as part of the General Plan 
update. 
Estimated Cost: $37,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

Wayfinding Signage Phase II 
The first phase of the wayfinding bicycle signage in the Willows neighborhood was completed in 2009.  
The signs, attached to pre-existing sign posts, point to destinations such as the pedestrian bridge to 
Palo Alto, downtown, and Burgess Park.  This is the next phase to this project as indicated in the 
bicycle development plan.  This will include another neighborhood, an east/west cross-city route, 
and/or routes to schools. 
Estimated Cost: $15,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

Willow Oaks Park Path Realignment 
This project would study the entrance to Willow Oaks Park at Elm Street to add a bike path adjacent 
to the driveway to East Palo Alto High School. 
Estimated Cost: $18,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 
Willow Road Bike Lane Study 
This project would study the area on Willow Road between O’Keefe and Bay Road to assess what 
would be needed to install bike lanes in both directions. (The 101/ Willow Road interchange is 
currently in the environmental review stage.) 
Estimated Cost: $70,000  
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 

PAGE 163



 

 

Environment 
 
Canopy Tree-Planting and Education Project 
Under contract with the City, Canopy, a local non-profit organization, would recruit and train 
volunteers to plant up to 100 trees along streets and in parks. Planting locations and trees will be 
provided by the City. Canopy will also conduct a public education program about urban forestry, 
including tree steward workshops, presentations to neighborhood groups, a tree walk, and printed 
and website information. Canopy will also advise the City on reforestation grant opportunities.  
Canopy has carried out similar programs with the cities of Palo Alto and East Palo Alto 
(www.canopy.org). The project was recommended by the Environmental Quality Commission again 
for FY 2011/12, but was not included in the projects listed for that year due to the volume of projects 
currently listed and the labor intensive nature of this project.  
Estimated Cost: $55,000  
Source: Environmental Quality Commission & Green Ribbon Citizens Committee 
 
Energy Upgrades of Home Remodels – Pilot Program 
This pilot program would provide free comprehensive home energy audits up to $500 in energy 
rebates to 100 Menlo Park residents who are significantly remodeling their homes.  The program 
targets homeowners who are already thinking of home improvements and may be more inclined to 
make significant energy upgrades also.  The goal is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions through 
residential energy conservation.  This project is a high ranking measure in the Climate Action Plan. 
Estimated Cost: $110,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Plan to Encourage Local or Organic Food Production and Purchase 
This project will develop an education and/or social marketing program to promote locally grown and 
or organic food production and promote community gardens, school gardens and farmer’s markets. 
This program can help reduce emissions from transporting refrigerating and packaging food hauled 
from long distances (the average fresh food travel 1,500 miles for use in California homes). Staff will 
consider an ‘Eat Local Campaign’ similar to Portland, Oregon program that promotes eating foods 
grown within a specific mile radius. This is part of the Climate Action Plan’s five year strategy 
approved by Council in July 2011.    
Estimated Cost: $50,000  
Source: Environmental Quality Commission 
 

Suburban Park Streetlight Conversion 
Take streetlights in the Suburban Park area off the high-voltage PG&E system and convert to low-
voltage parallel-wiring system. 
Estimated Cost: $100,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Water System 
 

None. 
 

PAGE 164

http://www.canopy/


 

 

Parks & Recreation 
 

Belle Haven Pool House Remodel 
The project consists of redesigning the interior showers, locker and lobby areas and refinishing the 
floors and walls. The Belle Haven Pool House shower, locker room and lobby are over 40 years old. 
Most of the equipment is original and staff has had to retrofit the showers due to the shower 
equipment has been discontinued.  
Estimated Cost: $500,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Burgess Park Irrigation Well Evaluation 
The project consists of hiring a consultant to evaluate whether building an irrigation well for Burgess 
Park would be cost effective on the long term based upon the continued increase in water rates. 
Estimated Cost: $40,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Burgess Pool Locker Room Expansion Design 
Since this project was suggested in 2010 the locker rooms at the pool have undergone renovation that 
allows accommodation of more people at one time.  Additionally, locker rooms and changing rooms 
that have been added to the new Gymnastics Center, easily accessible and adjacent to the Pool, 
negate the need for a more expensive renovation project of the pool locker rooms at this time.  Staff 
recommends this project be removed from the CIP. 
Estimated Cost: $250,000  
Source: Council and Parks & Recreation Commission 
 

Flood County Park 
This project would potentially involve the City obtaining a joint use agreement to improve and 
maintain sports fields at Flood Park, installing playing field improvements and operating it as a City 
park in order to increase playing field availability. 
Estimated Cost: TBD 
Source: City Council 
 

Willow Oaks Park Restrooms 
This project would involve the neighboring community in developing a conceptual design, then 
constructing restrooms at Willow Oaks Park. 
Estimated Cost: $240,000  
Source: Parks and Recreation Commission 
 

Comprehensive Planning Projects & Studies 
 

CEQA and FIA Guidelines 
This project involves the adoption of guidelines for the City’s implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the City’s preparation of Fiscal Impact Analysis (FIA).  The 
project would involve an update of the City’s Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines while 
maintaining consistency with the current General Plan policies regarding the level of service (LOS) at 
intersections while encouraging alternative modes of transportation. 
Estimated Cost: $45,000  
Source: City Council 
 

PAGE 165



 

 

Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance Update 
The last comprehensive update of the Zoning Ordinance occurred in 1967.  Over the last 45 years, 
there have been 103 distinct amendments.  The Zoning Ordinance is not user friendly and includes 
many inconsistencies and ambiguities which make it challenging for staff, let alone the public to use.  
An update of the Zoning Ordinance would be a key tool for implementing the vision, goals and policies 
of an updated General Plan.  An update of the single-family residential zoning standards and review 
process would be included in this project. 
Estimated Cost: $1,500,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Single Family Residential Design Guidelines 
This project would involve the creation of residential single-family zoning guidelines to provide a 
method for encouraging high quality design in new and expanded residences. 
Estimated Cost:  TBD 
Source:  Planning Commission 
 
Single-Family Residential Zoning Ordinance Amendment 
This project would involve changes to residential single-family zoning requirements to create a more 
predictable and expeditious process for the construction of new and substantially expanded two-
stories residences on substandard lots.  The changes to the Zoning Ordinance would likely involve 
additional development requirements in lieu of the discretionary use permit process. 
Estimated Cost:  TBD 
Source:  Planning Commission 
 

Stormwater 
 
Atherton Channel Flood Abatement Construction 
This project will improve the drainage channel conditions in order to prevent systematic flooding from 
Atherton Channel that affects businesses along Haven Avenue. The design portion of this project was 
partially funded ($200,000) in FY 2010-11 and ($300,000) in FY 2011-12. 
Estimated Cost: $2,000,000  
Source: Staff 
 

Other/Miscellaneous 
 
Belle Haven Branch Library Feasibility Study 
Improving library services to Belle Haven is one of the Library’s Commission main Work Plan 
objectives. The Commission has received consistent community feedback over the last two years 
about the need for more library services in Belle Haven. The addition of Facebook to the Belle Haven 
area further indicates that a feasibility study is necessary before the City can move forward with 
improving library services in the Belle Haven area. This project is consistent with the Library’s 
Commission’s Work Plan objectives, as well as with the City’s priority on economic development. 
Estimated Cost: $95,000  
Source: Library Commission 
 

PAGE 166



 

 

Bicycle Parking Ordinance Feasibility Study 
This project would investigate the potential to create an ordinance requiring bicycle parking facilities 
for all new development projects.  The study would review similar ordinances from agencies in the 
Bay Area, assess the impacts to developers, and recommend an appropriate bicycle parking rate per 
1000 square foot of new development. This project will be considered with the General Plan update 
and the M-2 Area Plan. 
Estimated Cost: $70,000 
Source: Bicycle Commission 
 
City Entry Signage on Willow and Marsh Roads 
These arterials are the two primary gateways into Menlo Park from the East Bay.  Providing “Welcome 
to Menlo – Habitat for Innovation” signage identifies the entry point our City, positions the City as a 
friendly place to be, and furthers the City’s brand as a desirable place to live, work and play. 
Estimated Cost: $200,000  
Source: Staff 
 
City Gateway Signage 
The project will include installing gateway signage at four locations entering Menlo Park. The 
proposed locations are Sand Hill Road, Bayfront Expressway, and northbound and southbound El 
Camino Real. The proposed signage would be similar in style to the sign at Laurel Street and Burgess 
Drive and would include uplights. 
Estimated Cost: $250,000  
Source: City Council 
 
Dark Fiber Installation Pilot Project 
Optical fiber is the preferred broadband access medium for companies seeking lab and office space in 
Silicon Valley. Menlo Business Park and Willow Business Park (soon to be called Menlo Science & 
Technology Center) already have limited deployment of this highly sought after capability. These 
funds will enable the City to initiate a planning effort to determine how the existing fiber network can 
be extended further in the City’s industrial sub-areas. Although funded in FY 2011-12, work on this 
project did not start prior to the dissolution of the RDA. 
Estimated Cost: $50,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Haven Avenue Security Lighting  
The project consists of installing additional street lights along Haven Avenue to improve visibility and 
security for business along Haven Avenue. Although funded in FY 2011-12, work on this project did 
not start prior to the dissolution of the RDA. 
Estimated Cost: $50,000  
Source: Staff 
 

PAGE 167



 

 

Kelly Park Sound Wall 
The project would install a sound wall approximately 1,000 feet long between Highway 101 and the 
sports field at Kelly Park.  Design of the project would determine the appropriate height, materials, 
and final location of the sound wall. 
Estimated Construction Cost: $1,300,000  
Estimated Design Cost: $130,000 
Source: Staff 
 
Library Website Access Improvement 
Library users expect to access information quickly, easily and accurately. The current library website 
provides very limited access to program information and electronic resources. A more graphical, 
dynamic website would engage all segments of the community and would improve access to non-
native English speakers, children and the elderly. It is essential to the Library’s mission to create a web 
portal that more effectively promotes library services and resources. Project would cover start-up 
costs for a consultant to design and implement a new web portal. Library staff will continue the 
maintenance of the site as part of regular library outreach to the community. Project was funded in 
the 2008-09 adopted budget but was deferred via mid-year budget adjustments.  
Estimated Cost: $6,500  
Source: Staff 
 
Parking Plaza 3 Renovation Design 
This project involves the redesign of Parking Plaza 3 to include safer vehicular access, improved 
lighting, improved stormwater treatment and rehabilitation of the existing asphalt. This project is part 
of the standard cycle of parking plaza renovations. This project will be coordinated with the 
Downtown Specific Plan prior to any improvements to the Parking Plaza. 
Estimated Cost: $200,000  
Source: Staff 
 
Parking Management Plan  
The project will evaluate parking impacts of the Chestnut Paseo and Market Place. This project will 
establish an advisory task force for downtown parking issues comprised of one council member, one 
transportation commission member chamber of commerce, business owner and a property owner.   
Estimated Cost: TBD  
Source: Council 
 
Parking Plaza 8 Renovation  
This project consists of design of needed improvements at Parking Plaza 8 including landscaping, 
lighting, storm drainage and asphalt pavement rehabilitation.  Work will be coordinated with 
Downtown Parking Utility Underground Project.   
Estimated Cost: $ 250,000 
Source: Staff 
 
 
 

 
 

PAGE 168



 

 

Appendix D – Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 
through FY 2017/18 

PAGE 169



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Streets and Sidewalks 
 

Streetlight Painting 
Project 

2014-15 This recurring project involves repainting streetlight poles and 
arms to preserve their appearance.  Streetlight painting was 
last performed during FY 2008-09. 

Civic Center Sidewalk 
Replacement and 
Irrigation System 
Upgrades 

2016-17 Many areas of the Civic Center sidewalk network have been 
damaged by tree roots and vehicular traffic, resulting in 
extensive cracking and uplifts; all of which create tripping 
hazards to the pedestrians that use the park daily.  The 
proposed project would replace the sidewalk network north 
of Burgess Field, between the Recreation Center, 
Administration Building, Council Chambers and Library.  
Sidewalks would be replaced using thicker paving sections 
with reinforcing bars where necessary.  
The existing irrigation around the Civic Center is a patch work 
due to numerous building replacement/remodel projects have 
cut into the existing system. This project will upgrade the 
irrigation system and reduce the number of controllers. The 
new controllers will be connected to the City’s weather 
station making it more water efficient. 

 

City Buildings 
 

Menlo Children’s Center 
Carpet Replacement 

2014-15 The project will replace the carpet of the Menlo Children’s 
Center.  Due to the extensive use of the facility and the wear 
and tear of the facility, the carpets will need to be replaced. 
The existing carpets were installed when the building was 
remodeled in 2006. 

Belle Haven Child 
Development Center 
Carpet Replacement 

2014-15 The project consists of replacing the floor, ceiling, cabinets 
and repainting the interior of the Belle Haven Youth Center. 
The existing interior is getting old and tired and worn out.  

Main Library Interior 
Wall Fabric 
Replacement 

2015-16 The project will replace the interior wall fabric of the main 
library.  The interior wall finishes of the Library are starting to 
get worn and the seams are beginning to separate.  This was 
installed in 1991. 

Administration Building 
Carpet Replacement 

2015-16 This project will replace the carpet of the administration 
building.  The carpets were installed as part of the 
administration building remodel in 1998.  Areas of the carpet 
are showing wear and have permanent stains. 

PAGE 170



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Arrillaga Recreation 
Center Light 
Replacement  Project 

2015-16 The existing lights at the Recreation Center have been 
discontinued and have a five year warranty. Some of the lights 
have already gone out and the manufacturer is having to 
retrofit lights in order to replace the ones that are going out.   
The project will replace the lights with a more common light 
that can be easier maintained and still be energy efficient. 

Belle Haven Youth 
Center Improvements 

2017-18 The project consists of replacing the floor, ceiling, cabinets 
and repainting the interior of the Belle Haven Youth Center. 
The existing interior has worn out. 

Library Furniture 
Replacement 

2017-18 The existing furniture in the Library is over 20 years old. The 
chairs and tables need consistent repairs due the heavy use of 
the Library. Also, the existing furniture fabric is difficult to 
clean and remove odors.  The project will replace furniture 
that will make it easier to maintain. 

Fire Plans and 
Equipment Replacement 
at Council Chambers, 
Onetta Harris 
Community Center and 
Library 

2017-18 The project consists of replacing the fire panels, alarms, 
strobe lights, pull alarms and associated equipment in the 
Council Chambers, Library and Onetta Harris Community 
Center.  The existing systems are becoming outdated and 
starting to trigger false alarms. 

 
 

Traffic and Transportation 
 

Alma 
Street/Ravenswood 
Avenue Pedestrian/Bike 
Study 

2014-15 This project will evaluate alternative improvements to 
improve pedestrian and bicycle circulation at Alma Street and 
Ravenswood Avenue.  
 

Sand Hill Road Signal 
Interconnect 

2014-15 This project will comprise of installing either wireless or wired 
interconnect along the traffic signals on Sand Hill Road 
between Santa Cruz Avenue and Addison Wesley to establish 
communication and adaptive coordination between these 
signals for more efficient traffic flow. Funding for this project 
will be reimbursed to the City by San Mateo County 
Transportation Authority  

PAGE 171



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Willow Road/VA 
Hospital/Durham Street 
Signal Modification 
 

2014-15 This project will upgrade the traffic signal and pedestrian 
signal equipment that needs upgrading to ADA standards.  
Separate left turn phasing at the intersection would provide 
safety for pedestrians that cross Willow Road since cars 
turning are not yielding to pedestrians in the crosswalk. 

Florence/Marsh and 
Bay/Marsh Signal 
Modification 

2015-16 This project will improve the level of service and pedestrian 
safety at intersections and upgrade non-standard traffic signal 
equipment to comply with MUTCD standards. 

Laurel/Ravenswood 
Signal Modification 

2015-16 This project will enhance traffic safety and upgrade non-
standard traffic signal equipment to comply with the MUTCD 
standards. 

Middlefield Road at 
Ravenswood Avenue 
Intersection 
Reconfiguration Study 

2015-16 This project will consist of a feasibility study to reconfigure 
the intersection of Middlefield Road at Ravenswood Avenue 
to remove the southwest pork-chop island and modify the 
free eastbound right turn lane and to open the recently 
constructed Menlo Atherton High School driveway for traffic.  
These improvements could potentially facilitate bicycle safety 
through the intersection and relieve traffic congestion at the 
intersection of Middlefield Road with Ringwood Avenue.  
Funding was identified for this study as mitigation for the 
1300 El Camino Real Development if it proceeds forward, 
otherwise Measure A funds would be utilized. 

Sand Hill Road Signal 
Modification Project 

2016-17 This project will upgrade the non-standard traffic and 
pedestrian signal equipment at Sand Hill/Saga Lane and Sand 
Hill/Sharon Park Drive to comply with MUTCD standard. 

Middlefield Road at 
Willow Road 
Intersection 
Reconfiguration Study 

2016-17 This project will consist of a feasibility study of reconfiguring 
the intersection of Middlefield Road at Willow Road to 
remove the southeast corner and northeast corner pork-chop 
islands.  The improvements could potentially improve bicycle 
and pedestrian safety at the intersection. 

Sand Hill Road 
Improvements 
(Addison/Wesley to 
I280) 

2016-17 This project will implement traffic improvements that will be 
approved in conjunction with the Sand Hill Road between 
Addison/Wesley and I-280 Traffic Study. 

Caltrain Bike/Pedestrian 
Undercrossing 

2017-18 This project will design bike and pedestrian undercrossing 
envisioned under the Caltrain tracks between Ravenswood 
Avenue and Cambridge Avenue. A study and conceptual 
designs for an undercrossing were completed as part of the 
Caltrain Bike/Pedestrian project approved in FY 2007/08. 
Completion of the planning phase was suspended pending 
completion of the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan 
and the High Speed Rail preliminary design.  

 

PAGE 172



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Environment 
 

Alternative Transportation 
Social Marketing Program 

2014-15 This project was identified in the Climate Action Plan’s five year 
strategy approved by Council in July 2011.  This project would 
develop a social marketing plan and program to alter behavior and 
perceptions about alternative transportation in Menlo Park. Social 
marketing is used to uncover community barriers and uses 
targeted messaging and incentive programs to alter perceptions 
about walking, biking, or taking public transit. 

Requirement for Pharmacies 
to Take Back 
Pharmaceuticals/Draft 
Ordinance 

2014-15 The community has very limited options for disposing 
pharmaceuticals. One drop box location is located in Menlo Park 
that the City maintains with a contractor. A required take back 
program would increase disposal options for residents and avoid 
potentially disposing of these chemical in a landfill or sewer 
system. Menlo Park could model an ordinance after Alameda 
County that has adopted an ordinance that requires pharmacies to 
take back pharmaceuticals. This project would include drafting an 
ordinance for city council to consider adopting and the community 
engagement involved in preparing the ordinance for adoption. 

Heritage Tree Ordinance 
Program Evaluation and 
Update 

2014-15 In the Summer of 2012, the Environmental Quality Commission 
(EQC) provided recommendations to staff and city council 
regarding updating and modifying the City’s Heritage Tree 
Ordinance. This study would review the EQC’s recommendation, 
analyze program’s effectiveness and processes, and prepare 
revisions for the City Council to consider for adoption. 

Community Zero Waste 
Policy Draft 

2015-16 This project was identified in the Climate Action Plan’s five year 
strategy approved by Council in July 2011.  Landfilled waste emits 
methane that is twenty time more potent than carbon dioxide 
emissions that contribute to climate change. A zero waste policy 
would provide a road map for the city to follow to reduce 
landfilled waste through less waste generation and recycling. This 
project would include community engagement and a draft policy 
for the City Council to consider. 

Installation of Electric Plug In 
Recharging Stations Cost 
Benefit Analysis and Plan  
 

2015-16 Part of the Climate Action Plan’s five year strategy approved by 
Council in July 2011 to consider installing recharging electric 
vehicles (EV) and plug in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) in public 
parking facilities. The City can also encourage or require larger 
local businesses and multi-unit housing projects to install charging 
stations. The 2009 Climate Action Plan estimated that installing 30 
recharging stations would reduce an estimated 7,000 metric tons 
of greenhouse gas emissions. This study would explore various 
options for the city to consider. The study will also evaluate 
charging a minimal fee for recharging vehicles.  
 

PAGE 173



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Bike Sharing Program Cost 
Benefit Study 

2016-17 Part of the Climate Action Plan’s five year strategy approved by 
Council in July 2011. This project would study the program’s cost 
and benefit’s for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and its 
suitability for Menlo Park. A Bike Sharing Program provides 
publicly shared bicycles that can increase the usage of bicycles in 
an urban environment. Redwood City is currently participating in a 
pilot regional a bike sharing program in the bay area. 

City Car Sharing 2017-18 Part of the Climate Action Plan’s five year strategy approved by 
Council in July 2011.This project would study the program’s cost 
and benefits for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and its 
suitability for Menlo Park. Many cities (San Francisco, Berkeley, 
and Portland) have implemented a car sharing program. 

 

Water Systems 
 

Urban Water 
Management Plan 

2014-15 This project will prepare an Urban Water Management Plan 
that is due to the State in the year 2015.  This is a State 
requirement every 5 years.  Having this plan in place makes 
the City eligible for grants.  The plan is only for the City’s 
Municipal Water District. 

Water Rate Study 2014-15 The existing 5 year water rates approved by the City Council 
will end in June 2015. This study will analyze the operating 
water budget and make new recommendations for proposed 
water rates for City Council approval. 

Automated Meter 
Reading 

2015-16 This project will involve selecting appropriate technology then 
installing the initial phase of automated meter reading 
infrastructure for the Menlo Park Municipal Water District. 

Water Main 
Replacements 
 

2015-16 This recurring project involves replacement and 
improvements to the Menlo Park Municipal Water District’s 
distribution system.  The locations of work are determined 
through maintenance records and as needed to support other 
major capital projects such as the emergency water supply 
project. 

 

Parks and Recreation 
 

Jack Lyle Park 
Restrooms Construction 

2014-15 This project will involve engaging the neighboring community 
in developing a conceptual design, then constructing 
restrooms at Jack Lyle Park. 

PAGE 174



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Burgess Pool Deck 
Repairs 

2014-15 Pool chemicals are corrosive and erode the cement pool decks 
making the pool age significantly, impacting aesthetics, and 
increasing the risk of safety issues from slips and trips.  This 
project would coat the entire 11,600 feet of pool deck surface 
with protective coating similar to what was used at Belle 
Haven Pool in 2011.  This would ensure a longer life for the 
decks and avoid the need to replace the cement which would 
be a significantly higher cost.   

Bedwell Bayfront Park 
Restroom Repair 

2015-16 The project will replace the sewage ejector pump and the 
exterior siding.  The existing sewage ejector pump breaks 
down constantly and an alternative design needs to be 
evaluated.  The exterior of the restrooms is a composite 
material and is showing cracks.  The restroom was built in 
1996. 

Jack Lyle Sports Field 
Sod Replacement 

2014-15 The project will consist of removing the existing sod, adjusting 
the irrigation system and installing new sod.  The field has had 
to annually be patched with new sod due to wear which has 
created irregular grades in the field.  The existing field was 
built in 2002. 

Willows Oaks Dog Park 
Renovation 
 

2014-15 This project will include a scoping and design phase in FY 
2013/14, then construction in FY 2014/15 of upgrades and 
replacement at the Willow Oaks Dog Park. 

Park Pathways 
Replacement 

2016-17 The project consists of replacing damaged pathways at 
Market Place, Nealon, Sharon, and Stanford Hills Parks. 

La Entrada Baseball  
Field Renovation 

2016-17 The existing La Entrada baseball field has poor drainage and 
needs new sod. The project will regrade the outfield and 
install a drainage system and new irrigation systems and new 
sod.    

 
 

Comprehensive Planning Project Studies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Housing Element 
Implementation 
Programs-Infrastructure 
Improvements 

TBD The Environmental Assessment that is being prepared for the 
Draft Housing Element may identify a need for some 
infrastructure improvements that would need to be 
addressed by the Fall of 2014 in order to maintain compliance 
with State Law.  The infrastructure improvements may be 
needed to either remove a constraint to the development of 
housing or maintain consistency with a policy in the City’s 
General Plan.  Once the Environmental Assessment is 
prepared, staff will be able to provide an estimate of the 
resource needs for developing a plan to accomplish the 
infrastructure improvements. 

 

PAGE 175



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Stormwater 
 

Chrysler Pump Station 
Improvements 

2014-15 Improvements will include design and construction of 
upgrades to the aging equipment (may consist of pumps, 
motors, electrical system, heaters, fans, flap gates, 
generator). 

Middlefield Road Storm 
Drainage Improvements 

2015-16 This project involves design of a storm drainage system to 
address flooding on Middlefield Road from San Francisquito 
Creek to Ravenswood Avenue. 

Trash Capture Device 
Installation 

2015-16 This project will install trash capture devices during next 
round of Municipal Regional Permit to reduce the amount of 
pollutants going into the Bay in anticipation of heightened 
trash capture device requirements. 

Corporation Yard Storage 
Cover 

2016-17 This project consists of installing a cover over the green 
waste and garbage collected at the Corporation Yard high 
enough to drive trucks thru. A best management practice is 
recommended by the Regional Water Quality Control Board 
NPDES permit issued to the City to cover green waste and 
garbage areas so that water does not flow through the 
debris and then into the storm drain system. 

 

Other/Miscellaneous 
 

Bedwell Bayfront Park 
Gas Collection System 
Repair 

2014-15 This project will address repairs that may be needed as part of 
routine maintenance to the gas collection system serving the 
former landfill at Bedwell Bayfront Park.  Improvements that 
could increase methane capture will be implemented, 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  This project will be 
scoped in more detail following completion of the Gas 
Collection System Improvements Study and Conceptual 
Design project. 

Downtown Streetscape 
Improvements 
 

2014-15 The project will consist of planning and implementation of 
improvements in the downtown area per the Specific Plan 
considering the Chestnut Paseo and Santa Cruz Avenue 
Sidewalk and the development of new streetscape plans. The 
project will be comprised of four components which will 
consist of meeting with Downtown businesses and customers 
for an early implementation of a pilot sidewalk widening 
project. The second component will include development of 
the pilot plans for implementation of other elements of the 
specific plan. The third component will be the implementation 
of the pilot plan and the fourth component will be 
development of a master plan for the downtown area. 

PAGE 176



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Portable Concert Stage 
Trailer 

2014-15 The current stage for the summer concerts is out of date, 
labor intensive to assemble, and does not allow for flexibility 
to use it for other city events.  The stage is only used for 8 
weeks during the summer concerts.  The purchase of a large 
portable concert stage trailer would eliminate the need for 2 
full days of assembly and tear down since it is automated.  
The stage could be moved each week to prevent impact to the 
park lawn area.  The stage could be moved easily from one 
location to another if we have events going on during a similar 
period or throughout the year.  This would also reduce annual 
expenses since staff would not have to rent stages for other 
events such as 4th of July. 

El Camino Real Median 
and Side Trees Irrigation 
System Upgrade 

2015-16 This project will replace the existing irrigation controllers on El 
Camino Real with a Rain Master Evolution II central irrigation 
system, which will improve water savings and reduce 
maintenance costs.  The Rain Master irrigation system allows 
staff to control the system remotely and the system could 
automatically shut off at times of rain or breaks in the 
irrigation system. 

Measure T Funds 
Evaluation/Project 
Ranking 

2015-16 This project will consist of community engagement activities 
to get input from the public in developing priorities for the 
Measure T fund.   

Overnight Parking 
Application 

2016-17 This project would create a software program to allow a 
resident to apply, pay, and print an overnight parking permit 
from the internet.  This would provide a convenience for 
residents to go online, pay and print the permit from home 
late at night and place the permit on their dashboard so they 
do not receive a ticket overnight.  The website currently does 
not provide this added feature for residents. 

Parking Plaza 7 2017-18 This project consists of construction of needed improvements 
at Parking Plaza 7 including landscaping, lighting, storm 
drainage and asphalt pavement rehabilitation.  Work will be 
coordinated with Downtown Parking Utility Underground 
Project.   

PAGE 177



 

 

Descriptions of Projects Proposed for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18 
 

Baby Pool 
Analysis/Preliminary 
Design 

2017-18 The demand for more recreational pool space has been a 
need for many years since the major pool redesign in 2006.  
This project would evaluate the utility of the current baby 
pool to allow for a wide range of ages and more space of open 
recreation swimming time.  Currently, the baby pool is only 1’ 
6” in depth, open May through September, and for only 
toddlers and their parents.  The proposed project would 
evaluate the current capacity of the baby pool, investigate if 
an environmental analysis is required and look into a zero 
entry pool that increases to 3 ½ depth. This would allow for a 
broader range of ages up to grade school more space to enjoy 
and reduce the demand of the instructional pool. 

PAGE 178



 

 

Appendix E – Proposed Projects for FY 2013/14 

PAGE 179



 

 

 

Table E.1 – New Capital Projects Summary FY 2013/14 

 

New Capital Projects 
FY 2013/14 

Budget 
5-Year Total 

 Budget 

Automated Library Return Area Renovation 120,000 120,000 

Bedwell Bayfront Park Leachate Collection System 
Replacement 

100,000 1,000,000 

City Website Upgrade 75,000 75,000 

Downtown Parking Utility Underground 100,000 4,650,000 

El Camino Real/Ravenswood NB Right Turn Lane 200,000 1,350,000 

El Camino Real Lane Reconfiguration Alternatives Study 200,000 200,000 

Emergency Water Supply Project 2,800,000 2,800,000 

Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy Program for Residential 
and Commercial Sector Master Plan 

60,000 60,000 

Facility Energy Retrofit 325,000 650,000 

General Plan Update (M-2 Plan) 2,000,000 2,000,000 

High Speed Rail Coordination 50,000 250,000 

Housing Element Implementation Programs – Ordinances 
and Policies 

TBD TBD 

Improved Infrastructure for the Delivery of Electronics 
Library Services-Study 

37,000 37,000 

Library Landscaping 50,000 350,000 

Library RFID Conversion  29,000 29,000 

Pope/Chaucer Bridge Replacement 100,000 100,000 

Radio Replacement 395,000 521,000 

Retractable Lights Installation at Gymnasium and Gymnastics  200,000 500,000 

Sand Hill Road Pathway Repair 50,000 300,000 

Sharon Heights Pump Station Replacement 1,300,000 1,300,000 

Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation  100,000 500,000 

Technology Master Plan and Implementation 3,111,000 3,111,000 

 

Table E.2 – Maintenance of Current Infrastructure Projects Summary FY 2013/14 

 

Maintenance of Current Infrastructure 
FY 2013/14  

Budget 
5-Year Total 

 Budget 

City Buildings (Minor) 300,000 1,525,000 

Park Improvements (Minor) 120,000 640,000 

Sidewalk Repair Program 400,000 1,600,000 

Storm Drain Improvements 110,000 570,000 

Street Resurfacing 5,270,000 16,290,000 

   

 
 

PAGE 180



Proposed Projects for FY 2013/14 
 

 
Automated Library Return Area 
Renovation 
 
 
This project will remove an interior wall and adjacent 
staff office to expand the sorting capacity of the 
automated materials handling system installed in FY 
2012‐13.  In FY 2012‐13 the library installed an 
automated materials return (self‐check‐in) and an 
automated materials handling system to improve the 
check‐in process and get materials back on shelves 
more quickly.  Restricted space in the staff work area 
dictated that only 6 sorting bins could be installed on a 
system that could accommodate more sorting bins. 
Removing the wall will allow the system to expand by 
adding three more bins maximizing the return on 
investment in the entire project. 
 
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  60,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  60,000 

Library Bond Fund  60,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  60,000 

Sub‐total  120,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  120,000 

 
 
 

Bedwell Bayfront Park Leachate 
Collection System Replacement  
 
 
This project will involve repairs and upgrades to the 
existing leachate collection system that the City is 
required to maintain at the former landfill site at 
Bedwell Bayfront Park. 
 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Bedwell Bayfront Park 
Landfill 

100,000  900,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,000,000 

Sub‐total  100,000  900,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,000,000 

PAGE 181



 
 

 
City Website Upgrade 
 
 
 
This project will upgrade the City Website to a more 
user friendly and solution based interface.  Revise 
departmental pages and website structure so that 
residents, non‐residents, businesses and contractors 
can easily find answers to their questions.  Website 
design and implementation would be performed by a 
consultant with experience in municipal website 
development.   
 
 
 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  75,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  75,000 

Sub‐total  75,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  75,000 

 
 

Downtown Parking Utility 
Underground 
 
 
 
A project study was initiated in FY 2008/09  to 
investigate the use of Rule 20A funding for 
undergrounding utilities in the downtown parking 
plazas, and through recent communication with PG&E, 
it has been confirmed that this can be done.  As a result, 
the City will begin the process of creating an 
underground utility district in the downtown area, then 
design and construction can begin.   
 
 
 
 

 
  

  
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund CIP  100,000  2,750,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  2,850,000 

Downtown Parking Permits  ‐  1,800,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,800,000 

Sub‐total  100,000  4,550,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  4,650,000 

 
 

 

PAGE 182



 
 
El Camino Real/Ravenswood NB 
Right Turn Lane 
 
 
 
This project will design conversion of the existing North 
Bound Right Turn Lane to the third North Bound 
through Lane and adding a NB Right Turn Lane. 

 
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Transportation Impact Fee  200,000  1,150,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,350,000 

Sub‐total  200,000  1,150,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,350,000 

 
 
 

 
El Camino Real Lane Reconfiguration 
Alternatives Study 
 
 
This project will consist of a traffic study to determine 
the level of service at the intersections on El Camino 
Real when a bicycle lane or a third through lane is 
added for both the northbound and southbound 
directions between Encinal Avenue and Live Oak. The 
study will also evaluate impacts of removing the on‐
street parking on El Camino Real, business (parking) 
effects, safety and aesthetics. 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Measure A  200,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  200,000 

Sub‐total  200,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  200,000 

 

PAGE 183



 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Water Fund‐ Capital  2,800,000  ‐  ‐  ‐    2,800,000 

Sub‐total  2,800,000  ‐  ‐  ‐    2,800,000 

 

 
 
Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy 
Program for Residential and 
Commercial Sector Master Plan 
 
 
 
 
Part of the Climate Action Plan’s five year strategy. This 
project would provide a comprehensive five year plan 
and strategy for the City to implement projects and 
programs to reduce energy consumption of fossil fuels 
in residential and commercial energy use.   
 
 
 

 
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  60,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  60,000 

Sub‐total  60,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  60,000 

 
 
 

 
 
Emergency Water Supply Project 

 
 
This project will involve the first phase of construction 
of up to three emergency standby wells to provide a 
secondary water supply to the Menlo Park Municipal 
Water District's eastern service area. An emergency 
water supply would be needed in the event of an 
outage of the SFPUC Hetch Hetchy system.  Final 
project costs will vary depending on land acquisitions 
costs and the final depth and size of the wells. This 
project was partially funded in FY 2011‐12. 
 
 
 

 

PAGE 184



 
Facility Energy Retrofit Project 
 
 
Staff has been working with Ecology Action, a PG&E 
consultant who has been evaluating energy usage  in 
City Facilities. Based on the evaluation, numerous 
pieces of equipment should be replaced such as the 
administration chiller and energy management 
program. This will result in significant energy savings 
with a rate of return on the capital cost of 5‐10 years. In 
addition, the City will receive a PG&E rebate of 
approximately $100,000. 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  325,000  325,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  650,000 

Sub‐total  325,000  325,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  650,000 

 

 
 

 
General Plan Update (M-2 Plan) 
 

This project involves a comprehensive update of the General Plan.  
The project would focus on the Land Use and Circulation 
Elements, which were adopted in 1994 and include land use and 
traffic projections to the year of 2010.  The plan would include a 
geographic focus of the M‐2 zoning area, plus other areas of the 
City aside from the El Camino Real and Downtown area.  Topics 
that would be a focus of discussion would include items such as 
Complete Streets and a Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategy.  The 
project would involve multiple phases including work program 
definition, consultant selection, data collection and analysis, 
visioning, plan preparation, environmental and fiscal review, and 
extensive public participation.  Upon adoption of the updated 
General Plan, the work effort would focus on high priority 
implementation programs identified in the Plan.  By the end of 
December 2013, the goal would be to have conducted a request 
for proposals and retained a consultant team for work on the 
project. 
 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  2,000,000  TBD TBD TBD TBD  2,000,000

Sub‐total  2,000,000  TBD  TBD  TBD  TBD  2,000,000 

 

PAGE 185



 
High Speed Rail Coordination 
 
 
The California High Speed Rail Bay Area to Central 
Valley route is being planned along the existing Caltrain 
tracks through the City of Menlo Park. This project 
involves City staff coordination with the Peninsula Cities 
Coalition, neighboring jurisdictions, the High Speed Rail 
Authority and elected officials to protect the City’s 
interests during the planning and implementation 
stages of the California High Speed Rail project. Funding 
will be used for technical expertise and consulting 
support. 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  50,000  50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000  250,000

Sub‐total  50,000  50,000  50,000  50,000  50,000  250,000 

 
 

 
Housing Element Implementation 
Programs-Ordinances and Policies  
 
  
The Draft Housing Element identifies a number of 
implementation programs that would need to be 
accomplished by the Fall of 2014 in order to maintain 
compliance with State Law.  Many of the 
implementation programs would involve the 
preparation of amendments to City ordinances or 
policies.  Once the City receives comments from the 
State Housing and Community Development 
Department on the Draft Housing Element, staff will be 
able to provide an estimate of the resource needs to 
accomplish the implementation programs. 
 
 
 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

TBD  ‐  ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐  ‐

Sub‐total  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

 

PAGE 186



 

Improved Infrastructure for the 
Delivery of Electronic Library 
Services-Study 
 
Improving electronic service access in Menlo Park is the 
Library Commission's second Work Plan priority. 
Extending access to library services beyond those who 
visit the library, extending access to business 
information that increases Menlo Park's ability to serve 
small businesses and start‐ups, extending access to 
Menlo Park's Spanish‐speaking population, extending 
teen services, and reducing library costs are some of the 
potential benefits of this project.  
 
This project will involve use of a consultant to identify 
appropriate technologies needed to support new 
services and improve existing ones, design new services 
based on these technologies (including, but not limited 
to, Web site design), and implement the designs.  
 

 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  37,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  37,000 

Sub‐total  37,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  37,000 
 

 
 
Library Landscaping 
 
 
 
The project consists of replacing the landscaping and 
irrigation system around the library.  The existing 
landscaping and irrigation system is in need of major 
upgrades and a portion of the system is over thirty 
years old.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  50,000  300,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  350,000 

Sub‐total  50,000  300,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  350,000 

 
 

Electronic Library Services 

PAGE 187



 
Library RFID Conversion 
 
 
 
This project will convert all library materials from 
current barcode system to more reliable RFID format. 
Install new patron self checkout stations, concurrent 
with previously approved circulation area remodel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  29,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  29,000 

Sub‐total  29,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  29,000 

 
 
 
Pope/Chaucer Bridge Replacement  
 
 
 
The Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD), a 
member agency of the SFCJPA, will replace the existing 
Pope/Chaucer Street Bridge crossing at San Francisquito 
Creek. The new bridge will be designed and constructed 
to accommodate a 1% (100‐year) flow event under the 
bridge and prevent future flooding of the areas 
surrounding the creek. The project is part of the overall 
SFCJPA goal to provide 100‐year flood capacity in the 
creek.  Funding for this project is for staff assistance 
during the design phase. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  100,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  100,000 

Sub‐total  100,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  100,000 

 
 

PAGE 188



 
Radio Replacement 
 
 
 
The Dispatch Center utilizes an extensive network of 
radio equipment which has a useful lifespan of 10 to 15 
years. If equipment is not replaced it can malfunction, 
leading to a loss of communication with police officers 
in the field. This would lead to an enhanced level of risk 
to officers and a decrease in service to the community.  
A multi‐year Replacement Schedule was created in 
2010 by the County which stipulates equipment to be 
replaced based on lifespan. All costs to install include 
labor.   
 

 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  395,000  26,000  100,000  ‐  ‐  521,000 

Sub‐total  395,000  26,000  100,000  ‐  ‐  521,000 

 
 
 
 
Retractable Lights Installation at 
Gymnasium and Gymnastics 
 
 
The replacement process for the numerous lights at the 
Arrillaga Family Gym and Arrillaga Family Gymnastics 
Center poses a concern for the long‐term maintenance 
of the facility due to the high replacement costs and the 
repairs potential impact to programs.  Installing 
retractable lights in both facilities will allow staff to 
maintain the facility in the most efficient manner, keep 
repair costs low, and minimize or eliminate time 
needed to close the facility.   
  

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  200,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  300,000  500,000 

Sub‐total  200,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  300,000  500,000 

 
 
 

PAGE 189



 
Sand Hill Road Pathway Repair 
 
 
 
This project will involve the design and installation of 
repairs and improvements to the asphalt concrete path 
along Sand Hill Road. 
 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  50,000  250,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  300,000 

Sub‐total  50,000  250,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  300,000 

 

 
 
 
Sharon Heights Pump Station 
Replacement  
 
 
The project consists of installing a new pump station 

prior for the Sharon Heights Neighborhood. A 

temporary pump station consists of three similar 

pumps, stationary electrical generator and 

communication connections. The temporary pump 

station will be located on an adjacent parcel and will 

remain in operation while the permanent pump station 

is built. During the duration of the project the 

contractor will be required to operate the temporary 

pump station 24/7 until the permanent pump station is 

operational and respond to emergencies within one 

hour.   

 
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Water Fund‐ Capital  1,300,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,300,000 

Sub‐total  1,300,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  1,300,000 

 

PAGE 190



 
 
Sidewalk Master Plan Implementation 
 
 
 
This project will involve constructing new sidewalks in 
areas with priority needs as identified in the Sidewalk 
Master Plan.  Resident surveys will be conducted at high 
priority locations to assess the level of support prior to 
selecting specific sites. 

 

 
 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

Measure A  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000  500,000 

Sub‐total  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000  500,000 

 
 
Technology Master Plan and 
Implementation 

This project would include updated technology for various 

areas of the City to perform critical and enhanced services 

including the financial system, web services, graphical 

information services and other systems within the City. The 

first phase would include an assessment of the existing 

technology tools in use within the organization currently, 

evaluate the need for replacement, and development 

recommendation as to the best type of replacement in priority 

order.   This work would be done with a consultant, and a 

representative City Committee to enable a knowledgeable 

evaluation that would assist the City to avoid disruption 

caused by failures to the aging systems in use throughout the 

City.  The second phase would include implementation of the 

approved master plan with the funding available in the 

project. Additional funding may be necessary once the master 

plan is completed.  

 

FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  3,111,000  TBD  TBD  TBD  TBD  3,111,000 

Sub‐total  3,111,000  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  3,111,000 

 

PAGE 191



 
 

City Buildings (Minor) 

 
 
 
This ongoing project was established in Fiscal Year 
2004‐05. Projects programmed on an annual basis 
include minor improvements that extend the useful 
life of systems and equipment in City Buildings. The 
project will design the replacement of the 
Corporation Yard roof, and other miscellaneous 
building improvements throughout the City.  

 

 
 
 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund – CIP  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  325,000  1,525,000 

Sub‐total  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  325,000  1,525,000 

 
 

 
Park Improvements (Minor) 
 
 
 
The project addresses minor improvements to parks, such 
as repairing fences, irrigation systems, play equipment, 
resodding portions of fields and adding sand and fibar to 
play equipment. 
 

 

 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund‐CIP  120,000  130,000  130,000  130,000  130,000  640,000 

Sub‐total  120,000  130,000  130,000  130,000  130,000  640,000 

 

PAGE 192



 
 
Sidewalk Repair Program 

 
 
 
This ongoing project consists of removing 
hazardous sidewalk offsets and replacing sidewalk 
sections that have been damaged by City tree roots 
in order to eliminate trip hazards. 

 

 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  120,000  120,000  120,000  120,000  120,000  600,000 

Sidewalk Assessment  280,000  180,000  180,000  180,000  180,000  1,000,000 

Sub‐total  400,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  300,000  1,600,000 

 

 
 

 
Storm Drain Improvements 
 
 
 
This ongoing project will implement improvements 
that were identified in the Storm Drain Master 
Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund ‐ CIP  110,000  110,000  115,000  115,000  120,000  570,000 

Sub‐total  110,000  110,000  115,000  115,000  120,000  570,000 

 

PAGE 193



 
Street Resurfacing  

 
 
 
This ongoing project will include the detailed 
design and selection of streets to be resurfaced 
throughout the City during Fiscal Year 2013‐14. This 
project will utilize the City’s Pavement 
Management System (PMS) to assess the condition 
of existing streets and assist in the selection 
process.   
 
 
  

 

 
   

 
FUNDING SOURCE  2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  2017/18  TOTAL 

General Fund‐CIP  2,000,000  ‐  2,000,000  ‐  2,000,000  6,000,000 

Construction Impact Fee  1,000,000  ‐  1,000,000  ‐  1,000,000  3,000,000 

Highway User Tax  2,000,000  230,000  2,000,000  250,000  2,000,000  6,480,000 

Measure A  270,000  ‐  270,000  ‐  270,000  810,000 

Subtotal  5,270,000  230,000  5,270,000  250,000  5,270,000  16,290,000 

 
 

PAGE 194



 

PUBLIC WORKS  DEPARTMENT 
  

 

 Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 

 Staff Report #: 13-089 
 

 Agenda Item #: F-1 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS: Adopt a Twenty Seven Percent Community Wide 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Target 
 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends that Council adopt a 27% community wide greenhouse gas 
emissions reduction target below 2005 baseline emissions by 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

In 2009, the City Council adopted a Climate Action Plan (CAP). Following this, a 
Supplemental Assessment Report (Attachment A) was adopted in July 2011 that 
clarified, updated and weighed strategies over a five year period, provided a cost benefit 
analysis methodology to evaluate measures before implementation, and provided 
annual community greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) inventory updates.  
 
One of the recommended next steps of GHG reduction strategies identified in the 2011 
Assessment Report included considering adoption of a community greenhouse gas 
reduction target. Staff presented three reduction targets in the 2011 Assessment 
Report, which were 10%, 17%, and 27% below 2005 baseline emissions by 2020. 
Council requested that staff obtain community feedback on a reduction target before 
making a final decision.  
 
Based on this direction, staff advertised and organized two evening workshops for the 
public in October 2011. Attendance at both workshops was low. The results of the 
workshops were brought to the Environmental Quality Commission (EQC) in November 
2011. The EQC recommended that staff send an electronic survey to the Green 
Ribbons Citizen Committee (GRCC) members and the Chamber of Commerce to cast a 
wider net of feedback; twelve responses were received. The EQC also agendized the 
reduction targets at their September, November, and December 2011 meetings. The 
recommendation from the EQC is to adopt a 27% reduction target. Their full 
recommendation and report is included as Attachment B. 
 
Staff presented these results to Council in a study session report on March 13, 2012, 
and resulted in Council expressing interest in the 27% reduction target that would be in 
line with the State’s AB 32 goal to reduce statewide emissions to 1990 levels by 2020 
and 80% below 1990 levels by 2050, but wanted further information about funding.  

PAGE 195

AGENDA ITEM F-2



Staff Report #: 13-089  

 
On April 2, 2013, staff and the EQC provided an in-depth presentation on potential 
funding mechanisms at a Council study session, and resulted in the majority of Council 
being in support of adopting the 27% reduction target.  The presentation provided at the 
study session is attached as Attachment C.  Also, a list of Cities that have adopted a 
target is included as Attachment D. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 

The adoption of a reduction target would provide a goal for the City to achieve. Staff 
along with the EQC would then continue to review ways to meet the target through 
various means. These include grants, public/private partnerships, other funding 
sources, and through the City’s 5-year CIP process. Staff will provide updates to 
Council as further information is available that would work toward the target.  
 

IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 

Adopting a target will require additional funding to complete CAP activities and some of 
the activities will be considered in the Capital Improvement Program annually. The 
proposed fiscal year 2013-14 budget has provided a nominal $50,000 to begin work on 
this initiative. Once a target is adopted, staff and the EQC will seek further funding 
opportunities on an ongoing basis. Additional staff time will also be needed to 
implement GHG reduction measures once funding has been secured. Staff will provide 
an update to Council as further information is available.   
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
Setting a GHG reduction target is consistent with the CAP’s five year strategies adopted 
by Council in July 2011 and is a goal, not a requirement. Therefore there would be no 
financial penalty if the City does not achieve the GHG reduction target. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
No environmental review is necessary. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being  
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Climate Action Plan Assessment 
B. EQC Report to City Council on Adopting a Target  
C. Presentation provided at April 2, 2013 Council Study Session 
D. Other Cities Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

 

PAGE 196



Staff Report #: 13-089  

Report prepared by: 
Vanessa Marcadejas  
Environmental Programs Specialist 
 
Fernando Bravo 
Engineering Services Manager 
 
 
 

PAGE 197



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 198



 

  

July 2011 

 

Climate Action Plan Assessment Report 

PAGE 199



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

***Page Left Blank Intentionally*** 
  

PAGE 200



 

  

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................. 3 

Impact of State and Regional Actions on Menlo Park’s GHG Emission ..................................................... 5 

Community Greenhouse Gas Inventory Results between 2005 and 2009 ................................................ 7 

GHG Emissions Forecast and Potential Reduction Targets .................................................................... 10 

Recommendations for Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies ............................................................... 12 

Community Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies: .......................................................................... 13 

Municipal Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies .............................................................................. 23 

Cost-Benefit Methodology for GHG Emission Reduction Strategies ........................................................ 25 

Recommended Next Steps of GHG Emission Reduction Strategies ........................................................ 32 

 

 

Appendix .......................................................................................................................................... 33 

Status of Menlo Park’s 2009 Climate Action Plan’s GHG Reduction Strategies ..................................... 34 

Residential Energy Consumption and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions .......................................... 37 

Commercial Energy Consumption and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions ........................................ 38 

Transportation and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions .................................................................... 39 

Solid Waste Landfilled and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions ......................................................... 40 

Bayfront Park Landfill Emissions ..................................................................................................... 41 

Inventory of Municipal Operations Greenhouse Gas Emissions .......................................................... 42 

 

PAGE 201



 

  

Executive Summary 
The purpose of Menlo Park’s Climate Action Plan (CAP) is to provide strategies that reduce greenhouse 

gas (GHG) emissions and assist Menlo Park to meet or exceed the emissions reduction targets of AB 32 

(California’s Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006). AB 32 sets a goal for the state to reduce greenhouse 

gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020, and 80% below 1990 levels by 2050.  

The Climate Action Plan was approved by the City Council in May 2009 and the Council stated that the 

Climate Action Plan was intended to be a ‘living document’ to be updated periodically as current 

strategies are implemented and as new emission reduction strategies and technologies emerge that 

effectively reduce emissions. The City Council directed staff to complete ‘Climate Action Plan 

Supplemental Research’ in coordination with a consultant to complete additional research on the GHG 

reduction strategies. Staff and CSG Consultants completed a high level assessment of its 2009 Climate 

Action Plan that included the following tasks:  

1. Complete a GHG Emissions Forecast for 2020 

2. Complete Community Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventories from 2005 to 2009 to assist in setting a 

GHG reduction goal for 2020 

3. Complete a high level review of new and existing community and municipal GHG emission 

reduction strategies over a five years 

4. Develop a cost-benefit methodology that could provide a consistent metric to evaluate GHG 

emission reduction strategies  

The work did not include applying the cost-benefit analysis to each updated GHG reduction strategy 

because the level of implementation could vary from strict to voluntary based on community 

engagement, available resources, and council priorities.  The application of the cost-benefit analysis is 

intended to be utilized during the strategy evaluation timeline as specified in recommendations for 

greenhouse gas reduction strategies, and where applicable, be brought back to city council to consider 

for implementation.   

It is also important to note that new requirements have recently been approved pursuant to SB 375 and 

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) that have impacts on Menlo Park Climate Action Plan 

strategies and proposed development projects and long range plans, which are explained later in this 

report.  

The following section provides the highlights of the analysis and recommendations. 

Highlights 

 Several of the 2009 strategies were outdated or needed modifications, and additional GHG 

reduction strategies were needed to effectively reduce emissions. This report provides a table of 

updated community and municipal GHG reduction strategies, rationale for the recommendations, 

a relative priority ranking for implementation and a recommended evaluation timeline for 

implementation.   For reference, the appendix includes the status of recommendations made in 

the original Climate Action Plan. 

  

PAGE 202



 

   

 Of the 723,480 GHG tons from Menlo Park’s 2009 Community GHG Emissions Inventory, only 

0.004% (2,886 tons) are from municipal operations. Therefore, it is recommended that the 

limited staff and resources available for GHG emission reduction work focus on community 

strategies implementation since more than 99% of the emissions are from community sources.  

 The recommended strategies in this report give priority to increase residential and commercial 

energy efficiency since 28% of Menlo Park’s greenhouse emissions are from these sectors. 

Residential and commercial energy efficiency strategies are important because Menlo Park has 

significant policy control over residential and commercial energy consumption (e.g. requiring new 

green building standards, energy efficiency standards for residential and commercial new 

construction/major renovations, etc.). In contrast, Menlo Park has limited policy control over the 

transportation sector which accounts for 62% of total emissions.  Additionally, energy 

conservation strategies provide the most expedient method to reduce GHG emissions and 

provides costs savings after implementation.     

 It is recommended that a new mandatory commercial recycling ordinance be considered to 

reduce waste to landfill, since 68% of Menlo Park’s commercial waste is currently disposed of at 

the Ox Mountain landfill1. This strategy is especially important because methane released from 

the decomposition of waste/organic waste is 20 times more potent than carbon dioxide in its 

global warming capacity.  

 This report includes updated greenhouse gas inventories between 2005 and 2009, and 

information regarding a potential GHG reduction target for Menlo Park. Developing a specific 

target is an essential component of a Climate Action Plan2.  

 The recommended cost-benefit analysis approach provides a consistent method to assist in the 

evaluation of potential GHG emission reduction strategies. After completion of a cost-benefit 

analysis, each of the emission reduction strategies (where applicable) would be presented to the 

City Council for consideration according to the evaluation timeline in the community and 

municipal strategy tables of this report.   

  

                                                
1 City of Menlo Park Solid Waste Generation in Tons By Jurisdiction and Type, 2009 Data, Allied Waste  
2 Menlo Park’s Environmental Quality Commission Climate Action Plan Subcommittee completed a comprehensive assessment of 

other jurisdictions emission reduction targets in April 2010. 

PAGE 203



 

   

Impact of State and Regional Actions on Menlo Park’s GHG 

Emission  

It is important to note that Menlo Park’s projected emissions will be impacted by state and regional 

actions that were included in the AB 32 Scoping Plan.  Of particular importance are the Renewable 

Portfolio Standard (RPS) and the Pavley I and II regulations. The other AB Scoping Plan measures are 

also relevant, such as the Low Carbon Fuel Standard; however, the details and the regulations have not 

yet been developed. Therefore, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) states that 

assessing GHG impacts at the local level from these measures is fairly speculative at present time and 

states that jurisdictions may be able to quantify the GHG emissions impacts in 2011. The following details 

the current status of these state and regional actions that will impact Menlo Park and other jurisdictions: 

Renewable Portfolio Standard  

The State of California Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) requires electricity providers to increase the 

portion of electricity they deliver that comes from renewable energy sources to 20% by 2010 and by 33% 

by 2020. In 2007, 12% of PG&E’s total power mix came from renewable power.  For 2010, PG&E is 

reporting that 18% of their power mix is renewable energy, but this number has not been verified by the 

California Public Utilities Commission.  As PG&E begins using more renewable power, the reduction 

savings will automatically be reflected in Menlo Park’s annual Greenhouse Gas Inventory updates as the 

inventory uses carbon intensity (or carbon coefficients) directly reported from PG&E to calculate GHG 

emissions associated with building energy consumption in Menlo Park.  

Pavley I and II  

Assembly Bill 1493 (Pavley), signed into law in 2002, requires automakers to reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions from new passenger cars and light trucks beginning in 2011. The Air Resources Board (ARB) 

will implement the law in two phases of increasingly stringent standards. The ARB has developed a post-

processing tool that incorporates the emissions impacts of Pavley I and II and states the tool will be 

released for jurisdictions in 2011.  

SB 375  

On September 23rd 2010, the California Air Resources Board (ARB) adopted new regional GHG reduction 

targets for California’s metropolitan planning organizations as mandated by SB 375 (Stenberg, 2008). SB 

375 mandates an integrated regional land use and transportation planning approach to reduce GHG 

emissions from cars and light trucks. Each of the metropolitan planning organizations (e.g. the 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission) are to develop a sustainable communities strategy that 

demonstrates how they will meet their regional target through integrated housing, land use and 

transportation planning. The land use policies encourage higher density near transit, increased mixed use 

development; Transportation policies include parking/pricing policies that encourage alternative modes of 

transportation other than single occupancy vehicles, etc. It is important to note that the regional targets 

are based on per capita emissions, rather than gross emissions, and they still allow for an increase in 

overall emissions due to population growth.  

PAGE 204



 

   

The BAAQMD does not recommend including additional GHG reductions resulting from SB 375 because a 

technical and defensible analysis of the bill's projected impact on the state or the Bay Area is not 

available at this time. Annual traffic counts are already used  to estimate emissions from transportation in 

Menlo Park, and reductions from SB 375 would be reflected during this data collection process.   

The California Air Resource Board and the BAAQMD state that tools are not currently available to enable 

jurisdictions to accurately project the impacts of these state and regional actions; these agencies report 

that the projection tools may be available in 2011. Therefore, it is recommended that these projections 

be assessed and incorporated into Menlo Park’s GHG emission projections in spring or summer 2012.      

 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 

The BAAQMD recently updated new California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines to assist 

jurisdictions in analyzing air quality impacts of proposed projects and plans. The Guidelines establish 

thresholds of significance for GHG emissions and other air pollutant emissions. The thresholds are based 

on achieving AB 32 goals for 2020 and provide GHG thresholds of significance for projects and plans for 

jurisdictions.  The Guidelines also establish GHG thresholds of significance for a jurisdiction’s ‘GHG 

Reduction Strategy”. The BAAQMD states that a GHG Reduction Strategy could be included in 

jurisdictions planning documents such as general plan or other planning documents. 

PAGE 205



 

  

Community Greenhouse Gas Inventory Results between 2005 

and 2009 

Using ICLEI’s updated Clean Air and Climate Protection Software (CACP), Menlo Park was able to 

complete greenhouse gas inventories between 2005 and 2009. Staff analyzed greenhouse gas (GHG) 

emissions that are generated from the building energy usage, solid waste sent to the landfill, vehicle 

miles traveled within the community, and methane produced from a closed landfill (Bedwell Bayfront 

Park). For reference, GHG emission can also be expressed as carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2e), and the 

appendix includes detailed information regarding each sector energy consumption and related 

greenhouse gas emissions.  

Menlo Park’s original 2005 greenhouse gas emissions were also re-evaluated for accuracy and 

consistency with new methodologies and practices.  In 2005, it was reported that Menlo Park emitted 

approximately 491,054 metric tons of CO2e. Due to updated data and developments in methodologies, 

Menlo Park’s 2005 CO2e has been corrected to reflect a CO2e of 747,205 metric tons for 2005. This 

approach uses the best available data along with the most updated methodologies to arrive at a more 

accurate reflection of greenhouse gas emissions per sector and community-wide. For 2005, the following 

corrections were made: 

 Transportation: 

 

1. In 2005, Menlo Park’s city road and freeway lengths were under reported which caused an 

underestimation of VMT and GHG emissions. Per 2005 Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission (MTC) data, it was reported that city roads and the highways associated with 

Menlo Park totaled 60 miles. However, according to Geographic Information System (GIS) 

data Menlo Park’s city roads and highways actually total to 117 miles. Corrections have been 

made to account for the emissions that were not reported in 2005.  

 

2. Menlo Park’s 2005 inventory reports VMT (vehicle miles traveled) for Caltrain at 272,333 

VMT. Upon review from City Staff and an ICLEI (Local Governments for Sustainability) 

regional associate, this is an estimated amount of fuel thought to be consumed when Menlo 

Park residents use Caltrain. This specification was not noted in the 2005 inventory. Due to 

the lack of available data on arriving at a sound VMT estimation for Caltrain, this information 

has been omitted from Menlo Park’s overall community-wide GHG inventory. Menlo Park was 

the only community that had included Caltrain emissions at the time, and to date no other 

community includes Caltrain greenhouse gas emission data.  

 

 Bayfront Park Landfill: 

 

1. In Menlo Park’s 2005 emissions inventory, the Methane capture rate of the Gas Recovery 

System (GRS) was estimated using default values in Landgem 3.02 (software developed by 

the Environmental Protection Agency). This was considered the best available screening tool 

for estimating landfill gas emissions at the time. More recently, the City of Menlo Park was 

able to obtain landfill emissions calculations directly from Fortistar, the operator of the GRS 

system in place. Under the guidance and recommendations of ICLEI, it was advised that 

PAGE 206



 

   

using data directly from Fortistar in conjunction with using CACP (Clean Air and Climate 

Protection) software to generate emissions calculations would display a more accurate 

representation of the emissions at the closed landfill. The difference between the former 

methodology and the new methodology is 9,000 tons of GHG emissions.   

The figure below displays Menlo Park’s 2009 communitywide greenhouse gas emissions inventory by 

source. The results show that the transportation sector is the leading contributor to CO2e, generating 

62% of emissions, followed by the electricity use from the commercial and residential sector generating 

28% of emissions in the community.  

 

Commercial Energy 
19% 

Residential Energy  
9% 

Direct Access Energy 
5% 

Transportation 
City Roads 20% 
(Actual is 11%. A larger 
estimation is assumed 
as most  trips 
originating in Menlo 
Park also cross over 
regional roads) 

Transportation 
Regional Roads  42% 

Includes:  
Highway 101 &280 

El Camino Real 
University Avenue & 
Bayfront Expressway 

(includes feeder 
roads in Menlo Park 

such as Willow, 
University, and Marsh 

Road) 

Bayfront Park Landfill 
3% 

Solid Waste 
2% 

Municipal Operations 
0.004% 

Figure 1:  2009 Communitywide Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Source 
Total Emitted GHG Tonnes = 723,480  

PAGE 207



 

   

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 

Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s 

Figure 2: Menlo Park Communitywide Total GHG Emissions 
2005-2009 

↑1% ↑1% ↓3% 
↓2% 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 

Figure 3: Per Capita GHG Emissions 2005-2009 

CO2e (tonnes) 
Combined Resident and 
Employee Population 

↓1% 0% ↓5% 
0% 

Figure Two represents Menlo Park’s total communitywide greenhouse gas emissions from all sources 

between 2005 and 2009. The GHG emissions are expressed in metric tons (tonnes) of carbon dioxide 

equivalents (CO2e). The graph also includes the year to year percent change. All sources accounted for in 

this graph include CO2e emissions generated from electricity and natural gas consumption in buildings, 

solid waste sent to the landfills, and vehicle miles traveled. Emissions from Bayfront Park Landfill were 

also included. Although Bayfront Park Landfill ceased to accept waste in 1984, the waste-in-place still 

continues to generate greenhouse gas emissions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure Three displays per capita of CO2e tonnes generated from Menlo Park’s residents and work force 

population, and include emissions from all measured sectors. The trends show a continued decrease in 

CO2e emissions.  These continued decreases may be explained by the economic downturn shown that 

started in 2008.  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

PAGE 208



 

   

GHG Emissions Forecast and Potential Reduction Targets 
The intent of the GHG emissions forecast is to quantify the projected GHG emissions through the year 

2020 to determine the estimated amount of GHG emission reductions that are necessary within the 

context of increased growth. The figure below was developed using annual residential and commercial 

growth projection data from the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) that was released in 2010. 

The use of these projections has been recommended by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

(BAAQMD) for jurisdictions that are completing GHG emission projections. If the community of Menlo 

Park continues with the current pattern of energy consumption, waste generation and vehicle miles 

traveled, known as “business-as-usual” (red line), greenhouse gas emissions are estimated to increase 

from 723,480 metric tons (2009 total)  to 928,347 tons by 2020. 

 

 

The various potential reduction targets identified in Figure Four is intended to begin discussion a GHG 

reduction target for Menlo Park that would be consistent with the reduction targets of AB 32. Developing 

a specific target is an essential component of a Climate Action Plan3. The yellow line in Figure Four 

indicates the total emission reductions required to meet the AB 32 emissions reduction target, which 

could be 27% below 2005 levels by 2020. Thus a 2.5% to 3% or 13,449 tonnes annual reduction is 

needed to achieve AB 32 goals.  

                                                
3 Menlo Park’s Environmental Quality Commission Climate Action Plan Subcommittee completed a comprehensive assessment of 

other jurisdictions emission reduction targets in April 2010. 

350,000

450,000

550,000

650,000

750,000

850,000

950,000

2005 2010 2015 2020

 C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s

) 

Year 

Figure 4: Community Emissions Forecast and Potential Reduction Targets  

Forecasted Emissions
Actual GHG Emissions
10% Reduction Goal by 2020 and 30% by 2050
17% Reduction Goal by 2020 and 50% by 2050
AB 32 Reduction Goal (27% by 2020 and 80% by 2050)

27%  below 2005 baseline by 2020 
(meets AB32 Goals) 

10%  below  2005 baseline by 2020 

17%  below 2005 baseline by 2020 2005 Baseline Year 

Business As Usual (BAU)-  Forecast 
of GHG emissions from building 
energy consumption, waste 
landfilled and vehicle miles traveled  
based on continued economic and 
population growth with current 
local, state, and federal practices  
and laws in place. 

700000

750000

800000

850000

Actual GHG Emissions 

PAGE 209



 

   

Based on the current greenhouse gas trend line (black line), it appears that Menlo Park is decreasing its 

GHG emissions. However, there are other factors that may have contributed to the decline. These 

include: 

 The economic downturn since 2008 has reduced energy consumption (downsizing or closures). 

 

 Since the Bedwell Bayfront Park landfill is closed, there are no further opportunities to create 

more methane than what is already stored in the landfill. Thus, a steady decline in GHG 

emissions will result in this area over time.  

It is highly likely that when economic stability returns, community GHG emissions will increase close to 

the “business as usual” scenario.  

Below is a list of emission reduction targets established by other jurisdictions. The BAAQMD recently 

stated that jurisdictions, in developing a GHG Reduction Strategy should establish a GHG reduction target 

that meets or exceed AB 32 goals for consistency with CEQA guidelines and thresholds. Therefore, 

establishing GHG emissions reduction target for Menlo Park is line with regional efforts.  These GHG 

reduction targets could be included in the General Plan update process that is currently planned for 2013-

2014.  It is also important to not that federal and state policies will have an impact Menlo Park’s GHG 

emissions as discussed earlier in this report. It is reasonable to estimate that 10% of Menlo Park’s GHG 

reduction will result from these efforts. Thus, establishing a 27% target would actually mean reducing 

GHG emissions by 17% with local strategies. 

Common Emission Reduction Targets 

Kyoto Protocol for the United States of America 7% below 1990 levels by 2012  
Non-binding as the US is not signatory 

US Conference of Mayor's Climate Protection 
Agreement 

7% below 1990 levels by 2012 

California Executive Order S-3-05 Reduce to 2000 levels by 2010                                            
Reduce to 1990 levels by 2020                                                                 
 80% Below 1990 levels by 2050 

California AB 31 Reduce to 2000 levels by 2020 

A Sample of California Local Government Targets 

City of Arcata 20% below 2000 levels by 2010 

City of Benicia Reduce to 2005 levels by 2010                     
 10% below 2000 levels by 2020 

City of Berkeley 33% below 2000 levels by 2020 

City of Chula Vista 20 % below 1990 levels by 2010 

City of Hayward 12% below 2005 levels by 2020                    
 82% below 2005 levels by 2050 

City of Los Angeles 35% below 1990 levels by 2030 

Marin County 15% below 1990 levels by 2020 

City of Novato 15% below 2005 levels by 2020 

City of Oakland 36% below 2005 levels by 2020 

Sacramento County 15% below 2005 levels by 2020                
 80% below 1990 levels by 2050 

City of San Diego 15% below 1990 levels by 2012 

City of San Francisco 20% below 1990 levels by 2012 

City of San Jose 50% below 2007 levels by 2022 

City of San Luis Obispo 15% below 2005 levels by 2020 

PAGE 210



 

   

 

Recommendations for Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies  
 

The tables on the following pages outline the recommended community and municipal strategies for 

near-term and mid-term considerations. Many of these strategies were previously recommended by the 
Menlo Park’s Green Ribbons Citizen Committee (GRCC) and ICLEI (Local Governments for Sustainability), 

and were included in the 2009 Climate Action Plan. This analysis further defines and expands the scope 
of each strategy, and ranks strategies according to the following criteria:   

 

 Provides significant GHG reduction potential (i.e. strategy focuses on the largest GHG sectors in 

Menlo Park’s GHG Inventory)  

 

 Ease of implementation (i.e. strategy can be implemented with limited staff and other resources)    

 

 Considered a “best practice for GHG reduction strategies” and successfully implemented in other 

jurisdictions 

 

 Considered reasonable and cost-effective to the community and city operations  

 

 Has significant environmental co-benefits for the Menlo Park community such as improved air 

quality, improved public health, reduced traffic congestion, reduced energy and water 

consumption, preserves natural resources and extends landfill life 

 

The criteria have been directly inserted into the tables.  A native valley oak leaf is used to indicate if the 

strategy fully meets the criteria. Some criteria will have no leaf or a half leaf.  A half leaf indicates that 

the strategy meets some of the criteria intent.  A “no leaf” means that it is difficult to meet the criteria. 

The recommended cost-benefit analysis approach that is included later in this report can be applied to 

each strategy, and provide a consistent metric to evaluate GHG emission reductions. The next steps 

include presenting cost-benefit analysis of the selected individual FY 11-12 GHG reduction strategies for 

approval by the City Council before implementation.  

PAGE 211



 

  

Community Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies: This is a recommended timeline only; each GHG reduction strategy would require 
a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis where applicable and consideration by Council prior to implementation. 

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n
 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Energy Efficiency 

Consider adopting  

Sustainable 
Development/ 

Green Building 
standards that 

exceed California’s 

2010 Green Building 
Code (CalGreen) for 

Residential and 
Commercial  

 

 
 

 

28% of Menlo Park’s emissions are from the residential and 

commercial sectors. Green buildings not only reduce GHG 
emissions by minimizing energy/water usage, but also reduce 

natural resource consumption and provide healthier indoor 
environments in comparison to non-green buildings. Building 

energy efficiency standards are important because Menlo Park 

has significant policy control over residential and commercial 
energy consumption, and this strategy has been implemented in 

many other cities in the bay area to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. 

 

The level of implementation can vary from strict to voluntary 
based on available resources, community feedback and city 

council priorities.  In addition, the applicability can range to only 
new structures or include major renovations of buildings.  

 2012-13 

     

Consider actively 
marketing and 

providing additional 

incentives for 
residents to 

participate in the 
new Regional 

Energy Upgrade 

California Program 
 

The new regional program Energy Upgrade California for Menlo 
Park and other San Mateo County jurisdictions provides 

outreach, education, and up to $4,000 rebates for homeowners 

to complete energy efficiency upgrades. The program provides 
rebates based on the percentage of increased home energy 

efficiency; this typically provides 50% of the funding for the 
actual upgrade. The program is funded through state, regional 

and federal grants. Menlo Park could increase participation by 

offering additional rebates and actively marketing the program.  

2011-12     

 
 
 
 

PAGE 212



 

   

                                                
4 www.hcsd.ca.gov/codes/shl/Preface_ET_Graywater.pdf.     

Community GHG 

Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 T

im
e

li
n

e
 

B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 c

o
s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Expand Menlo Park 
Municipal Water 

District 
Conservation 

Programs 

Expand water conservation programs. Consider new water 
conservation incentive programs that include researching a pilot 

program for graywater (water reuse) for onsite landscape 
irrigation or lawn replacement programs. The original graywater 

plumbing requirements in the California Plumbing Code were 
quite restrictive and have been updated to allow some graywater 

solutions for water conservation and irrigation.4 

Current 
and 

Ongoing 

  

  

 

Consider developing 

an Energy 
Efficiency/ 

Renewable Energy 

Program for 
Residential sector 

This would involve an incentive program for residents to 

complete home energy assessments and cost effective upgrades.  
This would be similar to the Green@Home program, but would 

include more comprehensive heating and cooling system tests 

and explore renewable energy options with the homeowners.  
 

One particular strategy could involve providing a rebate for half 
the cost of the energy analysis, and if upgrades are completed a 

rebate for the full cost of the assessment would be provided. 
 

The program can promote current state and utility financial 

incentives and add new incentives to maximize energy efficiency. 
This policy can be a valuable collaboration to the new Energy 

Upgrade California program. Consider participation in regional 
programs and or grants/incentives. 

2013-14   

 

 

 

PAGE 213

http://www.hcsd.ca.gov/codes/shl/Preface_ET_Graywater.pdf


 

   

                                                
5 City of Chula Vista adopted a similar ordinance in 2009 with the Free Resource & Energy Business Evaluation (FREBE) www.chulavista.org  

Community GHG 

Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 T

im
e

li
n

e
 

B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 c

o
s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Develop a 
commercial energy 

efficiency program 
to encourage 

businesses to 
participate in a free 

energy efficiency 

audit when business 
license is issued or 

renewed  
 

Menlo Park’s commercial sector produces 24% of GHG emissions 
through electricity and natural gas consumption. This program 

can be in coordination with PG&E and the Green Business 
Program. The audit can identify energy efficiency/water 

conservation opportunities at their facilities and promote 
rebates, incentives and financing programs. Business can receive 

a report with prioritized actions they can take to reduce 

energy/water costs. Businesses would be encouraged but not 
required to perform efficiency retrofits. Consider requiring free 

energy audits in future, e.g., 2017-18. Some jurisdictions such 
as the City of Chula Vista have implemented this program as 

mandatory5. 

2015-16      

Consider local 
energy efficiency 

and renewable 
energy financing 

program 

The city would provide a low-interest energy financing program 
to fund energy efficiency and clean energy upgrades.  Currently, 

the program is on hold due to the Federal Housing Finance 
Agency (FHFA), Fannie Mae, and Freddie Mac challenging the 

seniority position of the local jurisdictions placing liens on 
properties, and that property owner participation in this program 

may violate mortgage contracts. 

On Hold     

 

 

Consider 

development of an 
ordinance for 

energy and water 

efficiency standards 
for transfer of title 

transactions   

Consider requiring a minimum standard of energy and water 

efficiency measures when a home or business has a transfer of 
title (e.g. sale of property). Consider starting with a voluntary 

education and promotion phase in 2015 and move to a 

mandatory phase starting in 2016 or later. 

2015-16      

PAGE 214

http://www.chulavista.org/


 

   

                                                
6 The City currently plans to develop and adopt updated City CEQA Guidelines in FY 2012-13 
7 SB 375 mandates an integrated development/land use and transportation planning approach to achieve GHG reduction targets 

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Transportation 

Consider amending 

the City’s General 

Plan to include new 
sustainability 

policies, goals and 
programs 

Consider adding new sustainability policies, goals and programs 

during the City’s General Plan revision process, either as a new 

separate element in the General Plan or added into the current 
General Plan elements.  Identify, modify or eliminate policies that 

conflict with sustainability policies and goals, in the interest of 
maintaining internal consistency. General Plan amendment work 

is included in the Capital Improvement Projects for 2013-2014. 
The draft El Camino Real Downtown Specific Plan supports and 

advances the principles of sustainability, and incorporates 

sustainability strategies reflected in the 2009 Leadership in 
Energy and Design (LEED) for Neighborhood Development. 

 
Land Use: Consider including new sustainable land use policies6 

during the planned General Plan review and revision process 

currently scheduled for 2013-20147. Consider policies that allow 
higher density residential and mixed use on sites currently zoned 

for industrial uses, as well as on sites primarily zoned and 
developed for commercial, where some residential may be 

accommodated. Consider policies that provide an effective use of 
mixed used and transit oriented development that would reduce 

the need for parking.  

Transportation:  Consider new sustainable transportation 
policies that provide preferential parking for no or low emission 

vehicles on city streets, city garages and lots. Consider expanding 
parking policies as technology advances to increase 

accommodation of no or low emission vehicles. Expand policies 

that encourage bicycling, walking and other modes of 
transportation than single occupancy vehicles. 

2013-14      

PAGE 215



 

   

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Consider social 
marketing 

programs/ 

campaigns to 
promote alternative 

transportation 
(walking, biking, 

public transit, etc.) 

Social marketing programs aim to uncover barriers that prevent 
individuals from engaging in sustainable behaviors and 

establishes a new social norm for the community to engage in. It 

provides a set of tools that social science research has 
demonstrated to be effective in fostering behavior change. A 

typical social marketing design includes surveying community or 
neighborhood attitudes to identify target audiences and their 

barriers. A program is then developed around this research that 
minimizes barriers through incentives, targeted message 

development, or direct neighborhood engagement activities. 

 
The public health sector has been a successful implementer of 

social marketing programs, such as anti-smoking campaigns. 
Social marketing is a relatively new tool for local governments to 

use in effectively engaging the community in sustainable 

behavior. However, there are past examples of effective 
environmental social marketing programs that include anti-

littering and recycling campaigns during the 1980s until now.  

2013-14      

Consider 

implementation for 
City Car Sharing 

Program 

Many cities (San Francisco, Berkeley, and Portland) have 

implemented a car sharing program and Zipcar.com may be a 
viable alternative for Menlo Park since local jurisdictions have 

these programs underway.   

 
 

2015-16      

Implement Bike 
Improvements 

Bicycle trips can generally replace vehicle trips up to five miles. 
Thus, increasing bicycle trips in Menlo Park could reduce up to 

9,000 tons of GHG emissions by 2020. 

Current 
and 

Ongoing 

     

PAGE 216



 

   

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Consider 
implementation for 

City Bike Sharing 

Program 

A Bike Sharing Program provides publicly shared bicycles that can 
increase the usage of bicycles in an urban environment. 

Redwood City is currently participating in a pilot regional a bike 

sharing program in the bay area. 
 

 
 

 

2013-14      

Expand Community 

Shuttle Service 

The 2009 Climate Action Plan estimates that shuttle service 

contributes to reducing 0.5 tons of greenhouse gas emissions per 

rider per year. Expanding services would increase greenhouse 
gas emissions reductions. 

Ongoing   

 

  

Consider installing 

Electric Plug-in 
Hybrid Vehicle 

Recharging Stations 

Consider installing recharging electric vehicles (EV) and plug in 

hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) and construct recharging stations 
in public parking facilities. The City can also encourage or require 

larger local businesses and multi-unit housing projects to install 
charging stations. $2.5 million in grants for new electric vehicle 

charging stations and infrastructure will become available from 

the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). 
The 2009 Climate Action Plan estimated that installing 30 

recharging stations would reduce an estimated 7,000 metric tons 
of greenhouse gas emissions.  

2013-14      

PAGE 217



 

   

                                                
8 Solid Waste Diversion in Tons by Jurisdiction & Type/City of Menlo Park 2009 Data  
9 Recology Solid Waste and Recycling Report for City of Menlo Park for January, February, and March 2011. 

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Solid Waste 

Consider adopting a 

Zero Waste Policy 
with 75% diversion 

by 2020 and 90% 

diversion by 2030.  

Currently, the city is required by the State to divert 50% of 

community solid waste from the landfill. This policy would 
increase the diversion rate to 75% by 2020, and 90% by 2030. 

This strategy would also evaluate additional policies and 

ordinances needed to reduce waste to landfill to meet diversion 
goals. Menlo Park’s current diversion rate is 43%8.  This program 

has the potential to reduce 20,000 metric tons of greenhouse 
gas emissions. 

2012-13      

Consider adopting a 
mandatory 

Commercial 

Recycling Ordinance 
 

67% of Menlo Park commercial waste (compared to 27% Menlo 
Park’s residential waste) is currently going to landfill9. The 

commercial recycling rate has remained flat in the last several 

years. A commercial recycling ordinance can increase recycling 
by an estimated 10-20%. The program would not impact the 

City’s General Fund and could be funded from commercial 
garbage rates (with negligible impact on garbage rates). The 

new single steam recycling, effective 1/3/2011, makes 

commercial recycling participation and ordinance compliance 
easier. Also, consider inclusion of mandatory recycling for Menlo 

Park public events in this ordinance.  This program has the 
potential to reduce 10,000 metric tons of greenhouse gas 

emissions by 2020. 

2011-12      

PAGE 218



 

   

                                                
10 New CEQA Guidelines June 2010,  www.baaqmd.gov 

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Other 

Establish Climate 

Action Plan 

monitoring and 
progress reporting 

program  
  

Consider completing an annual review of the GHG reduction 

strategies in the Climate Action Plan and provide a progress 

report to the city council that includes  the following actions:   
A. Adopt a GHG reduction target for 2020 

B. Monitor the current GHG reduction strategies and 
provide a progress report to the City Council on an 

annual basis. 
C. Identify new GHG reduction strategies and ensure 

implementation of the strategies has been assigned to 

appropriate department. 
D. Plan to re-inventory every year to monitor progress 

toward the 2020 GHG reduction target.  

Current and 

Ongoing 

     

Expand Green 

Business 

Certification 
Program/Include 

Green Business 
education to new 

business permit 
applicants  

Expand the County’s Green Business Certification Program to 

reduce energy, water and solid waste consumption.  

2012-13   

  

 

Consider amending 

the City’s General 
Plan to include a 

“GHG Reduction 
Strategy” as 

outlined in the new 

CEQA10 Guidelines 

The Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) 

recently approved new CEQA Guidelines that establish 
thresholds of significance for GHG emissions on a project 

level and plan level (e.g. General Plan). These thresholds are 
based on achieving AB 32 goals for 2020. New CEQA 

Guidelines state a ‘GHG Reduction Strategy’ could be adopted 

by a jurisdiction and should contain the specific plan 
elements as noted in Section 4.3 of the CEQA Guidelines. 

2013-14      

PAGE 219



 

   

                                                
11 Center for Sustainable Agriculture data accessed 12/10/10  

Community GHG 
Reduction 

Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Develop social 
marketing campaign 

to educate residents 

on reducing their 
personal 

greenhouse gas 
emissions.  

Social marketing programs aim to uncover barriers that 
inhibit individuals from engaging in sustainable behaviors and 

promote a new norm for the community to engage in. It also 

provides a set of tools that social science research has 
demonstrated to be effective in fostering behavior change. A 

typical social marketing design includes surveying community 
or neighborhood attitudes to identify target audiences and 

their barriers. A program is then developed around this 
research that minimizes barriers through incentives, targeted 

message development, or direct neighborhood engagement 

activities. Other cities have used this approach through green 
schools initiatives, or neighborhood carbon diet clubs or 

green teams. 

2013-14    

  

Develop a 

promotion and 

education program 
to encourage local 

and or organic food 
production 

Develop an education and/or social marketing program to 

promote locally grown and or organic food production and 

promote community gardens, school gardens and famer’s 
markets. This program can help reduce emissions from 

transporting, refrigerating and packaging food hauled from 
long distances (the average fresh food travels 1,500 miles11 

for use in California homes). Consider an ‘Eat Local 
Campaign’ similar to Portland, Oregon program that 

promotes eating foods grown within a specific mile radius.   

2013-14      

Consider an 
educational 

program and/or  
local ordinance to 

limit  vehicle idling  

Exhaust from motor vehicles is a substantial contributor to air  
pollution and a source of greenhouse gas emissions.  These 

pollutants are harmful to the environment and public health. 
An example standard would be to limit vehicle idling time to 

a maximum of three to five minutes.  

2013-2014  

  

 

 

PAGE 220



 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community GHG 

Reduction 
Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

 t
o

 

th
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Research 
opportunities to 

improve methane 

capture at Marsh 
Road Landfill 

(Methane Emissions 
Mitigation) 

Due to methane’s high global warming capacity, this is a 
priority project. Research potential for new methods to 

efficiently capture methane even as methane emissions 

decline (methane is projected to decline to 16,779 tons in 
2020). 

2011-12    

 

 

PAGE 221



 

   

Municipal Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies 

Municipal GHG 
Reduction Strategy 

Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

  
 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Adopt an Environmental 

Preferable Purchasing 
Policy (EPP)  

Consider adopting an Environmental Preferable 

Purchasing Policy (EPP) that requires or encourages 
the purchase of sustainable products that minimize 

environmental impacts. Consider requiring a 
minimum of these 2  specific elements:  

1. All paper products have minimum 30% post 

consumer content  
2. New city fleet purchased should be no or low 

emission vehicles, with some potential 
exceptions.  

Menlo Park’s city fleet generates 28.4% of municipal 

emissions.  

2011-12 

   

 

 

Implement a Civic Green 

Building Policy for new 
municipal construction and 

major renovations 

Menlo Park’s city office buildings (electricity and 

natural gas consumption) account for 33% of Menlo 
Park’s municipal emissions.  Consider implementing a 

green building policy that encourages or requires new 
green building standards such as Leadership in 

Energy and Environmental Design (LEED12) or the 

California Green Building Code (CalGreen) Tier 1 to 
encourage or require new energy efficiency 

requirements that exceed Title 24, Part 6 by 15% for 
new municipal construction and major renovations. 

Green building reduces energy, water and resource 

consumption. Many cities are adopting Civic Green 
Building Policies to reduce operating costs and be a 

green building leader for the public and private 
sector.  

2012-13  

   

 

 

                                                
12 www.usgbc.org Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) 

PAGE 222

http://www.usgbc.org/


 

   

Municipal GHG 

Reduction Strategy 
Rationale 

E
v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 

T
im

e
li

n
e

 B
e

fo
re

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

G
H

G
 

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 

E
a

s
e

 o
f 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

ll
y
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

o
th

e
r 

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

R
e

a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 

c
o

s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

  
 

S
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 

c
o

-b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 

Utilize Energy Service 
Companies (ESCO), 

Energy Performance 

Contracting, and/or solar 
power purchase 

agreements  to reduce 
GHG emissions, and long 

term energy cost savings 

An energy performance contract is a method in which 
the contractor provides and finances energy 

improvements, and is repaid from the energy related 

cost savings the project generates.  There are no 
upfront capital cost, and the city will experience 

overall savings as energy costs continue to increase. 

2011-
2012 

 

 

  

 

Maximize recycling and 

composting and all city 
facilities to a 75% 

measured diversion rate. 

Expand current diversion and consider requiring 

minimum diversion level at city facilities (e.g. 75%). 
Ensure appropriate organic collection containers are 

at city facilities to increase diversion.  

Current 

and 
Ongoing  

 

 

 

  

Continue to replace 

existing city streetlights 
with LEDs 

Streetlights generate 12% of the municipal emissions 

in Menlo Park. The City is already replacing 22% of 
the existing streetlights in Winter 2010 with partial 

funding from the Energy Efficiency and Conservation 

Block Grant (EECBG) administered by the California 
Energy Commission (CEC) ; Replacing all streetlights 

is estimated to save 500,000 kWh of electricity and 
an estimated $50,000 per year. Continue seeking 

grant funding to replace additional City lights from 

(CEC) or other entity. Funding is currently planned for 
Capital Improvement Project for FY 2010-2011.  

2011-14      

PAGE 223



 

  

 
It is also important to note that even before the Climate Action Plan was adopted by City Council, many 

policies and programs have been and continue to be implemented because they are considered cost 

effective, ensure reliable resource supplies, and/or are mandated by the state. Below is a list of current 

and past city projects, policies, and programs that contribute GHG reductions: 

 Draft Specific Downtown Plan includes land use and transportation policy measures that will 

reduce GHG emissions over the long term 

 Expanded recycling program that includes organics recycling for residential customers 

 Menlo Gateway Project includes mitigation measures that focus heavily on reducing energy, solid 

waste consumption, and vehicle miles traveled. 

 Urban Forest Program that includes the Heritage Tree Ordinance, El Camino Street Tree Planting, 

and Street Reforestation Plan 

 Installing energy efficient Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning equipment in the City Council 

Chambers 

 Installing energy efficient broilers in the City Administration Building and Burgess Pool 

 Safe Routes to School Program for Oak Knoll, Laurel Elementary, Encinal, and Hillview schools 

 Local Shuttle Service 

 Bike to Work Day and Drive Less Challenge promotion 

 Purchase of fuel efficient vehicles 

 LED Streetlight and Traffic Signal Conversion 

 Implementation of Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

 Community incentive programs to complete water efficient upgrades 

 Encouraging Transportation Demand Management strategies for new development that include 

installing showering facilities and bicycle parking 

 Sidewalk and Bicycle Master Plans are implemented through the Capital Improvement Plan 

process 

 Signal light coordination that reduces idling an relieves traffic congestion  

 Safe Moves School Assembly Program encourages safe bicycling behavior to youth 

 Employee Bike/Walking Allowance Program and Commuter Check Program 

 Community Services staff promotion of using less waste and encouraging alternative 

transportation to patrons 

 LEED Silver achievement for Arrillaga Family Gymnasium 

 Energy Efficient and Water Efficient Fixtures installed in Arrillaga Recreation Center and planned 

for Gymnastics Center 

 Energy saving light upgrades at the Corporation Yard, Council Chambers, and Main Library  

 Installing more bicycle parking in downtown and at the Caltrain Station 

 Downtown Irrigation Replacement that would conserve water more efficiently  

 Downtown Landscaping improvements include drought tolerant plan species 

 

 

PAGE 224



 

   

Cost-Benefit Methodology for GHG Emission Reduction 

Strategies 
Menlo Park’s approved 2009 Climate Action Plan used various methods to determine the cost-

effectiveness of recommended strategies. At the time of approval, the City Council requested a consistent 

methodology to evaluate the cost-benefit of each GHG reduction strategy.  The methodology below can 

assist in evaluating the cost-benefit of each strategy before implementation.  

It is important to note that conducting a cost benefit analysis for each strategy will be completed 

according to the evaluation timeline in the community and municipal strategy tables included in this 

report. The City Council has stated that the Climate Action Plan is a living document to be updated 

periodically. Part of the rationale for this stems from the fact that many climate change strategies are 

relatively new, and state and federal regulations are also changing that can either create barriers or 

assist in making the strategies more or less feasible.  For example, the state can mandate that all 

commercial businesses are required to recycle. This strategy could  then be potentially removed from 

Menlo Park’s list of community GHG reduction strategies, or Menlo Park could adopt an ordinance that 

would enhance the state law by including materials, like food scraps, that may not be covered under 

state law.  

In addition, there are numerous variables and conditions within a community that can vary the level of 

implementation of each strategy. For example, the sustainable building strategy can vary in 

implementation from voluntary to very strict, depending on current staff resources and community 

support. Thus, reviewing each strategy completely and independently before implementation can save 

time and resources rather than attempting to evaluate all strategies at one given time with the potential 

of some becoming outdated or modified.  

Cost-Benefit Analysis Methodology 

Currently, there is no established cost effectiveness analysis or uniform set of benchmarks/estimation 

factors that jurisdictions follow to evaluate GHG reduction strategies. Jurisdictions currently use various 

data sources for calculating the costs and benefits of GHG reduction strategies. For example, the City of 

San Carlos’s Climate Action Plan used first year costs only as the method to compare and evaluate the 

costs for a particular strategy.   

 

The Rocky Mountain Institute’s “Cost Benefit Methodology “ report has established a well defined 

methodology for completing cost benefit analysis of greenhouse gas reduction strategies. Agencies that 

have used this methodology include the City of Palo Alto and the California Air Resources Board.  

Components of this methodology are included in the following steps for evaluating Menlo Park’s GHG 

strategies. In addition, the methodology below provides a separate Cost Benefit analysis for City 

operation and community impacts: 

 

1. Develop Draft Policy, Program or Project. Include the essential details and specific 

components for the implementation of the strategy. Tasks include but are not limited to:   

 Analyzing the impacts of current or potential federal and state mandates related to the 

strategy 

 Developing two to three policy or program options that define standards and applicability 

PAGE 225



 

   

 Identifying funding sources for the program or project (city funds, grants, or other 

source) 

 Developing a Community Engagement Plan that identifies stakeholders that can provide 

feedback regarding the positive and negative impacts of a policy or program. 

 

2. Calculate GHG Reduction Benefit.  GHG reductions are measured in terms of CO2 equivalents 

(CO2e) and are quantified in short tons (2,000 lb).  Most of Menlo Park’s GHG emission inventory 

and potential reductions involve CO2 emissions, resulting from fossil fuel energy use. The 

remainder involves other GHG emissions, such as methane, which is 20 times more potent to 

climate change than CO2 (methane emissions can be converted CO2 equivalents). 

 

To calculate the CO2e emissions reductions from direct fossil fuel energy use depends on the 

type of fuel and the quantity used: 

 

 

 

The carbon intensity that will be used to evaluate Menlo Park strategies will be the same carbon 

intensities used to calculate Menlo Park’s annual GHG Inventory using the Clean Air and Climate 

Protection software developed by Local Governments for Sustainability (ICELI). See table below 

for current carbon intensities used in the 2009 Community Greenhouse Gas Inventory.  

 

2009 Menlo Park Carbon Intensities 

Fuel Carbon Intensity (CO2e) 

Natural Gas (per MMBTU) 0.085 

Electricity (per MMBTU) 0.088 

Landfill Waste (per ton) 0.471 

Gasoline (per MMBTU) 0.023 

 

 

3. Determine Net Costs. Use the following formula to determine net costs: 

 

 
 

*Convert each future cost and benefit term to present value 

**A negative result is possible 

 

The cost of a GHG reduction strategy includes the initial capital, annual fuel, annual operating 

and/or maintenance costs of a particular strategy, and monitoring effectiveness.  Most reduction 

measures will include initial capital cost, such as installing charging stations for electric vehicles 

or cost to train staff and/or conduct a public outreach campaign for a new ordinance. Annual cost 

PAGE 226



 

   

might include administration of program or project, enforcement, providing incentives, or 

maintaining systems. 

 

Obtaining a value for non-GHG benefits can be a more challenging process. For most CO2 

reduction strategies, the main benefit that can be calculated with certainty is the annual fossil 

fuel savings from increased efficiency or renewable power (e.g. reduced kWh or gasoline).  

 

Many other types of non-GHG benefits are also important to consider, and include: 

 Transportation: Reduced traffic, improved safety, air quality benefits 

 Public Health: improved air or water quality, reduced risk to chronic disease or illness 

(asthma, obesity, diabetes) 

 Waste: Saved landfill costs, energy saved from producing less “one-time” use materials 

 Green Building: Improved indoor air quality, occupant comfort, increased work 

productivity resulting from better design of lighting and ventilation 

 Education: Conserves finite resources 

 

These benefits are difficult if not impossible to monetize and quantify. Economists generally use 

surveys to establish what an individual is willing to pay for improved air quality. However, 

obtaining this data can be time consuming and costly.  Another measure that could be 

considered by the City Council is placing a standardized weighted community value on “non-

purchasable” benefits. For example, if the strategy would significantly improve public health, an 

additional five percent could be added to the strategy’s total greenhouse gas reduction. Once the 

initial and future costs and non-GHG benefits have been determined they can be combined into a 

single cost-benefit metric ($/ton). 

 

4. Calculate City Cost/Benefit of GHG Reduction Strategy.  This would only include costs 

directly related to city operations or infrastructure. The basic methodology for cost/benefit (C/B) 

analysis of a strategy should compare the GHG reduction benefit (calculated in step two) to the 

city net cost  (calculated in step three ), and is measured according to dollar per ton of CO2e 

reduced. 

 

For one time strategies, the following formula would apply: 

 

 

  

The NPV of the net cost value “C” that occurs “t” years over the lifetime of the strategy depends 

on the discount rate. Menlo Park’s Finance Department has recommended a conservative 4.8% 

discount rate, which is higher than discount rates typically applied to other city cost benefit 

analysis.  Agencies such as Palo Alto and the Air Resources board typically use a timeframe of 20 

years of implementation for most strategies, and a discount rate of 4.8 to 5 percent. It is 

recommended that Menlo Park use timeframes that are specific to the life of the strategy with the 

caveat that the time frame does not exceed 20 years.  

 

 

 

PAGE 227



 

   

 

 
 
For strategies that produce a stream of annual reductions, the following formula would apply: 
 

 

 

The capital recovery factor (CRF) is defined as the product of the capital expenditure cost and 

the capital recovery amortized over a specified period of time at an annual discount rate of 4.8%. 

The CRF can be interpreted as the amount of equal payments received over the strategy’s 

lifetime so that the present value of all the equal payments is equal to a payment at the present.  

For example, strategies that use a 20-year capital life with a 4.8% discount rate, the CRF is 

0.07889 or approximately $0.07 annually for each dollar of capital expenditure. 

 

5. Calculate Total Community Cost Benefit: 

 

The Climate Action Plan strategies not only impact the costs and savings to the city, but also can 

impact costs and savings for the community. For example, a sustainable green building ordinance 

would involve costs to the city (e.g. ordinance implementation, staffing for ongoing enforcement) 

and cost impacts to the community.  The building applicant may realize a cost premium of 0.5% 

to 2% for upfront costs in comparison to costs for a non-green building. This upfront investment 

of 0.5% to 2% can produce beneficial life cycle savings of 20% of total construction costs for the 

permit applicant. Additional non-monetized benefits include significantly improved indoor air 

quality (reducing health issues such as asthma, etc.) for the building occupant from 

implementation of this strategy.  Moreover, the Menlo Park community benefits from the reduced 

GHG emissions and reduced energy, water and other natural resources consumption. 

 

The following formula will apply to calculate total community cost benefit:  

 

 

 

 

*The GHG Emission Value is $16/ton CO2e, which is a standard value recommended by the 

Rocky Mountain Institute and is used in Palo Alto Climate Protection Plan.  

 

 

  

PAGE 228



 

   

The resulting format would look similar to the California Air Resources Board cost benefit analysis of AB 

32 strategies for the State. The Air Resources Board completed a cost benefit analysis for a statewide tire 

pressure program, tire tread standard, low friction engine oils, and solar reflective automotive paint and 

window glazing. The cost benefit results are summarized in the table below.  

 

GHG Reduction 

Measure 

Potential 
2020 

Reductions 
MMTCO2E 

Annualized 
Cost 

($Millions) 

Savings 

($Millions) 

Net Annualized Cost 
($Millions) [Cost-

Savings] 

Tire Pressure Program 

*See cost benefit 
calculation below 

0.82 95 337 -242 

Tire Tread Standard 0.3 0.6 123 -123 

Low Friction Engine Oils 
2.8 520 1,149 -629 

Solar Reflective 
Automotive Paints and 

Window Glazing 

0.89 360 365 -5 

 

 

The air resources board used the following assumptions to calculate the cost benefit of implementing a 

tire pressure program: 

Tire Pressure Calculation 
Cost 

($Millions) 

Capital cost for years 2010, 2015, 2020 ($4M/year) $12.00  

Capital cost for years 2010, 2015, 2020, using 5 year Capital Recovery Factor 

(0.231) (Equipment needed for smog check stations) $2.77  

Maintenance cost for 2011-2014 and 2016-2019 periods  

(sum of $1.2M/year for these periods) (1.2 x 8) 
$9.60  

Capital cost 2011-2014, 2016-2019, using 2 year CRF (0.537) $5.16  

Total capital cost for 2020  

(sum of annualized costs: $2.77M+$5.16M) 
$7.93  

2020 operating cost (labor costs for tire pressure check) $87.40  

Annualized cost for 2020  
(2020 operating cost + Total Capital Cost for 2020) $95.33  

Estimated savings from fuel reduction and the 2020 projected fuel costs (92 

million gallons of gas x $3.673/gallon) $337 

Net annualized cost (cost-savings) (Annualized cost – GHG savings) -$242 

 

 

  

PAGE 229



 

   

The City of Palo Alto also used this cost benefit methodology to evaluate implementation of a Green 

Building Ordinance. The results of the cost benefit analysis are below.  

 

Palo Alto Cost Benefit Analysis for Green Building Measures 

  

 

Measure 1a: Implement city 
ordinance for LEED-certified 

green building (commercial, 

mixed use, and multi-family) 

Measure 1b: Implement city 
ordinance for GreenPoint 

Rated requirements (low-

density, residential 
buildings) 

GHG emissions reductions  

(tonnes CO2e/year) 
2,263 851 

C
IT

Y
 

C
O

S
T

/
B

E
N

E
F
IT

 

A
N

A
L
Y

S
IS

 Cost ($/year) $35,555  $66,031  

Benefit ($/year) $0  $0  

Net Cost or (Benefit) 
($/year) 

$35,555  $66,031  

$/tonne CO2e reduced $16  $78  

T
O

T
A

L
 

C
O

S
T

/
B

E
N

E
F
IT

 

A
N

A
L
Y

S
IS

 

Cost $/Year $414,812  $208,574  

Benefit ($/year) $1,843,290  $693,201  

Net Cost or (Benefit) 

($/year) 
($1,428,477) ($484,627) 

$/tonne CO2e reduced ($631) ($569) 

Stakeholders Included 
Developers, Building Owners, 

Building Occupants, and City 

Developers, Building Owners, 

Building Occupants, and City 

 

 

PAGE 230



 

  

Recommended Next Steps of GHG Emission Reduction 

Strategies  
This Climate Action Plan Assessment project was intended to complete a high level analysis of the 2009 

Climate Action Plan’s GHG reduction strategies and identify new strategies for consideration over the next 

five years. The next recommended steps include: 

 Adopting a GHG emission reduction target in FY 11-12, and evaluate possible funding sources for 

consistent climate action plan work 

 Calculating the community GHG inventory for 2010 in FY 11-12 

 Actively market and provide additional incentives to increase participation in the regional Energy 

Upgrade California Program. 

 Include evaluations of five year strategies in the annual Capital Improvement Plan and/or city 

budget process. 

 Complete a Cost Benefit Analysis for the following Community Reduction Strategies in FY 11-12: 

1. Consider a Mandatory Commercial Recycling Ordinance 

2. Consider participating in BAWSCA’s Lawn Replacement Incentive Program  

3. Consider increasing efficiency factors for methane capture at Bedwell Bayfront Park. This 

project is already included in the Capital Improvement Plan. 

 

 Depending on current budget resources, complete the following for Municipal GHG reductions in 

FY 11-12:  

1. Developing an Environmental Purchasing Policy 

2. Continuing to install LED Streetlights 

3. Install water efficient water fixtures  

4. Install photovoltaic system on Onetta Harris Center 

  

PAGE 231



 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 

  

PAGE 232



 

   

Status of Menlo Park’s 2009 Climate Action Plan’s GHG Reduction 

Strategies 

The following tables summarize the community and municipal GHG reduction strategies from Menlo 

Park’s 2009 Climate Action Plan completed by ICLEI and approved by City Council in May 2009. 

Community GHG Reduction Strategies -2009 Climate Action Plan 

 
Community GHG Reduction Strategies 

 

 
Status 

 

Residential Energy Audit Program (Green@Home) Implemented; 

recommend alternative new program for  
2011-2012 

Energy Efficiency/Renewable Energy Financing 

Program 

Not Implemented 

Modified for FY2011-2012 to the California Energy 
Upgrade Program 

Electric Plug-in Hybrid Vehicle Recharging Station Not Implemented 

Proposed for FY2012-2013 

Expand Community Shuttle Service Underway 
2 Residential 

2 Business 
Additional study underway to enhance service and 

ridership 

Many new developments already pay shuttle fee 

Implement Bike Improvements Underway 

Bicycle Master Plan 

 See related work for alternative 

transportation that includes completion of 
the “Safe Routes to Schools” for Laurel 

Elementary and Encinal (plan completed) 
and Hillview; City has a grant and 

construction planned for 2012 

 CIP Projects to fund Safe Routes to 

Schools for Oak Knoll School 

 

Enhance Recycling Collection Service Implemented 

Incentives for Building Practices that reduce energy 

consumption beyond current code  

Not completed  

Recommend sustainable development ordinance 
FY2011-2012 

Early Implementation of CA Building Code Not completed  

Recommend sustainable development ordinance 
FY2011-2012 

City Car Sharing Program Not Implemented 

Recommended 2015-2016 

Limit Vehicle Idling Not Implemented 
 

PAGE 233



 

   

 

Community GHG Reduction Strategies 
 

 

Status 
 

Transportation Demand Strategies Underway 

Implemented with city/CCAG 

 

Transportation Demand Strategies for New 

Developments 

Partially implemented 

CIP projects include Transportation Demand 

Management Study Ordinance Study for 2015-
2016 

 

Zero Waste Plan and Target Not Implemented 
Recommend Policy adoption 2012-2013 

Require Recycling for Commercial Facilities Not Implemented 

Proposed 2011-2012 

Construction and Demolition Recycling Ordinance 
Amendments 

Not Implemented 
Proposed 2011-2012 

Menlo Park Municipal Water District Conservation 

Programs 

Underway 

Landscape Ordinance  Implemented 

 

Municipal GHG Reduction Strategies-2009 Climate Action Plan 

  
Municipal GHG Reduction Strategies  

 

 
Status 

 

Roofing for City Buildings-Reflective and Energy Star Partially implemented 
Proposed 

Solar PV Panels for Corporation Yard Not implemented  

Replace existing streetlights with LEDs Underway with 22% LED relighting   

Planned expansion/funding for 2011 
In CIP for 2011-2012 

Sharon Heights Water Supply Pump Station Planned 

Solar Water heating for Belle Haven Pool In CIP 2011-2012  

Enhance Transit Pass/Carpooling Programs Implemented 

Marsh Road Landfill Methane Emissions Mitigation 

Bedwell Bayfront Park    

Included in CIP for 2011-2012  

Bedwell Bayfront Park Gas Collection   

Enhance Recycling Collection Service at city facilities Implemented 

Install Water Efficient Fixtures in Municipal Facilities In CIP for 2011-12   

PGE Climate Smart Deleted 

Climate and Energy Coordinator Not Implemented 

Plant Trees Implemented/Additional El Camino Tree Planting 

for 2012-2013 and 2013-2014 

Street Reforestation Project 
 

PAGE 234



 

   

  

Municipal GHG Reduction Strategies  
 

 

Status 
 

Environmental Preferable Purchasing Policy Not Implemented 

Proposed 2011-2012 

Green Fleet Policy  Not Implemented 
 

Idling Policy Not Implemented 

 

 

Other Related Sustainability Projects Underway not in 2009 Climate Action Plan   

 Energy Audits of City Administration in CIP for 2012-13 

 Citywide Sidewalk Master Plan: Development of Citywide Sidewalk Master Plan adopted in 2009 

 Safe Routes to Schools for Laurel Elementary and Encinal (plan completed) and Hillview, city has 

a grant received and construction planned for 2012 

 Onetta Harris Community Center Solar Power Conversion (for $400k) in 2011-2012  

  

PAGE 235



 

   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s 

Menlo Park Residential Energy CO2e (tonnes) 2005-2009 

CO2e (tonnes)↓ 1% 
↑13% 

↑1% ↑1% 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

En
e

rg
y 

(k
W

h
) 

M
ill

io
n

s 

Menlo Park Residential Energy kWh 2005-2009 

↓0.3% ↑1% ↑0.5% ↑1% 

Residential Energy Consumption and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 
 

 

D 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From 2006 to 2007, there is a 13% increase in kWh CO2e emissions attributed to two variables; 

1)  PG&E’s changes its in emissions factors every year according to their power mix of fossil  fuel and 

renewable energy use.  For example, electricity emissions factors from 2006 to 2007 went from 0.4560lbs 

CO2/kWh in 2006 to 0.6357lbs CO2/kWh in 2007.  

2) The energy provided from PG&E comes from a mix of energy sources. PG&E generates some of its energy 

from hydroelectric means which accounted for 35% of PG&E’s electricity source mix in 2007. Due to  

drought conditions, PG&E had to generate energy from other sources. This explains the increase in 

emissions factors. 

PAGE 236



 

   

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

En
e

rg
y 

kW
h

 
M

ill
io

n
s 

Menlo Park Commercial Energy KwH 2005-2009 

↑2% ↑0.4% 0% ↓3% 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s 

Menlo Park Commercial Energy CO2e (tonnes) 2005-2009 

     0% 
↑18% ↑0.2% ↓3% 

Commercial Energy Consumption and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From 2006 to 2007, there is a 18% increase in kWh CO2e emissions attributed to two variables; 

1)  PG&E’s changes its emissions factors every year according to their power mix of fossil fuels and 

renewable energy sources. For example, electricity emissions factors from 2006 to 2007 went from 

0.4560lbs CO2/kWh in 2006 to 0.6357lbs CO2/kWh in 2007.  

2) The energy provided from PG&E comes from a mix of energy sources. PG&E generates some of its energy 

from hydroelectric means which accounted for 35% of PG&E’s electricity source mix in 2007. Due to  

drought conditions, PG&E had to generate energy from other sources. This explains why PG&E needed to 

adjust their emissions factors. 

 

PAGE 237



 

   

Transportation and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

 

 

 

 

The graphs above represent the CO2e emissions from the transportation sector for the years 2005-2009.  After 2006, 

the CO2e begins to decline at an average of 2% due to the economic recession and rising gas prices. Between 2007 

and 2008 there is a 4% decrease in CO2e emissions which may be explained by California average gas prices 

peaking in 2008 at an average of $3.56/gal. The rise in gasoline prices cause residents to utilize other means of 

transportation such as public transportation, biking, walking, or carpooling.  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

A
V

M
T 

(A
n

n
u

al
 V

e
h

ic
le

 M
ile

s 
Tr

av
e

le
d

) 

M
ill

io
n

s 

Menlo Park Annual Vehicle Miles Traveled 2005-2009 

      
     
↓1% 

     
↓1% 

      
      

            

     
↑2% 

     
↓0.4% 

     
↓4% 

     
↓0.5% 

     
↓4% 

     
↓1% 

     
↑17% 

     
↑0.01% 

     
↓3% 

     
↓0.3% 

Total City Road &HWY 
AVMT 

 HWY AVMT 

City AVMT 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 

Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s 

Menlo Park Transportation CO2e (tonnes) 2005-2009 

↑3% ↓1% ↓4% ↓1% 

PAGE 238



 

   

 

Solid Waste Landfilled and Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

So
lid

 W
as

te
 (

to
n

s)
 Th

o
u

sa
n

d
s 

Menlo Park Solid Waste (tons) 2005-2009  

↑2% ↓10% 

↓8% 

↓11% 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
O

2
e

 (
to

n
n

e
s)

 
Th

o
u

sa
n

d
s 

Menlo Park Solid Waste CO2e (tonnes) 2005-2009 

↑2% 
↓10% 

↓7% ↓11% 

PAGE 239



 

   

Bayfront Park Landfill Emissions 

 

In Menlo Park’s 2005 emissions inventory, the Methane capture rate of the Gas Recovery System (GRS) 

was estimated using default values in Landgem 3.02 (software developed by the Environmental 

Protection Agency). This was considered the best available screening tool for estimating landfill gas 

emissions at the time. More recently, the City of Menlo Park was able to obtain landfill emissions 

calculations directly from Fortistar, the operator of the GRS system in place, for 2008 and 2009. Under 

the guidance and recommendations of ICLEI, it was advised that using data directly from Fortistar in 

conjunction with using CACP (Clean Air and Climate Protection) software to generate emissions 

calculations would display a more accurate representation of the emissions at the closed landfill.  

Since the best available data for use was 2008 and 2009, estimates were made for 2005, 2006 and 2007. 

Fortistar stated that the amount of landfilled gas captured is typically reduced 5% per year. Thus, 5% 

was added from the 2008 emission calculation to accurately reflect emissions from 2005-2007. 

 

  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

C
H

4
 (

m
e

tr
ic

 t
o

n
s)

 

CH4 emitted (metric tons) from Bayfront Park Landfill 2005-2009 

↓5% ↓5% 

↓14% 

↓5% 

PAGE 240



 

   

 

 

Inventory of Municipal Operations Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

 

 

Emissions from the City are embedded within the community-wide totals. For example, 

emissions from government buildings are included in the “Commercial” sector and emissions 

from City fleet vehicles are included in the “Transportation” figure above. Government 

operations are therefore a subset of total community emissions. In the year 2009, the City of 

Menlo Park’s municipal operations generated 2,889 metric tons of CO2e, which constitutes 

0.004% of the community’s total green house gas emissions. This is a 25% increase compared to 

2005 total emissions (2,305 tonnes). 

Electricity and natural gas use in the City’s buildings contributed to 47%, the vehicle fleet 

contributed 19% of this total, and the remainder of CO2e came from streetlights, waste, and the 

electricity for pumping water and storm water. 

 

Municipal Buildings - Electricity and natural gas use in the City’s buildings contributed to 47% 

of CO2e from municipal operations. This is a 14% increase compared to in 2005. This increase 

can be attributed to increases in PG&E’s greenhouse gas CO2 emission rates for electricity in 

2009. Another reason for the increase is the construction of new buildings from 2005-2009. 

Buildings 
47% 

Vehicle Fleet 
19% 

Streetlights 
13% 

Water 
5% 

Waste 
16% 

2009 Municipal GHG Emission Summary  
(Total  GHG = 2,889  metric tons) 

PAGE 241



 

   

Vehicle Fleet - In 2009, Menlo Park’s municipal vehicle fleet is responsible for the second 

largest share of overall municipal emissions at 19%. This is a 9.4% reduction is a reduction 

compared to 2005. Menlo Park’s vehicle fleet consists of analyzing the fuel consumed by City 

vehicles and equipment, such as police vehicles and the tractors used for landscaping 

Streetlights - The energy consumed by the City’s street lights accounted for 13% of municipal 

operations greenhouse gas emissions in 2009. This analysis included the energy consumed by 

streetlights, traffic signals, park lighting, decorative lights, and parking lot lights. There was a 

1.1% increase in these emissions compared to 2005. This increase can be attributed to the 

addition of more streetlights, including signal cameras that were added in 2008. 

Water/Sewage - The emissions resulting from the energy used to pump potable water remained 

the same at 5% in 2005 and 2009. This analysis excludes pumping and treatment of wastewater 

that is carried out by the West Bay Sanitary District (WBSD), East Palo Alto Sanitary District 

(EPASD), and the South Bayside System Authority (SBSA). 

Waste - In 2009, the relative contribution of landfilled waste from municipal operations to 

greenhouse gas emissions is 16%. There is a 4.8% decrease compared to 2005. This decrease can 

be attributed to the reduction of solid waste sent to the landfill from year to year.  

  

PAGE 242



 

   

Data Sources for GHG Inventories:  

-Electricity and natural gas data provided by PG&E. 

-Direct Access data provided by the CEC (California Energy Commission. 

-Population and Solid Waste data provided by Rebecca Fotu, Environmental Programs Manager. 

-Gasoline data obtained from 

http://www.eia.gov/oil_gas/petroleum/data_publications/wrgp/mogas_history.html 

-Menlo Park gasoline sales data provided by John McGirr, City of Menlo Park Finance. 

-Transportation data provided by the MTC (Metropolitan Transportation Commission)  

-Vehicle Mix data provided by the ARB (Air Resources Board). 

-Solid Waste Breakdown obtained from the CIWMB (California Integrated Waste Management 

Board website). 

-Methane data provided by Fortistar. 
 

PAGE 243

http://www.eia.gov/oil_gas/petroleum/data_publications/wrgp/mogas_history.html


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 244



  

Report by Menlo Park Environmental Quality Commission to City Council 
on Establishing Targets for Reducing  

Community-wide Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
 

January 9, 2013 
 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
This Commission strongly recommends that Menlo Park assume a leadership role by 
setting a goal of a 27% reduction in community-wide greenhouse gas emissions from 
the 2005 baseline emissions by 2020. We further recommend that Staff develop an 
annual reporting mechanism to assess the impact of specific GHG reduction measures 
and progress toward attaining the overall GHG reduction target. 
 
BACKGROUND  
 
City Council first directly addressed climate change as a local issue toward the end of 
2006 and subsequently the Menlo Park Green Ribbon Citizens' Committee was 
convened as an informal advisory body to Council and tasked with researching and 
reporting on the likely impacts of climate change in our community and region, and 
assessing how Menlo Park as a community can most effectively respond to climate 
change. 
 
This turned out to be an unprecedented community engagement initiative, as more than 
130 citizens actively participated in the GRCC over the first 9 months of its existence 
and more than 40 contributed to the Report and Recommendations that was presented 
to Council more than 5 years ago, in November 2007. Only one of you, Councilman 
Cline, had a seat at the dais for this presentation. 
 
The GRCC Report included the following key elements: 
 
 • The warming of the climate is unequivocal with global temperature increases in 
the past 50 years mostly due to human causes. 
 • Peninsula and Menlo Park impacts by 2100 are likely to include regular 
inundation east of Highway 101 during the rainy season due to sea level rise and 
potential disruptions in clean water and electricity supplies due to loss of Sierra 
snowpack. 
 • Stabilizing the global temperature increase to 2 degrees Celsius to avert worst 
impacts of climate change would require an 80% drop in annual GHG emissions below 
2000 levels by 2050.  
 • The longer we wait to act, both mitigation and adaptation will be more difficult 
and costly. 
 • The report recommends 130 municipal and community actions, several of which 
have been incorporated in the Menlo Park’s Climate Action Plan and 5-year CIP. 
 

PAGE 245



  

INTERIM DEVELOPMENTS 
 
In the intervening 5+ years Menlo Park has only begun to grapple with this issue. Menlo 
Park is better positioned than many communities, yet we have not determined whether 
to play a role as a leading community in addressing the climate crisis, and Council has 
failed to adopt GHG reduction targets. In keeping with Mayor Ohtaki's astute branding 
statement that "The Future Begins in Menlo Park," this Commission strongly 
recommends that Menlo Park assume a leadership role by setting a goal of a 27% 
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2020. 
 
While we might kindly state that our community has taken this time to ensure a 
thoughtful approach to this question, the planet's climate has not been so kind. 
Scientists have recently observed the following: 
 
 • Global carbon emissions increased by 5.9% (500M tons of CO2) in 2010, the 
largest annual increase ever recorded. 
 • The world is heading for a 3.5ºC warming based on current emissions and 
actions, nearly double the threshold scientists believe necessary to avert catastrophic 
levels of sea level rise and other significant impacts. 
 • Recent research in sea level rise that takes into account the probability of 
melting land ice in Greenland and Antarctica indicates the potential for sea level to rise 
4-6 meters, which would submerge everything east of 101. 
 
If the major GHG emitters, such as China, India, and the United States, had taken 
concerted action over these past 5 years and adopted a combination of incentives and 
restrictions to effectively ensure the required reductions, we would perhaps not place 
such a degree of importance on local action. In the teeth of a major worldwide 
recession, far too little was done by governments, acting in concert, yet superb 
technological advances did occur that provide a platform for the next stage of action. 
Given the absence of national leadership, we believe it is incumbent upon regional and 
local governments and communities to initiate concerted efforts.  
 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR ACTION 
 
Indeed, we believe that such action will have significant long-term benefits for the Menlo 
Park community. Of course, we can continue to build Menlo Park within an old paradigm 
of energy inefficiency that fails to adopt established best practices and builds outdated 
technologies into long-lived capital investments.  The.status quo likely would result in 
significant long-term costs to operate and require future retrofits to comply withmore 
stringent requirements associated with AB-32.. Menlo Park can enhance its competitive 
business environment by taking a leadership path. If we fail to act, we may miss the 
boat on climate, policy requirements, and opportunities to save. By acting early, we act 
wisely and with the added benefit of making Menlo Park a more livable community. 
 
As a center of innovation spanning Sand Hill Road to Facebook, Menlo Park is in a 
unique position to exert leadership in addressing climate change and leverage its efforts 

PAGE 246



  

and successes. We of the EQC call on City Council to adopt the 27% GHG reduction 
targets that will place Menlo Park among the existing leaders and enable our community 
to live up to our reputation as a center of innovation. If the future does indeed begin in 
Menlo Park, then let us begin to address our community's greenhouse gas emissions 
with the level of urgency and effectiveness that the world requires to stabilize the 
climate. In 2007, the GRCC Report pointed out: 
 
 "Because global warming emissions remain in the atmosphere for up to 100 
years, the choices we make today will greatly influence the climate and quality of life our 
children and grandchildren inherit." 
 
COMMISSION RESPONSE TO COUNCIL GUIDANCE 
 
During your March 13 Study Session on Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets we noted 
that generally you were supportive of the recommended 27% reduction target by 2020, 
subject to two primary considerations: 
 

1) Greater understanding of potential funding opportunities to remedy the 
anticipated resource shortfall of $250,000-$400,000 per year to achieve the 
reduction target, and 

2) Better assessment of the potential impact of greenhouse gas reduction target 
on development within the Menlo Park community. 

 
In response to Council’s request that the EQC address these concerns in greater depth, 
Environmental Quality Commissioners have met numerous times with staff as 
individuals, as an Ad-hoc Subcommittee, and as a Commission to research and gain 
further perspective on these issues.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
After further deliberation, we conclude that it is possible to reconcile higher emissions 
reduction targets with both the fiscal and development criteria.  We reiterate our 
January 4, 2012 recommendation and urge Council to thoughtfully establish strong 
goals for Menlo Park that align with larger statewide and international targets. In order 
to attain statewide and international GHG reduction targets by 2050, we recommend 
that Council adopt a near-term community-wide GHG reduction target of 27% by 2020  
below the 2005 baseline. We further recommend that Staff develop an annual reporting 
mechanism to assess the impact of specific GHG reduction measures and progress 
toward attaining the overall GHG reduction target. 
 
Based on research and discussions since the March 13 Study Session, we believe that 
sufficient funding sources are available to address the shortfall of $250,000 - $400,000 
estimated by staff. We also believe that significant co-benefits will be available to 
developers who contribute toward reducing Menlo Park’s greenhouse gas footprint, 
whether through voluntary action or through meeting more stringent potential future 
requirements for energy efficiency and related measures. 
 

PAGE 247



  

POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES FOR GHG REDUCTION INITIATIVES 
 
The Staff Report accompanying the March 13 Study Session discussed the following 
potential funding sources for GHG reduction initiatives: 
 

“If the 17% or 27% reduction target is recommended, it would require additional 
resources to implement. One option that was discussed in the community 
workshops was increasing the Utility User Tax because utilities are closely linked 
to generation of greenhouse gas emissions. There were also discussions to 
involve public and private partnerships to fund activities. The other option would 
be to continue to seek out grants, and annual request that climate action 
strategies be funded through the Capital Improvement Plan and budgetary 
processes, although this approach conflicts with ongoing effort to create a 
sustainable budget, or can shift other project priorities to a later date.   

 
Recent efforts have focused on exploring these options, and the following six financial 
resources appear to be feasible: 
 
1) Public/Private Partnerships.  
Staff has worked with Commissioner DeCardy (who works in the field of philanthropy) to 
identify several foundations that fund GHG reduction strategies. From preliminary staff 
discussions it appears that Menlo Park could qualify for funding as a pilot location for a 
variety of communitywide initiatives and/or specific energy efficiency programs geared 
toward lower income neighborhoods. The EQC estimates that $50,000-$100,000 of 
annual funding could be made available through these types of sources. 
 
2) Local Business and Community Resources 
Much as staff has successfully partnered with Menlo Park citizens to meet a portion of 
funding requirements for significant new recreational facilities, the EQC believes it is 
very feasible for comparable funding of GHG strategies and/or in-lieu resources to be 
obtained from the local business community and/or private individuals. Indeed, Menlo 
Park is home to a number of venture capital firms with a substantial clean technology 
investment focus, has recently approved three substantial land use proposals with 
notable sustainability features (Menlo Gateway, Menlo Business Park, Facebook), and 
includes several other major businesses with sustainability commitments and/or direct 
involvement in clean technology development (The Rosewood, SRI). Menlo Park 
companies such as Facebook and other sustainability leaders have expressed a 
willingness to collaborate with staff and the EQC on GHG reduction initiatives and will 
consider providing resources to supplement other City and community efforts. While it is 
difficult to speculate on the outcome of such preliminary brainstorming, the EQC 
believes it is reasonable to assume that $50,000-$100,000 of annual funding and/or 
resources could be made available.  
 
3) Renewable Energy Credit Trading: Bedwell Bayfront Park Methane Recapture 
Commissioner Slomiak recently met with an executive from a firm that pairs companies 
requiring renewable energy credits (RECs) with available sources of RECs. This 

PAGE 248



  

executive has knowledge of the methane recapture operation at Bedwell Bayfront Park. 
He believes that, subject to contractual obligations, this could be a “$1 million 
opportunity” for Menlo Park and is interested in further discussions with the City. 
 
4) Core Planning Initiatives for Menlo Park Reduce Spending Requirements 
Upcoming Capital Improvement Plan projects related to general plan and zoning review 
provide the City an opportunity to examine and incorporate GHG reduction strategies. 
As these projects are already funded, such initiatives can provide substantial funding 
co-benefits toward achieving the GHG reduction goals. 
 
5) Use of Captive Sustainability-Related Funds 
Staff is working to identify existing dedicated funds outside of the City’s general fund, as 
well as development impact fees, that could be utilized toward GHG reduction 
strategies. The City could also dedicate a portion of the savings from municipal energy 
efficiency measures toward this funding. Preliminary discussions indicate that $50,000 
of annual funding could be available.  
 
6) Utility Users’ Tax 
Per prior staff discussion, this mechanism is used by numerous municipalities to help 
fund GHG reduction strategies. Because Utility Users have the ability to conserve 
energy and reduce their tax bill, this measure would provide a targeted incentive for 
users to reduce greenhouse gas emissions at their discretion, and would be 
complementary with programs to encourage residential and commercial conservation. 
As 54% of Menlo Park’s communitywide GHG emissions are related to commercial and 
residential buildings, such use of funds appears sensible to us. Indeed, an increase of 
just 0.25% would result in approximately $125,000 in annual funds and a 0.5% increase 
would result in approximately $250,000 in annual funds which would be sufficient to 
address the estimated staffing shortfall. 
 
Based on the above discussion the EQC believes it will be quite feasible to develop 
funding sources to address staff’s estimated annual spending gap of $250,000-
$400,000.  
 
IMPACT ON DEVELOPERS FROM GHG REDUCTION INITIATIVES 
 
The EQC’s Sustainable Building Ad Hoc Subcommittee is in the process of identifying 
recent best practices in communitywide GHG reduction strategies. The Subcommittee 
has learned of a voluntary development arrangement within Seattle, Washington aimed 
at sharing best practices among developers, for example. This initiative highlights 
substantial improvements in building operating costs for sustainable buildings over older 
construction and is resulting in premium pricing for such buildings. 
 
Overall we anticipate that early adopters will experience higher up-front construction 
costs and that as GHG measures are more widely adopted the costs will normalize. At 
the same time, early adopters will offer the market developments with lower operating 
costs and may be able to offset such costs with higher leasing fees.  

PAGE 249



  

 
We recommend that Menlo Park staff and relevant commissions collaborate with 
developers in the conception and implementation of GHG reduction strategies. We may 
learn that developers are willing to move much more aggressively than one might 
otherwise assume.  In fact, Clarum Homes, winner of the Environmental Quality Award 
this past year, demonstrates that sustainable development is profitable and desirable. 
 
LEADERSHIP OPPORTUNITY FOR MENLO PARK  
 
Over the last several years climate scientists are observing impacts of global warming 
that are more severe than many earlier climate models have predicted. Among these 
are the melting of the Greenland ice sheet, ice-free days within the Arctic Circle, 
extensive drought conditions within the United States, a higher incidence of severe 
wildfires, glacial and snowpack melt, earlier onset of spring, and weather instability. 
Worldwide GHG emissions continue to grow, and the largest national emitters have thus 
far failed to collaborate toward concerted action. 
 
Yet, many individual countries, states, and municipalities are adopting GHG reduction 
measures, some of which are more aggressive than those contemplated by Council.  
 
The EQC believes that we in Menlo Park have a unique opportunity to leverage our 
reputation to achieve a much greater impact than reducing the 400,000 metric tons of 
annual CO2 emissions that are the community’s direct responsibility. Menlo Park, as 
home to numerous venture capital firms and now to Facebook, has a reputation as a 
center of innovation. Should Menlo Park exert the will to become a climate action 
leader, this reputation can be leveraged to inspire many other communities toward 
comparable or even more aggressive action. 
 
URGENCY TO ACT  
 
Thus far, based on our review of Menlo Park’s annual GHG emissions, we have been 
falling short as a community by failing to reduce GHG emissions in the five years since 
Council first began addressing this issue. The best we can say is that our community 
has averted the business-as-usual scenario of continual increase. We have an 
opportunity to capitalize on the recent respite.  Otherwise, the annual cost of achieving 
an 80% reduction by 2050 will continue to rise should Menlo Park continue to defer 
action and/or adopt an insufficient GHG reduction goal. 
 
We look forward to Council action in line with our recommendation and are poised to 
continue our collaboration with staff to identify new GHG reduction best practices and 
identify sufficient funding that enables Menlo Park to take its place as a climate action 
leader. 
 

PAGE 250



Climate Action Plan

Status Update, Measuring Methodology, and Setting a 
Potential Target

Rebecca Fotu
Environmental Program Manager

Environmental Program Operations and 
Climate Action Plan (CAP)

 Two full time staff dedicated to administering:
 Water Conservation Programs
 Stormwater Permit Compliance (State Mandate)
 Heritage Tree Ordinance appeals
 Solid Waste Management (State Mandate)
 Liaison to EQC, other departments and public
 Climate Action Plan (CAP) activities  
 Other sustainability initiatives 

ATTACHMENT C

PAGE 251



Background
 Global Warming Solutions Act AB 32 

(2006)

 Climate Action Plan (CAP) Adopted (2009)
 Green Ribbons Citizen Committee (GRCC)
 Environmental Quality Commission (EQC)
 Developed by ICLEI

 Supplemental Assessment Report Adopted 
in 2011
 Five year strategies
 Cost benefit analysis methodology before 

implementation
 Provided update on implementation of past 

strategies 

2013 CAP Update 

 Reviewed by EQC

 Updated five year strategies and greenhouse 
gas inventory

 Change to measuring transportation emissions 

PAGE 252



Draft Five Year Strategy 

 2013-2014 consider:
 Sustainable Building Ordinance
 Energy efficient/renewable energy five year 

plan for commercial and residential sector
 Incorporating CAP strategies into General 

Plan update

 2014-2015 consider:
 Mandatory commercial recycling 

ordinance
 Social marketing program to change 

behaviors towards biking, using public 
transit, and walking in the community

Draft Five Year Strategy 
Continued

 2015-2016 consider:
 Zero Waste Policy
 Installation of electric plug in recharging 

stations

 2016-2017 consider:
 Bike sharing program

 2017-2018 consider:
 Car sharing program
 Local food production and/or social 

marketing methods

PAGE 253



Community Greenhouse Gas 
Inventory Update

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

C
O
2
e 
(t
o
n
n
e
s)

Th
o
u
sa
n
d
s

‐3% +1%
+1% +6% ‐4% ‐2%

2011 Community Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions By Source
(Total = 377,669 Tons)

PAGE 254



Transportation Measurement Changes

 Previously Used Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT)
 Recommended by ICLEI (Local Government for 

Sustainability) 
 Used by other local governments
 Several months to obtain data  
 Inaccurate date received
 Based on a model

 Recommend using gasoline consumed
 Easily accessible data
 Provides more realistic data with pricing and 

employment growth.
 Data resembles VMT local road travel  

Council Question 

Is the Council comfortable with using a 
different measuring methodology for 
transportation? 

PAGE 255



Background Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Target

 29 Bay Area communities have adopted a target and it is 
considered a vital component to a Climate Action Plan 

 There are benefits in adopting a target include:
 Cost effective strategies can be applied near term to 

maximize reductions- higher energy code requirements 
(explain)

 Places City in better position to receive grants and 
outside funding sources

 Presented target options in 2011 Supplemental Report that 
were 10%, 17%, and 27% below 2005 baseline levels by 
2020

Background GHG Target
 Council directed staff to obtain community feedback before 

selecting target
 Two evening workshops (less than five participants)
 Survey sent to Chamber businesses and GRCC (17 

received)
 Majority supported 27% reduction target and using City 

funding to meet goal

 Study session held in March 2012
 Council expressed interest in adopting 27% reduction 

target in line with AB 32 goal.
 Wanted additional research on funding to reach goal 

PAGE 256



Menlo Park GHG Forecast and Potential Targets

Impact of State Initiatives 

Reductions Needed After 
Incorporating State Reductions 10% 17% 27%

Total reduction needed from growth 
line to achieve goal (Metric Tons) 105,564 131,041 169,256

State Initiative Reductions 66,000
Total reduction Menlo Park 
would still need to achieve goal 
(Metric Tons)

39,564 65,041 103,256

 AB 1493 (Pavley I & II) fuel standard
 Renewable Energy Portfolio Standard

PAGE 257



Case Study
Menlo Business Park 
 13 buildings (900,000 sq.ft) 
 Spent over $2 million on energy efficient 

upgrades (payback is 6.5 years)
 Saved 40%-70% on energy consumption
 Reduced over 500 tons of GHG 

emissions

 It would take 80 similar sized projects (72 
million square feet) to meet the 10% target 
in Menlo Park 
 130 for 17% reduction target
 207 for 27% reduction target
 Menlo Park has 14.5 million square feet 

of commercial and industrial buildings 

Potential Costs and Funding
 Focus would be on energy consumption, transportation, 

and solid waste reduction.

 Estimated Funding Needed:
 10% reduction – up to $150,000/yr  of sustained funding 
 17% reduction- up to $250,000/yr of sustained funding
 27% reduction – up to $400,000/yr of sustained funding

 Potential funding sources:
 Continue to incorporate in Capital Improvement Plan 

or operating budget 
 Public Private Partnerships
 City Operation Energy and Fuel Savings
 Utility User Tax (UUT)

PAGE 258



Continue to Incorporate in 
Annual Budgeting Process

 Current method used to fund CAP activities 

 Competes with other city priorities and may cause delays 
or inability to implement programs or policies 

Public Private Partnerships
 Supported by the EQC and relies less on 

city funding sources

 Competitive process and potentially limited 
scope of program work

 Does not guarantee long term funding that 
may be needed to sustain programs or 
policies

 Requires additional staff time and expertise 
 Limit CAP implementation 
 Requires hiring a fundraising consultant

PAGE 259



City Operation Energy and Fuel 
Savings 

 Use savings from  energy efficient upgrades made to 
buildings, vehicle fleet, and/or renewable power

 Less burden on existing city programs or services

 Payback on upfront capital costs would not be realized

 Could provide up to $20K per year

Utility User Tax (UUT)

 Electricity, natural gas, water, phone, and cable

 Currently set at 1% for Menlo Park
 Rate can be increased to 3.5%
 Can be limited to only certain utilities, such as 

electricity and gas 

 Current revenue  is $470K for electric and $120K for 
natural gas.
 0.25% increase would provide $147K 
 0.5% increase would provide $295K
 1% increase would provide $590K

PAGE 260



Questions for Council

 Does Council want to consider adopting a 
greenhouse gas reduction target? 

 If a GHG target should be considered, which target 
would Council consider adopting for 2020? Should a 
2050 target be considered?

 Depending on which target is adopted, what funding 
sources should staff pursue to ensure that Menlo 
Park can reach its target? 

PAGE 261



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 262



 

California Cities Community-Wide Target below 

2005 levels unless otherwise stated 
Alameda 25% by 2020 
Benicia 10% below 2000 by 2020 
Berkeley 30% by 2020, 80% by 2050 
Burlingame 15% by 2020, 80% by 2050 
Foster City 25% by 2020 
Fremont 25% reduction by 2020 
Hayward 13-18% by 2020 
Hillsborough 15% by 2020, 80% by 2050 
Los Altos Hills 30% by 2015 
Los Angeles 35% by 2030 
Millbrae 15% by 2020, 80% by 2050 
Morgan Hill 15% by 2020 
 

Mountain View 5% by 2012, 10% by 2015, 15-20% by 
2020, 80% by 2050 

Palo Alto 15% by 2020 
Portola Valley 15% by 2020 
Redwood City 15% by 2020 
Richmond 15% by 2020 
San Carlos 15% by 2020, 35% by 2030 
San Francisco 20% by 2020 
San Jose 35% below 1990 by 2030 
San Leandro 25% by 2020 
San Mateo 15% by 2020 
San Rafael 15% by 2020 
Santa Cruz 30% by 2020, 80% by 2050 
Union City 30% by 2020 
 

California Counties County-Wide below 2005 levels unless 

otherwise stated 
Marin 15% by 2020 
San Mateo Flat emissions by 2010, 80% by 2050 
Santa Clara 80% by 2050, 10% reduction every 5 years 
Sonoma 20% by 2012 
 

Below is a current survey of community greenhouse gas reduction targets set in 
other communities 
 

PAGE 263



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 264



 

  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 

Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 

Staff Report #: 13-090 
 

Agenda Item #: F2 
 

 

REGULAR BUSINESS: Consider and Introduce an Ordinance to Amend 

Chapter 16.79 (Secondary Dwelling Units) of Title 16 

(Zoning) of the Menlo Park Municipal Code 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council complete its deliberations on modifications to 
the Secondary Dwelling Unit Ordinance and introduce an ordinance to amend Chapter 
16.79 Secondary Dwelling Units of the Menlo Park Municipal Code. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On May 21, 2013, the City Council conducted a public hearing to consider and take 
action on the Housing Element and its associated components. After receiving public 
comments and deliberating on the items, the Council voted 4-0 (with Council Member 
Cline absent) to approve a series of resolutions related to the Environmental 
Assessment, adoption of the Housing Element and updates to the Open Space and 
Conservation, Noise and Safety Elements, minor text modifications to the Land Use 
and Circulation Element, and land use amendments to High Density Residential on four 
identified housing opportunity sites. These resolutions became effective immediately.  
 
In addition, the City Council introduced a series of ordinances that require a second 
reading for adoption.  The ordinances include the establishment of the new R-4-S 
zoning district, creation of an Affordable Housing Overlay zone, codification of the State 
Density Bonus Law, modifications to the R-3 zoning district, the rezoning of four 
housing opportunity sites to R-4-S, and the elimination of zoning districts for which no 
properties are zoned.  The second reading for these ordinances are scheduled as a 
consent calendar item on the June 4 City Council agenda.  
 
At its May 21 meeting, the Council also received comments on and discussed 
modifications to the Secondary Dwelling Unit ordinance. The Council then continued its 
deliberation on this item to its June 4 meeting. Additional information for the Council’s 
consideration is included in the Analysis section below. At its June 4 meeting, the 
Council should complete its discussion on the item and take action. If the Council 
introduces the ordinance (Attachment A) or a modified ordinance, the second 
reading/adoption would occur on June 11.  

PAGE 265

AGENDA ITEM F-2



Staff Report #13-090 

 

ANALYSIS 
 
Consistent with Housing Element Program H4.E, the City is proposing to modify the 
Secondary Dwelling Unit requirements pertaining to single-family residential lots 6,000 
square feet or greater in size throughout the City.  The intent of the ordinance is two-
fold: the first is to bring the ordinance into compliance with State law and the second is 
to encourage the creation of more second units, which are ancillary to the main 
dwelling. 
 
Secondary dwelling units can be a valuable source of affordable units because they 
often house family members at low or no cost, and many of the units are limited in size 
and therefore, have lower rents. State law requires only ministerial action for secondary 
dwelling units, but a local jurisdiction can establish the criteria in which secondary 
dwelling units are approved. Adherence to certain standards, such as size, setbacks, 
and height are still required for approval, but when the criteria are met, there is no 
discretion in the approval.   
 
The proposed amendments to the Secondary Dwelling Unit ordinance include the 
following: 1) decrease the minimum lot size to 6,000 square feet; 2) allow a unit size up 
to 640 square feet and limit the number of bathrooms to one; 3) increase the overall 
height to 17 feet; 4) allow parking within the front and side setbacks under certain 
criteria; and 5) reduce the minimum rear and interior side yards to five feet without 
requiring neighbor approval. The proposed amendment would also allow modifications 
to some of the development regulations through approval of a use permit. Attachment B 
compares the development regulations of the existing ordinance and the proposed 
ordinance as recommended by the Planning Commission.  
 
As noted in the May 21 staff report, staff is also suggesting the addition of the following 
language to clarify the specific standards that cannot be modified through a use permit, 
and believes the language is consistent with the Planning Commission’s discussion and 
recommendation on the item.  
 

16.79.030  Conditional use.  A secondary dwelling unit that is either attached or 
detached and requesting modification to the development regulations, except for 
items (1) density, (2) subdivision, and (10) tenancy, as established in Chapter 
16.79.040. 

 
A number of the development regulations were raised at the City Council meeting on 
May 21.  Staff has highlighted the pertinent issues and identified options to help guide 
the Council’s deliberations.  Attachment C summarizes the issues as well as provides 
potential language modifications to the ordinance. Potential amendments to the draft 
ordinance are shown in strikeout (delete) and underline (new) format. The five issues 
for the Council’s consideration are as follows: 
 

1. Should the rear and side minimum yards be reduced? 

PAGE 266



Staff Report #13-090 

 
2. Should the unit size be allowed to increase if ADA improvements are provided? 

 
3. Should the maximum number of bedrooms permitted increase from one to two? 

 
4. Should wall height increase to provide greater flexibility for design and functional 

use of the unit located in a flood zone? 
 

5. Should the secondary dwelling unit have exterior colors, material, textures and 
architecture similar to the main dwelling? 

 
In addition, Attachment D includes a summary table comparing the relevant 
development regulations for each of the single-family zoning districts, detached 
secondary dwelling units, and accessory structures. For reference, a map of all single-
family zoned lots in excess of 6,000 square feet is included as Attachment E.   
 
Following the Council’s deliberation on the topics related to secondary dwelling units, a 
motion should be made to introduce an ordinance. Attachment A provides staff’s and 
the Planning Commission’s recommendation to the City Council. Should the Council 
wish to modify the ordinance based upon its deliberations on topics, the Council may 
wish to consider draft language proposed in Attachment C.  
 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
There is no direct impact on City resources associated with adoption of these 
ordinances. The overall project’s impact on City resources was discussed in the May 
21, 2013 staff report. 
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
The recommended action is consistent with the City Council’s actions and approvals at 
its meeting of May 21, 2013 and would serve to implement programs of the adopted 
Housing Element. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
On May 21, 2013, the City Council considered and adopted the Environmental 
Assessment prepared for the Housing Element and its related components, and 
adopted findings approving a Statement of Overriding Considerations and the Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. In addition to the agenda posting, an email 
update was sent to subscribers of the project page for the proposal, which is available 

PAGE 267



Staff Report #13-090 

at the following address: http://www.menlopark.org/athome. The project page allows 
interested parties to subscribe to email updates, and provides up-to-date information 
about the project, as well as links to previous staff reports and other related documents. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Draft Ordinance of the City of Menlo Park, Amending Chapter 16.79, Secondary 
Dwelling Units of the Menlo Park Municipal Code  

B. Comparison of Existing and Proposed Ordinance Requirements 
C. Secondary Dwelling Unit Summary Sheet - Potential Options and Modifications 

to the Draft Ordinance 
D. Single-Family Zoning Summary Sheet 
E. Map of Single-Family Lots 6,000 Square Feet or Greater 
 

 
Report prepared by: 
Deanna Chow 
Senior Planner 
 
Justin Murphy 
Development Services Manager 

PAGE 268

http://www.menlopark.org/athome


ATTACHMENT A 

     

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK, AMENDING CHAPTER 16.79 [SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS] 
OF TITLE 16 [ZONING] OF THE MENLO PARK MUNICIPAL CODE 
 

The City Council of the City of Menlo Park does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. The City Council of the City of Menlo Park hereby finds and declares as 
follows:  

 
A. The City desires to amend Chapter 16.79 [Secondary Dwelling Unit] to provide the 

ability to create additional housing throughout the City to accommodate varying 
housing needs.  

 
B. The Planning Commission held duly noticed public hearings on April 22, 2013 and 

April 29, 2013 to review and consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.79 
of Title 16 of the Menlo Park Municipal Code, whereat all interested persons had the 
opportunity to appear and comment. 

 
C. The City Council held duly noticed public hearings on May 21, 2013 to review and 

consider the proposed amendments to Chapters 16.79 of Title 16 of the Menlo Park 
Municipal Code, whereat all interested persons had the opportunity to appear and 
comment. 

 
D. After due consideration of the proposed amendment to Title 16, public comments, 

the Planning Commission recommendation, and the staff report, the  City Council 
finds that the proposed amendment to Title 16 support the Housing Element and are 
appropriate.  

SECTION 2.  Chapter 16.79 [Secondary Dwelling Units] of Title 16 [Zoning] of the 
Menlo Park Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

Chapter 16.79 
 

SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS 
 
Sections:  
   16.79.010  Purpose 
   16.79.020  Permitted use 
   16.79.030  Conditional use  
   16.79.040  Development regulations 
   16.79.050  Mitigation monitoring 
 

PAGE 269



Ordinance No.  

 

16.79.010  Purpose.   
The purpose of this chapter is to set forth criteria and regulations to control the 
development of secondary dwelling units within the single-family residential zoning 
districts. 
 
16.79.020  Permitted use.   
A secondary dwelling unit developed within the main dwelling or structurally attached to 
the main dwelling as defined in Section 16.04.145 Buildings, structurally attached, or a 
secondary dwelling unit detached from the main dwelling, are permitted in a single-
family residential zoning district, subject to the provisions set forth in Section 16.79.040. 
 
16.79.030  Conditional use.   
A secondary dwelling unit that is either attached or detached and requesting 
modification to the development regulations, except for items (1) density, (2) 
subdivision, and (10) tenancy, as established in Chapter 16.79.040. 
 
16.79.040  Development regulations.   
Development regulations for a secondary dwelling unit are as follows: 
 
(1) Minimum lot area:  6,000 square feet; 
(2) Density:  No more than one (1) secondary dwelling unit may be allowed on any 

one (1) lot; 
(3) Subdivision:  A lot having a secondary dwelling unit may not be subdivided in a 

manner that would allow for the main dwelling and secondary dwelling unit to be 
located on separate lots or that would result in a lot of less than 7,000 square feet 
of area or less width and/or depth than required by the single-family zoning district 
in which the lot is located; 

(4) Minimum yards: 
(a) Structurally attached secondary dwelling units:  Secondary dwelling units 

developed within the main dwelling or structurally attached to the main 
dwelling as defined in Section 16.04.145 Buildings, structurally attached, shall 
comply with all minimum yard requirements for the main dwelling established 
by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located; 

(b) Detached secondary dwelling units:  Detached secondary dwelling units shall 
comply with all minimum yard requirements for the main dwelling established 
by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located, with the 
exception that the minimum rear yard and interior side yard is five (5) feet.  

(5) Unit size: 
(a) The habitable square footage of all levels of the secondary dwelling unit shall 

not exceed 640 square feet; 
(b) Secondary dwelling units shall be limited to studio or one-bedroom units and 

one bathroom. 

PAGE 270



Ordinance No.  

 

(6) Height:  The maximum wall height of a detached secondary dwelling unit is nine (9) 
feet and the maximum total height is 17 feet; 

(7) Parking:  One (1) covered or uncovered off-street parking space that may be 
provided in the following configurations and areas in addition to the areas allowed 
for the main dwelling: 
(a) In tandem, meaning one car located directly behind another car; 
(b) Within required interior side yards;  
(c) Within required front yards if no more than 500 square feet of the required 

front yard is paved for motor vehicle use and a minimum setback of 18 inches 
from the side property lines is maintained. 

(8) Consistency:  All secondary dwelling units shall comply with all applicable 
development regulations for the single-family zoning district in which the lot is 
located and building code requirements set forth in Title 12 Building and 
Construction of the Municipal Code unless otherwise provided for in this section; 

(9) Aesthetics:  The secondary dwelling unit shall have colors, materials, textures and 
architecture similar to the main dwelling; 

(10) Tenancy:  Either the main dwelling or the secondary dwelling unit shall be 
occupied by the property owner. 

 
16.79.050 Mitigation Monitoring.  
All second unit development shall comply, at a minimum, with the Mitigation Monitoring 
and Report Program (MMRP) established through Resolution No. 6149 associated with 
the Housing Element Update, General Plan Consistency Update, and Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments Environmental Assessment prepared for the Housing Element adopted on 
May 21, 2013.  
 
SECTION 3.  This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”).  Pursuant to the court ordered Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation 
(“Judgment”) in Peninsula Interfaith Action, et al. v. City of Menlo Park, Case No 
CIV513882, the City is required to bring its Housing Element and related elements of 
the General Plan into compliance with state law and the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement that was incorporated into the Judgment.  The Judgment incorporates 
Government Code Section 65759, which provides that CEQA does not apply to any 
action necessary to bring the General Plan or relevant mandatory elements into 
compliance with any court order.  This ordinance is required to bring the General Plan 
or relevant mandatory elements into compliance with State law and the court ordered 
Judgment.  It is, therefore, not subject to CEQA.  
 
If this ordinance were subject to CEQA, this ordinance is not a project pursuant to 
Public Resources Code Section 21080(a) and CEQA Guidelines Section 15002(i), 
which indicate that CEQA applies to discretionary projects carried out or approved by 
public agencies.  This ordinance is ministerial in that the Housing Element indicates that 
the City “will” take the actions identified in this ordinance within 60 days of adoption of 

PAGE 271



Ordinance No.  

 

the Housing Element.  When an initial approval (in this case the Housing Element) is 
sufficiently specific that any follow-up approval is limited to a determination of 
compliance with conditions or provisions set forth in the initial approval, then the follow-
up approval is ministerial.  Health First v. March Joint Powers Auth. (2009) 174 
Cal.App.4th 1135.  Finally, the rezoning for “by-right” development at higher densities is 
required pursuant to state law.  Government Code Sections 65583 and 65583.2.  For all 
of the foregoing reasons, there is no judgment or deliberation on the part of the decision 
makers and decision makers have no power to shape or change the actions identified in 
this ordinance in response to environmental review.  As a ministerial action, this 
ordinance is not a project subject to CEQA. 
 
Even if this ordinance were determined to be a discretionary project subject to CEQA, 
the “common sense exemption” which indicates CEQA applies only to projects that 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment applies to exempt 
this ordinance from needless environmental review.  CEQA Guidelines 15601(b)(3); 
Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 
372.  The environmental impacts of this ordinance were reviewed in the Environmental 
Assessment, which is the equivalent of a Draft Environmental Impact Report, conducted 
for the Housing Element and related General Plan elements which was adopted by the 
City Council on May 21, 2013.  It can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the action identified in the ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment beyond what was analyzed in the Environmental Assessment.  Therefore, 
this ordinance is exempt from CEQA. 
 
SECTION 4. If any part of this Ordinance is held to be invalid or inapplicable to any 
situation by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this Ordinance or the applicability of this Ordinance to other 
situations. 
 
SECTION 5.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of its 
adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days of its adoption, the ordinance shall be posted in three 
(3) public places within the City of Menlo Park, and the ordinance, or a summary of the 
ordinance prepared by the City Attorney, shall be published in a local newspaper used 
to publish official notices for the City of Menlo Park prior to the effective date. 
 
INTRODUCED on the fourth day of June, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

** REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY ** 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 272



Ordinance No.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED as an ordinance of the City of Menlo Park at a regular 
meeting of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park on the ___ day of ___, 2013, by 
the following vote: 
 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
_________________________    ________________________ 
Pamela Aguilar      Peter Ohtaki 
Acting City Clerk                Mayor  
 

PAGE 273



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 274



ATTACHMENT B 
 

 

Secondary Dwelling Units 

 Existing Ordinance Proposed Ordinance 

Unit Type 
Attached to main dwelling unit or 
detached 

Unchanged 

Minimum Lot Size 
 

7,000 sf 6,000 sf 

Density 
No more than 1  secondary dwelling 
unit per lot 

Unchanged 

Minimum 
Yards 

Attached 
Comply with minimum yard 
requirements for zoning district 

Unchanged 

Detached 

Comply with minimum yard 
requirements for zoning district, 
except minimum rear yard 
requirement is 10 feet 

Reduce the interior side and rear yard 
setback to 5 feet  

Unit Size 
5% of lot area or 640 sf, whichever is 
less 

Maximum of 640 sf  

Number of Bedrooms and 
Bathrooms 

1 (maximum) 
1 bedroom (maximum) - unchanged 
1 bathroom (maximum) 

Height 
Attached 28 feet unchanged 

Detached 
9 ft.  (maximum wall height) 
14 ft. (maximum overall height) 

9 ft. (maximum wall height) - unchanged 
17 ft. (maximum overall height) 

Parking 

1 (covered or uncovered); meets the  
minimum yard requirements of the 
zoning district; tandem ok; use 
permit required if located within 
required yards 

1 (covered or uncovered); permitted 
within required interior side yard and 
within the front yard if no more than 500 
sf of the front yard is paved for motor 
vehicles and a minimum side setback of 
18 inches is maintained 

Approval Process 

Comply with all applicable 
development regulations for the 
single-family zoning district and 
building code requirements 

Unchanged 

Aesthetics 
Unit shall have the colors, materials 
and textures and architecture similar 
to main dwelling unit 

Unchanged 

Tenancy 
Property owner shall occupy either 
the main or secondary dwelling unit 

Unchanged 

PAGE 275



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 276



ATTACHMENT C 
 

SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS  

Zoning Ordinance 
Section 

Topic/Question Potential Options and Modifications to the Ordinance 

16.79.040 (4b) Minimum Yards for 
Detached Units 
 
Should the rear and 
side minimum yards 
be reduced? 

1) Existing Proposal: Maintain proposal of minimum five (5) foot interior and rear yards for detached 
secondary dwelling units.  The following is the proposed language in Attachment A: 
 

Detached secondary dwelling units: Detached secondary dwelling units shall comply with all minimum yard 
requirements for the main dwelling established by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located, 
with the exception that the minimum rear yard is 10 feet and interior side yard is five (5) feet.  

 For reference, the following are the existing side yard requirements. 
 

R-E: min. 10’ on one side; 30’ total 
R-E-S: min. 10’ on one side; 25’ total 
R-1-S & R-1-s (FG): min. 10’ 
R-1-U: 10% of min. lot width up to 10’; min. 5’ 
R-1-U (LM): min. 5’, 3’ with neighbor approval 
 

2) Neighbor Approval Option: Provide flexibility to reduce the side and rear yards to five (5) feet, subject to 
written approval of the owner(s) of the contiguous property abutting the portion of the encroaching 
structure. If the Council believes that neighbor approval for a reduction in the interior side yard is 
appropriate, it may wish to consider the following modified language: 
 

Detached secondary dwelling units: Detached secondary dwelling units shall comply with all minimum yard 
requirements for the main dwelling established by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located, 
with the exception that the minimum rear yard is 10 feet. Furthermore, the side and rear yards may be 
reduced to five (5) feet, subject to written approval of the owner(s) of the contiguous property abutting the 
portion of the encroaching structure. 
 
3)   Reduced Minimum Yards in R-1-U Option: Provide flexibility to reduce the interior side and rear yards to 

5 feet in the R-1-U zoning district only. If the Council believes a 5-foot minimum interior side and rear 
yards in the R-1-U zoning district is appropriate (while maintaining the existing interior side yard 
requirement and rear yard of 10 feet in all other single-family zoning districts), it may wish to consider 
the following modified language:  

 
Detached secondary dwelling units: Detached secondary dwelling units shall comply with all minimum yard 
requirements for the main dwelling established by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located, 
with the exception that the minimum rear yard is 10 feet. interior side yard and rear yard is five (5) feet in the 
R-1-U zoning district and the rear yard is 10 feet for all other single-family zoning districts.  
 
4) Existing Regulation Plus Use Permit: Maintain existing requirement of minimum yard for the main 

dwelling unit, except that a rear yard for a detached unit can be reduced to 10 feet, but allow reductions 
through approval of a use permit. The following is the language in the existing Secondary Dwelling Unit 
ordinance: 
 

PAGE 277



SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS  

Zoning Ordinance 
Section 

Topic/Question Potential Options and Modifications to the Ordinance 

 
Detached secondary dwelling units:  Detached secondary dwelling units shall comply with all minimum yard 
requirements for the main dwelling established by the single-family zoning district in which the lot is located, 
with the exception that the minimum rear yard is 10 feet.   
 

16.79.040 (5a) Unit Size 
 
Should the unit size 
be allowed to 
increase if ADA 
improvements are 
provided? 

1)  Existing Proposal: Maintain proposal of 640 square feet as maximum unit size.  The maximum unit size 
could be increased through approval of a use permit. The following is the proposed language in 
Attachment A: 

 
The habitable square footage of all levels of the secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed five percent of the 
lot area or 640 square feet., whichever is less. 
 
1) ADA Allowance in 2nd Unit Regulations:  Consider an increase of up to 100 square feet (740 square feet 

total) if a unit is designed and built to meet ADA standards, including the dwelling unit itself, path of 
travel to and from the unit and parking to accommodate the unit. If the Council believes that additional 
square footage is necessary to accommodate improvements to meet accessibility requirements, the 
Council may wish to consider the following modified language: 
 

The habitable square footage of all levels of the secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed five percent of the 
lot area or 640 square feet, except when a unit is designed and constructed to meet all disabled access 
requirements of the California Building Code. When a unit is fully disabled access-compliant, the unit size 
may be increased by up to 100 square feet for a maximum size of 740 square feet.  whichever is less.  

 
2) ADA Allowance through Reasonable Accommodation:  Allow an increase in unit size during the creation 

of a Reasonable Accommodation Ordinance to implement Housing Element program H3.C. 
 
3) Increase in Unit Size: Consider an increase of up to 100 square feet (740 square feet total) for greater 

flexibility in interior design and occupancy. If the Council believes that additional square footage is 
appropriate for all secondary dwelling units, the Council may wish to consider the following modified 
language: 

 
The habitable square footage of all levels of the secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed five percent of the 
lot area or 640 740 square feet. 
 

16.79.040 (5b) No. of Bedrooms 
 
Should the maximum 
number of bedrooms 
permitted increase 
from one to two? 

1) Existing Proposal: Maintain existing language with a one bedroom maximum and proposed one 
bathroom maximum. The number of bedrooms and bathrooms could be increased through approval of a 
use permit. The following is the proposed language in Attachment A: 

 
Secondary dwelling units shall be limited to studio or one-bedroom units and one (1) bathroom 

 
2) Maximum Two Bedrooms: Consider modifications to the language to allow for up to two bedrooms and 

one bathroom to provide greater flexibility on use of the space. Should the Council wish to increase the 

PAGE 278



SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS  

Zoning Ordinance 
Section 

Topic/Question Potential Options and Modifications to the Ordinance 

maximum number of bedrooms, it may wish to consider the following modified language: 
 
Secondary dwelling units shall be limited to studio or one-bedroom units a maximum of two (2) bedrooms 
and one (1) bathroom 
 

16.79.040 (6) Height for Detached 
Units 
 
Should wall height 
increase to provide 
greater flexibility for 
design and functional 
use of the unit 
located in a flood 
zone? 

1) Existing Proposal: Maintain proposed requirement of 9-foot wall height and overall height of 17 feet. The 
maximum wall height could be increased through approval of a use permit. The following is the 
proposed language in Attachment A: 
 

The maximum wall height of a detached secondary dwelling unit is nine (9) feet and the maximum total 
height is 14 17 feet 

 
2) Floodplain Allowance: Consider modifications to allow an increase in wall height while maintaining the 

overall maximum height of 17 feet. If the Council believes an increased wall height is necessary where 
secondary units are located in a flood zone, it may wish to consider the following modified language: 

 
The maximum wall height of a detached secondary dwelling unit is nine (9) feet and the maximum total 
height is 14 17 feet, unless the secondary dwelling unit is located in a flood zone.  When a secondary 
dwelling unit is located in a flood zone, the maximum wall height can be increased proportionally to the 
minimum amount needed to meet the flood zone requirements for habitable structures as determined by the 
Building Official.  The total height of the structure shall be maintained at 17 feet. 

16.79.040 (9) Aesthetics 
 
Should the secondary 
dwelling unit have 
exterior colors, 
material, textures and 
architecture similar to 
the main dwelling? 

1) Existing Regulation: Maintain the proposed requirement where the unit shall have colors, materials, 
textures and architecture similar to the main dwelling. The following is the existing language in the 
Secondary Dwelling Unit ordinance: 

 
The secondary dwelling unit shall have colors, materials, textures and architecture similar to the main 
dwelling 
 
2) Design Flexibility: Consider removing or modifying the language to allow for greater flexibility in design. 

If the Council believes that the design should not be prescribed, the Council may wish to consider 
deleting the Aesthetics section in its entirety.  If the Council wishes to provide more flexibility in the 
design and appearance of secondary dwelling units, the Council may wish to consider the following 
modified language: 

 
The secondary dwelling unit shall have colors, materials, textures and architecture similar that are 
complementary to the main dwelling 
 

 

PAGE 279



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 280

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text



ATTACHMENT D 

 
R-E R-E-S R-1-S & R-1-S (FG) R-1-U R-1-U (LM) 

Minimum Lot Area 20,000 sf 15,000 sf 10,000 sf 7,000 sf 
4,900 sf (before 6/1/06) 
7,000 sf (after 6/1/06) 

Minimum Lot Width/Depth 110 ft./130 ft. 100 ft./100 ft. 80 ft./100 ft. 65 ft./100 ft. 40 ft./75 ft. 

Main Dwelling Unit 

Minimum  
Yard 

Front 20 ft. 

Rear 20 ft. 

Side, Interior 
30 ft. total; minimum 10 

ft. on one side 
25 ft. total; min. 10 ft. on 

one side 
10 ft 

10% lot width; min. 5 ft., 
max. 10 ft. 

5 ft.; 3 ft. with neighbor 
approval or use 

permit 

Side, Corner min. 15 12 ft 

Height 
Lots >20,000 sf – 30 ft. 
Lots < 20,000 sf – 28 f 

One-story – 20 ft. 
Two-stories – 28 ft. 

Detached Secondary Dwelling Units (Existing Ordinance) 

Minimum 
Yard 

Front 
 

20 ft. 

Rear* 10 ft. 

Side, Interior* 
30 ft. total; minimum 10 

ft. on one side 

25 ft. total; min. 10 ft. on 
one side 

 
10 ft.  

10% lot width; min. 5 ft., 
max. 10 ft. 

5 ft.; 3 ft. with neighbor 
approval or use permit 

Side, Corner min. 15 ft. 12 ft. 

Height*  9 ft. wall height; 14 ft. total height 

Detached Accessory Structures 

Minimum 
Yard 

Front Varies (must be on rear half of lot) 

Rear 3 ft. (5 ft. from an alley) 

Side, Interior 3 ft. (5 ft. from an alley) 

Side, Corner Varies; cannot project beyond setback  required on adjacent lot 

Height 9 ft. wall height; 14 ft. total height 

Single-Family Zoning District Summary 

*Denotes potential modification under consideration in the Zoning Ordinance amendment. 
PAGE 281

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 282

vmalathong
Typewritten Text



M
ID

D
LE

FI
E

LD
 R

D

ALPINE RD
AL

M
A 

S
T

WILLOW RD

EL
 C

A
M

IN
O

 R
E

A
L 

 

SANTA CRUZ AVE

SANDHILL RD

SAND HILL RD

VALPARAISO AVE

UNIVERSITY AVE
EL

 C
AM

IN
O

 R
EA

L

ALA
M

E
D

A D
E

 LA
S

 P
U

LG
A

S
  

JU
N

IP
E

R
O

 S
E

R
R

A 
B

LV
D

MARSH RD

CHURCHILL AVE

EMBARCADERO RD

RAVENSWOOD AVE

WILLOW RD

UNIVERSITY AVE

BAY R
D

MIDDLE AVE

LA
U

R
E

L S
T

AL
M

A 
S

T

AVY AVE

H
AVEN

 AVE

O'BRIEN DR

OAK GROVE AVE

WILLOW RD

ENCINAL AVE

HAMILTON AVE

SHARON RD

SCOTT DR

BOHANNON DR

MENLO AVE

C
O

N
STITU

TIO
N

 D
R

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y 

D
R

N
EW

BR
ID

G
E ST

MARSH RD

GLENWOOD AVE

SHARON PARK DR

RINGWOOD AVE

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y 

D
R

±

Date: March 8, 2013
Prepared by: City of Menlo Park Planning Division GIS 0 1,000 2,000 3,000

Feet

Legend
R1 > 6000 sf

CityLimits

Lot Area Distribution Single Family Dwelling Units > 6,000 Sq. Ft.
(No Conditional Development)

PAGE 283

vmalathong
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT E

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text

vmalathong
Typewritten Text



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 284



 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
 

Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 
Staff Report #: 13-091  

 
Agenda Item #: F-3 

 

 
REGULAR BUSINESS:   Authorize the City Manager to Execute a Three-

Year Renewable Lease Agreement with the 
Tougas Family Q-Tip Trust for the Property 
Located at 871A and 871 B Hamilton Avenue in 
Menlo Park 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute a three-
year renewable lease agreement with the Tougas Family Q-tip Trust for 871A and 871B 
Hamilton Avenue in Menlo Park.      
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Since the 1980’s, and in response to growing violent criminal activity on the east end of 
the City, the Council authorized the siting of a new police sub-station at a leased site on 
the corner of Newbridge Street and Willow Road.  Over the years, the Police Department 
has used the sub-station for various law enforcement purposes.   
 
Over time, the facility has become less of a law enforcement resource and even less as a 
community resource.  Several years ago, through the now defunct Community 
Redevelopment Agency, the City initiated a partnership to develop a new Community 
Service facility at the corner of Ivy Drive and Willow Road.  Through fits and starts, that 
project remains non-viable in the near future for various legal reasons which are now 
further complicated through the dissolution of the City’s redevelopment agency.   
 
This year, through the City Council goal setting process and in conjunction with the Belle 
Haven Visioning process, the proposed relocation of the existing Police Sub-Station was 
prioritized.  Various locations were targeted with the most viable being 871A & 871B 
Hamilton Avenue (at Willow Road).  Staff identified an 1846 square foot vacant store front 
in the retail complex at that intersection.  It has high visibility and ample parking.  Planning 
staff has indicated that use as a proposed police community facility is consistent with the 
zoning and land use approvals for the property.    
 
Staff began discussions with the property owners who willingly welcomed a police facility 
in the space.  Coincidentally, Facebook approached the City expressing a willingness to 

PAGE 285

AGENDA ITEM F-3



advance the Council’s stated goals for a more attractive community police facility in the 
neighborhood.  Facebook wanted to contribute financially towards that outcome.  
 
Staff met with Facebook officials who generously agreed to supplement the cost difference 
between the City’s current lease for the existing Newbridge site (totaling $950/month) for 
the proposed lease amount of the Hamilton site (totaling $3,700/month).  The difference is 
$2,750/month.  Facebook would also provide, direct and install all of the tenant 
improvements to make the site more neighborhood-friendly and attractive.  The attached 
correspondence (Attachment A) from Facebook provides the assurance of Facebook’s 
financial intent.  Details of the build out will be determined by proposed uses for the facility 
which are being explored.  At a minimum, the facility will provide an enhanced level of law 
enforcement use presently found at the Newbridge sub-station.   
 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
At no net cost increase for the lease cost over the existing sub-station, this proposal 
improves the quality, accessibility and usefulness over the present police sub-station in the 
Belle Haven neighborhood.  There may be nominal costs related to utilities, facility 
maintenance, and other minor operational costs.   
 
As proposed: 
 

Total Annual Lease Cost   $44,400 
Total Annual Facebook Supplement   33,000  
Net City Cost     $11,400 

 
However, additional major costs burdens to the City to operate the Hamilton facility have 
yet to be determined as those too will be determined by Council direction on proposed 
additional uses of the site.  At any rate, staff will carefully consider ongoing costs as it 
relates to any additional services to be provided at the facility including shifting existing 
staff, seeking community volunteers, etc.   
 
The City Manager’s Proposed Fiscal Year 2013-14 Budget is a separate agenda item 
before the City Council. Importantly, as proposed, it does not reflect any additional costs 
related to this action.  Once the Council has determined the scope of services that the City 
will provide from the facility, then the budget can be amended to reflect those cost 
increases.    
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
The City Council has asked that improvements to, or relocation of the Police Substation 
in Belle Haven be a priority for the year.  It is consistent with the Council’s broader 
desire to increase public safety throughout the community.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
The proposed action does not require environmental review.   

PAGE 286



PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Facebook Correspondence – (to be provided prior to City Council meeting) 
B. Proposed Lease Agreement   
 

Report prepared by: 
Alex D. McIntyre 
City Manager 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 287



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 288



AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION

STANDARD INDUSTRIALICOMMERCIAL
MULTI-TENANT LEASE - GROSS

1. Basic Provisions (“Basic Provisions”).

1.1 Parties: This Lease (“Lease”), dated for reference purposes only 5 / 30/2013

ismadebyandbetweenTougas Family 0—tip-trust, Trust “C” / TF El Camino LLC

(“Lessor”)

and City Of Menlo Park, California

_____________________________________________________

(“Lessee”), (collectively the “Parties”, or individually a “Party”).

1.2(a) Premises: That certain portion of the Project (as defined below), including all improvements therein or to be provided by Lessor
under the terms of this Lease, commonly known by the street address of 87 1A & 87 lB Hamilton Ave.
located in the City of Menlo Park , County of San Mateo
State of Cal i fo mi a , with zip code 94025 , as outlined on Exhibit

______________

attached
hereto (“Premises”) and generally described as (describe briefly the nature of the Premises): 2 office units measuring approx,
1,846 Sq ft. known as 871A & 8718. These 2 units are approx. 14% of the total square
footage of the retail complex.

In addition to Lessee’s rights to use and occupy the Premises as hereinafter specified, Lessee shall have non-exclusive rights to any utility raceways of
the building containing the Premises (‘Building’)and to the Common Areas (as defined in Paragraph 2.7 below), but shall not have any rights to the
roof, or exterior walls of the Building or to any other buildings in the Project. The Premises, the Building, the Common Areas, the land upon which they
are located, along with all other buildings and improvements thereon, are herein collectively referred to as the “Project.” (See also Paragraph 2)

1.2(b) Parlcing: 2 unreserved vehicle parking spaces. (See also Paragraph 2.6)
1.3 Term: 3 years and 0 months (“Original Term”) commencing June 15th, 2013

(“Commencement Date”) and ending June 14th 2016 (“Expiration Date”). (See also Paragraph 3)

1.4 Early Possession: If the Premises are available Lessee may have non-exclusive possession of the Premises commencing

Upon Mutual Execution (“Early Possession Date”). (See also Paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3)

1.5 Base Rent: $ 3,700. 00 per month (“Base Rent”), payable on the 1st

day of each month commenang August 1st. 2013 . (See also Paragraph 4)

0 If this box is checked, there are provisions in this Lease for the Base Rent to be adjusted. See Paragraph

__________________

1.6 Lessee’s Share of Common Area Operating Expenses: 0 percent ( 0 %) (“Lessee’s Share”).

In the event that the size of the Premises and/or the Project are modified during the term of this Lease, Lessor shall recalculate Lessees Share to
reflect such modification.

1.7 Base Rent and Other Monies Paid Upon Execution:

(a) BaseRent:$3,700.00 forlheperiodJuly 1st. — July 31st 2013

(b) Common Area Operating Expenses: $ 0 . 00 for the period N/A

(c) Security Deposit: $ 3700 (last Mths) (“Security Deposit”). (See also Paragraph 5)

(d) Other:$ 1,973.33 forJune 15th 2013 — June 30th, 2013(Pro — Rata)

(e) Total Due Upon Execution of this Lease: $ 9, 373 . 33

1.8 Agreed Use: City Of Menlo Park Belle Haven Police Substation & related office

(See also Paragraph 6)

1.9 Insuring Party. Lessor is the “Insuring Party”. (See also Paragraph 8)

1.10 Real Estate Brokers: (See also Paragraph 15)

(a) Representation: The following real estate brokers (the “Brokers”.) and brokerage relationships exist in this transaction (check
applicable boxes):

0 Sequoia Realty Services represents Lessor exclusively (“Lessor’s Broker”);

0 Sequoia Realty Services represents Lessee exclusively (“Lessee’s Broker”); or

[1

__________________________________________________________________________

represents both Lessor and Lessee (“Dual Agency”).
(b) Payment to Brokers: Upon execution and delivery of this Lease by both Parties, Lessor shall pay to the Brokers for the

brokerage services rendered by the Brokers the fee agreed to in the attached separate written agreement or if no such agreement is attached, the sum

of

______________

or 4 . 5 % of the total Base Rent payable for the Original Term, the sum of n/a or n/a of the total
Base Rent payable during any period of lime that the Lessee occupies the Premises subsequent to the Original Term, and/or the sum of

n/a or n/a % of the purchase price in the event that the Lessee or anyone affiliated with Lessee acquires from Lessor any
rights to the Premises.

1.11 Guarantor. The obligations of the Lessee under this Lease are to be guaranteed by City Of Menlo Park,

California (“Guarantor”). (See also Paragraph 37)
1.12 Attachments. Attached hereto are the following, all of which constitute a part of this Lease:

EJ an Addendum consisting of Paragraphs

_______________

through
D a site plan depicting the Premises;

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 289



El a site plan depicting the Project;
El a current set of the Rutes and Regulations for the Project;
El a current set of the Rules and Regulations adopted by the owners association;
El a Work Letter;
0 other (specify):Lessee to return both units B7lA & 871B to their current condition upon
vacanting the premises. Lessee to do it’s best effort to reserve/change 2 parking spaces
on Hamilton ave. closest to unit 87Th to “red” spaces for “Police use only”

2. Premises.
2.1 Letting. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Premises, for the term, at the rental, and

upon alt of the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease- While the approximate square footage of the Premises may have been used in
the marketing of the Premises for purposes of comparison, the Base Rent stated herein is NOT tied to square footage and is not subject to adjustment
should the actual size be determined to be different. NOTE: Lessee is advised to verify the actuat size prior to executing this Lease.

2.2 Condition. Lessor shalt deliver that portion & the Premises contained within the Building (“Unit’) to Lessee broom dean and free
of debris on the Commencement Date or the Early Poaseaaion Date, whichever first occurs (“Start Date”), and, so long as the required service
contracts described in Paragraph 7.1(b) below are obtained by Lessee and in effect within thirty days following the Start Date, warrants that the existing
electricat, plumbing, fire sprinkler, lighting, heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems (“NVAC”), loading doom, sump pumps, if any, and all other
such elements in the Unit, other than those constructed by Lessee, shatt be in good operating condition on said date, that the structural elements of the
roof, bearing walls and foundation of the Unit shall be free of material defects, and that the Unit does not contain hazardous levels of any mold or fungi
defined as toxic under applicable stale or federal law. If a non-compliance with such warranty exists as of the Start Date, or if one of such systems or
elements should malfunction or fail within the appropriate warranty period, Lessor shall, as Lessors sole obligation with respect to such matter, except
as otherwise provided in this Lease, promptly after receipt of written notice from Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature and extent of such
non-compliance, malfunction or failure, rectify same at Lessors expense. The warranty periods shall be as follows: (i) 6 months as to the HVAC
systems, and (ii) 30 days as to the remaining systems and other elements of the Unit. If Lessee does not give Lessor the required notice within the
appropriate warranty period, correction of any such non-compliance, malfunction or failure shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee’s sole cost and
expense (except for the repairs to the fire sprinkler systems, roof, foundations, and/or bearing walls - see Paragraph 7).

2.3 Compliance. Lessor warrants that to the best of its knowledge the improvements on the Premises and the Common Areas comply
with the building codes that were in effect at the time that each such improvement, or portion thereof, was constructed, and also with all applicable laws,
covenants or restrictions of record, regulations, and ordinances in effect on the Start Date (“‘Applicable Requirements”). Said warranty does not apply
to the use to which Lessee will put the Premises, modifications which may be required by the Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar laws as a
result of Lessee’s use (see Paragraph 4g), or to any Alterations or Utility Installations (as defined in Paragraph 7.3(a)) made or to be made by Lessee.
NOTE: Lessee is responsible for determining whether or not the Applicable Requirements, and especially the zoning are appropriate for
Lessee’s intended use, and acknowledges that past uses of tIme Premises may no longer be allowed. If the Premises do not comply with said
warranty, Lessor shall, except as otherwise provided, promptly after receipt of written notice from Lessee setting forth with specificity the nature aed
extent of such non-corrq,liance, rectify the ssme at Lessors expense. If Lessee does not give Lessor written notice of a non-compliance with this
warranty within 6 months following the Start Date, correction of that non-compliance shall be the obligation of Lessee at Lessee’s sole cost and
expense. If the Applicable Requirements are hereafter changed so as to require during the term of this Lease the construction of an addition to or an
alteration of the Unit, Premises and/or Building, the remediation of any Hazardous Substance, or the reinforcement or other physical modification of the
Unit, Premises and/or Building (“Capital Expenditure”), Lessor and Lessee shalt allocate the cost of such work as follows:

(a) Subject to Paragraph 2.3(c) below, if such Capital Expenditures are required as a result of the specific and unique use of the
Premises by Lessee as compared with uses by tenants in general, Lessee shall be fully responsible for the cost thereof, provided, however, that if such
Capital Expenditure is required during the last 2 years of this Lease and the cost thereof esceeds 6 months’ Base Rent, Lessee may instead terminate
this Lease unless Lessor notifies Lessee, in writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessee’s termination notice that Lessor has elected to pay the
difference between the actual cost thereof and the amount equal to 6 months’ Base Rent, If Lessee elects termination, Lessee shall immediately cease
the use of the Premises which requires such Capital Expenditure and deliver to Lessor written notice specifying a termination date at least go days
thereafter. Such termination date shall, however, in no event be earlier than the last day that Lessee could legally utilize the Premises without
commencing such Capital Expenditure.

(b) If such Capital Expenditure is not the result of the specific and unique use of the Premises by Lessee (such as, governmentally
mandated seismic modifications), then Lessor shalt pay for such Capital Expenditure and Lessee shall only be obligated to pay, each month during the
remainder of the term of this Lease or any extension thereof, on the date that on which the Base Rent is due, an amount equal to 1/144th of the portion
of such costs reasonably attributable to the Premises. Lessee shall pay Interest on the balance but may prepay its obligation at any time. If, however,
such Capital Espenditure is required during the last 2 years of this Lease or if Lessor reasonably determines that it is not economically feasible to pay
its share thereof, Lessor shall have the option to terminate this Lease upon go days prior written notice to Lessee unless Lessee notifies Lessor, in
writing, within 10 days after receipt of Lessor’s termination notice that Lessee will pay for such Capital Expenditure. If Lessor does not elect to
terminate, and fails to tender its share of any such Capital Expenditure, Lessee may advance such funds and deduct same, with Interest, from Rent
until Lessors share of such costs have been fully paid. If Lessee is unable to finance Lessors share, or if the balance of the Rent due and payable for
the remainder of this Lease is not sufficient to fully reimburse Lessee on an offset basis, Lessee shall have the right to terminate this Lease upon 30
days written notice to Lessor.

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the provisions conceming Capital Expenditures are intended to apply only to non-voluntary,
unexpected, and new Applicable Requirements. If the Capital Expenditures are instead triggered by Lessee as a result ot an actual or proposed
change in use, change in intensity of use, or modification to the Premises then, and in that event, Lessee shall either: (i) immediately cease such
changed use or inlensity of use and/or take such other steps as may be necessary to eliminate the requirement for such Capital Espenditum, or (N)
complete such Capital Expenditure at its own expense. Lessee shall not have any right to terminate this Lease.

2.4 Acknowledgements. Lessee acknowledges that: (a) it has been given an opportunity to inspect and measure the Premises, (b) it
has been advised by Lessor and/or Brokers to sstisfy itself with respect to the size and condition of the Premises (including but not limited to the
electrical, HVAC and fire sprinkler systems, security, environmental aspects, and compliance with Applicable Requirements and the Americans with
Dissbilities Act), and their suitability for Lessee’s intended use, (c) Lessee has made such investigation as it deems necessary with reference to such
martem and assumes all responsibility therefor as the same relate to its occupancy of the Premises, (d) it is not relying on any representation as to the
size of the Premises made by Brokem or Lessor, (e) the square footage of the Premises was not material to Lessee’s decision to lease the Premises
and pay the Rent stated herein, and (f) neither Lessor, Lessors agents, nor Brokem have made any oral or written representations or warranties with
respect to said matters other than as set forth in this Lease. In addition, Lessor acknowledges that: (i) Brokers have made no representations,
promises or warranties conceming Lessee’s ability to honor the Lease or suitability to occupy the Premises, and (N) it is Lessors sole responsibility to
investigate the financial capability and/or suitability of all proposed tenants.

P

INITIALS INITIALS

fi AIR COM

PAGE 290



2.5 Lessee as Prior OwnerlOccupant. The warranties made by Lessor in Paragraph 2 shall be of no force or effect if immediately
prior to the Start Date Lessee was the owner or occupant of the Premises. In such event, Lessee shall be responsible for any necessary corrective
work.

2.6 Vehicle Parking. Lessee shall be entitled to use the number of Parking Spsces specified in Paragraph 1.2(b) on those portions of
the Common Areas designsted from time to time by Lessor for parking. Lessee shall not use more psrking spaces than said number. Said parking

spaces shall be used for parking by vehides no larger than full-size passenger automobiles or pick-up trucks, herein called “Permitted Size Vehicles.”
Lessor may regulate the loading and unloading of vehicles by adopting Rules and Regulations as provided in Paragraph 2.9. No vehicles other than

Permitted Size Vehicles may be parked in the Common Area without the prior written permission of Lessor. In addition:
(a) Lessee shall not permit or allow any vehicles that belong to or are controtted by Lessee or Lessee’s employees, suppliers, shippers,

customers, contractors or invitees to be loaded, unloaded, or parked in areas other than those designated by Lessor for such activities.
(b) Lessee shall not service or store any vehicles in the Common Areas.

(c) if Lessee permits or allows any of the prohibited activities described in this Paragraph 2.6, then Lessor shall have the right, without
notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to remove or tow away the vehicle involved and charge the cost to Lessee, which
cost shall be immediately payable upon demand by Lessor.

2.7 Common Areas - Definition. The term “Common Areas” is defined as au areas and facilities outside the Premises and within the
estarior boundary tine of the Project and interior utility raceways and installations within the Unit that are provided and designated by the Lessor from
time to time for the general non-exclusive use of Lessor, Lessee and other tenants of the Project and their respective employees, suppliers, shippers,
customers, contractors and invitees, including parking areas, loading and unloading areas, trash areas, roadways, walkways, driveways and
iandscaped areas.

2.8 Common Areas - Lessee’s Rights. Lessor grants to Lessee, for the benefit of Lessen and its employees, suppliers, shippers,
contractors, customers and invitees, during the term of this Lesee, the non-exclusive right to use, in common with others entitled to such use, the
Common Aress as they esist from time to time, subject to any rights, powers, and privileges reserved by Lessor under the terms herenf or under the
terms of any rules and regulations or restrictions goveming the use of the Project. Under no circumstances shall the right herein granted to use the
Common Areas be deemed to include the right to store any property, temporarily or permanently, in the Common Aress. Any such storage shall be
pemitted only by the prior written consent of Lessor or Lesser’s designated agent, which consent may be revoked at any time. In the event that any
unauthorized storage shall occur, then Lessor shail have the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to
remove the property and charge the cost to Lessee, which cost shall be imrnediateiy payable upon demand by Lessor.

2.9 Common Areas - Rules and Regulations. Lessor or such other person(s) as Lessor may appoint shall have the exclusive controt
and management of the Common Areas and shall have the right, from time to time, to establish, modify, amend and enforce reasonable rules and
regulations (“Rules and Regulations”) for the management, safety, care, and cleanliness of the grounds, the parking and unioading of vehicles and
the preservation of good order, as well as for the convenience of other occupants or tenants of the Building and the Project and their invitees. Lessee
agrees to abide by and conform to au such Rules and Regulations, and shall use its best efforts to cause its employees, suppliers, shippers, customers,
contractors and invitees to so abide and conform. Lessor shall not be responsible to Lessee for the non-compliance with said Rules and Regulations by
other tenants of the Project.

2.10 Common Areas - Changes. Lessor shall have the right, in Lessor’s sole discretion, from time to time:
(a) To make changes to the Common Areas, inciuding, without limitation, changes in the location, size, shape and number of

driveways, entrances, parking spaces, parking areas, loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, landscaped areas, walkways and
utility raceways;

(b) To close temporarily any of the Common Areas for maintenance purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises remains
available;

(c) To designate other land outside the boundaries of the Preci to be a part of the Common Areas;
(d) To add additional buildings and improvements to the Common Aress;

(a) To usa the Common Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations to the Project, or any portion
thereof; and

(ft To do and perform such other acts and make such other changes in, to or with respect to the Common Areas and Project as
Lessor may, in the exercise of sound business judgment, deem to be appropriate.

3. Term.

3.1 Term. The Commencement Date, Expiration Date and Original Term of this Lease are as specified in Paragraph 1.3.
3.2 Early Possession. Any provision herein granting Lessee Early Possession of the Premises is subject to and conditioned upon the

Premises being available for such possession prior to the Commencement Date. Any grant of Early Possession only conveys a non-esclusive right to
occupy the Premises. If Lessee totally or partially occupies the Premises prior to the Commencement Date, the obligation to pay Base Rent shall be
abated for the period of such Early Possession. All other terms of this Lease (including but not limited to the obligations to pay Lessee’s Share of
Common Area Operating Expenses, Real Property Taxes and insurance premiums and to maintain the Premises) shall be in effect during such period.
Any such Early Possession shall not affect the Espirstion Date.

3.3 Delay In Possession. Lessor agrees to use its best commercially reasonable efforts to deliver possession of the Premises to
Lessee by the Commencement Date. If, despite said efforts, Lessor is unable to deliver possession by such date, Lessor shall not be subject to any
liability therefor, nor shall such failure affect the validity of this Lease or change the Expiration Date. Lessee shall not, however, be obligated to pay Rent
or perform its other obligations until Lessor delivers possession of the Premises and any period of rent abatement that Lessee would otherwise have
enjoyed shall run from the date of dehvery of possession and continue for a period equal to what Lessee would otherwise have enjoyed under the terms
hereof, but minus any days of delay caused by the acts or omissions of Lessee. If possession is not delivered within 60 days after the Commencement
Dale, as the same may be extended under the terms of any Work Letter executed be Parties, Lessee may, at its option, by notice in writing within 10
days after the end of such 60 day period, cancel this Lease, in which event the Parties shall be discharged from all obligations hereunder. If such
written notice is not received by Lessor within said 10 day period, Lessee’s right to cancel shall terminate. If possession of the Premises is not
delivered within 120 days after the Commencement Date, this Lease shall terminate unless other agreements are reached between Lessor and Lessee,
in writing.

3.4 Lessee Compliance. Lessor shall not be required to tender possession of the Premises to Lessee until Lessee complies with its
obligation to provide evidence of insurance (Paragraph 8.5). Pending delivery of such evidence, Lessee shall be required to perform all of its
obligations under this Lease from and after the Start Date, including the payment of Rent, notwithstanding Lessor’s election to withhold possession
pending receipt of such evidence of insurance. Further, if Lessee is required to perform any other conditions prior to or concurrent with the Start Date,
the Start Date shall occur but Lessor may elect to withhold possession until such conditions are satisfied.
4. Rent.

4.1. Rent Defined. All monetary obligations of Lessee to Lessor under the terms of this Lease (except for the Security Deposit) are
deemed to be rent (“Rent’).

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 291



‘1.2 Cc

Leace, in a

(a) The following costs relating to the ownership and operation of the Project aro dofined as “Common Aroa Operating Expenses”: -

(i) Costs rooting to the operation, repair and maintenance, in neat, dean, good order and oondition, but not the roplasomont
(see subparagraph (e)), of the following:

(aa) Tho Common Areoe ond Common Area improvoments, induding parking aroae, loading and unloading oroae,
trash argot, roadways, parkwoye, walkways, drivowayo, landeoopod areas, bumpors, inigalion systems, Common Aroa lighting facilities, fences ond
gates, elevators, roofs, oxterior walls of fho buildings, building systems and roof drainage systems.

(bb) Exterior signs and any tenant diroctories.
(cc) Any Era sprinkler systems.

(dd) All other omen and improvements that are within the ostaior boundaries of the Projorit but outcide of the
Premises and/or any other space occupied by a tenant.

(it) The cost of water, gas, electricity and telephone to service the Common Areas and any utilities not separately
motored.

(iti) The cost of trash disposal, pest control services, property management, security services, owner’s association
dues and fees, the cost to repaint tho estorier of any etnistures and the cost of any environmental inspostiens.

(iv) P,esoryes set aside for maintenance and ropoir of Common Areas and Common Argo equipmont.
(v) Any increase above the Baso Real Properly Taxes (as defined in Paragraph to).
(vi) Any “Insurance Cost lncreace (as defined in Paragraph 8).
(vii) Any deductible portion of an insured loss concerning the Building or the Common Areas.
(viii) Auditors’, osceuntonto’ and ottomoyc’ fees and coats rotated to the operation, maintenance, repair and

replacement of the Pre4oet.
(ix) The cost of any capital improvement to the Building or the Project net severed under the provisions of

Paragraph 2.3 provided; however, that Lessor shall allocate the cost of any such capitol improvement over a 12 year period and Lesseo shall net be
required to pay marc than Lecsee’s Share of 1/111th of the cost of such capital improvement in any given month.

(x) The coot of any other sarvieos to bo provided by Lessor that are stated elsewhere in this Loose to be a
Common Area Operating Expense.

(b) Any Common Area Operating Expenses and Real Property Taxes that are specifically attributable to the Unit, the Building or to any
other building in the Project or to the operation, repair ond maintcnonce thereof, shall be allocated entirely to such Unit, Building, or ether building.
1-towover, any Common Aroa Operating Expenses and Real Property Totes that are not specifically attributable to the Building or to any other building
or to the operation, repair and maintenance thereof, shall be equitably allocated by Lessor to at buildings in trio Project.

(c) The inclusion of the irrprevaments, facilities and services set forth in Subparagraph 1.2(a) shall not be deemed te impose an
obligation upon Lessor to either hove said improvements or facilitics or to provide these sorvtoos unless the Project airoody has the same, Lessor
already prevides the cervices, or Lesser has agreed elsewhere in this Lease te prevido the come or some of them.

(d) Lessee’s Share ef Common Area Operating Expenses is payable monthly on the same day ax the Base Rent is due hereunder. -

The amount of such payments shall be based on Lesser’s estimate of the annual Cemmen Area Operating Exponcoe. Within 60 days after written
request (bul net more than once each year) Laster shall deliver to Lessee a reasonably detailed statement showing Lessee’s Share of the actual
Common Area Operaling Expenses for the preceding year. If Lessee’s payments during such year esceod Lessee’s Share, Lessor shall credit.the
amount of such over payment against Lessee’s future paymente. it Lessee’s payments during such year were less than Leseoe’s Share, Lessee shall
pay to Lecser the amount of the deficiensy within 10 days after dolivcry by Letter to Lessee of the statement.

(o) Cemmen Area Operating Expenses shall net include the eest of replacing equipment or copilot components auch a: the roof,
feundatiens, oxterior walls or Common Area capital improvements, such as the parking let paving, elevalora, fences that have a useful life for
accounting purposes of 5 years or more.

(f) Common Area Operating Expenses shall net include any expenses paid by any tenant directly to third parties, ca’ as to which Lessor
is otherwise reimbursed by any third party, other tenant, or insuranco proceeds.

1.3 Payment. Lessee shall cause payment of Rent to bo received by Lesser in lawful money of the United States, without offset or
deduction (assapt as sposifically permitted in this Leaon), on or boforo the day on which it is due. All monetary amounts shall be rounded to the nearest
whole dollar. In the event that any statement or inveice prepared by Lessor is inaccurate such inoosuraey shall net constitute a waiver and Lessee shall
be obligated to pay the amount set forth in this Lease. Rent for any pcaied during the term hereof which is for less than one full calendar month shall be
prorated based upon the actual number of days ef said month. Payment of Rent shall be made to Lessor at its address stated heroin or to such ether
persons or plots as Lessor may from time to time designate in writing. Acceptance of a payment whish is less than the amount then duo shall not be a
waiver of Lessor’s rights to the balance of such Rent, regardless of Lessor’s endersoment of any check so stating. In the event that any check, draft, ar
other instrument of payment given by Lessee to Lessor is dishonored for any reason, Lessee agrees to pay to Leseor the sum ef $25 in addition to any
Late Chame and Lessor, at its option, may roouira all future Rent be paid by cashier’s check. Payments will be aeplied first to accrued late shames and

outstanding charges or coct&

S. Security Deposit. Lessee shell deposit with Lesser upon execution hereof the Security Deposit as security for Lessee’s faithful performance
of its obligations under Ibis Lesse. If Lessee fails to pay Rent, or otherwise Defaults under this Lease, Lesser may use, apply or retain all or any pertien
of said Security Depesit for the payment of any amount already due Lesser, for Rents which will be due in the future, and/ or to reimburse or
compensate Lesser for any liability, expense, lose or damage which Lessor may suffer or incur by reason thereof. If Lesser uses or applies all or any
pertien of the Security Deposit, Lessee shall within 10 days after written request therefer deposit monies with Lesser sufficient to restore said Security
Deposit to the full amount required by this Lease. If the Base Rent increases during the term of this Lesse, Lessee shall, upon written request from
Lesser, depesit additienel menies with Lesser se that the tetal ameunt ef the Security Depesit shall at all times bear the same proportion te the
increased Base Rent as the initial Security Depesit bore te the initial Base Rent. Should the Agreed Use be amended to accommodate a material
change in the business ef Lessee or to accemmedate a sublessee er assignee, Lessor shall have fhe right to increase the Security Deposit to the
extent necessary, in Lesser’s reasonable judgment, to account for any increased wear and tear that the Premises may suffer as a result thereef. If a
change in control ef Lessee occurs during this Lease and fellewing such change the financial condition of Lessee is, in Lessors reasonable judgment,
significantly reduced, Lessee shall deposit such additional monies with Lesser as shall be sufficient te cause the Security Deposit te be at a
commercially reasonable level based en such change in financial condition. Lesser shall net be required to keep the Security Deposit separate from its
general accounts. Within go days after the expiration or termination of this Lease, Lesser shall return that portion of the Security Depesit net used or
applied by Lesser. No part of the Security Deposit shall be considered to be held in trust, to bear interest or to be prepayment for any monies to be paid
by Lessee under this Lease.

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 292



6. Use.

6.1 Use. Lessee shall use and occupy the Premises only for the Agreed Use, or any other legal use which is reasonably comparable
thereto, and for no other purpose. Lessee shall not use or permit the use & the Premises in a manner that is unlawful, creates damage, waste or a
nuisance, or that disturbs occupants of or causes damage to neighboring premises or properties. Other than guide, signal and seeing eye dogs, Lessee
shall not keep or allow in the Premises any pets, animals, birds, fish, or reptiles. Lessor shalt not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to any
written request for a modification of the Agreed Use, so tong as the same will not impair the stmctural integrity of the Building or the mechanicat or
electrical systems therein, and/or is not significantly more burdensome to the Project. If Lessor elects to withhold consent, Lessor shall within 7 days
after such request ve written notification of same, which notice shall include an explanation of Lessor’s objections to the change in the Agreed Use.

6.2 Hazardous Substances.

(a) Reportable Uses Requtre Consent. The term “Hazardous Substance” as used in this Lease shall mean any product,
substance, or waste whose presence, use, manufacture, disposal, transportation, or relesse, either by itself or in combination with other materials
expected to be on the Premises, is either: (i) potentialty injurious to the public health, safety or welfare, the environment or the Premises, (it) regulated
or monitored by any governmental authority, or (iii) a basis for potential liability of Lessor to any governmental agency or third party under any applicable
statute or common law theory. Hazardous Substances shell include, but not be limited to, hydrocarbons, petroleum, gasoline, and/or crude cit or any
products, by-products or fractions thereof. Lessen shalt not engage in any activity in or on the Premises which constitutes a Reportable Use of
Hazardous Substances without the express prior written consent of Lessor and timely compliance (at Lessee’s expense) with all Applicable
Requirements. “Reportable Use” shall mean (i) the installation or use of any above or below ground storage tank, (ii) the generation, possession,
storage, use, transportation, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance that requires a permit from, or with respect to which a report, notice, registration or
business plan is required to be filed with, any governmental authority, and/or (iii) the presence at the Premises of a Hazardous Substance with respect
to which any Applicable Requirements requires that a notice be given to pemons entering or occupying the Premises or neighboring properties.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee may use any ordinary and customary materials reasonably required to be used in the normal coume of the
Agreed Use, ordinary office supplies (copier loner, liquid paper, glue, etc.) and common household cleaning materials, so long as such use is in
compliance with all Applicable Requirements, is not a Reportable Use, and does not expose the Premises or neighboring property to any meaningful
risk of contamination or damage or expose Lessor to any liability therefor. In addition, Lessor may condition its consent to any Reportable Use upon
receiving such additional assurances as Lessor reasonably deems necessary to protect itself, the public, the Premises and/or the environment against
damage, contamination, injury and/or liability, including, but not limited to, the installation (and removal on or before Lease expiration or termination) of
protective modifications (such as concrete encaxements) and/or increasing the Security Deposit.

(b) Duty to Inform Lessor. If Leases knows, or has reasonable cause to believe, that a Hazardous Substance has come to
be located in, on, under or about the Premises, other than as previously consented to by Lessor, Lessee shalt immediately give written notice of such
fact to Lessor, and provide Lessor with a copy of any report, notice, claim or other documentation which it has concerning the presence of such
Hazardous Substance.

(c) Lessee Rernediation. Lessee shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Substance to be spilled or released in, on,
under, or about the Premises (including through the plumbing or sanitary sewer system) and shall promptly, at Leases’s espense,cornply with all
Applicable Requirements and take all investigatory and/or remedial action reasonably recommended, whether or not formally ordered or required, for
the cleanup of any contamination of, and for the maintenance, security and/or monitoring of the Premises or neighboring properties, that was caused or
materially contributed to by Lessee, or pertaining to or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises during the term of this Lease, by
or for Lessee, or any third party.

(d) Lessee Indemnification. Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor, its agents, employees, tenders and ground
lessor, if any, harmless from and against any and all loss of rents and/or damages, liabilities, jedgments, claims, expenses, penalties, and attorneys’
and consultants’ fees arising out of or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Premises by or for Lessee, or any third party (provided,
however, that Lessee shall have no liability under this Lease with respect to underTound migration of any Hazardous Substance under the Premises
from areas outside of the Project not caused or contributed to by Lessee). Lessee’s obligations shall include, but not be limited to, the effects of any
contamination or injury to pemon, property or the environment created or suffered by Lessee, and the cost of investigation, removal, remedialion,
restoration and/or abatement, and shalt survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. Ho termination, cancellation or release agreement entered
into by Lessor and Lessee shalt release Lessee from its obligations under this Lease with respect to Hazardous Substances, unless specifically so
agreed by Lessor in writing at the time of such agreement.

(e) Lessor Indemnification. Lessor and its successom and assigns shall indemnify, defend, reimbume and hold Lessee, its
employees and lendem, harmless from and against any and all environmental damages, including the coat of remediation, which suffered ax a direct
result of Hazardous Substances on the Premises prior to Lessee taking possession or which are caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct
of Lessor, its agents or employees. Lessors obligations, as and when required by the Applicable Requirements, shall include, but not be limited to, the
cost of investigation, removal, remediation, restoration and/or abatement, and shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease.

(f) Investigations and Remediations. Lessor shall retain the responsibility and pay for any investigations or remediation
measures required by governmental entities having jurisdiction with respect to the existence of Hazardous Substances on the Premises prior to Lessee
taking possession, unless such remediation measure is required ax a result of Lessee’s use (including “Alterations, ax defined in paragraph 7.3(a)
below) of the Premises, in which event Lessee shall be responsible for such payment. Lessee shall cooperate fully in any such activities at the request
of Lessor, including allowing Lessor and Lessors agents to have reasonable access to the Premises at reasonable times in order to carry out Lessors
investigative and remedial responsibilities.

(g) Lessor Termination Option. If a Hazardous Substance Condition (see Paragraph g.1(e)) occurs during the term of this
Lease, unless Lessen is legally responsible Iheretor (in which case Lessee shall make the investigation and remediation thereof required by the
Applicable Requirements and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, but subject to Lessors rights under Paragraph 6.2(d) and Paragraph 13),
Lessor may, at Lessors option, either (i) investigate and remediate such Hazardous Substance Condition, if required, as soon as reasonably possible at
Lessor’s expense, in which event this Lease shalt continue in full force and effect, or (ti) if the estimated cost to remediate such condition exceeds 12
times the then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whichever ix greater, give whiten notice to Lessee, within 30 days affer receipt by Lessor of knowledge
of the occurrence of such Hazardous Substance Condition, of Lessor’s desire to terminate this Lease as of the date 60 days following the dale of such
notice. In the event Lessor elects to give a termination notice, Lessee may, within 10 days thereafter, give written notice to Lessor of Lessee’s
commitment to pay the amount by which the cost of the remediation of such Hazardous Substance Condition exceeds an amount equal to 12 times the
then monthly Base Rent or $100,000, whichever is greater. Lessee shall provide Lessor with said funds or satisfactory assurance thereof within 30
days following such commitment. In such event, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and Lessor shall proceed to make such remediation
as soon as reasonably possible after the required funds are available. If Lessee dons not give such notice and provide the required funds or assurance
thereof within the time provided, this Lease shall terminate as of the date specified in Lessors notice of tsrmination.

6.3 Lessee’s Compliance with Applicable Requirements. Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, Lessee shall, at Lessee’s
sole expense, fully, diligently and in a timely manner, materially comply with all Applicable Requirements, the requirements of any applicable fire
insurance underwriter or rating bureau, and the recommendations of Lessors engineers and/or consultants which relate in any manner to such

INITIALS INITIALS

8 AIR COMMERCIAL N

PAGE 293



Requirements, without regard to whether said Requirements are now in effect or become effective after the Slart Date. Lessee shall, within 10 days
after receipt of Lessor’s written request, provide Lessor with copies of all permits and other documents, and other information evidencing Lessee’s
compliance with any Applicable Requirements specified by Lessor, and shall immediately upon receipt, notify Lessor in writing (with copies of any
documents involved) of any threatened or actual claim, notice, citation, waming, complaint or report pertaining to or involving the failure of Lessee or the
Premises to comply with any Applicable Requirements. Likewise, Lessee shall immediately give written notice to Lessor of; (i) any water damage to the
Premises and any suspected seepage, pooling, dampness or other condition conducive to the production of mold; or (it) any mestiness or other odors
that might indicate the presence of mold in the Premises.

6.4 Inspection; Compliance. Lessor and Lessor’s “Lender” (as defined in Paragraph 30) and consultants shall have the right to
enter into Premises at any time, in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable notice, for the purpose of inspecting
the condition of the Premises and for verifying compliance by Lessee with this Lease. The cost of any such inspections shall be paid by Lessor, unless
a violation of Applicable Requirements, or a Hazardous Substance Condition (see Paragraph 9.1) is found to exist or be imminent, or the inspection is
requested or ordered by a govemmental authority. In such case, Lessee shall upon request reimburse Lessor for the cost of such inspection, so long
as such inspection is reasonably related to the violation or contamination. In addition, Lessee shall provide copies of all relevant material safety data
sheets (MSDS) to Lessor within 10 days of the receipt of written request therefor.
7. Maintenance; Repairs; Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures and Alterations.

7.1 Lessee’s Obligations.

(a) In General. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 6.3 (Lessee’s Compliance with Applicable
Requirements), 7.2 (Lessor’s Obligations), 9 (Damage or Destruction), and 14 (Condemnation), Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole expense, keep the
Premises, Utility Installations (intended for Lessee’s exclusive use, no matter where located), and Alterations in good order, condition and repair
(whether or not Ihe portion of the Premises requiring repairs, or the means of repairing Ihe came, are reasonably or readily accessible to Lessee, and
whether or not the need for such repairs occurs as a result of Lessee’s use, any prior use, the elements or the age of such portion of the Premises),
including, but not limited to, alt equipment or facilities, such as plumbing, HVAC equipment, etectrical, lighting facilities, boilers, pressure vessels,
fixtures, interior walls, interior surfaces of exterior waits, ceilings, floors, windows, doors, plate glass, and skylights but excluding any items which are
the responsibility of Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. Lessee, in keeping the Premises in good order, condition and repair, shall exercise and perform
good maintenance practices, specifically including the procurement and maintenance of the service contracts required by Paragraph 7.1(b) below.
Lessee’s obligations shall include restorations, replacements or renewals when necessary to keep the Premises and all improvements thereon or a part
thereof in good order, condition and state of repair.

(b) Service Contracts. Lessee shalt, at Lessee’s sole expense, procure and maintain contracts, with copies to Lessor, in
customary form and substance for, and whh contractors specializing and experienced in the maintenance of the following equipment and
improvements, if any, if and when installed on the Premises: (i) HVAC equipment, (ii) boiler and pressure veasets, and (iii) clarifiers. However, Lessor
reserves the right, upon notice to Lessee, to procure and maintain any or all of such service contracts, and Lessee shalt reimburse Lessor, upon
demand, for the cost thereof.

(c) Failure to Perform. If Leaaee fails to perform Lessee’s obligations under this Paragraph 7.1, Lessor may enter upon the
Premises after 10 days’ prior written notice to Lessee (except in the case of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required), perform such
obligations on Lessee’s behalf, and put the Premises in good order, condition and repair, and Lessee shall promptly pay to Lessor a sum equal to 115%
of the coat thereof.

tat rtepl000mont. auoioot to L00000e naomnmooeon ox Lessor as set rorm in roragrapn e.t 5010w, ana witnour roiio’irng Loncoo
of liability rooutting from Loscoo’e failure to oxorrdco and porferm good maintonanea practicoc, if an item doscribod in Paragmph 7.1(b) onnnot ho
repaired other than at a cost which is in excess of 50% of the cost of roplaoing such item, thon such item shall be replacod by Lessor, and tho cost
thereof shall ho prorated between the Parties and Loscoo shall only ho obligated to pay, cash month during the remainder of tho term of th’m Loaco, on
tho dato on which Baco Pont ic duo, an amount oeual to tho orodurit of multiotyina the sect of such roolacomont by a fraction. tho numorotor of which ic

obligation at any time.

7.2 Lessor’s Obligations. Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2.2 (Condition), 2.3 (Compliance), 1.2 (Common Area Operating
Exponcea), 6 (Use), 7.1 (Lesaee’s Obligations), 9 (Damage or Destruction) and 14 (Condemnation), Lessor, subject to reimbursement pursuant to
Paragraph 1.2, ahall keep in good order, condition and repair the foundations, exterior walls, ati’ucturat condition of intedor bearing walls, exterior roof,
fire sprinkler system, Common Area fire alarm and/or smoke detection ayalemx, fire hydrants, parking lots, walkways, parkwaya, driveways,
landscaping, fences, signs and utility systems serving the Common Areas and all parts thereof, as well so providing tho corvicoc for which there is a
Common Aron Operating Exponoo pursuant to Pamgraph 1.2. Lessor shall not be obligated to paint the exterior or interior surfaces of exterior walls nor
shall Lessor be obligated to maintain, repair or replace windows, doors or plate glass of the Premises. Lessee expressly waives the benefit of any
statute now or hereafter in effect to the extent it ix inconsistent with the terms of this Lease.

7.3 Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures; Alterations.

(a) Definitions. The term “Utility Installations” refers to all floor and window coveringa, air and/or vacuum lines, power panels,
electrical diatribution, security and fire protection syxtema, communication cabling, lighting fixtures, HVAC equipment, plumbing, and fencing in or on
the Premises. The term “Trade Fixtures” shall mean Lessee’s machinery and equipment that can be removed without doing material damage to the
Premises. The term “Alterations” shall mean any modification of the improvements, other than Utility Installations or Trade Fixtures, whether by
addition or deletion. “Lessee Owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations” are defined ax Alterations and/or Utility Installations made by Lessee
that are not yet owned by Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 7.4(a).

(b) Consent. Lessee shall not make any Alterations or Utility Installations to the Premises without Lessor’s prior written conxent.
Lessee may, however, make non-structural Alterations or Utility Installations to the interior of the Premises (excluding the roof) without such consent but
upon notion to Lexxor, ax long ax they are not vixible from the outside, do not involve puncturing, relocating or removing the roof or any existing walls,
will not affect the electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and/or life safety systems, and the cumulative coat thereof during this Lease ax extended does not
exceed a sum equal to 3 month’s Base Rent in the aggregate or a sum equal to one month’s Base Rent in any one year. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Lessee shall not make or permit any roof penetrations and/or install anything on the roof without the prior written approval of Lessor. Lessor
may, as a precondition to granting such approval, require Leaxee to utilize a contractor chosen and/or approved by Lessor. Any Alterations or Utility
Installations that Lessee shall desire to make and which require the consent of the Lessor shall be presented to Lessor in written form with detailed
plans. Consent shall be deemed conditioned upon Lessee’s: (i) acquiring all applicable governmental permits, (it) furnishing Lessor with copies of both
the permits and the plans and specifications prior to commencement of the work, and (hi) compliance with all conditiona of said permits and other
Applicable Requirements in a prompt and expeditious manner. Any Alterations or Utility Installations shall be performed in a workmanlike manner with
good and sufficient materials. Lessee shall promptly upon completion fumish Lessor with as-built plans and xpecifications. For work which coats an
amount in excess of one month’s Base Rent, Lessor may condition its consent upon Lessee providing a lien and completion bond in an amount equal
to 150% of the estimated coat of such Alteration or Utility Installation and/or upon Lessee’s posting an additional Security Deponit with Lessor.

(c) Liens; Bonds. Lessee shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or materials fumiahed or alleged to have been flimiahed to or

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

N

PAGE 294



for Lessee at or for use on the Prenwses, which claims are or may be secured by any mechanic’s or materialmen’s lien against the Premises or any
interest therein. Lessee shall ve Lessor not less than 10 days notice prior to the commencement of any work in, on or about the Premises, and
Lessor shall have the right to post notices & non-responsibility. If Lessee shall contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then Lessee
shall, at its sole espense defend and protect itself, Lessor and the Premises against the same and shall pay and satisfy any such adverse judgment that
may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof, If Lessor shall require, Lessee shall fum’eh a surety bond in an amount equal to 150% of the
amount of such contested tien, claim or demand, indemnifying Lessor against liability for the same. If Lessor elects to participate in any such action,
Lessee shall pay Lessor’s attorneys’ fees and costs.

7.4 Ownership; Removal; Surrender; and Restoration.

(a) Ownership. Subject to Lessor’s right to require removal or elect ownership as hereinafter provided, all Alterations and Utility
Installations made by Lessee shall be the property of Lessee, but considered a part of the Premises. Lessor may, at any time, elect in writing to be the
owner of all or any specified part of the Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations. Unless otherwise instructed per paragraph 7.4(b) hereof, all
Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations shall, at the expiration or termination of this Lease, become the property of Lessor and be
surrendered by Lessee with the Premises.

(b) Removal, By delivery to Lessee of written notice from Lessor not earlier than 90 and not later than 30 days prior to the end of
the term of this Lease, Lessor may require that any or all Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations be removed by the expiration or termination of
this Lease. Lessor may require the removal at any time of all or any part of any Lessee Owned Alterations or Utility Installations made without the
required consent.

(c) Surrender; Restoration. Lessee shall surrender the Premises by the Expiration Date or any earlier termination date, with all of
the improvements, parts and surfaces thereof broom clean and free of debris, and in good operating order, condition and state of repair, ordinary wear
and tear excepted. “Ordinary wear and tear” shall not include any damage or deterioration that would have been prevented by good maintenance
practice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it this Lease is for 12 months or less, then Lessee shall surrender the Premises in the same condition as
delivered to Lessee on the Start Date with NO allowance for ordinary wear and tear. Lessee shall repair any damage occasioned by the installation,
maintenance or removal of Trade Fixtures, Lessee owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations, furnishings, and equipment as well as the removal of
any storage tank installed by or for Lessee. Lessee shall also completely remove from the Premises any and all Hazardous Substances brought onto
the Premises by or for Lessee, or any third party (except Hazardous Substances which were deposited via underground migration from areas outside of
the Premises) even if such removal would require Lessee to perform or pay for work that exceeds statutory requirements. Trade Fixtures shall remain
the property of Lessee and shall be removed by Lessee. Any personal property of Lessee not removed on or before the Expiration Dale or any earlier
termination date shall be deemed to have benn abandoned by Lessee and may be disposed of or retained by Lessor as Lessor may desire. The failure
by Lessee to timely vacate the Premises pursuant to this Paragraph 7.4(c) without the express written consent of Lessor shall constitute a holdover
under the provisions of Paragraph 26 below.

8. Insurance; Indemnity.

8.1 Payment of Premium Increases.

(n) As used herein, tho term “Ineurance Cost Inorosse” is dottnod gs any increase in tho actual uost of tho insurance
applisable to tho Building and/or the Project and required to be carried by Lessor, pursuant to Paragraphs 8.2(b), 8.3(a) and 8.3(b), (“Required
Insurance”), ovor and abovo the’ Baen Premium, as hereinafter defined, calculated on an annual basis. Insurance Ceet Increase shell indude, but nd
be limited to, requirements of the holder of a mortgage or deed of mist onvcring the Premises, Building and/or Projoet, increased valuation of the
Premises, Building and/or Project, and/or a general premium rote increase. The term Insurance Cast Increase shall not, however, inctude any premium
increases roculting from the nature of the occupancy of any other tenant of the Building. The “Base Premium” chall be the annual premium applicable
to the 12 month period immediately preceding the Start Dato. If, however, the Project was not ieeurod for the entirety of such 12 month period, then -

the Base Premium shall be the Iowost annual premium reasonably obtainable for the Required Insurance as of the Start Date, assuming the mast
nominal use possible at the Building. In no ovcnt, hawo’ier, ahall Lessee be responsible for any portion of the premium cost attributable to liability
insurance covorago in osoecc of $2,000,000 procured under Paragraph 8.2(b).

(b) Lessee shall pay any Insurance Cast Increase to Lessor pursuant to Paragraph 1.2. Premiun’s for policy periods
commencing ‘‘ “ ““““ k,,’’4 Ihe term of this Lease shall be prorated to coincide with the corresponding Start Date or Bspimtion Date.

8.2 Liability Insurance

(a) Carried by Lessee. Lessee shall obtain and keep in force a Consnercial General Liability policy of insurance protecting Lessee
and Lessor as an additional insured against claims for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage based upon or arising out of the ownership,
use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises and all areas appurtenant thereto. Such insurance shall be on an occurrence basis providing single
limit coverage in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence with an annual aggregate of not less than $2,000,000. Lessee shall add Lessor as
an additional insured by means of an endorsement at least as broad as the Insurance Service Organization’s “Additional Insured-Managers or Lessors
of Premises” Endorsement. The policy shall net contain any intra-insured exclusions as between insured persons or organizations, but shall include
coverage for liability assumed under this Lease as an “insured contract” for the performance of Lessee’s indemnity obligations under this Lease. The
limits of said insurance shall not, however, limit the liability of Lessee nor relieve Lessee of any obligation hereunder. Lessee shall provide an
endorsement on its liability policy(ies) which provides that its insurance shall be primary to and not contributory with any similar insurance carried by
Lessor, whose insurance shall be considered excess insurance only.

(b) Carried by Lessor. Lessor shall maintain liability insurance as described in Paragraph 8.2(a), in addition to, and not in lieu of,
the insurance required to be maintained by Lessee. Lessee shall net be named as an additional insured therein.

8.3 Property Insurance - Building, Improvements and Rental Value.
(a) Building and Improvements. Lessor shall obtain and keep in force a policy or policies of insurance in the name of Lessor,

with loss payable to Lessor, any ground-lessor, and to any Lender insuring less or damage to the Premises. The amount of such insurance shall be
equal to the lull insurable replacement cost of the Premises, as the same shall esist from time to lime, or the amount required by any Lender, but in no
event more than the commercially reasonable and available insurable value thereof. Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade Fistures,
and Lessee’s personal property shall be insured by Lessee not by Lessor, If the coverage is available and commercially appropriate, such policy or
policies shall insure against all risks of direct physical loss or damage (except the perils of flood and/er earthquake unless required by a Lender),
including coverage for debris removal and the enforcement of any Applicable Requirements requiring the upgrading, demolition, reconstmction or
replacement of any portion of the Premises as the result of a covered loss. Said policy or policies shall also contain an agreed valuation provision in
lieu of any coinsurance clause, waiver of subrogation, and inflation guard protection causing an increase in the annual properly insurance coverage
amount by a factor of not less than the adjusted U.S. Department of Labor Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for the city nearest to where
the Premises are located. If such insurance coverage has a deductible clause, the deductible amount shall not esceed $5,000 per occurrence.

(b) Rental Value. Lesser shall also obtain and keep in force a policy or policies in the name of Lessor with loss payable to Lessor
and any Lender, insuring the loss of the full Rent for one year with an extended period of indemnity /or an additional 180 days (“Rental Value
insurance”). Said insurance shall contain an agreed valuation provision in lieu of any coinsurance clause, and the amount of coverage shell be
adjusted annually to reflect the projected Rent otherwise payable by Lessee, for the nest 12 month period.

PA

INITIALS INITIALS

FO E

PAGE 295



(c) Adjacent Premises. Lessee shall pay for any increase in the premiums for the property insurance of the Building and for the
Common Areas or other buildings in the Prcect if said increase is caused by Lessee’s acts, omissions, use or occupancy of the Premises.

(d) Lessee’s Improvements. Since Lessor is the Insuring Party. Lessor shall not be required to insure Lessee Owned Alterations
and Utility Installations unless the item in question has become the property of Lessor under the terms of this Lease.

8.4 Lessee’s Property; Business Interruption Insurance; Worker’s Compensation Insurance.

(a) Property Damage. Loccee chat obtain and maintain insurance eovorago on all of Lessee’s personal property, Trado Fixtures,
and Loocoo Ownod Alterations and Utility Installations. Such insurance shall bo full replacement cost covorago with a deductible of not to oxceod
$1,000 por occeirronso. Thn procoodc from any cur/i inouraneo shall bo used by Losses for tho roplacemont of personal property, Trado Fisturos and
Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations. Lessee shall provide Lescer with written evidence that such insurance is in force.

(b) Businees Interruption. Loscoo chall obtain and maintain less of inoemo and estra osponso insurance in amounts as will
reimburso Lesson for direst or indirost less of oaminge attributable to all perils nnnssonly incurod against by prudent lossoos in the bucinoss of Lessee

(c) Worker’s Compensation Insurance. Lessee shall obtain and maintain Worker’s Compensation Insurance in such amount as
may he required by Applicable Requirements.

(d) No Representation of Adequate Coverage. Lessor makes no representstion that the limits or forms of coverage of insurance
specified herein are adequate to cover Lessee’s property, business operations or obligations under this Lease.

8.5 Insurance Policies. Insurance required herein shall he by companies maintaining during the policy term a ‘General Policyholders
Rating’ of at least A-, VII, as set forth in the most current issue of “Beet’s Insurance Guide”, or such other rating as may he required by a Lender.
Lessee shall not do or permit to be done anything which invalidates the required insurance policies.L,..,. ,,,.y

Lessee shall, prior to the Start Date, deliver to Lessor certited copies of policies of such insurance or certificates with copies
of the required endorsements evidencing the existence and amounts of the required insurance. No such policy shall be cancelable or subject to
modification except after 30 days prior written notice to Lessor. Lessee shall, at least 10 days prior to the expiration of such policies, furnish Lessor with
evidence of renewals or “insurance binders” evidencing renewal thereof, or Lessor may order such insurance and charge the cost thereof to Lessee,
which amount shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor upon demand. Such policies shall be for a term of at least one year, or the length of the remaining
term of this Lease, whichever is less. If either Party shall fail to procure and maintain the insurance required to be carried by it, the other Party may, but
shalt not be required to, procure and maintain the same.

8.6 Waiver of Subrogation. Without affecting any other rights or remedies, Lessee and Lessor each hereby release and relieve the
other, and waive their entire right to recover dsmages against the other, for loss of or damage to its property arising out of or incident to the perils
required to be insured against herein. The effect of such releases and waivers is net limited by the amount of insurance carried or required, or by any
deductibles applicable hereto. The Parties agree to have their respective property damage insurance carriers waive any right to subrogation that such
companies may have against Lessor or Lessee, as the case may be, so long as the insurance is net invalidated thereby.

8.7 Indemnity. Except for Lesse?s grees-negligence or wiltful misconduct, Lessee shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless
the Premises, Lessor and its agents, Lesse?s master or ground lessor, partners and Lendem, from and against any and all claims, loss of rents and/er
damages, liens, judgments, penalties, attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, expenses and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in connection with, the use
and/or occupancy of the Premises by Lessee. If any action or proceeding is brought against Lessor by reason of any of the foregoing matters, Lessee
shall upon notice defend the same at Lessee’s expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessor and Lessor shall cooperate with Lessee in such
defense. Lessor need not have first paid any such claim in order to be defended or indemnified.

8.8 Exemptien of Lesser and its Agents from Liability. Notwithstanding the negligence or breach of this Lease by Lessor or its
agents, neither Lessor nor its agents shall be liable under any circumstances for (i) injury or damage to the person or goods, wares, merchandise or
other property of Lessee, Lessee’s employees, contractors, invitees, customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether such damage or
injury is caused by or results from tire, steam, electricity, gas, water or rain, indonr air quality, the presence of mold or from the breakage, leakage,
obstruction or other defects of pipes, fire sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, HVAC or lighting fixtures, or frem any other cause, whether the said
injury or damage results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon other portions of the Building, or from ether sources or places, (f) any
damages arising from any act or neglect of any other tenant of Lessor or from the failure of Lessor or its agents to enforce the provisions of any ether
lease in the Prcect, or (Ni) injury to Lessee’s business or for any loss of income or profit therefrom. Instead, it is intended that Lessee’s sole recourse in
the event of such damages or injury be to file a claim on the insurance policy(ies) that Lessee is required to maintain pursuant te the provisions of
paragraph 8.

gg Failure to Provide Insurance. Lessee acknowledges that any failure en its part to obtain or maintain the insurance required
herein will expose Lesser to risks and potentially cause Lessor to incur costs net contemplated by this Lease, the extent of which will be extremely
difficult te ascertain. Accordingly, for any month or portion thereof that Lessee does net maintain the required insurance and/er does net provide Lessor
with the required binders or certificates evidencing the existence of the required insurance, the Base Rent shall be automatically increased, without any
requirement for notice to Lessee, by an amount equal to 10% of the then existing Base Rent or $100, whichever is greater. The parties agree that such
increase in Base Rent represents fair and reasonable compensation for the additional risk/costs that Lessor will incur by reason of Lessee’s failure to
maintain the required insurance. Such increase in Base Rent shall in no event constitute a waiver of Lessee’s Default or Breach with respect to the
failure te maintain such insurance, prevent the exercise of any of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder, nor relieve Lessee ef its obligation to
maintain the insurance specified in this Lease.
g. Damage or Desfruct’ion.

g.1 Definftions.

(a) “Premises Partial Damage” shall mean damage or destruction to the improvements en the Premises, other than Lessee
Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, which can reasonably be repaired in 3 months or less from the date of the damage or destruction, and the
coat thereof does net exceed a sum equal to 6 month’s Base Rent. Lesser shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 days frem the date of the damage or
destruction as to whether or net the damage is Partial er Total. Netwithstanding the foregoing, Premises Partial Damage shall net include damage to
windows, doers, and/er other similar items which Lessee has the responsibility to repair or replace pursuant to the previsions of Paragraph 7.1.

(b) “Premises Total Destruction” shall mean damage or destruction to the imprevements en the Premises, other than Lessee
Owned Alteratiens and Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which cannot reasonably be repaired in 3 months or less from the date of the damage or
destruction and/er the coat thereof exceeds a sum equal to 6 month’s Base Rent. Lesser shall notify Lessee in writing within 30 days from the date ef
the damage or destruction as to whether er net the damage is Partial or Total.

(c) “Insured Less” shall mean damage er destruction te improvements en the Premises, ether than Lessee Owned Alteratiena and
Utility Installations and Trade Fixtures, which was caused by an event required to be covered by the insurance descrihed in Paragraph 8.3(a),
irrespective of any deductible amounts or coverage limits involved.

(d) “Replacement Cost” shall mean the cost to repair or rebuild the imprevements ewned by Lesser at the time of the occurrence
to their conditien existing immediately prier thereto, including demolition, debris removal and upgrading required by the eperation of Applicable

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

FORM

PAGE 296



Requirements, and without deduction for depreciation.

(e) “Hazardous Substance Condition” shall mean the occurrence or discovery of a condition involving the presence of, or a
contamination by, a Hazardous Substance, in, on, or under the Premises which requires restoration.

9.2 Partial Damage - Insured Loss. If a Premises Partial Damage that is an Insured Loss occurs, then Lessor shall, at Lessor’s
expense, repair such damage (but not Lessee’s Trade Fixtures or Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations) as soon as reasonably possible
and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect; provided, however, that Lessee shall, at Lessor’s election, make the repair of any damage or
destruction the total cost to repair of which is $10,000 or less, and, in such event, Lessor shall make any applicable insurance proceeds available to
Lessee on a reasonable basis for that purpose. Hotwithstsnding the foregoing, if the required insurance was not in force or the insurance proceeds are
not sufficient to effect such repair, the Insuring Party shall promptly contribute the shortage in proceeds as and when required to complete said repairs.
In the evenl, however, such shortage was due to the fact that, by reason of the unique nature of the improvements, full replacement cost insurance
coverage was not commercially reasonable and available, Lessor shall have no obligation to pay for the shortage in insurance proceeds or to fully
restore the unique aspects of the Premises unless Lessee provides Lessor with the funds to cover same, or adequate assurance thereof, within 10 days
following receipt of written notice of such shortage and request therefor. If Lessor receives said funds or adequate assurance thereof within said 10 day
period, the party responsible for making the repairs shall complete them as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall remain in full force and
effect. If such funds or assurance are not received, Lessor may nevertheless elect by written notice to Lessee within 10 days thereafter to: (i) make
such restoration and repair as is commercially reasonable with Lessor paying any shortage in proceeds, in which case this Lease shall remain in full
force and effect, or (i) have this Lease terminate 30 days thereafter. Lessee shall not be entitled to reimbursement of any funds contributed by Lessee
to repair any such damage or destruction. Premises Partial Damage due to flood or earthquake shall be subject to Paragraph 9.3, notwithstanding that
there may be some insurance coverage, but the net proceeds of any such insurance shall be made available for the repairs if made by either Party.

g.y Partial Damage - Uninsured Loss. If a Premises Partial Damage that is not an Insured Loss occurs, unless caused by a
negligent or willful act of Lessee (in which event Lessee shall make the repairs at Lessee’s expense), Lessor may either: (i) repair such damage as
soon as reasonably possible at Lessor’s expense, in which event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, or (t) terminate this Lease by giving
whtten notice to Lessee within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge of the occurrence of such damage. Such termination shall be effective 60
days following the date of such notice. In the event Lessor elects to terminate this Lease, Lessee shall have the right within 10 days after receipt of the
termination notice to give written notice to Lessor of Lessee’s commitment to pay for the repair of such damage without reimbursement from Lessor.
Lessee shall provide Lessor with said funds or satisfactory assursnce thereof within 30 days after making such commitment. In such event this Lease
shall continue in full force and effect, and Lessor shall proceed to make such repairs as soon as reasonably possible after the required funds are
available. It Lessee does not make the required commitment, this Lease shall terminate as of the date specified in the termination notice.

9.4 Total Destruction. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if a Premises Total Destruction occurs, this Lease shall terminate
60 days following such Destruction. If the damage or destruction was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee, Lessor shall
have the right to recover Lessor’s damages from Lessee, except as provided in Paragraph 8.6.

9.5 Damage Near End of Term. If at any time during the last 6 months of this Lease there is damage for which the cost to repair
exceeds one month’s Base Rent, whether or not an Insured Loss, Lessor may terminate this Lease effective 60 days following the date of occurrence of
such damage by giving a written termination notice to Lessee within 30 days after the date of occurrence of such damage. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if Lessee at that time has an exercisable option to extend this Lease or to purchase the Premises, then Lessee may preserve this Lease by,
(a) exercising such option and (b) providing Lessor with any shortage in insurance proceeds (or adequate assurance thereof) needed to make the
repairs on or before the eariier of (i) the date which is 10 days after Lessee’s receipt of Lessor’s written notice purporting to terminate this Lease, or (U)
the day prior to the date upon which such option expires. If Lessee duty exercises such option during such period and provides Lessor with funds (or
adequate assurance thereof) to cover any shortage in insurance proceeds, Lessor shall, at Lessor’s commercially reasonable expense, repair such
damage as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, If Lessee fails to exercise such option and provide such
funds or assurance during such period, thee this Lease shall terminate on the date specified in the termination notice and Lessee’s option shall be
extinguished.

9.6 Abatement of Rent; Lessee’s Remedies.

(a) Abatement. In the event of Premises Partial Damage or Premises Total Destruction or a Hazardous Substance Coedition for
which Lessee is not responsible under this Lease, the Rent payable by Lessee for the period required for the repair, remediation or restoration of such
damage shall be abated in proportion to the degree to which Lessee’s use of the Premises is impaired, but not to exceed the proceeds received from
the Rental Value insurance. All other obligations of Lessee hereunder shall be performed by Lessee, and Lessor shall have no liability for any such
damage, destruction, remediation, repair or restoration except as provided herein.

(b) Remedies. If Lessor is obligated to repair or restore the Premises and does not commence, in a substantial and meaningful
way, such repair or restoration within 90 days after such obligation shall accrue, Lessee may, at any time prior to the commencement of such repair or
restoration, give written notice to Lessor and to any Lenders of which Lessee has actual notice, of Lessee’s election to terminate this Lease on a date
not less than 60 days following the giving of such notice. If Lessee gives such notice and such repair or restoration is not commenced within 30 days
thereafter, this Lease shall terminate as of the date specified in said notice. If the repair or restoration is commenced within such 30 days, this Lease
shall continue in full force and effect. “Commence” shall mean either the unconditional authorizatian of the preparation of the required plans, or the
beginning of the actual work on the Premises, whichever first occurs.

g.7 Termination; Advance Payments. Upon termination of this Lease pursuant to Paragraph 6.2(g) or Paragraph g, an equitable
adjustment shall be made concerning advance Base Rent and any other advance payments made by Lessee to Lessor. Lessor shall, in addition, retum
to Lessee so much of Lessee’s Security Deposit as has not been, or is not then required to be, used by Lessor.
10. Real Property Taxes.

10.1 Definitions.

(a) “Real Property Taxes.” Ax used herein, the term “Real Property Taxes” shall include any form of assessment; real estate,
general, special, ordinary or extraordinary, or rental levy or tss (other than inheritance, personal income or estate taxes); improvement bond; and/or
license fee imposed upon or levied against any legal or equitable interest of Lessor in the Project, Lessor’s right to other income therefrom, and/or
Lessor’s business of leasing, by any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax and where the funds are generated with reference to the Project
address and where the proceeds so generated are to be applied by the city, county or other local taxing authority of a jurisdiction within which the
Project is located. The term “Real Property Taxes” shall also include any tax, fee, levy, assessment or charge, or any increase therein: (i) imposed by
reason of events occurring during the term of this Lease, including but not limited to, a change in the ownership of the Project, (ti) a change in the
improvements thereon, and/or (Ui) levied or assessed on machinery or equipment provided by Lessor to Lessee pursuant to this Lease.

(b) “‘Base Real Property Taxes.”” Ax used herein, the term ““Base Real Property Taxes”” shall be the amount of Real Property
Taxes, which are assessed against the Premises, Building, Project or Common Areas in the calendar year during which the Lease is executed. In
calculating Real Property Taxes for any calendar year, the Reat Property Taxes for any real estate tax year shall be included in the calculation of Real
Property Taxes for such calendar year based upon the number of days which such calendar year and tax year have in common.

10.2 Payment of Taxes. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 10.3, Lessor shall pay the Real Property Taxes applicable to the

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 297



Project, and said payments shall be included in the calculation of Common Area Operating Expenses in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph
4.2.

10.3 Additional Improvements. Common Area Operating Expenses shall not include Real Property Taxes specified in the tax
assessor’s records and work sheets ax being caused by additional improvements placed upon the Project by other tenants or by Lessor for the
exclusive enjoyment of xuch other Tenants. Notwithstanding Paragraph 10.2 hereof, Lessee shall, however, pay to Lessor at the time Common Area
Operating Expenses are payable under Paragraph 4.2, the entirety of any increase in Real Property Taxes if assessed solely by reason of Alterations,
Trade Fixtures or Utility Installations placed upon the Premises by Lessee or at Lessee’s request or by reason of any alterations or improvements to the
Premises made by Lessor subsequent to the execution of this Lease by the Parties.

10.4 Joint Assessment. it the Building is not separately assessed, Real Property Taxes allocated to the Building shall be an equitable
proportion of the Real Property Taxes for all of the land and improvements included within the tax parcel assessed, such proportion to be determined by
Lessor from the respective valuations assigned in the assessor’s work sheets or such other information ss may be reasonably available. Lessors
reasonable determination thereof, in good faith, shall be conclusive.

10.5 Personal Property Taxes. Lessee shall pay prior to delinquency all taxes assessed against and levied upon Lessee Owned
Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all personal property of Lessee contained in the Premises. When
possible, Lessee shall cause its Lessee Owned Alterations and Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other personal
property to be assessed and billed separately from the real property of Lessor. If any of Lessee’s said property shall be assessed with Lessor’s real
property, Lessee shall pay Lessor the taxes attributable to Lessee’s property within 10 days after receipt of a written statement setting forth the taxes
applicable to Lessee’s property.

11. Utilities and Services. Lessee shall pay for all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, trash dispossl and other utilities and services
supplied to the Premises, together with any taxes thereon. Notwithstsnding the provisions of Paragraph 4.2. if at sny time in Lessor’s sole judgment,
Lessor determines that Lessee is using a disproportionale amount of water, electricity or other commonly metered utilities, or that Lessee is generating
such a large volume of trash as to require an increase in the size of the trash receptacle andfor an increase in the number of times per monlh lhst it is
emptied, then Lessor may increase Lessee’s Base Rent by an amount equal to such increased costs. There shall be no abatement of Rent end Lessor
shall not be liable in any respect whatsonver for the inadequacy, stoppage, interruption or discontinuance of any utility or service due to riot, strike, labor
dispute, breakdown, accident, repair or other cause beyond Lessor’s reasonable control or in cooperation with governmental request or directions.
12. Assignment and Subletting.

12.1 Lessor’s Consent Required.

(s) Lessee shall not voluntarily or by operation of law assign, transfer, mortgage or encumber (collectively, “assign or
assignment”) or sublel all or any pert of Lessee’s interest in this Lease or in the Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent.

(b) Unless Lessee is a corporation and its stock is publicly traded on a national stock exchange, a change in the control of Lessee
shall constitute en assignment requiring consent. The transfer, on a cumulative basis, of 25% or more of the voting control of Lessee shall constitute a
change in control for this purpose.

(c) The involvement of Lessee or its assets in any transaction, or series of transactions (by way of merger, sale, acquisition,
financing, transfer, leveraged buy-out or otherwise), whether or not a formal assignment or hypothecation of this Lease or Lessee’s assets occurs,
which results or will result in a reduction of the Net Worth of Lessee by an amount greater than 25% of such Net Worth as it was represented at the
time of the execution of this Lease or at the time of the most recent assignment to which Lessor has consented, or as it exists immediately prior to said
transaction or transactions constituting such reduction, whichever was or is greater, shall be considered an assignment of this Lease to which Lessor
may withhold its consent. “Net Worth of Lessee” shall mean the net worth of Lessee (excluding any guarantors) established under generally accepted
accounting principles.

(d) An assignment or subletting without consent shall, at Lessor’s option, be a Default curable after notice per Paragraph 13.1(c), or
a noncurable Breath without the necessity of any notice and grace period. If Lessor elects to treat such unapproved assignment or subletting as a
noncurable Breach, Lessor may either (i) terminate this Lease, or (it) upon 30 days written notice, increase the monthly Base Rent to 110% of the Base
Rent then in effect. Further, in the event of such Breach and rental adjustment, (i) the purchase price of any option to purchase the Premises held by
Lessee shall be subject to similar adjustment to 110% of the price previously in effect, and (ti) all fixed and non-fixed rental adjustments scheduled
during the remainder of the Lease term shall be increased to 110% of the scheduled adjusted rent.

(e) Lessee’s remedy tor any bresch ot Paragraph 12.1 by Lessor shall be limited to compensatory damages andfor injunctive relief.
(I) Lessor may reasonably withhold consent to a proposed assignment or subletting if Lessee is in Default at the time consent is

requested.

(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, allowing a de minimis portion of the Premises, ie. 20 square feet or less, to be used by a third
party vendor in connection with the installation of a vending machine or payphone shall not constitute a subleBing.

12.2 Terms and Conditions Applicable to Assignment and Subletting.

(a) Regardless of Lessors consent, no assignment or subletting shall (i) be effective without the express written assumption by
such assignee or sublesses of the obligations of Lessee under this Lease, (U) release Lessee of any obligations hereunder, or (tii) alter the primary
liability of Lessee for the payment of Rent or for the performance of any other obligations to be performed by Lessee.

(bj Lessor may accept Rent or performance of Lessee’s obligations from any person other than Lessee pending approval or
disapproval of an assignment. Neither a detay in the approval or disapproval of such assignment nor the acceptance of Rent or performance shall
constitute a waiver or estoppel of Lessors right to exercise its remedies for Lessee’s Default or Breach.

(c) Lessor’s consent to any assignment or subtetting shell not constitute a consent to any subsequent assignment or subletting.
(d) In the event of any Default or Breach by Lessee, Lessor may proceed directly against Lessee, any Guarantom or anyone else

responsible for the performance of Lessee’s obligations under this Lease, including any assignee or sublessee, without first exhausting Lessors
remedies against any other person or entity responsible therefor to Lessor, or any security held by Lessor.

(e) Each request for consent to an assignment or subletting shall be in writing, accompanied by information relevant to Lessors
determination as to the financial and operational responsibility and appropriateness of the proposed assignee or sublessee, incteding but not limited to
the intended use endUor required moditication of the Premises, it any, together with a fee of $500 as consideration for Lessors considering and
processing said request. Lessee agrees to provide Lessor with such other or additional information sndlor documentation as may be reasonably
requested. (See also Paragraph 36)

(f) Any assignee of, or sublessee under, this Lease shall, by reason of accepting such assignment, entering into such sublease, or
entering into possession of the Premises or any portion thereof, be deemed to have assumed and agreed to conform and comply with each sod every
term, covenant, condition and obligation herein to be observed or performed by Lessee during the term of said assignment or sublease, other than such
obligations ax are contrary to or inconsistent with provisions of an assignment or sublease to which Lessor has specifically consented to in writing.

(gj Lessors consent to any assignment or subletting shall not transfer to the assignee or sublessee any Option granted to the
original Lessee by this Lease unless such transfer is specifically consented to by Lessor in writing. (See Paragraph 39.2)

12.3 Additional Terms snd Conditions Applicable to Subletting. The following terms and conditions shall apply to any subletting by

PA

INITIALS INITIALS

8 AIR COMMERCIA FORM

PAGE 298



Lessee of all or any part of the Premises and shall be deemed included in all subleases under this Lease whether or not expressly incorporated therein:
(a) Lessee hereby assigns and transfers to Lessor all of Lessee’s interest in alt Rent payable on any sublease, and Lessor may

collect such Rent and apply same toward Lessee’s obligations under this Lease; provided, however, that until a Breach shalt occur in the performance
of Lessee’s obtigations, Lessee may collect said Rent. In the event that the amount collected by Lessor exceeds Lessee’s then outstanding obligations
any such excess shalt be refunded to Lessee. Lessor shall not, by reason of the foregoing or any assignment of such sublease, nor by reason of the
collection of Rent, be deemed liable to the sublessee for any failure of Lessee to perform and comply with any of Lessee’s obligations to such
sublessee. Lessee hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs any such sublessee, upon receipt of a written notice from Lessor stating that a Breach
exists in the performance of Lessee’s obligations under this Lease, to pay to Lessor alt Rent due and to become due under the sublease. Sublessee
shall rely upon any such notice from Lessor and shall pay alt Rents to- Lessor without any obligation or right to inquire as to whether such Breach exists,
notwithstanding any claim from Lessee to the contrary.

(b) In the event of a Breach by Lessee, Lessor may, at its option, require subtessee to attom to Lessor, in which event Lessor shall
undertake the obligations of the sublessor under such sublease from the time of the exercise of said option to the expiration of such sublease; provided,
however, Lessor shall not be liable for any prepaid rents or security deposit paid by such sublessee to such sublessor or for any prior Defaults or
Breaches of such sublessor.

(c) Any matter requiring the consent of the sublessor under a sublease shell also require the consent of Lessor.
(d) No sublessee shall further assign or sublet all or any part of the Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent.
(e) Lessor shall deliver a copy of any notice of Default or Breach by Lessee to the sublessee, who shall have the right to cure the

Default of Lessee within the grace period, if any, specified in such notice. The sublessee shall have a riit of reimbursement and offset from and
against Lessee for any such Defaults cured by the sublessee.

13. Default; Breach; Remedies.

13.1 Default; Breach. A “Default” is defined as a failure by the Lessee to comply with or perform any of the terms, covenants,
conditions or Rules and Regulations under this Lease. A Breach” is defined as the occurrence of one or more of the following Defaults, and the failure
of Lessee to cure such Default within any applicable grace period:

(a) The abandonment of the Premises; or the vacating of the Premises without providing a commercially reasonable level of
security, or where the coverage of the property insurance described in Paragraph 8.3 is jeopardized as a result thereof, or without providing reasonable
assurances to minimize potential vandalism.

(b) The failure of Lessee to make any payment of Rent or any Security Deposit required to be made by Lessee hereunder,
whether to Lessor or to a third party, when due, to provide reasonable evidence of insurance or surety bond, or to fulfill any obligation under this Lease
which endangers or threatens life or property, where such failure continues for a period of 3 business days following written notice to Lessee. THE
ACCEPTANCE BY LESSOR OF A PARTIAL PAYMENT OF RENT OR SECURITY DEPOSIT SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF ANY OF
LESSOR’S RIGHTS, INCLUDING LESSOR’S RIGHT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF THE PREMISES.

(c) The failure of Lessee to allow Lessor and/or its agents access to the Premises or the commission of waste, act or acts
constituting public or private nuisance, and/or an illegal activity on the Premises by Lessee, where such actions continue for a period of 3 business days
following written notice to Lessee.

(d) The failure by Lessee to provide (i) reasonable written evidence of compliance with Applicable Requirements, (ti) the
service contracts, (if) the rescission of an unauthorized assignment or subletting, (iv) an Estoppel Certificate or financial statements, (v) a requested
subordination, (vi) evidence conceming any guaranty and/or Guarantor, (vti) any document requested under Paragraph 41, (viii) material data safety
sheets (MSDS), or (ix) any other documentation or information which Lessor may reasonably require of Lessee under the terms of this Lease, where
any such failure continues for a period of 10 days following written notice to Lessee.

(e) A Default by Lessee as to the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of this Lease, or of the rules adopted under
Paragraph 2.9 hereof, other than those described in subparagraphs 13.1(a), (b), (c) or (d), above, where such Default continues for a period of 30 days
after written notice; provided, however, that if the nature of Lessee’s Default is such that more than 30 days are reasonably required for its cure, then it
shall not be deemed to be a Breach if Lessee commences such cure within said 30 day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes such cure to
completion.

(f) The occurrence of any of the following events: (I) the making of any general arrangement or assignment for the benefit of
creditors; (ii) becoming a “debtor” as defined in 11 U.S.C. § 101 or any successor statute thereto (unless, in the case of a petition filed against Lessee,
the same is dismissed within 60 days); (if) the appointment of a trustee or receiver to take possession of substantially all of Lessee’s assets located at
the Premises or of Lessee’s interest in this Lease, where possession is not restored to Lessee within 30 days; or (iv) the attachment, execution or other
judicial seizure of substantially all of Lessee’s assets located at the Premises or of Lessee’s interest in this Lease, where such seizure is not discharged
within 30 days; provided, however, in the event that any provision of this subparagraph is contrary to any applicable law, such provision shall be of no
force or effect, and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions.

(g) The discovery that any financial statement of Lessee or of any Guarantor given to Lessor was materially false.
(h) If the performance of Lessee’s obligations under this Lease is guaranteed: (i) the death of a Guarantor, (ii) the

termination of a Guarantor’s liability with respect to this Lease other than in accordance with the terms of such guaranty, (iii) a Guarantor’s becoming
insolvent or the subject of a bankruptcy filing, (iv) a Guaranto?s refusal to honor the guaranty, or (v) a Guarantor’s breach of its guaranty obligation on
an anticipatory basis, and Lessee’s failure, within 60 days following written notice of any such event, to provide written alternative assurance or security,
which, when coupled with the then existing resources of Lessee, equals or exceeds the combined financial resources of Lessee and the Guarantors
that existed at the time of execution of this Lease.

13.2 Remedies. If Lessee fails to perform any of its affirmative duties or obligations, within 10 days after written notice (or in case of an
emergency, without notice), Lessor may, at its option, perform such duty or obligation on Lessee’s behalf, including but not limited to the obtaining of
reasonably required bonds, insurance policies, or governmental licenses, permits or approvals. Lessee shall pay to Lessor an amount equal to 115% of
the costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in such performance upon receipt of an invoice therefor. In the event of a Breach, Lessor may, with or
without further notice or demand, and without limiting Lessor ri the exercise of any right or remedy which Lessor may have by reason of such Breach:

(a) Terminate Lessee’s right to possession of the Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate and
Lessee shall immediately surrender possession to Lessor. In such event Lessor shall be entitled to recover from Lessee: (i) the unpaid Rent which had
been eamed at the lime of termination; (ii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been earned after
termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental Ices that the Lessee proves could have been reasonably avoided; (iii) the worth at
the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that
the Lessee proves could be reasonably avoided; and (iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all the detrirnenl proximately caused by
the Lessee’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, including but
not limited to the cost of recovering possession of the Premises, expenses of reletting, including necessary renovation and alteration of the Premises,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, and that portion of any leasing commission paid by Lessor in connection with this Lease applicable to the unexpired term of

_______

F

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 299



this Lease. The worth at the time of award of the amount referred to in provision (vi) of the immediately preceding sentence ahall be computed by
discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of the District within which the Premises are located at the time of award
plus one percent. Efforts by Lessor to mitigate damages caused by Lessee’s Breach of this Lease shall not waive Lessor’s right to recover damages
under Paragraph 12. If termination of this Lease is obtained through the provisional remedy of unlawful detainer, Lessor shall have the right to recover
in such proceeding any unpaid Rent and damages as are recoverable therein, or Lessor may reserve the right to recover all or any part thereof in a
separate suit, If a notice and grace period required under Paragraph 13.1 was not previously given, a notice to pay rent or quit, or to perform or quit
given to Lessee under the unlawful detainer statute shall also constitute the notice required by Paragraph 13.1. In such case, the applicable grace
period required by Paragraph 13.1 and the unlawful detainer statute shalt mn concurrently, and the failure of Lessee to cure the Default within the
greater of the two such grace periods shall constitute both an unlawful detainer and a Breach of this Lease entitling Lessor to the remedies provided for
in this Lease and/or by said statute.

(b) Continue the Lease and Lessee’s right to possession and recover the Rent as it becomes due, in which event Lessee may
sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations. Acts of maintenance, efforts to relet, and/or the appointment of a receiver to protect the
Lessor’s interests, shall not constitute a termination of the Lessee’s right to possession.

(c) Pumue any other remedy now or hereafter available under the laws or judicial decisions of the state wherein the Premises are
located. The aspiration or termination of this Lease and/or the termination of Lessee’s right to possession shall not relieve Lessee from liability under
any indemnity provisions of this Lease as to matters occurring or accming during the term hereof or by reason of Lessee’s occupancy of the Premises.

13.3 Inducement Recapture. Any agreement for free or abated rent or other charges, or for the giving or paying by Lessor to or for
Lessee of any cash or other bonus, inducement or consideration for Lessee’s entering into this Lease, all of which concessions are hereinafter referred
to as “Inducement Provisions”, shall be deemed conditoned upon Lessee’s full and faithful performance of all of the terms, covenants and conditions
of this Lease. Upon Breach of this Lease by Lessee, any such Inducement Provision shall automatically be deemed deleted from this Lease and of no
further force or effect, and any rent, other charge, bonus, inducement or consideration theretofore abated, given or paid by Lessor under such an
Inducement Provision shall be immediately due and payable by Lessee to Lessor, notwithstanding any subsequent cure of said Breach by Lessee. The
acceptance by Lessor of rent or the cure of the Breach which initiated the operation of this paragraph shall not be deemed a waiver by Lessor of the
provisions of this paragraph unless specifically so stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such acceptance.

13.4 Late Charges. Lessee hereby acknowledges that late payment by Lessee of Rent will cause Lessor to incur ccets not
contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be extremely difficult to ascertain. Such costs include, but are not limited to, processing and
accounting charges, and late charges which may be imposed upon Lessor by any Lender. Accordingly, if any Rent shall not be received by Lessor
within 5 days after such amount shall be due, then, without any requirement for notice to Lessee, Lessee shall immediately pay to Lessor a one-time
late charge equal to 10% of each such overdue amount or $100, whichever is greater. The parties hereby agree that such late charge represents a fair
and reasonable estimate of the costs Lessor will incur by reason of such late payment. Acceptance of such late charge by Lessor shall in no event
constitute a waiver of Lessee’s Default or Breach with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent the exercise of any of the other rights and remedies
gmnted hereunder. In the event that a late charge is payable hereunder, whether or not collected, for 3 consecutive installments of Base Rent, then
notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, Base Rent shall, at Lessot’s option, become due and payable quarterly in advance.

13.5 Interest. Any monetary payment due Lessor hereunder, other than late charges, not received by Lessor, when due as to
scheduled payments (such as Base Rent) or within 30 days following the date on which it was due for non-scheduled payment, shall bear interest from
the date when due, as to scheduled payments, or the 31st day after it was due as to non-scheduled payments. The interest (“Interest”) charged shalt
be computed at the rate of 10% per annum but shall not exceed the maximum rate allowed by law. Interest is payable in addition to the potential late
charge provided for in Paragraph 13.4.

13.B Breach by Lessor.

(a) Notice of Breach. Lessor shalt not be deemed in breach of this Lease unless Lessor fails within a reasonable time to perform
an obligation required to be performed by Lessor. For purposes of this Paragraph, a reasonable time shall in no event be less than 30 days after
receipt by Lessor, and any Lender whose name and address shall have been fumished to Lessee in writing for such purposs, of written notice
specifying wherein such obligation of Lessor has not been performed; provided, however, that if the nature of Lessor’s obligation is such that more than
30 days are reasonably required for its performance, then Lessor shalt not be in breach if performance is commenced within such 30 day period and
thereafter diligently pursued to completion.

(b) Performance by Lessee on Behalf of Lessor. In the event that neither Lessor nor Lender cures said breach within 30 days
after receipt ot said notice, or if having commenced said cure they do not diligently pursue it to completion, then Lessee may elect to cure said breach
at Lessee’s expense and offset from Rent the actual and reasonable cost to perform such cure, provided however, that such offset shall not exceed an
amount equal to the greater of one month’s Base Rent or the Security Deposit, reserving Lessee’s right to reimbursement from Lessor for any such
expense in excess of such offset. Lessee shall document the cost of said cure and supply said documentation to Lessor.
14. Condemnation, If the Premises or any portion thereof are taken under the power of eminent domain or sold under the threat of the exercise
of said power (collectively “Condemnation”), this Lease shalt terminate as to the part taken as of the date the condemning authority takes title or
possession, whichever first occurs. If more than 10% of the floor area of the Unit, or more than 25% of the parking spaces is taken by Condemnation,
Lessee may, at Lessee’s option, to be exercised in writing within 10 days after Lessor shall have given Lessee written notice of such taking (or in the
absence of such notice, within 10 days after the condemning authority shall have taken pcesession) terminate this Lease as of the date the condemning
authority takes such pceseaxion. If Lessee dces not terminate this Lease in accordance with the foregoing, this Lease shall remain in full force and
effect as to the portion of the Premises remaining, except that the Base Rent shall be reduced in proportion to the reduction in utility of the Premises
caused by such Condemnation. Condemnation awarch and/or payments shall be the property of Lessor, whether such award shall be made ax
compensstion for diminution in value of the leasehold, the value of the part taken, or for severance damages; provided, however, that Lessee shalt be
entitled to any compensation paid by the condemnor for Lessee’s relocation expenxes, loss of business goodwill and/or Trade Fixtures, without regard
to whether or not this Lease ix terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph. All Alterations and Utility Installations made to the Premises by
Lessee, for purpoxex of Condemnation only, shall be considered the property of the Lessee and Lessee shall be entitled to any and all compensation
which is payable therefor. In the event that this Lease is not terminated by reason of the Condemnation, Lessor shalt repair any damage to the
Premises caused by such Condemnation.

15. Brokerage Fees.

15.1 Additional Commission. If a separate brokerage fee agreement ix attached then in addition to the payments owed pursuant to
Paragraph 1.10 above, and unless Lessor and the Brokers otherwise agree in writing, Lessor agrees that; (a) if Lessee exercises any Option, (b) if
Lessee or anyone affliated with Lessee acquires from Lessor any rights to the Premises or other premises owned by Lessor and located within the
Project, (c) if Lessee remains in possession of the Premises, with the consent of Lessor, after the expiration of this Lease, or (d) if Base Rent ix
increased, whether by agreement or operation of an escalation clause herein, then, Lessor shall pay Brokers a fee in accordance with the schedule
attached to such brokerage fee agreement.

15,2 Assumption of Obligations. Any buyer or transferee of Lessor’s interest in this Lease shall be deemed to have assumed Lessor’s
obligation hereunder. Brokers shall be third party beneficiaries of the provisions of Paragraphs 1.10, 15, 22 and 31. if Lessor fails to pay to Brokem any

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 300



amounts due as and for brokerage fees pertaining to this Lease when due, then such amounts shall accrue Interest. In addition, if Lessor fails to pay
any amounts to Lessee’s Broker when due, Lessee’s Broker may send written notice to Lessor and Lessee & such failure and if Lessor fails to pay
such amounts within 10 days after said notice, Lessee shall pay said monies to its Broker and offset such amounts against Rent. In addition, Lessee’s
Broker shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of any commission agreement entered into by and/or between Lessor and Lessor’s Broker for the
limited purpose of collecting any brokerage fee owed.

15.3 Representations and Indemnities ot Broker Relationships. Lessee and Lessor each represent and warrant to the other that it
has had no dealings with any person, firm, broker or finder (other than the Brokers, if any) in connection with this Lease, and that no one other than said
named Brokers is entitled to any commission or finde?s fee in connection herewith. Lessee and Lessor do each hereby agree to indemnify, protect,
defend and hold the other harmless from and against liability for compensation or charges which may be claimed by any such unnamed broker, finder
or other similar party by reason of any dealings or actions of the indemnifying Party, including any costs, expenses, attomeys’ fees reasonably incurred
with respect thereto.

16. Bstoppet Certificates.

(a) Each Party (as “Responding Party”) shall within 10 days after written notice from the other Party (the “Requesting Party”)
esecule, acknowledge and deliver to the Requesting Party a statement in writing in form similar to the then most current “Estoppel Certificate” form
published by the AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, plus such additional information, confirmation and/or statements as may be reasonably
requested by the Requesting Party.

(b) If the Responding Party shalt fail to execute or deliver the Estoppel Certificate within such 10 day period, the Requesting Party
may execute an Estoppel Certificate stating that: (i) the Lease is in full force and effect without modification except as may be represented by the
Requesting Party, (ii) there are no uncured defaults in the Requesting Party’s performance, and (ii) if Lessor is the Requesting Party, not more than one
month’s rent has been paid in advance. Prospective purchasers and encumbrancers may rely upon the Requesting Party’s Estoppel Certificate, and the
Responding Party shall be estopped from denying the truth of the facts contained in said Certificate.

(c) If Lessor desires to finance, refinance, or sell the Premises, or any part thereof, Lessee and all Guarantom shall within 10 days
after written notice from Lessor deliver to any potential lender or purchaser designated by Lessor such financial statements as may be reasonably
required by such lender or purchaser, including but not limited to Lessee’s financial statements for the past 3 years. All such financial statements shall
be received by Lessor and such lender or purchaser in confidence and shall be used only for the purposes herein set forth.
17. Definition of Lessor. The term “Lessor” as used herein shall mean the owner or owners at the time in question of the fee title to the
Premises, or, if this is a sublease, of the Lessee’s interest in the prior lease. In the event of a transfer of Lessor’s titie or interest in the Premises or this
Lease, Lessor shall deliver to the traesferee or assigaee (in cash or by credit) any unused Security Deposit held by Lessor. Upon such transfer or
essignment and delivery of the Security Deposit, es aforesaid, the prior Lessor shall be relieved of all liability with respect to the obligations and/or
covenants under this Leese thereafter to be performed by the Lessor. Subject to the foregoing, the obligations and/or covenants in this Lease to be
performed by the Lessor shall be binding only upon the Lessor as hereinabove defined.
18. Severability. The invalidity of any provision of this Lease, es determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall in no way affect the
validity of any other provision hereof.

10. Days. Unless otherwise specifically indicated to the contrary, the word “days” as used in this Lease shall mean and refer to calendar days.
20. Limitation on Liability. The obligations of Lessor under this Lease shall not constitute personal obligations of Lessor, or its partners,
members, directors, officers or shareholders, and Lessee shall look to the Premises, and to no other assets of Lessor, for the satisfaction of any liability
of Lessor with respect to this Lease, and shall not seek recourse against Lessors partners, members, directors, officers or shareholders, or any of their
personal assets for such satisfaction.

21. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of all obligations to be performed or observed by the Parties under
this Lease.

22. No Prior or Other Agreements; Broker Disclaimer. This Lease contains all agreements between the Parties with respect to any matter
mentioned herein, and no other prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding shall be effeclive. Lessor and Lessee each represents and
warrants to the Brokers that it has made, and is relying selely upon, its own investigation es to the nature, quality, chamcter and financial responsibility
of the other Party to this Lease and as to the use, nature, quality and character of the Premises. Brokers have no responsibility with respect thereto or
with respect to any default or breach herenf by either Party.

23. Notices.

23.1 Notice Requirements. All notices required or permitted by Ihis Lease or applicable law shalt be in writing and may be delivered in
person (by hand or by courier) or may be sent by regular, certified or registered mail or U.S. Postal Service Express Mail, with postage prepaid, or by
facsimile transmission, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if served in a manner specified in this Paragraph 23. The addresses noted adjacent to a
Party’s signature on this Lease shall be that Party’s address for delivery or mailing of notices. Either Party may by written notice to the other specify a
different address for notice, except that upon Lessee’s taking possession of the Premises, the Premises shall constitute Lessee’s address for notice. A
copy of all notices to Lessor shall be concurrently transmitted to such party or parties at such addresses as Lessor may from time to time hereafter
designate in writing.

23.2 Date of Notice. Any notice sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the dale of
delivery shown on the receipt card, or if no delivery dale is shown, the postmark thereon. If sent by regular mail the notice shalt be deemed given 72
hours after the same is eddressed es required herein and mailed with postage prepaid. Notices delivered by United States Express Mail or ovemighf
courier that guarantees next day delivery shall be deemed given 24 hours after delivery of the same to the Postal Service or courier. Notices
transmitted by facsimile transmission or similar means shall be deemed delivered upon telephone confirmation of receipt (confirmation report from fas
machine is sufficient), provided a copy is also delivered via delivery or mail. If notice is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, it shall be
deemed received on the next business day.

24. Waivers.

(a) No waiver by Lessor of the Default or Breach of any term, covenant or condition hereof by Lessee, shall be deemed a waiver of any
other term, covenant or condition hereof, or of any subsequent Default or Breach by Lessee of the same or of any other term, covenant or condition
hereof. Lessor’s consent to, or approval of, any act shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of Lessors consent to, or approval of, any
subsequent or similar act by Lessee, or be construed as the basis of an estoppel to enforce the provision or provisions of this Lease requiring such
consent.

(b) The acceptance of Rent by Lessor shalt not be a waiver of any Default or Breach by Lessee. Any payment by Lessee may be
accepted by Lessor on account of monies or damages due Lessor, notwithstanding any qualifying statements or conditions made by Lessee in
connection therewith, which such statements and/or conditions shall be of no force or effect whatsoever unless specifically agreed to in writing by
Lessor at or before the time of deposit of such payment.

(c) THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE SHALL GOVERN WITH REGARD TO ALL MATTERS RELATED
THERETO AND HEREBY WAIVE THE PROVISIONS OF ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE STATUTE TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH STATUTE IS
INCONSISTENT WITH THIS LEASE.

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

8 N

PAGE 301



25. Disclosures Regarding The Nature of a Real Estate Agency Relationship.
(a) When entering into a discussion with a real estate agent regarding a real estate transaction, a Lessor or Lessee should from the

outset understand what type of agency relationship or representation it has with the agent or agents in the transaction. Lessor and Lessee
acknowledge being advised by the Brokers in this transaction, as follows:

(i) Lessors Agent. A Lessors agent under a listing agreement with the Lessor acts as the agent for the Lessor Only. A
Lessors agent or subagent has the following affirmative obligations: To the Lessor: A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in
dealings with the Lessor. To the Lessee and the Lessor a. Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent’s duties. b. A
duty of honest and fair dealing and good faith. c. A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the
property that are not known to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties. An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any
confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above.

(U) Lessee’s Agent. An agent can agree to act as agent for the Lessee only. In these situations, the agent is not the
Lessor’s agent, even if by agreement the agent may receive compensation for services rendered, either in full or in part from the Lessor. An agent
acting Only for a Lessee has the following affirmative obligations. To the Lessee: A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in
dealings with the Lessee. To the Lessee and the Lesson a. Diligent esercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent’s duties. b. A
duty of honest and fair dealing and good faith. c. A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the
property that are not knows to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties. An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any
confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above.

(Ui) Agent Reoresentino Both Lessor and Lessee. A real estate agent, either acting directly or through one or more associate
licenses, can legally be the agent of both the Lessor and the Lessee in a transaction, but only with the knowledge and consent of both the Lessor and
the Lessee. In a dual agency situation, the agent has the following affirmative obligations to both the Lessor and the Lessee: a. A fiduciary duty of
utmost care, integrity, honesty and loyalty in the dealings with either Lessor or the Lessee. b. Other duties to the Lessor and the Lessee as stated
above in subparagrapfts (i) or (ii). In representing both Lessor and Lessee, the agent may not without the express permission of the respective Party,
disclose to the other Party that the Lessor will accept rent in an amount less than that indicated in the listing or that the Lessee is willing to pay a higher
rent than that offered. The above duties of the agent in a real estate transaction do not relieve a Lessor or Lessee from the responsibility to protect their
own interests. Lessor and Lessee should carefully read all agreements to assure that they adequately express their understanding of the transaction.
A real eslale agent is a person qualified to advise about real estate. If legal or tax advice is desired, consult a competent professional.

(b) Brokers have no responsibility with respect to any default or breach hereof by either Party. The Parties agree that no lawsuit or
other legal proceeding involving any breach of duty, error or omission relating to this Lease may be brought against Broker more than one year after the
Start Date and that the liability (including court costs and attorneys’ fees), of any Broker with respect to any such lawsuit and/or legal proceeding shall
not exceed the fee received by such Broker pursuant to this Lease; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation on each Brokers liability shall not be
applicable to any gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Broker.

(c) Lessor and Lessee agree to identity to Brokers as “Confidential” any communication or information given Brokers that is considered
by such Party to be confidential.

26. No Right To Holdover. Lessee has no right to retain possession of the Premises or any part thereof beyond the expiration or termination of
this Lease. In the event that Lessee holds over, then the Base Rent shall be increased to 150% of the Base Rent applicable immediately preceding the
expiration or termination. Nothing contained herein shall he construed as consent by Lessor to any holding over by Lessee.
27. Cumulative Remedies. No remedy or election hereunder shall be deemed exclusive but shall, wherever possible, be cumulative with all
other remedies at law or in equity.

28. Covenants and Conditions; Construction of Agreement. All provisions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Lessee are both
covenants and conditions. In construing this Lease, all headings and tifies are for the convenience of the Parties only and shall not be considered a
part of this Lease. Whenever required by the context, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. This Lease shall not be construed as if
prepared by one of the Parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both Parties had prepared it.
29. Binding Effect; Choice of Law. This Lease shall be binding upon the parties, their personal representatives, successors and assigns and
be governed by the laws of the State in which the Premises are located. Any litigation between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease shall be
initiated in the county in which the Premises are located.

30. Subordination; Attornment; Non-Disturbance.

30.1 Subordination. This Lease and any Option granted hereby shall be subject and subordinate to any ground lease, mortgage, deed
of trust, or other hypothecation or security device (collectively, “Security Device”), now or hereafter placed upon the Premises, to any and all advances
made on the security thereof, and to all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof. Lessee agrees that the holders of any such Security Devices
(in this Lease together referred to as “Lender”) shall have no liability or obligation to perform any of the obligations of Lessor under this Lease. Any
Lender may elect to have this Lease and/or any Option granted hereby superior to the lien of its Security Device by giving written notice thereof to
Lessee, whereupon this Lease and such Options shall be deemed prior to such Security Device, notwithstanding the relative dates of the
documentation or recordation thereof.

30.2 Attornment. In the event that Lessor transfers title to the Premises, or the Premises are acquired by another upon the foreclosure
or termination of a Security Devise to which this Lease is subordinated (i) Lessen shall, subject to the non-disturbance provisions of Paragraph 30.3,
attorn to such new owner, and upon request, enter into a new lease, containing all of the terms and provisions of this Lease, with such new owner for
the remainder of the term hereof, or, at the election of the new owner, this Lease will automatically become a new lease between Lessee and such new
owner, and (ii) Lessor shall thereafter be relieved of any further obligations hereunder and such new owner shall assume all of Lessors obligations,
except that such new owner shall not: (a) be liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor or with respect to events occurring prior to acquisition of
ownership; (b) be subject to any offsets or defenses which Lessee might have against any prior lessor, (c) be bound by prepayment of more than one
month’s rent, or (d) be liable for the return of any security deposit paid to any prior lessor which was not paid or credited to such new owner.

30.3 Non-Disturbance. With respect to Security Devices entered into by Lessor after the execution of this Lease, Lessee’s
subordination of this Lease shall be subject to receiving a commercially reasonable non-disturbance agreement (a “Non-Disturbance Agreement’)
from the Lender which Non-Disturbance Agreement provides that Lessee’s possession of the Premises, and this Lease, including any options to extend
the term hereof, will not be dislurbed so tong as Lessee is not in Breach hereof and attoms to the record owner of the Premises. Further, within 60
days after the execution of this Lease, Lessor shall, if requested by Lessee, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a Non-Disturbance
Agreement from the holder of any pre-existing Security Device which is secured by the Premises. In the event that Lessor is unable to provide the
Non-Disturbance Agreement within said 60 days, then Lessee may, at Lessee’s option, directly contact Lender and attempt to negotiate for the
execution and delivery of a Non-Disturbance Agreement.

30.4 Self-Executing. The agreements contained in this Paragraph 30 shall be effective without the execution of any further documents;
provided, however, that, upon written request from Lessor or a Lender in connection with a sale, financing or refinancing of the Premises, Lessee and
Lessor shall execute such further writings as may be reasonably required to separately document any subordination, attomment and/or
Non-Disturbance Agreement provided for herein.

_______

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

998 R AL E

PAGE 302



31. Attorneys’ Fees. If any Party or Broker brings an action or proceeding involving the Premises whether founded in tort, contract or equity, or
to declare rights hereunder, the Prevailing Party (as hereafter defined) in any such proceeding, action, or appeal thereon, shall he entitled to reasonable
attorneys’ fees. Such fees may be awarded in the same suit or recovered in a separate suit, whether or not such action or proceeding is pursued to
decision or judgment. The term, •Prevailing Party” shall include, without limitation, a Party or Broker who substantially obtains or defeats the relief
sougiit, as the case may be, whether by compromise, settlement, judgment, or the abandonment by the other Party or Broker & its claim or defense.
The attomeys’ fees award shall not be computed in accordance with any court tee schedule, but shall be such as to fully reimburse all attorneys’ fees
reasonably incurred. In addition, Lessor shall be entitled to attorneys’ fees, costs and espenses incurred in the preparation and service of notices of
Default and consultations in connection therewith, whether or not a legal action is subsequently commenced in connection with such Default or resulting
Breach ($200 is a reasonable minimum per occurrence for such services and consultation).
32. Lessor’s Access; Showing Premises; Repairs. Showing Premises; Repairs. Lessor and Lessors agents shall have the right to enter the
Premises at any time, in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times after reasonable prior notice for the purpose of showing the
same to prospective purchasers, lenders, or tenants, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as Lessor may
deem necessary or desirable and the erecting, using and maintaining of utilities, services, pipes and conduits through the Premises and/or other
premises as long as there is no material adverse effect on Lessee’s use of the Premises. All such activities shall be without abatement of rent or
liability to Lessee.

33. Auctions. Lessee shall not conduct, nor permit to be conducted, any auction upon the Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent.
Lessor shall not be obligated to exercise any standard of reasonableness in determining whether to permit an auction.
34. Signs. Lessor may place on the Premises ordinary “For Sale’ signs at any time and ordinary ‘For Lease’ signs during the last 6 mentha of
the term hereof. Escept for ordinary ‘For Sublease’ signs which may be placed only on the Premises, Lessee shall not place any sign upon the Project
without Lessors prior written consent. All signs must comply with all Applicable Requirements.
35. Termination; Merger. Unless specifically stated otherwise in writing by Lessor, the voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Lessee, the
mutual termination or cancellation hereof, or a termination hereof by Lessor for Bmach by Lessee, shall automatically terminate any sublease or lesser
estate in the Premises; provided, however, that Lessor may elect to continue any one or all existing aubtenancies. Lessors failure within 10 days
following any such event to elect to the contrary by written notice to the holder of any such lesser interest, shall constitute Lessor’s election to have
such event constitute the termination of such interest.

36. Consents. Except as otherwise provided herein, wherever in this Lease the consent of a Party is required to an act by or for the other Party,
such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Lessor’s actual reasonable costs and expenses (including but not limited to architects’,
attorneys’, engineers’ and other consultants’ fees) incurred in the consideration of, or response to, a request by Lessee for any Lessor consent,
including but not limited to consents to an assignment, a sebletting or the presence or use of a Hazardous Substance, shall be paid by Lessee upon
receipt of an invoice and supporting documentation therefor. Lessor’s consent to any act, assignment or subletting shalt not constitute an
acknowledgment that no Default or Breach by Lessee of this Lease exists, nor shall such consent be deemed a waiver of any then existing Default or
Breach, except aa may be otherwise specifically stated in writing by Lessor at the time of such consent. The failure to specify herein any particular
condition to Lessor’s consent shall not preclude the imposition by Lessor at the time of consent of such further or other conditions as are then
reasonable with reference to the particular mailer for which consent is being given. In the event that either Party disagmea with any determination
made by the other hereunder and reasonably requests the reasons for such determination, the determining party shall fumish its reasons in writing and
in reasonable detail within 10 business days following such request.

37. Guarantor.

37.1 Execution. Tho Guarantors, if any, shall each esocuto a guaranty in tho form mect rocontly published by tho AIR Commercial Real
Er±ite Association,.

37.2 Default. It shall constitute a Default of the Loseoo if any Guarantor faila or refucoe, upon request to provide: (a) evidonco of the
execution of the guaranty, including the authority of the party signing on Guarantor’s behalf to obligate Guarenter, and in the ease ef a corperete
Guarantor, a certified copy of a resetutien of ite bcord of direotere authorizing the making of such guaranty, (b) current financial elatomonts, (e) an
Estoptiel Certificate, or jd) written confirmation that the quaranty is still in effeet.

38. Quiet Possession. Subject to payment by Lessee of the Rent and performance of all of the covenants, conditions and provisions on
Lessee’s part to be observed and performed under this Lease, Lessee shalt have quiet possession and quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the term
hersof.

39. Options. If Lessee is granted an option, as defined below, then the following previsions shall apply.
3g.1 Definition. “Option” shall mean: (a) the right to extend or reduce the term of er renew this Lease or to extend or reduce the term

of or renew any lease that Lessen has en ether property of Lesser; (b) the right of first refusal or first offer to lease either the Premises or other property
of Lessor; (c) the right to purchase, the right of first offer to purchase or the right of first refusal to purchase the Premises or other property of Lesser.

3g.2 Options Personal To Original Lessee. Any Option granted to Lessee in this Lease is personal to the original Lessee, and cannot
be assigned or exercised by anyone ether than said original Lessee and only while the original Lessee is in full possession ef the Premises and, if
requested by Lessor, with Lessee certifying that Lessen has ncr intention of thereafter assigning or subletting.

3g,3 Multiple Options. In the event that Lessee has any multiple Options to extend or renew this Lease, a later Option cannel be
exercised unless the prier Options have been validly exercised.

39.4 Effect of Default on Options.

(a) Lessee shall have no right to exercise an Oplien: (i) during the period commencing with the giving of any notice of Default and
continuing until ssid Default is cured, (ii) during the period of time any Rent is unpaid (without regard le whether notice thereof is given Lessee), (tii)
during the time Lessen is in Breach of this Lease, or (iv) in the event thaI Lessee has been given 3 or more notices of separate Default, whether or nel
the Defaults are cured, during the 12 month period immediately preceding the exercise of the Option.

(b) The period of lime within which an Option may be exercised shall net be extended or enlarged by reason of Lessee’s inability to
exercise an Oplien because of the previsions of Paragraph 39.4(a).

(c) An Option shall terminate and be of no further force or effect, notwithstanding Lessee’s due and timely exercise of the Option, if,
after such exercise and prier to the commencement of the extended term or completion of the purchase, (i) Lessee fails to pay Rent fer a period of 30
days after such Rent becomes due (without any necessity of Lesser to give netice thereof), or (ti) if Lessee commits a Breach of this Lease.
40. Security Measures. Lessee hereby acknewledgea that the Rent payable te Lessor hereunder does net include the coat of guard service or
other security measures, and that Lesser shall have no obligatien whatsoever to provide same. Lessee assumes all responsibility for the protection of
the Premises, Lessee, its agents and invilees and their property from the acts of third parties.
41. Reservations. Lesser reserves the right: (i) to grant, without the consent or joinder of Lessen, such easements, rights and dedications that
Lessor deems necessary, (ii) to cause the recordatien of parcel maps and restrictions, and (tii) to creafe and/or install new utility racewaya, so long as
such easements, rights, dedications, maps, restrictions, and utility racewaya do net unreasonably interfere with the use of the Premises by Lessee.
Lessen agrees to sign any documents reasonably requested by Lessor to effectuate such rights.
42. Performance Under Protest. If at any time a dispute shall arise as to any amount or sum of money to be paid by one Party to the ether

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 303



under the provisions hereof, the Party egainst whom the obligation to pay the money is asserted shall have the right to make payment “under protest”
and such payment shall not be regarded as a voluntary payment and lhere shall survive the right on the part of said Party to institute suit for recovery of
such sum. If it shall be adjudged that there was no legal obligation on the part of said Party to pay such sum or any part thereof, said Party shall be
entitled to recover such sum or so much thereof as it was not legally required to pay. A Party who does not initiate suit for the recovery of sums paid
“under protest” within 6 months shall be deemed to have waived its right to protest such payment.

43. Authority.; Multiple Parties; Execution.

(a) If either Party hereto is a corporation, trust, limited liability company, partnership, or similar entity, each individual esecuting this
Lease on behalf of such entity represents and warrants that he or she is duty authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on its behalf. Each Party
shall, within 30 days after request, deliver to the other Party satisfactory evidence of such authority.

(bj If this Lease is esecuted by more than one pemon or entity as “Lessee”, each such person or entity shall be jointly and severally
liable hereunder. It is agreed that any one of the named Lessees shalt be empowered to execute any amendment to this Lease, or other document
ancillary thereto and bind all of the named Lessees, and Lessor may rely on the same as if all ot the named Lessees had executed such document.

(c) This Lease may be executed by the Parties in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and alt of which logether
shall constitute one and the same instrument.

44. Conflict. Any conflict between the printed provisions of this Lease and the typewritten or handwritten provisions shall be controlled by the
typewritten or handwritten provisions.

45. Offer. Preparation of this Lease by either party or their agent and submission of same to the other Party shall not be deemed an offer to
lease to the other Party. This Lease is not intended to be binding until executed and delivered by all Parties hereto.
46. Amendments. This Lease may be modified only in writing, signed by the Parties in interest at the time of the modification. As long as they
do not materially change Lessee’s obligations hereunder, Lessee agrees to make such reasonable non-monetary modifications to this Lease as may be
reasonably required by a Lender in connection with the obtaining of normal financing or refinancing of the Premises.
47. Waiver of Jury Trial. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR
PROCEEDING INVOLVING THE PROPERTY OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.
48. Arbitration of Disputes. An Addendum requiring the Arbitration of all disputes between the Parties andlor Brokers arising out of this Lease

C is C is not attached to this Lease.
49. Americans with Disabilities Act. Since compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is dependent upon Lasses’s specific use
of the Premises, Lessor makes no warranty or representation as to whether or not the Premises comply with ADA or any similar legislation. In the
event that Lessee’s usa of the Premises requires modifications or additions to the Premises in order to be in ADA compliance, Lessee agrees to make
any such necessary modifications andlor additions at Lasses’s expense.

LESSOR AND LESSEE HAVE CAREFULLY READ AND REVIEWED THIS LEASE AND EACH TERM AND PROVISION CONTAINED HEREIN, AND
BY THE EXECUTION OF THIS LEASE SHOW THEIR INFORMED AND VOLUNTARY CONSENT THERETO. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE
THAT, AT THE TIME THIS LEASE IS EXECUTED, THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE ARE COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE AND EFFECTUATE THE
INTENT AND PURPOSE OF LESSOR AND LESSEE WITH RESPECT TO THE PREMISES,

AHENTION: NO REPRESENTATION OR RECOMMENDATION IS MADE BY THE AIR COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE ASSOCIATION OR BY ANY
BROKER AS TO THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY, LEGAL EFFECT, OR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS LEASE OR THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH
IT RELATES. THE PART1ES ARE URGED TO:

1. SEEK ADVICE OF COUNSEL AS TO THE LEGAL AND TAX CONSEQUENCES OF ThIS LEASE.
2. RETAIN APPROPRIATE CONSULTANTS TO REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE CONDITION OF THE PREMISES. SAID
INVESTIGATION SHOULD INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO: THE POSSIBLE PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, THE ZONING OF
THE PREMISES, THE STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY, THE CONDITION OF THE ROOF AND OPERATING SYSTEMS, COMPUANCE WITH THE
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT AND ThE SUITABIUTY OF THE PREMISES FOR LESSEE’S INTENDED USE.

WARNING: IF THE PREMISES ARE LOCATED IN A STATE OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LEASE MAY NEED TO
BE REVISED TO COMPLY WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE PREMISES ARE LOCATED.
The parties hereto have esecuted this Lease at the place and on the dates specified above their respective signatures.

Executed at: Executed:

On:

____________________________________________________________

On:

By LESSOR: By LESSEE:

By: By:_________________________________________________________

Name Printed: Name Printed:

Title: Title:

By: By:

Name Printed: Name Printed:

Title: Title:

Address: Address:

Telephone:()

_________________________________________________

Telephona:()

________________________________________________

Facsimils:()

__________________________________________________

Facsimile:(j

__________________________________________________

Email:

_______________________________________________________

Email:

______________________________________________________

Email:

_____________________________________________________

Email:

____________________________________________________________

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

8 AIR COMMERCIA N

PAGE 304



Federal ID No. Federal ID No.

BROKER: BROKER:

Alt: Alt:

Title: Title:

Address: Address:____________________________________________________

Telephone:() Telephone: ()
Facsimile:( ) Facsimile:()
Email: Email:

Federal ID No. Federal ID No.

Broker/Agent DRE License #: Broker/Agent DRE License #:

NOTICE: These forms are often modified to meet changing requirements of law and industry needs. Always write or call to make sure you

are utilizing the most current form: AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, 800 W 6th Street, Suite 800, Los Angeles, CA 90017.
Telephone No. (213) 6874777. Fax No.: (213) 687-8616.

(c)Copyright 1998 By AIR Commercial Real Estate Association.

All rights reserved.

No part of these works may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing.

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

8

PAGE 305



.±. ;

OPTION(S) TO EXTEND
STANDARD LEASE ADDENDUM

Dated 5/30/2013

Byand Between (Lessor)Tougas Family Q-tip-trust, Trust “C” / TF El

Camino LLC

Byand Between (Lessee)city Cf Menlo Park, California

Address of Premises: 871 Mamilton Ave. units A&B Menlo Park, CA 94025

Paragraph

A. OPTION(S) TO EXTEND:
Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the option to eslend the term of this Lease for 1 additionat 24
month period(s) commencing when the prior term expires upon each and alt of the following terms and conditions:

(i) In order to esercise an option to extend, Lessee must give written notice of such election to Lessor and Lessor must receive the same at
least 3 but not more than 6 months prior to the date that the option period would commence, time being of the essence. If proper
notification of the exercise of an option is not given and/or received, such option shall automatically expire. Options (if there are more than one) may
only be exercised consecutively.

(t) The provisions of paragraph 39, including those relating to Lessee’s Default set forth in paragraph 39.4 of this Lease, are conditions of
this Option.

(hi) Except for the provisions of this Lease granting an opton or options to extend the term, all of the terms and conditions of this Lease
except where specifically modified by this option shall apply.

(iv) This Option is personal to the original Lessee, and cannot be assigned or exercised by anyone other than said original Lessee and only
while the original Lessee is in full possession of the Premises and without the intention of thereafter assigning or subletting.

(v) The monthly rent for each month of the option period shall be calculated as follows, using the method(s) indicated below:
(Check Method(s) to be Used and Fill in Appropriately)

D I. Cost of Living Adjustment(s) (COLA)
a. On (Fill in COLA Dates):

the Base Rent shall be adjusted by the change, if any, from the Base Month specified below, in the Consumer Price Index of the Bureau of Labor
Sthtistics of the U.S. Department of Labor for (select one): C CPI W (Urban Wage Eamers and Clerical Workers) or C CPI U (All Urban Consumers),
for (Fill in Urban Area):

All Items (1982-1984 = 100), herein referred toss “CPI’.

b. The monthly rent payable in accordance with paragraph Ala. of this Addendum shall be calculated as follows: the Base Rent set forth in
paragraph 1.5 of the attached Lease, shalt be multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which shall be the CPI of the calendar month 2 months prior to
the month(s) specified in paragraph Ala. above during which the adjustment is to take effect, and the denominator of which shall be the CPI of the
calendar month which ix 2 months prior to (select one): D the first month of the term of this Lease as set forth in paragraph 1.3 (“Base Month’) or C
(Fill in Other “Base Month’):

The sum so calculated shall constitute the new monthly rent hereunder, but in no event, shall any such new monthly rent be lexs than the rent payable
for the month immediately preceding the rent adlustment.

c. In the event the compilation and/or publication of the CPI shall be transferred to any other governmental department or bureau or agency or
shall be discontinued, then the index most nesdy the same ax the CPI shall be used to make such calculation. In the event that the Psrties cannot
agree on such sltemative index, then the matter shall be submitted for decision to the American Athitration Association in accordance with the then
mien of said Association and the decision of the arbitrators shall be binding upon the parties. The cost of said Arbitration shall be paid equally by the
Parties.

C II. Market Rental Value Adjustment(s) (MRV)
a. On (Fill in MRV Adjustment Date(s))

__________________________________________________________________________________

the Base Rent shall be adjusted to the “Market Rental Value” of the property ax follows:
1) Four months prior to each Market Rental Value Adjustment Date described above, the Parties shall attempt to agree upon what the new

MRV will be on the adjustment date. If agreement cannot be reached, within thirty days, then:

(a) Lessor and Lessee shall immediately appoint a mutually acceptable appraiser or broker to establish the new MRV within the next 30
days. Any associated costs will be split equally between the Parties, or

(b) Both Lessor and Lessee shall each immediately make s reasonable determination of the MRV and submit such determination, in

_______

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

00 AIR COMMERCIA FOR E

PAGE 306



writing, to arbitration in accordance with the following provisions;

(i) Within 15 days thereafter, Lessor and Lessee shall each select an [I appraiser or I] broker (“Consultant” -check one) of their
choice to act as an arbitrator. The two arbitrators so appointed shall ininediately select a third mutualty acceptable Consultant to act as a third
arbitrator.

(ii) The 3 arbitrators shalt within 30 days of the appointment of the third arbitrator reach a decision as to what the actual MRV for
the Premises is, and whether Lesso?s or Lessee’s submitted MRV is the ctosest thereto. The decision of a majority of the arbitrators shall be binding
on the Parties. The submitted MRV which is determined to be the closest to the actual MRV shall thereafter be used by the Parties.

(iii) If either of the Parties tails to appoint an arbitrator within the specified 15 days, the arbitrator timely appointed by one of them
shall reach a decision on his or her own, and said decision shall be binding on the Parties.

(iv) The entire cost of such arbitration shalt be paid by the party whose submitted MRV is not selected, ie. the one that is NOT the
closest to the actual MRV.

2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the new MRV shall not be less than the rent payable for the month immediately preceding the rent
adjustment.

b. Upon the establishment of each New Market Rental Value;

1) the new MRV will become the new “Base Rent” for the purpose of calculating any further Adjustments, and
2) the first month of each Market Rental Value term shall become the new “Base Month” for the purpose of calculating any further

Adjustments.

Ill. Fixed Rental Adjustment(s) (FRA)
The Base Rent shall be increased to the following amounts on the dates set forth below;

On (Fill in FRA Adjustment Date(s)); The New Base Rent shall be;
June 15th, 2016 $4,043.09
June 16th, 2017 $4,164.38

B. NOTICE:
Unless specified otherwise herein, notice of any rental adjustments, other than Fixed Rental Adjustments, shall be made as specified in

paragraph 23 of the Lease.

C. BROkER’S FEE:
The Brokers shall be paid a Brokerage Fee for each adjustment specified above In accordance with paragraph 15 of the Lease.

NOTiCE: These forms are often modified to meet changing requirements of law and industry needs. Always write or call to make sure you
are utilizing the most current form: AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, 800 W 6th Street, Suite 800, Los Angeles, CA 90017.
Telephone No. (213) 687-8777. Fax No.: (213) 687-8616.

________

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

AIR C M

PAGE 307



Iimwwl
RENT ADJUSTMENT(S)

STANDARD LEASE ADDENDUM

Dated 5/30/2013

By and Between (Lessor) Tougas Family Q-tip-trust, Trust “C” / TF El

Camino LLC

(Lessee) City Of Menlo Park, California

Address of Premises: 871 Hamilton Ave. Units A&B Menlo Park, CA 94025

Paragraph

A. RENT ADJUSTMENTS:

The monthly rent for each month of the adjustment period(s) specified below shall be increased using the method(s) indicated below:

(Check Method(s) to be Used and Fill in Appropriately)

C I. Cost of Living Adjustment(s) (COLA)

a. On (Fill in COLA Dates):

__________________________________________________________________________________________

the Base Rent shall be adjusted by the change, if any, from the Base Month specified below, in the Consumer Price Index of the Bureau of Labor

Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor for (select one):D CPI W (Urban Wage Eamers and Clerical Workers) or C CPI U (All Urban Consumers),

for (Fill in Urban Area):

All Items

(1g82-1g84 = 100). herein referred to as ‘CPI”.

b. The monthly rent payable in accordance with paragraph Ala. of this Addendum shall be calculated as follows: the Base Rent set forth in
paragraph 1.5 ot the attached Lease, shall be multiplied by a traction the numerator of which shall be the CPI of the calendar month 2 months prior to
the month(s) specified in paragraph Ala. above during which the adjustment is to take effect, and the denominator of which shall be the CPI of the
calendar month which is 2 months prior to (select one): the C first month of the term of this Lease as set forth in paragraph 1.3 (“Base Month”) or C
(Fill in Other “Base Month”):

. The sum so calculated shall
constitute the new monthly rent hereunder, but in no event, shalt any such new monthly rent be lens than the rent payable for the month immediately
preceding the rent adjustment.

c. In the event the compilation and/or publication of the CPI shall be transferred to any other govemmental department or bureau or
agency or shall be discontinued, then the index most nearly the same as the CPI shall be used to make such calculation. In the event that the Parties
cannot agree on such altemative index, then the matter shall be submitted for decision to the American Arbitration Association in accordance with the
then mies of said Association and the decision of the arbitrators shall be binding upon the parties. The cost of said Arbitration shall be paid equally by
the Parties.

C It. Market Rental Value Adjustment(s) (MRV)
a. On (Fill in MRV Adjustment Date(s):

________________________________________________________________________________________

the Base Rent shall be adjusted to the ‘Market Rental Value’ of the property as follows:

1) Four months prior to each Market Rental Value Adjustment Date described above, the Parties shall attempt to agree upon what the
new MRV will be on the adjustment date. If agreement cannot be reached within thirty days, then:

(a) Lessor and Lessee shall immediately appoint a mutually acceptable appraiser or broker to establish the new MRV within
the next 30 days. Any associated costs wilt be split equally between the Parties, or

(b) Both Lessor and Lessee shall each immediately make a reasonable determination of the MRV and submit such
determination, in writing, to arbitration in accordance with the following provisions:

(i) Within 15 days thereafter, Lessor and Lessee shall each select an C appraiser or C broker (“Consultant” -

check one) of their choice to act as an arbitrator. The two arbitrators so appointed shall immediately select a third mutually acceptable Consultant to act
as a third arbitrator.

(U) The 3 arbitrators shall within 30 days of the appointment of the third arbitrator reach a decision as to what the
actual MRV for the Premises is, and whether Lessor’s or Lessee’s submitted MRV is the closest thereto. The decision of a majority of the arbitrators
shall be binding on the Parties. The submitted MRV which is determined to be the closest to the actual MRV shall thereafter be used by the Parties.

(iii) If either of the Parties fails to appoint an arbitrator within the specified 15 days, the arbitrator timely appointed by

_______

INITIALS INITIALS

E

PAGE 308



one of them shall reach a decision on his or her own, and said decision shall be binding on the Parties.

(iv) The entire cost of such arbitration shall be paid by the party whose submitted MRV is not selected, i.e., the one
that is NOT the closest to the actual MRV,

2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the new MRV shall not be less than the rent payable for the month immediately preceding the rent
adjustment.

b. Upon the establishment of each New Market Rental Value:
1) the new MRV will become the new Base Rent’ for the purpose of calculating any further Adjustments, and
2) the first month of each Market Rental Value term shall become the new ‘Base Month’ for the purpose of calculating any further

Adjustments.

0 III. Fixed Rental Adjustment(s) (FRA)

The Base Rent shalt be increased to the following amounts on the dates set forth below:

On (Fill in FRA Adjustment Dale(s)): The New Base Rent shalt be:

June 15th, 2014 $3,811.00
June 15th, 2015 $3,925.33

B. NOTICE:
Unless specified otherwise herein, notice of any such adjustments, other than Fixed Rental Adjustments, shall be made as specified in

paragraph 23 of the Lease.

C. BROKER’S FEE:
The Brokers shalt be paid a Brokerage Fee for each adjustment specified above in accordance with paragraph 15 of the Lease.

NOTICE: These forms are often modified to meet changing requirements of law and industry needs. Always write or call to make sure you
are utilizing the most current form: AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, 800 W 6th Street, Suite 800, Los Angeles, CA 90017.
Telephone No. (213) 687-8777. Fax No.: (213) 687-8616.

_______ _______

INITIALS INITIALS

PAGE 309



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

PAGE 310



 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES  DEPARTMENT 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: June 4, 2013 
Staff Report #: 13-088 

 
Agenda Item #: F-4 

 
REGULAR BUSINESS:  Review of Council Meeting Minutes Style 

  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council maintain the current policy to produce action 
minutes. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Since December 2008, the Menlo Park City Clerk’s office has prepared action minutes 
as the official record of Council proceedings after previously producing extensive 
summary minutes for years. By Minute Order on December 16, 2008, the Council 
adopted Action Minutes as the style to be used for the official record.  The City Council 
did retain the authority to request more detailed minutes for semi-adjudicatory items, 
such as appeals, if requested prior to the agenda item discussion. 
 
Since the 1990’s, audio and video recordings have been made to capture meetings in 
their entirety including comments made by the public and Council discussions of 
legislative intent.  Currently, meetings are web streamed in addition to being recorded.  
These archives are available through the City’s website and on DVD at the City Clerk’s 
office and the Library. In 2011, the records retention schedule was updated make video 
recordings of Council meetings a permanent record so that members of the public, 
Council or staff may review details of meeting discussions. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Minutes serve as the official record and legislative history of Council actions and 
proceedings.  California Government Code Sections 36814 and 4081 states that the 
City Clerk shall maintain a journal of proceedings or minutes of City Council meetings.  
The Code does not specify in what form or style the minutes must be as long as actions 
are recorded.  Minutes are not meant to be transcriptions and are not an exact record of 
discussions and conversations. 
 
Minutes Styles 
Minutes can be prepared in several different formats, including Action Minutes, 
Summary Minutes, Extended Summary Minutes or a verbatim transcript.     
  

PAGE 311

AGENDA ITEM F-4



 
Action Minutes record the following information: 

• Meeting date 
• Indication whether the meeting is regular, regular adjourned, or special 
• Location 
• Attendance 
• Starting and ending times 
• Description of items 
• A listing of public comment and presentation speakers.  
• A statement of action (motion, resolution or ordinance) and how the members 

voted. 
 
Note that with televised meetings, webcasting and archiving media on the Internet, 
there are several means by which a member of the public, Council or staff may review 
meeting discussions.  
 
Summary Minutes reflect all of the items included in action minutes with the addition of 
limited commentary by members of the public and the City Council.  The comments of 
each speaker range from a few sentences to a few paragraphs.     
 
Extended Summary Minutes reflect all of the above with more detail regarding what 
each speaker said on each topic, who responded and what they said, and so forth. 
 
A Verbatim Transcript is a word for word written record of everything said during the 
proceedings. 
 
Trends in Minute Styles 
Over the years, the trend in minutes style has been shifting away from summary 
minutes. 
 
In 2006 a survey was conducted via the City Clerks’ Listserve through the League of 
California Cities with 110 cities responding.  Of those cities responding, 35% produce 
Action Minutes, 62% prepared Summary Minutes and 3% prepared Verbatim Minutes.     
 
In October 2008 another survey was conducted via the City Clerks’ Listserve with 185 
cities responding.  The results from this survey showed that 52% of the cities produce 
Action Minutes, 44% Summary Minutes, less than1% Verbatim Minutes and 3% hybrid 
of some type.   
 
In May 2009, staff conducted a follow up to the previous information with a total 245 
cities responding.  The results from this survey showed 57% of the cities produce Action 
Minutes, 35% Summary Minutes, less than 1% using Verbatim Minutes and 7% a hybrid 
of some type. 
 

PAGE 312



The most recent Listserve inquiry conducted in May 2013 showed that, of 71 cities 
responding, 71% produce Action Minutes, 26% Summary Minutes, and less than 1% 
prepare a hybrid form. 
 
Based on the survey results, there continues to be a shift towards using Action Minutes.  
The most frequent comment made among City Clerks is that for the public comment 
portion of the meeting, only the names of the speakers are recorded and, in some cities, 
whether the speaker is commenting in support or opposition of an agenda item. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
Menlo Park complies with the practice of having draft minutes reviewed and approved 
by the City Council at a regular meeting before they are considered final.  Once 
approved, the minutes become the official record of what took place at a meeting and 
may be subpoenaed for court purposes.  Minutes are posted to the website and are fully 
searchable by text. Since action minutes have been implemented, approval of minutes 
often occurs at the next Council meeting.  As evidenced in past years, a return to 
summary minutes may delay approval by Council. 
 
 
IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES 
 
There would be a significant impact on staff time to return to summary minutes as well 
as a delay in Council approval as it takes approximately three hours of staff time to 
prepare the minutes for every hour of meeting.  It is challenging to distill 20 minutes of 
commentary, questions, and answers while providing the appropriate context.  
Maintaining action minutes will allow staff to complete the minutes within 24 hours, often 
by the next business day following a Council meeting.  Barring any technical issues, 
webcast of Council meetings on the City’s website as well as the DVD recording is 
available by the next morning. 
 
 
POLICY ISSUES 
 
Council’s current policy directs the City Clerk to prepare action minutes.  For uniformity, 
most of our City Commissions also prepare action minutes.  A change to this policy will 
require the dedication of substantially more staff time to minute preparation, reducing 
the City Clerk’s availability for other duties. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
This item does not require an environmental review. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE  
 
Public Notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with this agenda item being 
listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 

PAGE 313



 
ATTACHMENTS - NONE 
 
 
Report prepared by:    
Pamela Aguilar  
Interim City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 314


	060413 Agenda
	CITY COUNCIL
	REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

	Tuesday, June 4, 2013
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025


	060413 - Full Packet
	D1 - 2.7M Budget Appropriation.pdf
	 Staff Report #: 13-086
	Attach A - Resolution - Transfer to Gen Fund CIP (2).pdf
	RESOLUTION NO.


	D2 - HE - Adopt Zoning Ords.pdf
	060413_Housing Element Second Readings
	ATT A_Ordinance_R-4-S__6.4.13
	ATT B_AHO_Ord_6.4.13
	ATT C_SDBL_Ord 6.4.13
	ATT D_R-3 ord 6.4.13
	ATT E_Rezoning_Mid Pen Ord_6.4.13
	ATT F_Rezoning Ordinance - Hamilton_6.4.13
	ATT G_Rezoning Ordinance - Haven_6.4.13
	ATT H_Deleted Districts_6.4.13


	D3 - Minutes Approval.pdf
	3B2B
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	0B0B
	1BTuesday, March 26, 2013 at 6:00 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025

	040213 Draft.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	Tuesday, April 2, 2013 at 5:30 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025

	Ordinance No. 990: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park rezoning properties located at 312 and 313 Constitution Drive

	040913 Draft.pdf
	JOINT MEETING OF THE 
	CITY COUNCIL AND PLANNING COMMISSION
	SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	0B0B
	1BTuesday, April 9, 2013 at 7:00 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025


	041613 Draft.pdf
	           CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL AND REGULAR DRAFT MEETING 
	MINUTES

	Tuesday, April 16, 2013 at 5:30 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025


	042313 Draft.pdf
	3B2B
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	0B0B
	Tuesday, April 23, 2013
	7:05 p.m.
	6B4B701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025

	4B

	043013 Draft.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	Tuesday, April 30, 2013 at 5:30 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025


	050713 Draft.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL
	REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES

	Tuesday, May 7, 2013 at 7:00 P.M.

	052013 Draft.pdf
	3B2B
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES

	0B0B
	1BMonday, May 20, 2013
	5:30 p.m.
	6B4B701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025

	4B
	CL1. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding anticipated litigation (2 cases):
	Government Code Section 54956.9 (a) (d)(4)

	052113 Draft.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL
	SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

	Tuesday, May 21, 2013 at 6:00 p.m.
	701 Laurel Street, Menlo Park, CA 94025

	Resolution No. 6147:  A Resolution of Intention of the City Council of the City of Menlo Park to order the continuation and collection of assessments for the City of Menlo Park Landscaping District for fiscal year 2013-14 pursuant to the Landscaping a...
	Resolution No. 6148: A Resolution of preliminary approval of the Engineer’s Report for the assessments for the City of Menlo Park Landscaping District for fiscal year 2013-14


	E1 - Budget & CIP.pdf
	Staff Report #: 13-092 
	Attach A - 10 Year Forecast.pdf
	10-year forecast

	Attach B - 5YR CIP 13-18 - Final 05 13.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Projects by Category
	Projects by Funding Source
	Projects by Responsible Department
	Public Works Department Project Composite
	Non-Funded Project Request
	Other Non-Funded Project Requests
	Descriptions of Projects for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18
	Proposed Projects for FY 2013-14


	E1 - Budget & CIP.pdf
	Staff Report #: 13-092 
	Attach A - 10 Year Forecast.pdf
	10-year forecast

	Attach B - 5YR CIP 13-18 - Final 05 13.pdf
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Projects by Category
	Projects by Funding Source
	Projects by Responsible Department
	Public Works Department Project Composite
	Non-Funded Project Request
	Other Non-Funded Project Requests
	Descriptions of Projects for FY 2014/15 through FY 2017/18
	Proposed Projects for FY 2013-14


	F1 - GHG Reduction.pdf
	F1 - GHG Reduction
	Att A - Climate Action Plan Assessment Report 2011
	Att B - EQC Report to City Council on Adopting a Target
	Att C - Presentation provided at April 2, 2013 Council Study Session
	Att D - Other Cities Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets

	Blank Page

	F3 - Police substation lease.pdf
	F3 - Police Substation Lease
	/
	Staff Report #: 13-091 


	Att B - Proposed Lease Agreement

	F4 - Minutes Style.pdf
	Staff Report #: 13-088
	BACKGROUND
	ANALYSIS
	IMPACT ON CITY RESOURCES

	F2 - HE - Introduce Second Units.pdf
	060413_Second Units
	ATT A_2nd unit_ord_6.4.13_intro
	ATT B_ Comparison of Existing and Proposed 2nd Unit Regulations
	ATT C_Proposed Language Modifications_final
	ATT D_Zoning Summary Sheet
	ATT E - R1 Parcel Size 6000 or Greater






